
Business Address
400 MONTGOMERY STREET
SUITE 600
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111
(415) 789-6952

Mailing Address
400 MONTGOMERY STREET
SUITE 600
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

FORM 10-12G/A
Initial general form for registration of a class of securities pursuant to Section 12(g) [amend]

Filing Date: 2022-04-21
SEC Accession No. 0001193125-22-113008

(HTML Version on secdatabase.com)

FILER
Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund
CIK:1723788| IRS No.: 000000000 | State of Incorp.:DE | Fiscal Year End: 1231
Type: 10-12G/A | Act: 34 | File No.: 000-56270 | Film No.: 22841558
SIC: 6221 Commodity contracts brokers & dealers

Copyright © 2022 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001723788/000119312522113008/0001193125-22-113008-index.htm
http://edgar.secdatabase.com/2079/119312522113008/filing-main.htm
https://research.secdatabase.com/CIK/1723788
https://research.secdatabase.com/CIK/1723788
https://research.secdatabase.com/FileNumber/56270
https://research.secdatabase.com/SIC/6221
https://www.secdatabase.com


Table of Contents
As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 21, 2022

File No. 000-56270

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Amendment No. 6
to

FORM 10

GENERAL FORM FOR REGISTRATION OF SECURITIES
Pursuant to Section 12(b) or (g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

DELAWARE 82-3002349
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

400 Montgomery Street, Suite 600
San Francisco, CA 94111

(Address of principal executive offices and Zip Code)

(415) 968-1843
(Registrant��s telephone number, including area code)

Copies to:

Robert H. Rosenblum, Esq.
Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati P.C.

1700 K St NW
Washington, D.C. 20006

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None.

Securities to be registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund (BITW) Shares

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an
emerging growth company. See the definitions of �large accelerated filer,� �accelerated filer,� �smaller reporting company,� and �emerging growth
company� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☐

Non-accelerated filer ☒ Smaller reporting company ☐
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Emerging growth company ☒

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any
new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
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Explanatory Note

Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund (hereafter, the �Trust�, �we�, �us� or �our�) is filing this Amendment No. 6 to Registration Statement on Form 10 to
register its common units of fractional undivided beneficial interest (�Shares�) pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the �Exchange Act�).

Once this Registration Statement is deemed effective, the Trust will be subject to the requirements of Regulation 13A under the Exchange Act, which
will require it to file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and current reports on Form 8-K, and to comply with all other
obligations of the Exchange Act applicable to issuers filing Registration Statements pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act.

We are filing this Amendment No. 6 to Registration Statement on Form 10 for the purpose of making clarifications in our disclosure in response to a
comment letter from the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission dated April 7, 2022. No other changes have been made.

i
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CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10 includes forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of historical information provided herein are forward-
looking and may contain information about financial results, economic conditions, trends and known uncertainties. Some of these forward-looking
statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as �believes,� �expects,� �may,� �will,� �should,� �seeks,�
�approximately,� �intends,� �plans,� �estimates,� or �anticipates� or the negative thereof or other variations thereof or comparable terminology, or by
discussions of strategy, plans, intentions or unrealized investment results.

These statements involve risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors that may cause actual results, levels of activity, performance or
achievements to be materially different from the information expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Although we believe that we
have a reasonable basis for each forward-looking statement contained in this registration statement, we caution you that these statements are based on a
combination of facts and factors currently known by us and our projections of the future, about which we cannot be certain. Forward-looking statements
in this registration statement include, but are not limited to, statements relating to the continued quotation of the Shares on the OTCQX; our expectations
regarding regulatory developments affecting the Trust; our future financial performance; and the performance of the Bitwise 10 Crypto Index (the
�Index�).

Such forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and are necessarily dependent on assumptions, data or methods that may be
incorrect or imprecise and may not be realized. The Trust cautions the reader that actual results could differ materially from those expected by the Trust
depending on the outcome of certain factors, including without limitation, changes in the U.S. economy, changes in the regulation of cryptocurrencies,
and other important factors described in this registration state under the Item 1.A Risk Factors. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. Industry experts may disagree with such analyses, forecasts and targets, the
estimations and assumptions used in preparing the analyses, forecasts and targets or the Trust�s view or understanding of current or future events. No
assurance, representation or warranty is made by any person that any of such analyses, forecasts and targets will be achieved and no investor should rely
on such analyses, forecasts and targets. None of the Trust�s or any of their affiliates or any of their respective directors, managers, officers, employees,
partners, shareholders, advisors or agents makes any assurance, representation or warranty as to the accuracy of any of such analyses, forecasts and
targets. Nothing contained in this document may be relied upon as a guarantee, promise, assurance or a representation as to the future. The Trust
undertakes no obligation to release the results of any revisions to these forward-looking statements which may be made to reflect events or
circumstances after the date hereof, including without limitation, changes in the Trust�s business strategy or planned expenditures, or to reflect the
occurrence of unanticipated events.

ii
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SUMMARY OF RISK FACTORS

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those highlighted in the section of this form titled �Risk Factors.� These
risks include the following:

� investing in cryptocurrencies generally is speculative, and the Portfolio Crypto Assets of the Trust are subject to volatile price fluctuations
which can negatively impact Shares of the Trust;

� because the Portfolio Crypto Assets of the Trust are dependent, in part, on the continued market acceptance and development of crypto
assets and blockchain technology by consumers, any declines or negative trends affecting crypto assets or blockchain technology will
adversely affect the value of Shares of the Trust;

� our relatively limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate the Index, which is relatively new, and the Index Methodology, which
is also relatively new, and may increase the risk that we will not be successful;

� our business depends on the development and commercialization of the Index, which is a highly competitive industry, and the Trust may
not be commercially successful;

� any actual or perceived failure of the Portfolio Crypto Assets of the Trust to block malware or prevent failures or cyber security breaches
or incidents could harm the reputation of the assets, and cause the assets to be perceived as insecure, exploitable, or unreliable, and
otherwise negatively impact the value of the Shares of the Trust;

� our risk management efforts may not be effective to prevent fraudulent or malicious activities by third-party providers or other parties,
which could expose us to material financial losses and liability and lead to theft or loss of the Portfolio Crypto Assets;

� our holdings of Portfolio Crypto Assets expose us to potential risks, including exchange, security and liquidity risks, which could
negatively affect the value of the Shares of the Trust;

� the value of the Trust�s cryptocurrencies are dependent, directly or indirectly, on prices established by exchanges and other trading venues,
which are new and, in most cases, largely unregulated;

� there are uncertainties related to the regulatory regimes governing blockchain technologies, cryptocurrencies, digital assets, and new
regulations, interpretations or policies may materially adversely affect the value of Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Shares;

� the blockchains on which ownership of Portfolio Crypto Assets are recorded are dependent on the efforts of third parties acting in their
capacity as the blockchain transaction miners or validators, and if these third parties fail to successfully perform these functions, the
operation of the blockchains that record ownership of Portfolio Crypto Assets could be compromised which could lead to loss or loss of
the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets;

� for a variety of factors, the long-term viability of cryptocurrencies is unknown, and this could negatively impact the value of the Portfolio
Crypto Assets and the commercial success of the Trust;

� shareholders are expected to rely entirely on the Sponsor to conduct and manage the affairs of the Trust and will not be able to actively
participate in management; and

� the Trust is a passive investment vehicle and the Sponsor will generally not actively manage the cryptocurrencies held by the Trust; instead
the Trust will hold investments that track the Index regardless of current or projected performance of the Index or of the actual Portfolio
Crypto Assets held.

iii
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Glossary

This glossary highlights some of the industry and other terms used elsewhere in this Registration Statement but is not a complete list of all the terms
used herein. Each of the following terms has the meaning set forth below:

�Airdrops� � mean a method to promote the launch and use of new digital assets by providing a small amount of such new digital assets to the private
wallets or exchange accounts that support the new digital asset and that hold existing related digital assets.

�Bitcoin� or �BTC� �means a type of crypto asset based on an open source cryptographic protocol existing on the Bitcoin network, comprising one
type of the crypto assets underlying the Trusts� Shares.

�Blockchain� �means the public transaction ledger of a crypto asset�s network on which transactions are recorded.

�Consensus Algorithm� � means the algorithm at the heart of the blockchain system that enforces that all ledgers converge over time.

�Crypto assets� � means a digital asset designed to work as a medium of exchange wherein individual coin ownership records are stored in a ledger, a
computerized database using cryptography to secure transaction records, to control the creation of additional coins and to verify the transfer of coin
ownership.

�Crypto asset network� �means the online, end user to end user network hosting the public transaction ledger, known as the Blockchain, and the
source code comprising the basis for the cryptographic and algorithmic protocols governing the crypto asset�s network.

�Crypto asset exchanges� �means a dealer market, a brokered market, principal to principal market or exchange market on which crypto assets are
bought, sold, and traded.

�Custodial Account� � means a segregated custody account to store private keys, which allow for the transfer of ownership or control of the Trust�s
Portfolio Crypto Assets, on the Trust�s behalf. Under the Custodian Agreement, the Custodian controls and secures the Trust�s Custodial Account.

�Custodian fee� �means an annualized fee charged monthly that is a percentage of the Trust�s monthly assets under custody.

�Custodial Services� � means the services provided by the Custodian including, (i) allowing Portfolio Crypto Assets to be deposited from a public
blockchain address to the Trust�s Custodial Account and (ii) allowing the Trust or Sponsor to withdraw Portfolio Crypto Assets from the Trust�s
Custodial Account to a public blockchain address the Trust or Sponsor controls.

�Custodian� � means Coinbase Custody Trust Company, LLC. On behalf of the Trust, the Custodian holds the Portfolio Crypto Assets.

�DEX� � means �decentralized� exchange, where there is no central facilitator of trade and trading rules.

�Eligible Crypto Assets� � means those crypto assets that track the Bitwise 10 Large Cap Crypto Index.

�Emissions� � mean regular awards provided to holders of crypto assets in the form of crypto asset grants, and often in the form of the �gas� that
powers transactions on the relevant crypto asset network.

�Extraordinary expenses� � extraordinary expenses are expenses outside of the Trust�s normal business operations which includes, but is not limited
to, any non-customary costs and expenses including indemnification and extraordinary costs of the Administrator and Auditor, costs of any litigation or
investigation involving Trust activities, and financial distress and restructuring and indemnification expenses.

iv
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�Hard fork� � occurs when there is a change in the set of rules governing a blockchain that makes it more restrictive than the previous set of rules in
place.

�Index� � means the Bitwise 10 Large Cap Crypto Index.

�Index Components� � mean the Index is comprised of the top 10 coins selected and weighted by inflation adjusted market capitalization.

�Index Provider� � means Bitwise Index Services, LLC, an affiliate of the Trust that is controlled by the same parent entity as the Sponsor. The Index
Provider administers the Index.

�Market-capitalization weighted� � means the top 10 cryptocurrencies in the Bitwise 10 Crypto Index are selected and held in proportion to their
valuation.

�Miners� � means stakeholders that help process transactions and ensure that the distributed ledgers that make up a blockchain network stay consistent
with one another.

�Mining� � means the act of solving computational puzzles through which transactions with cryptocurrencies are verified and added to the blockchain
digital ledger in exchange for a crypto asset as a reward.

�NAV� � means net asset value.

�NAV of the Trust� � means the sum of the assets and liabilities of the Trust.

�NAV per share� � means the NAV of the Trust calculated on a per Share basis.

�Oracles� � means the reliable data source used by a blockchain application whenever it needs to interact with external data.

�Portfolio Crypto Assets� � means the group of selected cryptocurrencies that are held by the Trust.

�PoS� � means proof-of-stake and is a scheme miners can operate in to provide the mining service for the blockchain network and receive payment.
PoS is a newer scheme that tries to avoid the heavy energy consumption that PoW systems typically require. PoS systems require miners to lock up and
put at risk (aka, �stake�) a certain amount of the crypto asset associated with a given blockchain in order to process transactions. These staked assets are
lost if a miner processes a transaction in a way that is fraudulent or violates the rules of the underlying blockchain.

�PoW� � means proof-of-work and is a scheme miners can operate in to provide the mining service for the blockchain network and receive payment.
PoW is the first and most established scheme and involves computers solving complicated cryptographic puzzles that require a substantial amount of
energy as a way of securing the network and processing transactions.

�Soft fork� � occurs when there is a change in the set of rules governing a blockchain that makes it less restrictive than the previous set of rules in
place.

v
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

History of the Trust and the Shares

The Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund (the �Trust�) is a Delaware Statutory Trust that issues common units of fractional undivided beneficial interest
(�Shares�), which represent ownership in the Trust. The Trust was initially formed as a Delaware limited liability company on September 18, 2017 and
commenced operations on November 22, 2017. The Trust has had several name changes since it was incorporated:

� Bitwise HODL 10 Private Index Fund, LLC

� Bitwise HOLD 10 Private Index Fund, LLC

� Bitwise 10 Private Index Fund, LLC

On May 1, 2020, the Trust was converted to a Delaware statutory trust. The Trust�s current standing in Delaware is active. The Trust was formed by the
filing of a Certificate of Trust with the Delaware Secretary of State in accordance with the provisions of the Delaware Statutory Trust Act (the �DSTA�)
and the adoption of a Trust Agreement (the �Trust Agreement�). The Trust operates pursuant to the Trust Agreement.

Bitwise Investment Advisers, LLC is the Sponsor of the Trust (the �Sponsor�). Bitwise Asset Management, Inc. (�Bitwise�), the parent company of the
Sponsor maintains a corporate website, www.bitwiseinvestments.com, which contains general information about the Trust and the Sponsor. The
reference to the Bitwise website is an interactive textual reference only, and the information contained on the Bitwise website shall not be deemed
incorporated by reference herein.

The Trust issues Shares, which represent common units of fractional undivided beneficial interest in, and ownership of, the Trust, on a periodic basis to
certain �accredited investors� within the meaning of Rule 501(a) of Regulation D under the Securities Act. Shares purchased directly from the Trust are
restricted securities that may not be resold except in transactions exempt from registration under the Securities Act and state securities laws and any
such transaction must be approved in advance by the Sponsor. In determining whether to grant approval, the Sponsor will specifically look at whether
the conditions of Rule 144 under the Securities Act and any other applicable laws have been met. Any attempt to sell Shares without the approval of the
Sponsor in its sole discretion will be void ab initio. See �Description of Securities�Transfer Restrictions� for more information. The Shares are quoted
on OTCQX under the ticker symbol �BITW.� Shares that have become unrestricted in accordance with Rule 144 under the Securities Act may trade on
OTCQX. See �Description of Securities�Transfer Restrictions� for more detail.

The Trust�s principal investment objective is to invest in a portfolio (�Portfolio�) of cryptocurrencies (each, a �Portfolio Crypto Asset� and
collectively, �Portfolio Crypto Assets�) that tracks the Bitwise 10 Large Cap Crypto Index (the �Index�) as closely as possible with certain exceptions
determined by the Sponsor in its sole discretion, as described more fully below in the section entitled �Business of the Trust�. In addition, in the event
the Portfolio Crypto Assets being held by the Trust present opportunities to generate returns in excess of the Index (for example, airdrops, emissions,
forks, or similar network events) the Sponsor may also pursue these incidental opportunities on behalf of the Trust as part of the investment objective if
in its sole discretion the Sponsor deems such activities to be possible and prudent.

The Trust believes that it has met its principal investment objective, however, because the Trust does not operate a redemption program for the Shares,
because the holding period required under Rule 144 for the sale of the Shares purchased from the Trust, and because the Trust may from time to time
halt Share subscriptions, there can be no assurance that the value of the Shares will reflect the value of the NAV per Share, and the Shares may trade at a
substantial premium over, or a substantial discount to, the value of the NAV per Share, and as such, there can be no assurance that an investor will
achieve a return on investment that tracks the performance of the Index. As of March 31, 2021, there was a correlation of 99.84% between the Portfolio
Crypto Assets and the assets

1
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included in the Index. The Trust is aware that the market price of the Trust�s shares may deviate from the NAV of the Shares, that to date the Shares
traded on the secondary market have not closely tracked the NAV of the Shares and that the market price of the Shares has been and may continue to be
significantly above or below NAV per share. However, the Trust does not have control over an investor�s ability to achieve a return on investment that
tracks the performance of the Index. The trading price of the Shares is determined by the market, and at times the Shares will trade at a premium or a
discount to the NAV per share). Regardless of the Trust or Sponsor�s methods of managing the underlying portfolio, the price an investor will pay on
the secondary market could differ significantly from the NAV per share. The Trust does not seek to track the performance of the trading of Shares on the
secondary market and the trading price of Shares. The price an investor will pay on the secondary market may be significantly different from the NAV
per Share. Furthermore, under Regulation M, the Trust, as the issuer of the Shares, is not legally permitted to take the types of actions that might help to
reconcile the NAV per Share and the market price per Share.

The Shares may also trade at a substantial premium over, or a substantial discount to, the NAV per Share as a result of price volatility, trading volume
and closings of the exchanges on which the Sponsor purchases Portfolio Crypto Assets on behalf of the Trust due to fraud, failure, security breaches or
otherwise. As a result of the foregoing, the price of the Shares as quoted on OTCQX has varied significantly from the NAV per Share since the Shares
were approved for quotation on December 9, 2020.

The following chart shows a comparison of the market price of the Shares as quoted on OTCQX and the NAV per share.

2
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From December 9, 2020 to March 31, 2021, the Shares of BITW traded at an average premium, based on closing prices at 4:00 p.m. ET New York time,
and estimated, un-audited, NAV per share, of 104%. During that same period, the highest premium was 649% on December 16, 2020, and the lowest
premium was 51% on January 5, 2021. The Shares have not traded at a discount, but they may do so in the future. Given the lack of an ongoing
redemption program and the holding period under Rule 144, there is no arbitrage mechanism to keep the Shares closely linked to the value of the
Trust�s underlying holdings which may continue to have an adverse impact on investments in the Shares.

The following chart shows a comparison of the cumulative returns of the Index compared to the NAV of the Trust:

3
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Emerging Growth Company Status

The Trust is an �emerging growth company� as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the �JOBS Act�). For as long as the Trust
is an emerging growth company, unlike other public companies, it will not be required to, among other things:

� provide an auditor�s attestation report on management�s assessment of the effectiveness of our system of internal control over financial
reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; or

� comply with any new audit rules adopted by the PCAOB after April 5, 2012, unless the SEC determines otherwise.

The Trust will cease to be an �emerging growth company� upon the earliest of (i) it having $1.0 billion or more in annual revenues, (ii) it becomes a
�large accelerated filer,� as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act, (iii) it issuing more than $1.0 billion of non-convertible debt over a three-year
period or (iv) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of its initial public offering.

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of the extended transition period provided
in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards. In other words, an emerging growth company can
delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. The Trust has chosen not to �opt
out� of such extended transition period, and as a result, the Trust will take advantage of such extended transition period.

Business Development

The Trust has not been in, and is not in the process of, any bankruptcy, receivership or any similar proceeding since its inception.

Other than the conversion of the Trust from a Delaware limited liability company into a Delaware Statutory Trust, the Trust has not undergone any
material reclassification, merger, consolidation, or purchase or sale of a significant amount of assets since its inception.

The Trust has not experienced any default of the terms of any note, loan, lease, or other indebtedness or financing arrangement requiring the Trust to
make payments since its inception.

The Trust has not experienced any change of control since its inception.

The Trust has only one class of outstanding equity securities. The Trust has experienced increases of more than 10% of the Shares since inception of the
Trust (date of inception). The Trust is a Delaware statutory trust that has no limit on the number of Shares that can be issued.

Other than the conversion of the Trust from a Delaware limited liability company into a Delaware Statutory Trust and the associated share split, there
are no past or pending share splits, dividends, recapitalizations, mergers, acquisitions, spin-offs, or reorganizations since the Trust�s inception.

There has not been any delisting of the Shares by any securities exchange or deletion from the OTC Bulletin Board.

Competitive Business Conditions

The digital asset industry is rapidly developing, and there are significant uncertainties with respect to the development, acceptance, and success of the
digital networks underlying the Portfolio Crypto Assets. See �Risk

4
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Factors�The further development and acceptance of the cryptographic and algorithmic protocols governing the issuance of and transactions in
cryptocurrencies, which represents a new and rapidly changing industry, is subject to a variety of factors that are difficult to evaluate� for additional
information. While the digital assets that are Portfolio Crypto Assets have enjoyed some acceptance and use in their limited history, it is possible that
other crypto assets may grow more rapidly in acceptance and adoption for use as compared to Portfolio Crypto Assets, and while the Index may, over
time, change to include more successful crypto assets, the Index may not capture the growth in value of more rapidly growing crypto assets.

Business of the Trust

The Sponsor expects the market price of the Shares to fluctuate over time in response to the market prices of Portfolio Crypto Assets. In addition,
because the Shares reflect the estimated accrued but unpaid expenses of the Trust, the number of Portfolio Crypto Assets represented by a Share will
gradually decrease over time as the Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets are used to pay the Trust�s expenses.

The Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets are held by Coinbase Custody Trust Company, LLC (the �Custodian�) on behalf of the Trust. The Trust�s
Portfolio Crypto Assets are transferred only in the following circumstances: (i) sales made in connection with monthly rebalancing in order to more
closely track the Index, (ii) sales to pay expenses of the Trust, (iii) sales on behalf of the Trust in the event the Trust terminates and liquidates its assets
or as otherwise required by law or regulation, and (iv) transfers to pursue airdrops, forks, emissions, or other similar network events as deemed
necessary by the Sponsor. Each delivery or sale of Portfolio Crypto Assets for purposes of rebalancing the Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets to track the
Index will be a taxable event for Shareholders. See �Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations�Taxation of Operations.� See �The Sponsor may
experience loss or theft of its Portfolio Crypto Assets during the transfer of Portfolio Crypto Assets from the Custodian to the Sponsor or to Crypto Asset
trading venues.� In addition, each sale of Portfolio Crypto Assets by the Trust to pay the expenses of the Trust will be a taxable event for Shareholders.

The Trust is not registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the �Investment Company Act�) and
the Sponsor believes that the Trust is not required to register under the Investment Company Act. See �Risk Factors�Regulatory and Compliance
Related Risks� and �Overview of Government Regulation� for additional information. In addition, the Trust will not hold or trade in commodity futures
contracts or other derivative contracts regulated by the Commodity Exchange Act (the �CEA�), as administered by the Commodities Future Trading
Commission (the �CFTC�). The Sponsor believes that the Trust is not a commodity pool for purposes of the CEA, and that neither the Sponsor nor the
Trustee is subject to regulation as a commodity pool operator or a commodity trading adviser in connection with the operation of the Trust.

The Trust has no fixed termination date. The Trust is a passive entity with no operations, and no employees. The Sponsor administers and manages the
Trust as described below. The Trust has not at any time been a �shell company.� The Trust and the Sponsor have entered into a limited, non-exclusive,
revocable license agreement with Bitwise Index Services, LLC (the �Index Provider�), an affiliate of the Trust that is controlled by the same parent
entity as the Sponsor, at no cost to the Trust or the Sponsor allowing the Trust to use the Index for the purpose of using as the benchmark index for the
Trust (the �License Agreement�).

Activities of the Trust

The Trust seeks to make it easier for an investor to invest in the cryptocurrency market as a whole, without having to pick specific tokens, manage a
portfolio, or constantly monitor ongoing news and developments. Although the Shares will not be the exact equivalent of a direct investment in
cryptocurrencies, they provide investors with an alternative that constitutes a relatively cost-effective, professionally managed way to participate in
cryptocurrency markets.

5
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The Trust notes that an indirect investment in digital assets through Shares may operate and perform differently from a direct investment in digital
assets, and such differences may include, among other things: the holding period under Rule 144 for the resale of the Shares purchased from the trust,
the risk that the Shares may trade at a substantial premium over or a substantial discount to the NAV per Share, the risk that over time the number of
Portfolio Crypto Assets represented by a Share will gradually decrease as the Portfolio Crypto Assets are used to pay the Trust�s expenses, the ability to
invest in Shares via an investor�s equity retirement accounts such as a 401(k) or individual retirement account, which do not provide the ability to invest
directly in cryptocurrencies; the convenience of not having to open and maintain a cryptocurrency wallet; the potential ability to participate in
decentralized finance protocols including governance, voting, staking assets and lending assets; and the ability of an investor to rely on the Bitwise
Crypto Index Committee (the �Committee�) to choose the Portfolio Crypto Asset composition and balance of the assets.

In addition, the Trust must pay certain expenses which would not be charged for a direct investment in digital assets, including a Management Fee
payable monthly, in arrears, in an amount equal to 2.5% per annum (1/12th of 2.5% per month) of the net asset value of the Trust�s assets at the end of
each month.

To date, the only decentralized finance protocol that the Trust has participated in, including governance, voting, staking assets and lending assets, was in
staking Tezos. The Index has not participated in any other decentralized finance protocols, including governance, voting and lending assets. To the
extent that the Trust participates in any decentralized finance protocols, the Trust anticipates only participating in such protocols where the Trust has
made a direct investment in the relevant decentralized finance digital asset. While the Trust currently does not participate in any staking activities, it may
in the future engage in further staking activities if the Trust deems such activity to be in the best interests of shareholders. The Trust will determine
whether engaging in further staking activities is in the best interests of the shareholders on a case-by-case basis. In making such a determination, the
Trust will consider whether the staking activities present possible and prudent opportunities to generate additional returns for shareholders in excess of
the Index, the risks associated with the staking activities, the potential for the loss of all or part of the staked amounts, and whether or not the activity is
supported by the Trust�s custodian.

In furtherance of its objective, the activities of the Trust include: (i) issuing Shares in exchange for subscriptions, (ii) selling or buying Portfolio Crypto
Assets in connection with monthly rebalancing, (iii) selling Portfolio Crypto Assets as necessary to cover the Management Fee (as defined below) and/
or any Organizational Expenses (as defined below), (iv) causing the Sponsor to sell Portfolio Crypto Assets upon any potential future termination of the
Trust, and (v) engaging in all administrative and security procedures necessary to accomplish such activities in accordance with the provisions of the
Trust Agreement, and the Custodian Agreement (as defined below). In addition, the Trust may engage in any lawful activity necessary or desirable in
order to facilitate these activities, provided that such activities do not conflict with the terms of the Trust Agreement.

Digital assets are purchased from approved counterparties that include exchanges, electronic trading systems that seek liquidity from multiple trading
venues, and market making firms known as �over the counter� or �OTC� trading desks with the goal of purchasing digital assets at or near the prices
used to calculate the Trust�s NAV per share and used to calculate the Index while also seeking to minimize execution slippage compared to the
benchmark price while simultaneously promoting operational risk management and efficient management of the Trust�s assets.

The Trust does not utilize a single principal market to convert digital assets to U.S. dollars and to purchase digital assets. The Sponsor evaluates
counterparties, trading venues, and execution tools on an ongoing basis. The Trust utilizes multiple venues to acquire and dispose of digital assets,
including trading venues (known as exchanges), direct trading counterparties (known as �OTC desks�), and trading technology solutions that aggregate
liquidity from multiple trading venues. The Sponsor exercises judgment to determine on which venue to trade.

Calculation of Valuation

For all periods through the quarterly period ended March 31, 2021, the NAV per share, the NAV of the Trust, and the fair valuations for each Portfolio
Crypto Asset were calculated by the Trust�s Administrator in reliance
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on the fair value of each portfolio crypto asset based on the blended average approach for calculating the price of a digital asset (the �Blended Bitwise
Crypto Asset Price�), which the Sponsor was responsible for calculating. The Sponsor provided this price to the Administrator, and the Administrator
used this price (multiplied by the Trust�s holdings) for each asset to determine the fair value of the Trust�s assets. The Administrator then subtracted the
Trust�s liabilities to determine the Trust�s NAV. The administrator then divided this value by the Trust�s shares outstanding in order to determine the
NAV per share. As a result of the Sponsor�s responsibility in this regard, any errors, discontinuance or changes in such valuation calculations may have
had or may have an adverse effect on the value of the Shares. The Sponsor instituted this valuation policy in order to generate fair value estimates
because it determined that such policy was in the best interest of shareholders, as it would avoid misstatements in valuation of the assets potentially
arising from deviations in pricing across the digital asset market, and because of the fragmented nature of the digital asset trading ecosystem. As a result,
management applied this valuation technique which it determined to be appropriate given the circumstances.

Following the filing of its Form 10, the Sponsor conducted a complete review of its process for determining fair valuation in the presentation of its
financial statements and calculation of NAV. In this process, the Sponsor evaluated whether or not the identification of a principal market for each of the
Trust�s assets for valuation purposes, during each period for which the Trust created and had audited its financial statements, would have created a
material difference in the Trust�s estimated fair value or assets. In conjunction, the Sponsor began to consider a change in valuation policy for the fair
valuation of cryptocurrencies held in the Trust. As a result, the Sponsor has developed a revised process for the determination of a principal market for
each asset based on this consideration and intends to disclose this change in valuation policy and accounting policy when implemented, which has been
implemented prior to the creation of financial statements for the period ending September 30, 2021. The Blended Bitwise Crypto Asset Price is no
longer used for any calculations by the Trust, including NAV per share, NAV of the Trust or fair valuations for any Portfolio Crypto Asset.

The process that the Sponsor has developed for identifying a principal market, as described in Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting
Standards Codification 820-10, which outlines the application of fair value accounting, was to begin by identifying publicly available, well-established
and reputable cryptocurrency exchanges selected by the Sponsor and its affiliates in their sole discretion, currently including BitFlyer, Binance,
Bitstamp, Bittrex, Coinbase, itBit, Kraken, Gemini and Poloniex, and then calculating, on each valuation period, the highest volume exchange during
the 60 minutes prior to 16:00 ET for each asset. In evaluating the markets that could be considered principal markets, the Trust considered whether or
not the specific markets were accessible to the Trust, either directly or through an intermediary, at the end of each period.

In the process of this review, the Sponsor also retroactively applied this process for identifying a principal market to the prior periods of reported
financial results, including the fiscal years 2018, 2019 and 2020, to determine whether or not any material or significant differences would have resulted
from the application of a different valuation policy in the creation of each financial statement (e.g., comparing the fair value prices determined using the
existing and previous valuation methodology to the hypothetical fair value prices using an identified principal market for each asset) and to consider
whether management�s use of the existing valuation policy would have created any material departures from a valuation policy of identifying a
principal market.

As set out in more detail in the tables in �Management�s Discussion and Analysis�Fair Value Measurements�Calculation of Valuation,� the Sponsor�s
results conclude that there are no material or significant differences in valuation or the financial statements as presented when using the policy of
identifying a principal market described above as compared to the existing valuation methodology for any period since the Trust commenced
operations, as the average difference in valuation prices was in all cases less than 0.05% or five one hundredths of one percent for each asset for each
period measured, and that such differences are immaterial in all cases.

While management has applied accounting standards it believes are appropriate to the circumstances, and despite these findings that the previous results
are immaterially different, the Sponsor intends to change its valuation policy going forward based on the foregoing discussion and interpretation of ASC
820. The Sponsor intends to change its valuation policy for the purposes of calculating its ongoing net asset value, and processing ongoing subscriptions
into the Trust and will similarly disclose this change in valuation policy, as well as the differences
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between the two policies. As described in the Explanatory Note, the Trust determined that the previous valuation policy, which utilized a blended
average approach for calculating the price of a digital asset instead of identifying a principal market for such digital asset, was not in keeping with the
proper application of U.S. GAAP, specifically ASC 820, and, therefore, resulted in an immaterial error. In accordance with the Financial Accounting
Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification 250 (�ASC 250�), the Trust corrected this immaterial error by making changes to the valuation
policy and the financial statements in subsequent periods.

Statements, Filings, and Reports

The Trust will comply with all reporting obligations required of companies with a class of securities registered under the Exchange Act, including timely
filing Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and other customary filings.

Shareholders will receive annual audited financial statements for the Trust and any applicable tax reports (e.g., Schedules K-1) from the Sponsor. The
Sponsor or the Administrator (as defined below) will issue Schedules K-1 directly to Shareholders that hold Shares or the custodian of such Shares, as
applicable, for each taxable year or portion thereof.

The Trustee will make elections, file tax returns and prepare, disseminate and file tax reports, as advised by the Sponsor, the Trust�s counsel or
accountants or as required by any applicable statute, rule or regulation.

Investment strategy

The Trust holds a Portfolio that generally tracks the Index. The Index is administered by Bitwise Index Services, LLC, an affiliate of the Sponsor (the
�Index Provider�). The Trust rebalances monthly alongside the Index to stay current with changes. The Sponsor strives to minimize tracking error
(e.g., divergence between the performance of the Trust and the Index) by managing costs and price slippage during trade execution, and holding the
assets in the Index.

The Sponsor has the discretion, when possible and prudent, to take advantage of incidental opportunities to generate additional returns in excess of the
Index that arise from the Portfolio Crypto Assets held by the Trust, through, for example, airdrops, emissions, forks, staking, lending or similar network
events and activities, if the Sponsor determines that any such activities are in the best interest of the Trust and its shareholders. The Sponsor does not
consider these activities inconsistent with its investment objective to invest in a portfolio to track the Index or inconsistent with its disclosure that the
Trust is managed as a passive investment vehicle. Accrual of additional returns through such activities may offset fees and fund expenses and allow the
Trust to track the performance of the Index more closely. If the Sponsor accepts and liquidates airdrops, emissions, or hard forks or engages in staking, it
will apply fair value to the assets received as described in the section �Management�s Discussion and Analysis�Significant Accounting
Policies�Investments and Valuation.�

The Trust seeks to track the Index, and, therefore, to the extent that a Network Distribution Event, defined as an event that offers additional
opportunities to engage with a blockchain network and generate additional capital, occurs and such Network Distribution Event impacts the composition
of the Index, the Trust will undertake its usual rebalancing process. The policies of the Index in regard to Network Distribution Events are described
below in � �Index Methodology.�

It is possible that a Network Distribution Event could occur that may result in an opportunity for the Trust to generate additional returns, such as if an
asset that the Trust already held were to do an airdrop that resulted in the Trust obtaining a different asset. If that were to occur, the Trust may seek to
utilize the Network Distribution Event in such a way as to benefit the Shareholders of the Trust. For example, the Trust may choose to sell an airdropped
asset and return the proceeds to the Shareholders.
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Price and Cost Slippage

On days when the Sponsor accepts subscriptions, the Sponsor aggregates the dollar value of subscriptions into the Trust and uses quantitative portfolio
management techniques to compare the Trust�s existing holdings and weightings to the constituents and weightings of the index in order to calculate the
amounts and quantities of each digital asset to purchase. On days when the Sponsor rebalances the Trust�s portfolio in order to pursue its investment
objective of tracking the benchmark index, the Sponsor uses quantitative portfolio management techniques to compare the Trust�s existing holdings and
weightings to the new and updated constituents and weightings of the index in order to calculate the amounts and quantities of each digital asset to
purchase so that the Trust�s holdings and weightings will, after trade execution, be closely aligned with the constituents and weightings of the
benchmark index. In each case, the Sponsor has at its disposal multiple venues to acquire and dispose of digital assets, including trading venues (known
as exchanges), direct trading counterparties (known as �OTC desks�), and trading technology solutions that aggregate liquidity from multiple trading
venues.

Trade execution and portfolio management is dynamic and complex, and the Sponsor must exercise judgement, assess multiple factors including recent
experience and market conditions, as well as the size of the trades, settlement procedures at each venue, types of assets that need to be executed, as well
as their availability on such platforms, prior to determining the best venue to execute each trade. The Sponsor attempts to purchase or sell each asset in
each instance at a price that is close to the price used for calculating the Trust�s NAV (and the Index�s daily price) at 4pm ET, while also minimizing
market impact and reducing operational and settlement risk. The Trust may choose to algorithmically execute a trade over time (for example, to execute
a trade while only participating in a certain amount of volume), to execute a trade using a market order (e.g., purchasing or selling a digital asset
immediately at whatever price the entire order can be filled at), or by putting multiple OTC desks into competition to provide the best price possible for
a given amount and quantity of a digital asset. Often, OTC desks may be able to provide better prices than trading venues, and can also streamline and
minimize operational complexity and settlement risk. There is no guarantee that the Sponsor will be able to trade digital assets at or near the benchmark
price, there are a number of other factors aside from price slippage that inform best practices in trade execution, and market conditions change rapidly.
Such factors include, but are not limited to, reputation of the trading venue, availability and support of personnel and coverage at the trading venue,
settlement consistency or procedures, availability of assets and coin coverage, understanding of market dynamics, and perceived, disclosed, or reported
regulatory compliance of the platform.

Index

The following is a materially complete description of the Index methodology (�Index Methodology�). The full Index Methodology is publicly
available at https://www.bitwiseinvestments.com/indexes/methodology. Should any material change be made to the Index Methodology that results in a
material change to the composition of the Index and, as part of the Trust�s monthly rebalancing process, results in a material change to the composition
of the Trust the Trust will notify Shareholders of such material change by filing a Form 8-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the �SEC�).
The Trust defines a material change as any change of 10% or more to the composition of the Index, and that also results in a corresponding change to the
Trust. If not required by applicable law, the Trust may or may not file a Form 8-K with the SEC to disclose changes to the Index Methodology that do
not result in a material change. When deciding whether or not to file a Form 8-K to disclose changes to the Index Methodology that do not result in a
material change, the Trust will consider whether the particular changes are required to be disclosed by one or more of the specific requirements of Form
8-K, and whether there is an independent legal obligation under the federal securities laws to make such a disclosure even in the absence of a specific
requirement in Form 8-K. The Trust may have additional current or periodic reporting obligations under the Exchange Act due to other changes to the
Index Methodology, such as to how the Index is calculated.
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Purpose of the Index

The purpose of the Index is to track a basket of cryptocurrencies that represents the majority of cryptocurrencies by market capitalization. At its
inception on October 1, 2017, the cryptocurrencies in the Index represented about 83% of all cryptocurrencies by market capitalization, and now
represent approximately 76% as of March 31, 2021. The Index is comprised of the top 10 coins selected and weighted by free-float-adjusted market
capitalization. The Index is rebalanced monthly. Additional eligibility criteria are applied to screen coins for investment feasibility (as defined below), to
ensure the integrity of the coins selected to comprise the Index, and to appropriately account for one-off events. As a result, the 10 coins in the Index
may not always completely match the top 10 coins on popular websites like CoinMarketCap.com that do not include such screening.

Index Methodology

The Index, designed by the Index Provider, an affiliate of the Sponsor, is comprised of the top ten largest cryptocurrencies in the world based on free-
float-adjusted market capitalizations. The market capitalizations of cryptocurrencies are calculated using data sources from multiple publicly available,
well-established and reputable cryptocurrency exchanges. The selection of cryptocurrency exchanges used to calculate market capitalization is made by
the Committee, as defined below, in its sole discretion. Currently, the list of exchanges used to calculate the value of cryptocurrency in the Index
include: BitFlyer, Binance, Bitstamp, Bittrex, Coinbase, itBit, Kraken, Gemini and Poloniex.

The market capitalization of a cryptocurrency is calculated by multiplying its price times its free-float-adjusted or �circulating� supply. The proportion
of each cryptocurrency in the Index is based on this adjusted market capitalization. Public exchanges used for calculating the Index are selected using
criteria which may include factors such as trading volume, availability, regulatory compliance, security, and reliability of real-time price and trade
volume information and absence of abnormal withdrawal restrictions of crypto and fiat currencies. Regulatory compliance is defined as the exchange
having no public evidence, such as statements by a relevant regulator, that it is not in compliance with the local regulations of the exchange�s domicile
and not being subject to publicly disclosed legal or regulatory action. The Committee, as defined below, monitors company web sites, news flow, social
media, and API-level data feeds to determine the regulatory compliance, security and reliability of real-time price and trade volume information and the
absence of abnormal withdrawal restrictions of crypto and fiat currencies.

The Index is actively researched and evaluated and, therefore, the Index Methodology�s eligibility criteria, constituents and overall strategy may be
adjusted over time. The Index is calculated by the Sponsor and its affiliates on a daily basis and published on the Sponsor�s website. Since the Trust�s
investment strategy is to invest its assets to track the Index, a change in Index Methodology or composition will not automatically warrant a notice or
consent requirement to Shareholders. Should any material change be made to the Index Methodology that results in a material change to the composition
of the Index and, as part of the Trust�s monthly rebalancing process, results in a material change to the composition of the Trust the Trust will notify
Shareholders of such material change by filing a Form 8-K with the SEC. The Trust defines material change as any change of 10% or more to the
composition of the Index.

To screen, select and weight the top 10 coins, the Index uses a free-float-adjusted market capitalization which is calculated as follows:

(composite price) x (free-float-adjusted or circulating supply)

A coin�s composite price is derived from the real-time price data pulled from multiple exchanges. The individual exchange price data is combined using
a trade volume weighting technique. The price on the exchange with more trade volume has more influence on the composite price while the exchange
with the price that deviates more from the prices of the other exchanges has less influence on the composite price. This normalization produces a more
accurate composited price which is then used in the market capitalization calculation.
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In calculating the available supply of a coin, the Index looks at circulating supply. Circulating supply is the best approximation of the number of coins
available on public markets. Circulating supply is derived by taking the total number of existing coins from the blockchain and subtracting the number
of coins verifiably burned, locked, or reserved (for example, by a foundation.

The top 10 cryptocurrencies in the Index are selected and held in proportion to their valuation, often referred to as �market-capitalization weighted.�

Composite Price Determination by the Index

Broadly speaking, the Index intends to reflect the price at which an institutionally oriented investor can trade any given crypto asset. This price is called
the Index Crypto Asset Price (�Index CAP�). The Index CAP is used solely by the Index and is not used by the Trust or the Sponsor. The default
denomination of an Index CAP is the U.S. dollar, and the methodology is as follows:

Calculating Crypto Asset Prices In U.S. Dollars: The crypto asset world has two modalities of trading: crypto-to-fiat trading and crypto-to-crypto
trading. To create a single unified price for every crypto asset, all trading pairs must be standardized to price that asset in a single currency (for the
Index, this currency is the U.S. dollar). The steps to do that are listed below in the order that they are followed:

1. Select Quote Crypto Assets: To avoid circular pricing when standardizing crypto-to-crypto trading pairs, the Committee must select a
group of �Quote Crypto Assets.� Quote Crypto Assets are determined on an annual basis at the Committee meeting that precedes the start
of a new calendar year.

a. Quote Crypto Assets are those that:

i. Have crypto-to-fiat trading on at least two eligible crypto asset trading venues that allow for institutional deposits and
withdrawals in a noncapital-controlled fiat currency (an �Eligible Fiat Currency�).

ii. Are the largest crypto trading pair (measured by trailing 30-day dollar trading volume) for at least one of the top 100 Eligible
Crypto Assets in each of the past three months.

iii. As of March 31, 2021, Quote Crypto Assets were Bitcoin (BTC) and Ethereum (ETH).

2. Calculate Quote Crypto Assets Index CAPs: Quote Crypto Assets are unique in that the Index only considers fiat-to-crypto trades when
calculating their Index CAPs, as the goal is to calculate the fiat-convertible price of Eligible Crypto Assets that have crypto-to-crypto
trading pairs.

a. The Index CAP for a Quote Crypto Asset is calculated as follows:

i. Aggregate all crypto-to-fiat trading pairs for Eligible Fiat Currencies that take place on eligible crypto asset trading venues,
removing any pairs that face withdrawal issues.

ii. Transform all non-U.S.-dollar fiat trading pairs into U.S. dollar prices using synchronous data from an established foreign
exchange reference data provider.

iii. Calculate the U.S. dollar volume over the previous hour for each crypto-to-fiat trading pair.

iv. Assign each trading pair a contribution weight based on its share of total dollar trading volume in a given asset over the
previous hour.

v. Multiply the last traded price (adjusted into U.S. dollars) for each trading venue pair by its contribution weight. In the event
that no trading price is pulled for a particular trading pair either due to technical reasons or to a lack of trading volume, the
Committee may substitute a fair market value estimate for that price or eliminate that price from consideration.

vi. Sum to find the Index CAP.
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3. Calculate the Index CAP for Non-Quote Crypto Assets: Many crypto assets trade (sometimes exclusively) in pairs with other crypto

assets.

a. The process for translating these crypto-to-crypto pairs along with crypto-to-fiat pairs into an aggregate Index CAP is as follows:

i. Consider both crypto-to-fiat trading pairs and crypto-to-crypto trading pairs on eligible crypto asset trading venues,
excluding any trading venue pairs that have withdrawal issues.

ii. Exclude all trading pairs that are not denominated in either Eligible Fiat Currencies or Quote Crypto Assets.

iii. Transform all non-U.S.-dollar fiat trading pairs into U.S. dollars using synchronous foreign exchange data from an
established foreign exchange data supplier.

iv. For Quote Crypto Assets, use the synchronous Index CAP to translate the crypto-to-crypto pair into a crypto-to-U.S.-dollar
equivalent. The synchronous Index CAP is used to establish a conversion rate for non-fiat denominated crypto pairs. Non-
quote crypto assets are usually priced relative to a Quote Crypto Asset; therefore, the price can be converted into U.S. dollar
price by multiplying by the U.S. dollar Index CAP of the Quote Crypto Asset. For example, a non-quote crypto asset can be
priced in Bitcoin, which is a Quote Crypto Asset. Therefore, you would convert the price of the non-quote crypto asset to its
price in Bitcoin, and then convert that price to U.S. dollars. In either scenario, the crypto-to-crypto price is converted or
�translated� into a crypto-to-U.S. dollar equivalent. This process is similar to how a foreign exchange rate would be used to
convert or �translate� a crypto-to-forex price into a crypto-to-U.S. dollar equivalent.

v. Calculate the U.S. dollar volume for each trading pair and assign each pair a contribution weight based on its share of total
U.S. dollar trading volume in a given crypto asset over the past hour.

vi. Multiply the last traded price (adjusted into U.S. dollars) by its contribution weight. Note: In the event that no trading price is
pulled for a particular trading pair either due to technical reasons or a lack of trading volume, the Committee may substitute
a fair market value estimate for that price or eliminate that price from consideration.

vii. Sum to find the Index CAP.

Changes in Index Methodology

The Index Methodology is subject to change, though changes are expected to be infrequent and consistent with the Index�s goal of including the most
valuable coins that cover the majority of the cryptocurrency market based on market capitalization, while meeting criteria relating to liquidity, access to
markets, available pricing, available custody options, and other criteria included within the Index�s rules, which we collectively refer to as meeting an
�investment feasibility� standard. See �Eligibility of Cryptocurrencies� for additional information.

Given the speed at which the crypto asset market has been changing over the past few years, some adjustments to the methodology have been made in
order for the Index to better reflect its target market. Examples of such changes include the method followed to determine which exchanges or
custodians are needed to support a crypto asset in order to make it eligible, the method to calculate a crypto asset�s free-float-adjusted market
capitalization, and the specifics of how to screen out assets for non-compensated regulatory or technical risks.

Since the inception of the Index on October 1, 2017, the Committee approved the following changes to the methodology:

� Meeting of September, 30, 2020: Adopted a new rule concerning the risk, given present facts and circumstances, of a crypto asset being
deemed a security under U.S. Federal Securities laws.
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� Meeting of December, 29, 2020: Adopted a change to Rule V.B, which defines the calculation methodology of market capitalization to

exclude the five-year inflation adjustment that was in place up until that time.

� Meeting of January 25, 2021: Adopted an amendment to Rule III.B.3.i.e, the custody rule, to require inclusion of additional factors related
to the regulatory standing of approved custodians requiring that such custodians follow industry best practices.

� Meeting of June 30, 2021: Adopted an amendment to Rule III.B.i.g. to state that cryptoassets will be screened for undue risk �of being in
violation of U.S. federal securities laws� rather than being screened for undue risk �of being deemed a security under U.S. federal
securities laws.�

Since the Trust�s principal investment objectives is to invest in a portfolio of cryptocurrencies that tracks the Index as closely as possible, the Trust
relies on the Index Methodology when the Trust determines in which digital assets it should invest. The Trust does not intend for its holdings to deviate
from the digital assets as determined by the Index, and the Trust anticipates that such deviation would likely occur only if the Trust was unable to hold a
particular digital asset that was included in the Index or if the Trust determined that holding a particular asset would result in significant harm to
Shareholders.

Eligibility of Cryptocurrencies

The Index is comprised of the top 10 coins measured by free-float-adjusted market capitalization. The Index is rebalanced monthly. Additional
eligibility criteria are applied to screen coins for investment feasibility (as defined below), to ensure the integrity of the coins selected to comprise the
Index, and to appropriately account for one-off events. As a result, the 10 coins that comprise the Index may not always completely correlate with the
top 10 coins posted on popular websites like CoinMarketCap.com to the extent that such coins do not also meet the Index�s eligibility criteria. The
Index will only consider for eligibility cryptocurrencies that satisfy the following conditions as established by the Committee for each coin:

1. Is a cryptographically secured digital bearer instrument

2. Has a price that is not pegged to another crypto asset, fiat currency, group of those currencies, or hard asset

3. Is freely traded and can be freely held for the foreseeable future

4. Trades on two or more eligible crypto asset trading venues, without withdrawal issues specific to that crypto asset

5. Is custodied by a third-party custodian regulated as a federally chartered bank or as a state trust company, and meets additional security
practices, insurance requirements and business practice requirements as determined by the Committee. The list of approved custodians is
reviewed and updated on an annual basis, or at the discretion of the Committee. As of January 25, 2021, the date that the Committee
performed its 2021 annual review of eligible custodians, the list of approved custodians was as follows:

i. Anchorage

ii. Bakkt Warehouse

iii. BitGo

iv. Coinbase Custody

v. Fidelity Digital Assets

vi. Gemini Custody

6. Has no known security vulnerabilities, including critical bugs, undue exposure to 51% attacks, or other factors, as determined by the
Committee.
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7. Does not face undue risk of being in violation of U.S. federal securities laws in the opinion of the Committee, given present knowable

facts and circumstances. This is a risk-based assessment that considers whether the digital asset may be deemed a security under U.S.
federal securities laws and whether it is subject to regulatory action that may imperil the value of the digital asset. Such assessment does
not preclude legal or regulatory action based on the presence of a security. The Committee does not engage in legal analysis of any digital
assets or perform any analysis of digital assets based upon any legal standards.

The Committee reviews the following information to make this determination: 1) public information to determine if the SEC, any other US
regulatory agency or any court has made any statements regarding the digital asset, 2) public information regarding how the digital asset
markets view the digital asset, including whether the digital asset has been listed on entities such as Coinbase or other US exchanges that
would have had access to a reasonable amount of information when making their determinations to list the digital asset, 3) public
information to undertake reasonable diligence into the structure and technology of the digital asset, including reviewing the digital asset�s
whitepaper if available and speaking with the sponsor of the digital asset, and 4) any other information gained from reputable sources that
may impact the Committee�s view of digital asset.

Any legal test utilized to determine whether a digital asset is a security would differ from the analysis performed by the Committee. If the
Committee adds a digital asset to the Index, but later becomes aware of new information that causes the Committee to revalue the risk
profile of such digital asset, the Committee will review such information and determine whether the digital asset should be removed from
the Index.

8. Has traded more than 10% of its free-float-adjusted market capitalization on eligible crypto asset trading venues over the past 30 days.

The following table sets forth all of the digital assets included in the Index as of March 31, 2021, as well as digital assets that were included in the list of
the top 10 coins measured by market capitalization on CoinMarketCap.com as of March 31, 2021, but were deemed by the Committee not to satisfy
each of the above-described eligibility requirements and were therefore not included in the Index:

Digital Assets

Included in /
Excluded from

Index If excluded, reason for exclusion
Bitcoin BTC Included �
Ethereum ETH Included �
Binance Coin BNB Excluded Because it does not trade on two or more eligible crypto asset trading venues
Tether USDT Excluded Because it is pegged to a fiat currency
Cardano ADA Excluded Because it was not able to be custodied by a third-party custodian regulated as a federally chartered bank or as a state trust company
Polkadot DOT Excluded Because the Committee believes it may face undue risk of being in violation of U.S. federal securities laws
XRP XRP Excluded Because the Committee believes it may face undue risk of being in violation of U.S. federal securities laws
Uniswap UNI Included �
Litecoin LTC Included �
THETA Excluded Because it did not trade on two or more eligible crypto asset trading venues
ChainLink LINK Included �
Bitcoin Cash BCH Included �
Stellar Lumens XLM Included �
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Digital Assets

Included in /
Excluded from

Index If excluded, reason for exclusion
AAVE Included �
EOS Included �
Cosmos ATOM Included �

To the extent that any such coin meets the Index�s eligibility requirements at a future date, it would be considered for inclusion in the Index in
connection with a future rebalancing. Assets will lose eligibility and be removed from the Index at the next monthly reconstitution event if they violate
any of the listed Eligibility Requirements for 30-consecutive days. Under extraordinary circumstances, assets may lose eligibility and be removed on a
same-day basis by a unanimous vote of the quorum of members of the Bitwise Crypto Index Committee. Such emergency removals will take place at
4:00 p.m. ET following the conclusion of the meeting and public posting of that notice on the Sponsor�s web site. In either case, if the Sponsor
determines that the change is material (which the Sponsor generally considers to be a change of 10% or more to the Trust or the Index holdings, but in
any event, is also determined at the Trust�s discretion) the Sponsor will disclose such change on Form 8-K. The Committee relies on the analysis
conducted by the Sponsor as described in �Certain Legal and Regulatory Considerations� and �Overview of Government Regulation.� The Trust, in the
Sponsor�s sole discretion, may choose to immediately liquidate its position in any Portfolio Crypto Asset that it determines may be at increased risk of
being in violation of U.S. federal securities laws or based on consideration of new public information available regarding the asset. The Sponsor makes
its determination using the same process as that used by the Committee as set forth above. In certain circumstances, the Sponsor may cause the Trust to
differ from the Index in the coins that it holds if the Sponsor causes the Trust to exclude a coin based on these or similar circumstances, and this may
lead to tracking differences between the Trust and the Index.

One-Off Events

The Index has provisions for handling one-off events in a basket cryptocurrency or the cryptocurrency market generally, such as trade suspensions and
hard forks. One-off events are events that are not expected to occur during the normal functioning of a cryptocurrency network and that significantly
impact the operation of the network or the ability for market players to trade in or out of the cryptocurrency. Examples of these are hard-forks, which
can lead to a network split and therefore two versions of the same asset circulating in the market, or significant liquidity reductions, such as in the event
of trading suspensions or delistings from exchanges. If new types of important one-off events become common, the Index may adopt additional policies
to address them as determined in the sole discretion of the Sponsor. With regard to trade suspensions, if an exchange suspends the trading of a given
coin for any reason, the Index may remove that individual exchange from consideration. In the event of delisting of such coin from all public exchanges,
then the coin will be removed from the Index during the next rebalancing regardless of what the assumed market capitalization might have been. The
Committee may convene ad hoc to consider appropriate actions should there be a sudden and extenuating event.

The Index views hard forks similarly to how company spinoffs are viewed in US equity markets. A hard fork is when a cryptocurrency is split because
portions of the consensus nodes adopt different policies. In such an event, often a private key holder ends up with ownership on both chains. Often there
is a primary chain that is adopted by the majority. When a hard fork occurs, the forked coin will be held in the Index until the next rebalancing. This
embodies the idea that the value of the forked coin stems from that of the original coin. Thus, the Index will hold the two coins as if they were one until
the next opportunity to treat them as separate. The new forked coin will then be removed from the Index upon the next rebalancing unless it meets all
the eligibility requirements (except the requirement to have a three-month trade history) and has an inflation adjusted market capitalization of its own to
warrant being included in the Index.

The Index also has provisions for other Network Distribution Events. Network Distribution Events include emissions, airdrops, and staking. To the
extent that Network Distribution Events occur that impact the Index and,
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due to the Trust�s goal of tracking the Index, thereby impact the Trust as well, the Trust will notify shareholders of such Network Distribution Events by
filing a Form 8-K with the SEC.

� Emissions: Certain crypto assets provide regular awards to holders in the form of crypto asset grants, often in the form of �gas� that
powers transactions on the network itself, which are referred to as �emissions.� Such emissions are a native development for the crypto
assets that provide them. Currently, there are no assets in the Index that produce emissions, and historically, there has been just one asset
(NEO) that did so. To date, the daily value of distributed emissions has been de minimis for any given crypto asset. Given the small values
involved, it would not be practical for investment funds handling regular inflows and outflows to accurately track the Index if it accrued
emissions on a daily basis, regardless of whether the Index collected those emissions over time or liquidated them daily. As a result, the
Index ignores emissions for index calculation purposes It is possible that the Trust may choose to periodically liquidate emissions and
return the proceeds of such liquidation to Shareholders. The Trust will only do so if it has a good faith belief that such liquidation would
result in a benefit to Shareholders. In the period ended December 31, 2018, the Trust received approximately 311 ONT tokens and 219
GAS tokens as a result of its holdings in NEO, resulting in approximately $6,000 USD in investment income. The Trust sold its positions
in these tokens during the period and reinvested the proceeds in the Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets.�

� Airdrops: An airdrop occurs when a new or emergent crypto asset is granted to holders of an existing crypto asset on a one-off or
occasional basis. Airdrops are not native to the internal return drivers of any given crypto asset. Importantly, they also require agency on
the part of crypto asset holders to claim, and the act of claiming an airdropped crypto asset can potentially put holders of a given crypto
asset at risk. As such, the Index does not incorporate the value of airdropped crypto assets into the Index It is possible that the Trust may
choose to periodically liquidate airdropped assets and return the proceeds of such liquidation to Shareholders. The Trust will only do so if
it has a good faith belief that such liquidation would result in a benefit to Shareholders.

When considering whether or not to accept and/or sell an airdrop of digital assets, the Trust primarily considers whether or not the Trust�s
custodian will support such activities related to the airdropped asset. If the Trust�s custodian does not support the airdrop, it is unlikely
that the Trust will participate in the acceptance and sale of the airdropped asset. If the Trust�s custodian does support the airdropped asset,
it is likely, though not necessary, that the Trust will participate in the acceptance and sale of the airdropped asset. However, as airdrops
may provide opportunities to generate incremental return, the Sponsor retains discretion to pursue receipt of any airdropped asset, even if
not supported by the custodian, which may require putting a related portfolio crypto asset at risk. There may be operational, securities law,
regulatory, legal and practical issues with accepting such assets.

Additionally, laws, regulation or other factors may prevent Shareholders from benefiting from such airdrops. For example, it may be
illegal to sell or otherwise dispose of such assets, or there may not be a suitable market into which such assets can be sold (immediately
after the airdrop, or ever). There were no �airdrops� or emissions recognized or not recognized during the fiscal quarter ended March 31,
2021 or the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

� Staking: A staking reward is granted to holders of a crypto asset when the holders lock up that crypto asset as collateral to secure fairness
when validating transactions or other network actions. Staking rewards require agency on the part of crypto asset holders and also
introduce liquidity restrictions, since the act of staking �locks up� crypto assets for a period of time. As such, the Index does not
incorporate the value of staking rewards into the Index It is possible that the Trust may choose to periodically liquidate staking rewards
and return the proceeds of such liquidation to Shareholders. The Trust will only do so if it has a good faith belief that such liquidation
would result in a benefit to Shareholders.

When considering whether or not to participate in staking activities, the Trust will consider whether the staking activities present possible
and prudent opportunities to generate additional returns for
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shareholders in excess of the Index, the risks associated with the staking activities, the potential for the loss of all or part of the staked
amounts, and whether or not the activity is supported by the Trust�s custodian. While the Trust has only participated in a limited and
immaterial manner in staking activities to date, it retains the discretion to develop additional policies related to staking of assets and may
consider pursuit of additional staking activity or policies in the future. If the Trust makes material changes to its staking policy in the
future, it will disclose such changes on Form 8-K. The Trust has not participated in any staking or reward generation activity other than
with respect to Tezos in 2020. The Trust received $2,139 in total staking rewards in 2020 from its Tezos staking activities. These rewards
were treated as investment income in the Trust�s audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. While the
Trust currently does not participate in any staking activities, it may in the future engage in further staking activities if the Trust deems such
activity to be in the best interests of shareholders. If the Trust makes material changes to its staking policy in the future, it will disclose
such changes on Form 8-K.

The Trust does not maintain policies or procedures related to the abandonment of digital assets acquired in a Network Distribution Event, but will
evaluate the situation and determine, within the framework of the Trust�s investment objective and in its sole discretion, what action, if any, should be
taken in response to a Network Distribution Event.

Bitwise Crypto Index Committee

The Committee, which was convened by the Index Provider, an affiliate of the Trust that is controlled by the parent of the Sponsor, has total
responsibility for developing, maintaining, and adjusting the Bitwise Crypto Index Methodologies. The components of the Index Methodology are
subject to change in the sole discretion of the Committee. The Bitwise Crypto Index Advisory Board (the �Advisory Board�) is a consultative board
composed of leading external experts in indexing and crypto asset research that the Committee can rely upon for opinions on critical issues that the
Committee might face.

The Committee currently has three members, who meet once a month to review data sources, evaluate potential methodological changes, or make other
decisions that require judgment. Any Committee member can also call emergency meetings on an as-needed basis. Special meetings may be called ad
hoc when unexpected market conditions arise such as hard forks, extreme price movements, serious issues in data availability or sudden events with
severe impact on the cryptocurrency market. Currently, the Committee is composed of Matthew Hougan (Bitwise�s Chief Investment Officer) as
Chairman, Hunter Horsley (Bitwise�s Chief Executive Officer) as a member, and David Lawant (Bitwise�s Director of Research) as a member. All of
the members of the Committee are employees of Bitwise, the parent company of the Sponsor. Decisions are voted on by simple majority with a
minimum quorum of two members. When only two members are present, votes must be unanimous in order to pass.

The objective of methodological changes introduced by the Committee is to keep up with the evolution of the crypto asset market infrastructure. More
broadly, the aim is to make sure that the selection of the top 10 assets continues to reflect as much as possible investors� preferences by removing
market distortions and screening out uncompensated risks of an either technical or regulatory nature for U.S. investors.

The Committee members owe no duty to the Trust and may make decisions or take actions with respect to the Index that may be adverse to the Trust.
The Committee has no decision-making authority or control over the Trust. No member of the Committee in his or her capacity as a committee member
has a right to participate in the management of the Trust, to act for or bind the Trust, or to vote on Trust matters except as specifically provided under
applicable law or in the Trust Agreement.

The Index is evaluated and studied on an ongoing basis by the Committee. Variables such as eligibility and liquidity are benchmarked against new
market conditions and new data sources are considered for inclusion while old ones are considered for exclusion.
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Departures from the Index

Performance of the Trust may differ from the Index. For example, tracking errors may emerge as a result of trading fees, bank fees, and the management
fee, which pays for custody, audit, administration, portfolio management, Index use, and other necessary services. The Trust will attempt to pay
expenses in the most tax and cost-efficient manner possible. It is possible that a Network Distribution Event could occur that may result in an
opportunity for the Trust to generate additional returns. If such a Network Distribution Event were to occur, the Trust may seek to utilize the Network
Distribution Event in such a way as to benefit the Shareholders of the Trust. If the Trust decides to pursue staking activities that require Portfolio Crypto
Assets to be restricted within a protocol for a specific period of time, the Trust may be unable to rebalance its holdings due to monthly rebalancing of the
Index, which could cause deviations between the Trust and the Index, and could create performance differences between the Trust and the Index. If the
Trust was unable to rebalance its holdings in accordance with the monthly rebalancing of the Index, the Trust would include this information on its
website, as the current Portfolio and any relevant information regarding the Portfolio is always provided on the Trust�s website. If required by
applicable law, the Trust would also disclose such information by filing a current or periodic report with the SEC.

In addition, the Trust may differ from the Index in the coins it holds. Such differences may arise from situations in which the Trust is not technologically
able to hold a coin held by the Index, such as if a coin held by the Index is not able to be accepted by the Trust�s Custodian. In such a case, the Sponsor
in its sole discretion may create an exception and such exception may not always be communicated in advance to Shareholders. To the extent any
exception resulted in a material change to Index and a subsequent material change to the composition of the Trust, the exception would be disclosed to
Shareholders by the Trust filing a Form 8-K with the SEC. In addition, if a particular situation results in the Trust differing from the Index, the Sponsor
may permit the Trust may invest in other assets on a limited basis in the sole discretion of the Sponsor. Although the Trust rarely holds �other assets�
outside of negligible amounts of U.S. dollars, the Trust may receive assets that are not in the Index as a result of airdrops, emissions, forks, trading
errors, accidental delivery of crypto assets to the Trust�s custodian, among other reasons. The Trust may also be unable to sell or liquidate assets that are
removed from the Index. The Trust may receive assets as a part of an in-kind subscription that are not components of the index. The Sponsor notes that
portfolio management of an index fund is a dynamic and complex activity, and the Sponsor expects that these situations may arise as a result of normal
and ongoing fund management and rebalancing activity. While there is no limitation to what other assets the trust may hold as a result of these
dynamics, the Trust�s investment objective is to manage a portfolio that tracks as closely as possible with the Index, and as a result, will typically hold
Index components. Upon the resolution of such a situation that resulted in there being a difference between the composition of the Trust and the Index,
the Trust would intend to rebalance to conform to the Index.

The Trust and Index have differed in their holdings on two occasions. The Trust temporarily held Bitcoin SV (BSV) following the Bitcoin Cash hard
fork. The Trust sold the BSV as soon as practicable once access to a custodian was provided. The Index held Cardano (ADA) and the Trust did not,
because while ADA met the eligibility requirements for the Index, the Trust requires that all the crypto assets it holds be custodied by a specific
custodian, and the Trust�s custodian at that time was not technologically enabled to accept and hold ADA.

The Trust does not hold any form of asset other than crypto assets, outside of negligible amounts of U.S. dollars.

Should any material change be made to the Index Methodology that results in a material change to the composition of the Index and, as part of the
Trust�s monthly rebalancing process, results in a material change to the composition of the Trust the Trust will notify Shareholders of such material
change by filing a Form 8-K with the SEC. The Trust defines material change as any change of 10% or more to the composition of the Index.
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Additional Trust Investment Restrictions

The Sponsor does not currently intend to cause the Trust to incur leverage, employ derivatives, or enter into short sales. The Sponsor, however, retains
the right to remove any of these investment restrictions at any time in its sole discretion. The Sponsor will notify the Shareholders in the Trust prior to
modifying any of the investment restrictions described in this section.

Rebalance of the Index

The Index is reconstituted on a monthly basis. The Committee meets once a month (typically on the fifth-to-last business day of the month) to review
data sources, evaluate potential methodological changes, or make other decisions that require judgment. On the third last business day of the month, the
eligible crypto assets are ranked by free-float adjusted market capitalization and the top ten assets are selected. On the last business day of the month, at
4pm ET (1pm PT), the Index is reconstituted. This version of the Index will remain in place until the next Index reconstitution (barring an emergency
meeting of the Committee that leads to the exclusion of an asset). After the reconstitution of the Index, the Trust then rebalances its portfolio to reflect
the new composition of the Index. There may be small delays between when the Index rebalances and when such rebalance is reflected in the Trust�s
financial statements. For example on March 31, 2021, as part of the Index�s March rebalance, the Index removed EOS and added Filecoin. The Trust
then rebalanced its portfolio to reflect the rebalanced Index; however, due to the timing of when the Trust�s books and records were finalized, the
removal of EOS and addition of Filecoin appeared in the Trust�s financial statements beginning on April 1, 2021.

Staking Activities

The Index does not engage in staking. To the extent that the Trust participates in staking activity, such activity varies across protocols. If the Trust
decides to pursue staking activities that require Portfolio Crypto Assets to be restricted within a protocol for a specific period of time, the Trust may be
unable to rebalance its holdings in accordance with the monthly rebalancing of the Index. The inability of the Trust to rebalance in accordance with the
Index could cause deviations between the Trust and the Index, and such deviations could create performance differences between the Trust and the
Index. If the Trust was unable to rebalance its holdings in accordance with the monthly rebalancing of the Index, the Trust would include this
information on its website, as the current Portfolio and any relevant information regarding the Portfolio is always provided on the Trust�s website.
However, the Trust does not believe that at present its staking activities would affect its ability to rebalance its holdings on a monthly basis, as its staking
activity is extremely limited, and the Trust does not currently have plans to significantly expand such activity.

Staking activity may require withdrawals of its Portfolio Crypto Assets by the Sponsor in order venues in order to make certain types of trades or to
deposit certain Portfolio Crypto Assets within various protocols. While the ability to gain temporary control of even a portion of the Portfolio Crypto
Assets is restricted to limited number of authorized personnel of the Sponsor, once the Custodian processes the transaction, the Sponsor has the ability to
send the withdrawn Portfolio Crypto Assets to the delivery address of trading counterparties or trading venues. During any such transfer, the Portfolio
Crypto Assets may be vulnerable to security breaches, including hacking and other efforts to obtain the Portfolio Crypto Assets, as well as the risk that
while Portfolio Crypto Assets are under the Sponsor�s control, an employee of the Sponsor could access and obtain the Portfolio Crypto Assets. Some
of these attempts to obtain the Portfolio Crypto Assets may be successful, and the Sponsor may lose some or all of the transferred Portfolio Crypto
Assets. In addition, Portfolio Crypto Assets transferred to exchanges or other trading venues or protocols, such as smart-contracts that facilitate staking
or other reward-generating activity, are subject to increased risk of loss or theft due to reliance on the security procedures of the trading venue or
protocol (when the Portfolio Crypto Assets are no longer in the custody of the Custodian) or the risk of the smart-contract operating appropriately, and
because the same withdrawal procedures required by the Custodian, which are designed to reduce the risk of error or theft, may not be required by
trading venues. Portfolio Crypto Assets transferred for the purposes of lending, staking, or participating in other network activities are subject to
increased risk of loss, theft, or technological complication that could result in the loss of Portfolio Crypto Assets in their entirety.
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The Trust records receipt of staking rewards when they are received if there is value to the Trust in doing so. Digital assets received from staking
rewards have no cost basis and the Trust recognizes unrealized gains equal to the fair value of the new digital asset received. To date, the only crypto
asset that the Trust has staked was Tezos, which was part of the Index and the Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets from April 12, 2019 until February 26,
2021, when the coin�s market capitalization declined and made it ineligible to be included in the Index. During 2020, the Trust participated in staking
activities with Tezos which required the Trust to post certain digital assets for a period of time to a �stakepool� and vote on certain items on the staking
platform, in return for collecting the staking reward. The amount of rewards received from this activity was de minimis, and the Sponsor participated on
behalf of the Trust due to the fact that the Trust�s Custodian was able to facilitate the process while retaining custody and safekeeping of the Trust�s
Tezos while participating in the staking process. The Trust has not participated in any staking or reward generation activity other than with respect to
Tezos in 2020. The Trust received $2,139 in total staking rewards in 2020 from its Tezos staking activities. These rewards were treated as investment
income in the Trust�s audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. While the Trust currently does not participate in any
staking activities, it may in the future engage in further staking activities if the Trust deems such activity to be in the best interests of shareholders.

Overview of the Digital Asset Industry

Digital or crypto assets are bearer assets whose ownership is secured by cryptographic protocols and incentives that operate on a network of computers.
Crypto assets are intended to allow for storage and transfer without the need of a trusted intermediary and therefore they have the potential to challenge
and disrupt many areas of the financial market, including traditional systems of value storage, value transfer, governance, and other important
applications.

The first crypto asset, bitcoin, was initially proposed in 2008 and launched in 2009 by a pseudonymous software developer, or group of software
developers, under the name �Satoshi Nakamoto.� In the ensuing years, the number of crypto assets has increased dramatically. Well-known crypto
assets currently include Bitcoin, Ethereum, Bitcoin Cash, and Litecoin. Many other crypto assets exist, and additional, new crypto assets are likely to
emerge in the future.

Crypto assets are traded on trading venues around the world, as well as in over-the-counter and peer-to-peer markets. Crypto assets can be converted to
fiat currencies or into other digital assets at rates determined by supply and demand on these markets. Derivative investment products, including futures,
options, and swaps contracts, are also available that allow investors to build sophisticated investment and trading strategies focused around the most
prominent crypto assets.

The number and diversity of market participants and companies operating in the crypto asset space has also increased dramatically over the past years.
Currently, there is a wide range of companies that provide services related to crypto assets to retail investors. These include companies focused on
providing trading venues, custody, investment funds, payment services, and others. More recently, companies focused on institutional investors, which
have been increasingly more active in the space, have created or expanded their offerings. Products and services catered to the institutional market
include institutional-grade custody and trading services, lending and collateral management, and prime brokerage.

The ownership of crypto assets is recorded in a digital ledger or database, called a blockchain. Blockchains differ from traditional databases in that they
are designed not to be controlled by any single party, but rather, to be maintained by a distributed network of computers, each of which maintains and
updates its own copy of the ledger. Each participant in this network is heavily incentivized to process transactions according to a set of predetermined
rules and to keep its ledger consistent with the rest of the network over time.

The exact method with which each blockchain network processes and records transactions can, and usually does, vary from blockchain to blockchain.
There are myriad architectural decisions participants either implicitly or
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explicitly agree upon when they join a certain network, which includes the level of decentralization, privacy, throughput, and other features a network
can provide. These decisions usually involve trade-offs and therefore each blockchain network is typically optimized for specific capabilities,
limitations, and target use cases.

As a nascent and fast-changing area, the crypto asset market carries significant risks and uncertainty. For instance, many crypto assets are still in the
infrastructure buildout phase and have not found a dependable use case outside of speculation, and some may never find such a use case. In addition, the
regulatory, trading, media, and political environments surrounding crypto assets are ever-changing and could evolve in ways that could harm the
ecosystem. As an emerging technology, blockchain and crypto assets are not free from technical risks, which include hacking, denial of service or other
types of cyberattacks. Additionally, governments, traditional financial services firms, or other actors could work to disrupt the functioning of
blockchains or otherwise slow their growth.

Still, some consider crypto assets and blockchain technology among the most important breakthroughs in computer science in recent decades, and
believe they may be used to address multiple large markets in the future.

Typical Stakeholders in Crypto Asset Networks

Designing a crypto asset network is similar to designing a digital economy, and the design of incentive systems that govern the relationship between
different groups of stakeholders is sometimes referred to as crypto economics.

The following section provides an overview of the different groups of market participants which are present in most blockchain networks and constitute
much of the crypto economic system.

1. Miners: Miners are stakeholders that help process transactions and ensure that the distributed ledgers that make up a blockchain network
stay consistent with one another.

Miners are typically compensated for providing this service in large part by algorithmic grants of the crypto asset associated with the blockchain
network they are �mining,� although they may be compensated with transaction fees or in other means as well.

There are multiple schemes miners can operate in to provide this service and receive this payment, but the two most important are proof-of-work
(�PoW�) and proof-of-stake �(PoS�).

� Proof-of-work is the first and most established scheme and involves computers solving complicated cryptographic puzzles that
require a substantial amount of energy as a way of securing the network and processing transactions. The more computing power a
miner dedicates to solving this puzzle the more likely it will be the first to solve the problem and collect the rewards of newly
minted crypto assets and transaction fees. By piling up computing power over time, transactions become increasingly hard to reverse
and eventually can be considered �settled.� Proof-of-work is the scheme used by Bitcoin, as well as many other assets. One criticism
of proof-of-work systems is the high amount of energy they consume, which may have negative downstream environmental
consequences, among other issues.

� Proof-of-stake is a newer scheme that tries to avoid the heavy energy consumption that proof-of-work systems typically require.
Proof-of-stake systems require miners to lock up and put at risk (aka, �stake�) a certain amount of the crypto asset associated with a
given blockchain in order to process transactions. These staked assets are lost if a miner processes a transaction in a way that is
fraudulent or violates the rules of the underlying blockchain. Newer blockchain networks like Tezos and Cardano use proof-of-stake
and Ethereum is in the process of switching to this new scheme. Concerns with proof-of-stake systems include lower security
assurances and potential for centralization of the network.

Users: Users are the stakeholders that hold or transfer digital assets, either by participating directly in the network or by delegating this work to
third-party service providers.
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Users will typically buy and sell crypto assets for fiat currencies through dedicated trading venues. In recent years, a robust ecosystem of trading
systems has emerged that cater to these investors.

Once in possession of a digital asset, the interaction between users and the rest of the network can fall between two ends of a spectrum:

� On one end, users can opt to be completely sovereign over their asset holdings and transactions. Such users would typically host a
local copy of the entire ledger of transactions and validate every single transaction that takes place in the network by running the
protocol software in their own machines. They would also own the private keys that guarantee ownership of their crypto assets and
embrace the responsibility of keeping them safe. This group tends to be technically savvy and/or attribute high value to holding
crypto assets independently.

� On the other end, users can opt to delegate their participation in the network to third-party companies that provide specialized
services. Examples of such users include individuals or institutions that delegate the responsibility of keeping their private keys safe
to custodians or merchants that use payment processing companies to allow clients make payments in crypto assets. This group
tends to use third-party services either due to prioritization of convenience or due to external requirements (regulations, for
example).

Developers: Developers are stakeholders that build the protocols and software that both users and miners need to run in order to participate in the
network. Developers are also generally split between two categories depending on the type of software they work in.

� Protocol developers are involved directly in building the core software that defines how a network works. Most projects adopt the free and
open-source software (FOOS) paradigm, which means that the software is free and openly shared so people can voluntarily contribute to
its maintenance and improvement. Protocol developers can exert power over the network as they ultimately define which rules it will abide
by, but as the software is open-source, users can opt to run any version of the software they see more fit. This keeps the developers� power
over the network in check. Protocol developers are usually highly specialized experts with deep knowledge not only of software
development but also in cryptography, computer networking or other subfields of computer science.

� Application developers use the software built by protocol developers to build applications that will ultimately reach end-users. Such
projects might or might not be open-source software. Examples of such projects would be digital wallets, which are designed to allow
users to hold crypto assets without the complexity of interacting with the underlying protocol.

Overview of the Index

The Index is designed to track the performance of the ten largest crypto assets, as selected and weighted by free-float market capitalization. These assets
collectively account for more than 75% of the total market capitalization of the crypto asset market.

The Index uses a variety of rules to screen out assets that the Committee � the governing body for the index � believes represent undesirable or
uncompensated risks in the market. These rules require that crypto assets included in the Index are available for custody at a third-party custodian
regulated as a federally chartered bank or as a state trust company, and subject to additional screens for security practices, insurance requirements and
business practice requirements as determined by the Committee; maintain a certain level of liquidity; are listed on multiple established crypto asset
trading venues; and more. An additional rule excludes assets that are tethered or pegged to the price of other crypto assets.

The Index is reconstituted on a monthly basis at 4pm Eastern Time on the last �business day� of each month. The Index considers a �business day� to
be any day that the New York Stock Exchange is scheduled to be open for trading. The Index�s rules are designed and maintained specifically for the
crypto asset market. For instance, the
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index�s rules are designed to capture the value of significant �hard forks� of constituent assets, should they occur. A �hard fork� occurs when there is a
change in the set of rules governing a blockchain that makes it more restrictive than the previous set of rules in place (conversely, a change that makes
the set of rules less restrictive is called a �soft fork�). Forks might lead to a split in the network, which would lead to two groups of network participants
running different versions of the blockchain software. The result is two separate blockchains and two separate and not interchangeable assets. When a
fork occurs, the holder of the original crypto asset typically ends up with a pro-rata share of the new asset after some period of time. The Index rules
govern how the newly forked asset is handled, including whether the asset is retained, liquidated or (if it is of de minimis market value) ignored by the
Index.

Overview of Index Constituents

As of March 31, 2021, the constituents in the Index and their weights were as follows:

Bitcoin: 79.01%
Ether: 15.82%
Litecoin: 0.93 %
Chainlink: 0.84 %
Filecoin: 0.81 %
Bitcoin Cash: 0.71 %
Stellar Lumens: 0.64 %
Uniswap: 0.60 %
Aave: 0.34 %
Cosmos 0.19 %

As of December 31, 2020, the constituents in the Index and their weights were as follows:

Bitcoin: 82.2%
Ether: 12.9%
Litecoin: 1.2 %
Bitcoin Cash: 1.0 %
Cardano: 0.9 %
Chainlink 0.7 %
Stellar Lumens 0.4 %
EOS 0.4 %
Tezos 0.2 %
Cosmos 0.2 %
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As of December 31, 2019, the constituents in the Index and their weights were as follows:

Bitcoin: 79.55%
Ether: 7.84 %
XRP: 5.13 %
Bitcoin Cash: 2.25 %
Litecoin: 1.78 %
EOS 1.51 %
Tezos 0.59 %
Stellar Lumens 0.53 %
Cardano 0.47 %
Chainlink 0.34 %

The following is an overview of each Index constituent listed above:

Bitcoin (BTC)

Bitcoin is the first and remains today the largest crypto asset in the world. It is commonly referred to by its ticker symbol BTC.

Bitcoin was invented in 2008 by a pseudonymous software developer, or a group of software developers, under the name Satoshi Nakamoto. Nakamoto
published a white paper titled �Bitcoin: A Peer-to-Peer Electronic Cash System� on October 31, 2008, which provided the technical outline for
launching the Bitcoin network. The network went live on January 3, 2009, when Nakamoto mined the first block of transactions, known as �Genesis
Block�.

The software underlying the Bitcoin blockchain determines a number of key and independent parameters. At the heart of the system lies the algorithm
that enforces that all ledgers converge over time (commonly known as the �Consensus Algorithm�). Other important portions of the system include the
rules that deem a transaction valid, a programming language that allows for different types of transactions to be executed, and the process through which
new Bitcoins are minted (commonly known as �mining�), and others.

One important property of Bitcoin is that the network strictly enforces the total amount of units issued to converge towards 21 million by the year 2140
through a predetermined schedule. The total number of Bitcoin created as of December 31, 2020, was approximately 18.6 million. It is believed that
some portion of the Bitcoin created to-date is irretrievable because the private keys that would allow users to access that Bitcoin have been lost,
although the exact amount that has been lost is unknown.

New Bitcoin are created when miners process blocks of transactions. In the Bitcoin network, this occurs roughly every ten minutes. The blockchain
periodically adjusts the difficulty of settling transactions to ensure that cadence remains approximately accurate.

The amount of new Bitcoin created each time a block of Bitcoin transactions is processed is predetermined by the software underlying the Bitcoin
blockchain. Initially, the miner that settled a block of transactions on the Bitcoin blockchain received 50 Bitcoin. That reward was and is programmed to
be cut in half roughly every four years; currently, miners receive 6.25 Bitcoin for each block of settled transactions.

Although there are a few interoperable versions of the Bitcoin software, most network participants run a version called �Bitcoin Core�, which is
maintained by a group of independent developers. The Bitcoin core developers are able to propose changes to this version of the software that powers
the network. However, as a decentralized
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network, any changes must be downloaded and accepted by the users of the network in order for these changes to be implemented. If not all users accept
a proposed change, the network can be split, as detailed in the section entitled �Description of the Trust �One-Off Events.�

The Bitcoin network is known for being extremely decentralized, as it is maintained by a network of computers that, joined together, represents the
largest supercomputer in the world. Some believe that this makes Bitcoin more secure and resistant to attacks compared to other blockchain networks. In
addition, the ecosystem surrounding Bitcoin is more developed than it is for other blockchains. There are more established entities that custody Bitcoin,
trade Bitcoin and accept Bitcoin as payment than any other blockchain at this time.

One of the key limitations of the Bitcoin network is the limited number of transactions that can be processed per second, a statistic commonly referred to
as throughput. The trade-off between decentralization and scalability is present in any crypto asset network, and Bitcoin is optimized for the former.
There are, however, a number of efforts in relatively advanced stages underway to expand the network�s throughput, including efforts to build networks
that can be layered over Bitcoin.

Other concerns and limitations raised by market participants about Bitcoin include worries that its proof-of-work scheme consumes a large amount of
electricity, which could entail significant economic and environmental costs, and that Bitcoin could be used for criminal activity due to its
pseudonymous nature.

Ether (ETH)

Ether is the native token of Ethereum, the second largest blockchain network ranked by market capitalization as of December 30, 2020. Ethereum was
described in a white paper in late 2013, and an online crowdsale to fund development took place between July and August 2014. The network went live
in July 2015.

Ethereum was specifically designed to power smart contracts, which are computer programs intended to enforce the performance of a contract that
parties can codify and agree upon with minimal or no need of trusted intermediaries. Cryptocurrency pioneer Nick Szabo, who coined the term smart
contract in the early 1990s, mentioned a vending machine as a rudimentary example of a smart contract.

In order to achieve this functionality, the designers of Ethereum opted for a different set of trade-offs compared to Bitcoin.

One important difference is that Ethereum�s script language, the programming language that developers use for creating blockchain applications, is
significantly more flexible than Bitcoin�s. This allows the creation of programs that do general computation instead of only the relatively simple
conditional payments that are possible with Bitcoin. As such, a whole ecosystem of different applications including asset issuance, decentralized
financial applications, identity management, and others are able to and have been developed on top of the Ethereum network.

Ethereum currently supports the majority of the stablecoin (e.g., cryptocurrencies pegged to a fiat currency, typically the U.S. Dollar) market
capitalization and it also boasts the largest number of developers building applications on top of it. Ethereum also currently has partnerships with large
enterprises such as Microsoft, which has integrations with Ethereum in its cloud service Azure, Ernst & Young, which built a package of tools that allow
enterprises to safely build applications on Ethereum, and others. Ethereum is also the blockchain used as the base layer for many decentralized finance
applications, which aim to replace traditional financial services with software-enabled processes, including lending, market making, insurance, and
more.

Ether is the token necessary to power these applications.

Ethereum�s richer feature set compared to Bitcoin comes at a cost. First, the more permissive programming language makes the network inherently less
secure because it can increase the odds that a catastrophic bug in one
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smart contract could affect the whole network. In late 2017, for instance, a prominent digital wallet provider called Parity identified a vulnerability that
froze up more than $150 million in ether tokens. Second, as the Ethereum blockchain contains much more information compared to Bitcoin�s, its
blockchain is larger in size, which requires more sophisticated hardware to participate in the network and makes it more centralized in certain aspects.

Another subjective but important difference between the Ethereum and Bitcoin ecosystems is that while the former is usually more driven towards
innovation, the latter is more focused on stability and security. As such, events like hard forks are significantly more common in Ethereum than in
Bitcoin. Some consider Ethereum�s stance an advantage, while others perceive it as a risk, especially as the project grows large and the cost of potential
mistakes rises.

The differences between Bitcoin and Ethereum are likely to increase significantly over the next few years as Ethereum is scheduled to go through a
series of major upgrades that will culminate in what is referred to as �Ethereum 2.0.� This undertaking aims at making the network more scalable, more
private, and more efficient from an energy footprint standpoint.

Litecoin (LTC)

Litecoin was launched in October 2011. Derived from Bitcoin�s original code, the main modifications to the Litecoin blockchain were a shorter time
between blocks, (2.5 minutes versus 10 minutes for bitcoin), a larger total supply of coins (84 million versus 21 million for bitcoin), and a different
mining hashing algorithm (scrypt versus Bitcoin�s SHA-256), which was developed to discourage large-scale mining. In general, Litecoin was designed
to facilitate small payments in a faster and cheaper fashion compared to Bitcoin.

As one of the first crypto assets developed after Bitcoin, Litecoin has strong brand recognition in the crypto community.

Some market participants raise concerns regarding the value capture of tokens solely focused on the payment use case, and have concerns about
emerging competition in this space from central banks and large, established players.

Chainlink (LINK)

Chainlink is a network that connects smart contracts with real world data.

Blockchain networks are unaware of what happens outside of those networks, and therefore whenever a blockchain application needs to interact with
external data, it needs a reliable data source to do so. These data sources are known in the industry as �oracles.� Relying on one oracle creates a single
point of failure, and Chainlink aims to solve this issue by providing a decentralized network of multiple oracles that can evaluate the same data. The
accuracy of this data can be important if this data is used to trigger activity on a smart contract or other blockchain application.

Chainlink provides price reference data feeds for decentralized finance (DeFi), and also allows users to create their own oracle networks. Larger
enterprises can also use Chainlink to sell their data to smart contracts that need them to trigger a certain condition. Current use cases for Chainlink
include stablecoins, decentralized lending and borrowing, and asset management.

A token sale which raised $32 million was undertaken in September 2017 to kickstart the development of Chainlink. Of note: Chainlink does not have
its own blockchain, but rather is a network that runs on top of Ethereum and is incentivized by its own token. Chainlink is built on the ERC677 standard,
a more modern version of the popular ERC20 standard, the most used standard to issue assets on Ethereum.
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Filecoin (FIL)

Filecoin is both a data storage network and the native currency (FIL) of the data storage network. The Filecoin data storage system allows users to rent
unused hard drive space and provides a decentralized storage system for digital information. The aim of the Filecoin is to store data in a decentralized
manner, thereby making data easily retrievable but difficult to censor and eliminating concerns around centralized cloud storage systems. Filecoin acts
as a peer-to-peer based blockchain network, where users pay the miners to store users� files. Miners receive FIL for storing users� information and for
recording transactions between users and miners. The maximum supply of FIL is two billion tokens.

Bitcoin Cash (BCH)

Bitcoin Cash is a fork from Bitcoin. Between 2015 and 2017, the developers who supported the Bitcoin network coalesced around two different views
on how to make Bitcoin handle a higher number of transactions per second. This led to a contentious discussion that eventually culminated in the hard
fork that generated Bitcoin Cash in August 2017. At the core of the dispute was an idea, embraced by the group of developers that ultimately forked to
create Bitcoin Cash, that the best way to increase the throughput of the network was to increase the size of the blocks of transactions that were processed
at one time so that they could fit more transactions.

In November 2018, Bitcoin Cash split again into two factions, again due to disagreements on which use cases to prioritize in the network. The majority
group is the one currently associated with Bitcoin Cash (BCH), while the minority group is currently associated with Bitcoin SV (BSV), which currently
is not a member of the Index.

Stellar Lumens (XLM)

Lumens are the native tokens of the Stellar network, a payment network which started as a fork from Ripple in 2014 but went on to develop its own
code thereafter. Stellar was created in part by Jed McCaleb, a co-founder or Ripple and the founder of exchange Mt. Gox, which was sold in 2011 and
later became the largest Bitcoin trading venue in the world, before filing for bankruptcy in 2014. Stellar also received a $3 million seed investment from
the fintech giant Stripe.

The total supply of Lumens started at 100 billion tokens with a one percent increase per year over the first five years. In October 2019, the community
voted to end the inflation mechanism. In November 2019, the overall supply was cut in half. As a result, the current supply is 50 billion lumens, and the
project states that no more tokens will be created.

The nonprofit Stellar Development Foundation was created in collaboration with Patrick Collison, CEO of fintech giant Stripe, to support the ecosystem
development of the Stellar network both on the technical and business sides. The Stellar Development Foundation controls more than half of the total
supply of Lumens.

Stellar is focused on financial inclusion and the unbanked population and has support for smart contracts. Some market participants, however, have
raised concerns regarding the value capture of tokens solely focused on the payment use case, and have concerns about emerging competition in this
space from central banks and large, established players.

Uniswap (UNI)

Uniswap is a software designed for exchanging ERC-20 tokens that runs on the Ethereum blockchain. The software attempts to facilitate a network of
users through an automated liquidity, trading, and market making protocol. UNI is the protocol token of the software and is an ERC-20 token. UNI
token-holders are responsible for governing the protocol.
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Uniswap can be considered a type of �decentralized� exchange (or �DEX�), as there is no central facilitator of trade and trading rules. The protocol
instead facilitates the trading of one token for another by platform users through �liquidity pools� defined by smart contracts. Uniswap does not have a
central limit order book as with most traditional cryptocurrency trading platforms or other exchanges. Instead, the protocol produces a collection of
�liquidity pools� and follows the model of what has come to be known as an Automated Market Maker system.1

Uniswap was designed to solve the lack of liquidity in decentralized exchanges through the creation of liquidity pools (one for each asset pair), with
pricing set via a �constant product market maker model.� The idea is to create a method where buyers and sellers can exchange assets without the need
for an intermediary to operate the platform.

Aave (AAVE)

Aave is a decentralized non-custodial liquidity market protocol where users can participate as depositors or borrowers. AAVE is an ERC-20 token that is
the native token of the protocol.

On Aave, Users are able to lend, borrow, and earn interest, by depositing or borrowing tokens. Depositors provide liquidity to the market to earn a
passive income, while borrowers are able to borrow in an over-collateralized (perpetually) or undercollateralized (one-block liquidity) fashion. Users
lend or borrow any of a number of different cryptocurrencies using the protocol: borrows are required to post collateral (in the form of a cryptocurrency)
and can only borrow an amount up to the value of such collateral.

Users who participate in the protocol using the native token, AAVE, benefit from certain advantages, including no fees on loans denominated in AAVE
and discounted fees on AAVE posted as collateral for loans, and control over the operation of the protocol through governance rights.

The platform charges 2 types of fees. From borrowers, 0.00001% of the loan amount is collected on loan origination, from which 20% is used for a
referral program and 80% is allocated in the protocol fund. From flash loans, 0.09% is collected from the loan amount, from which 70% is redirected as
extra income for depositors on the protocol and 30% is split using the same 20%/80% model of the origination fee. There are also transaction fees for
Ethereum blockchain usage, which depend on the network status and transaction complexity.

In October of 2020, control of the administrative keys to the protocol was distributed to AAVE token-holders.

Cosmos (ATOM)

Cosmos is a blockchain development and interoperability platform, designed as a decentralized network of parallel blockchains that act independently,
with each one being powered by potentially different consensus mechanisms.

Cosmos is an ecosystem of blockchains that are able to interact and interoperate amongst each other, rather than a single blockchain. The network exists
to solve certain isolation and communication issues amongst and between different blockchains.

The goal of the Cosmos network is to create an �internet of blockchains� or a network of blockchains that can interact and communicate each other,
while retaining the decentralized nature and features of decentralized protocols such as Bitcoin and Ethereum.

1 Selfish Behavior in the Tezos Proof-of-Stake Protocol, Michael Neuder, Rithvik Raio, Daniel J. Moroz, and David C. Parkes, April 2020.
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The ability to connect between protocols is enabled by a protocol named the �Inter-Blockchain Communication protocol� or �IBC.� The IBC uses
blockchain engines to allow different chains to transfer value (for example, tokens or coins) or other data between each other.

At a high level, the interoperability is enabled through the use of tracking (or having each interoperable chain run a light-client of the other chain to stay
up to date on ledger status) and bonding (or locking up of the tokens to be transferred) followed by validation, and then ultimately transfer.

The first blockchain hub in the Cosmos ecosystem is the Cosmos blockchain, which has a native token called the atom (ATOM). ATOMs enable
network users to execute governance functions (voting), pay transaction fees, validate transactions, and delegate validation to other users. ATOMs are
currently distributed to transaction validators and delegates as rewards, and there is no fixed supply on the total number of Atoms to be issued.

Overview of Government Regulation

The Securities Act of 1933

The Shares have not been registered under the Securities Act or the securities laws of any U.S. state or the securities laws of any other jurisdiction, and,
therefore, cannot be resold unless they are subsequently registered under the Securities Act and other applicable securities laws or unless an exemption
from registration is available. It is not contemplated that registration of the offer of the Shares under the Securities Act will ever be effected. Shares in
the Trust are sold by the Trust only to investors who, under U.S. securities laws, are �accredited investors.� As a result, we expect that (i) any Shares
issued to investors in such offerings will be �restricted securities� under Rule 144, and (ii) the Shares issued to such an investor will be �unrestricted�
under Rule 144 one year and a day subsequent to the date that the investor acquired the Shares. Shares held by affiliates and insiders will be subject to
additional restrictions on resales, including restrictions on the number of Shares that may be resold within any three-month period.

In addition, certain regulatory considerations may exist under the Securities Act with respect to the Portfolio Crypto Assets, and it is possible that the
SEC may determine that the Trust has invested in assets that are deemed to be securities. In the event the Trust is invested in assets that are deemed
securities, the Sponsor may also be subject to additional regulatory requirements, including under the Securities Act. See �Risk Factors�A determination
that any of the Portfolio Crypto Assets are a �security� may adversely affect the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets and the value of the Shares, and
result in potentially extraordinary, nonrecurring expenses to, or termination of, the Trust� and below for additional information. For example, typically,
offerings of securities in the United States are required to register under the Securities Act with the SEC and, in compliance with state law, with
applicable state regulators, and to the extent any Portfolio Crypto Asset was originally distributed in connection with an illegal securities offering, our
Portfolio Crypto Assets may lose value. In addition, our plans to make purchases and sales of Portfolio Crypto Assets in connection with the monthly
rebalancing of the Index may be substantially constrained or prohibited with respect to transactions in any Portfolio Crypto Asset determined to be a
security. We may need to find a suitable exemption from registration for these sales. As a result, the Trust may not be permitted to operate its business in
the manner in which we currently operate our businesses.

Securities Exchange Act of 1934

As described above, it is possible that the Portfolio Crypto Assets could be deemed to be �securities� under the federal or state securities laws. See
�Risk Factors�A determination that any of the Portfolio Crypto Assets are a �security� may adversely affect the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets and
the value of the Shares, and result in potentially. In the event the Trust does invest in assets that are deemed securities, the Sponsor may also be subject
to additional regulatory requirements, including under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the �Exchange Act�). For example, the Trust may be
required to make certain filings with the SEC in connection
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with any acquisition or beneficial ownership of more than 5% of any class of the equity securities of a company registered under the Exchange Act.
Generally, these filings require disclosure of the identity and background of the purchaser, the source and amount of funds used to acquire the securities,
the purpose of the transaction, the purchaser�s interest in the securities, and any contracts, arrangements or undertakings regarding the securities. In
certain circumstances, the Trust may be required to aggregate its investment position in a given company with the beneficial ownership of that
company�s securities by or on behalf of the Sponsor or its affiliates, which could require the Trust, together with such other parties, to make certain
disclosure filings or otherwise restrict the Trust�s activities with respect to such securities.

In addition, if the Trust becomes the beneficial owner of more than 10% of any class of the equity securities of a company registered under the
Exchange Act, the Trust may be subject to certain additional reporting requirements and to liability for short-swing profits under Section 16 of the
Exchange Act.

Investment Company Act of 1940

The Investment Company Act regulates certain companies that invest in, hold or trade securities. In general, a company with more than 40% of the
value of its non-cash assets held in investment securities is an �investment company.� It is possible that the Trust could be subject to the provisions of
the Investment Company Act if its assets were deemed to constitute securities under the U.S. securities laws. See �Risk Factors�A determination that
any of the Portfolio Crypto Assets are a �security� may adversely affect the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets and the value of the Shares, and result
in potentially extraordinary, nonrecurring expenses to, or termination of, the Trust� for additional information. Currently, because the Trust has
determined that it does not invest in, hold or trade securities, Shareholders are not afforded the protections of the Investment Company Act.

In the event the Trust does invest in assets that are deemed securities, the Trust may be subject to additional regulatory requirements, including under the
Investment Company Act. For example, the Trust may be required to register as an investment company. Registered investment companies are subject to
extensive, restrictive and potentially adverse regulations relating to, among other things, operating methods, leverage, management, capital structure,
dividends and transactions with affiliates. Registered investment companies may not be permitted to operate their business in the manner in which we
operate our businesses, nor are registered investment companies permitted to have many of the relationships that we have with our affiliated companies.

Investment Advisers Act of 1940

The Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the �Advisers Act�) regulates persons who for compensation are engaged in the business of
providing advice, making recommendations, issuing reports, or furnishing analyses on securities, either directly or through publications, to others. We
believe that, because the assets of the Trust do not constitute securities under the U.S. securities laws, the Sponsor is not subject to investment adviser
regulation under the Advisers Act. See �Risk Factors�A determination that any of the Portfolio Crypto Assets are a �security� may adversely affect the
value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets and the value of the Shares, and result in potentially extraordinary, nonrecurring expenses to, or termination of, the
Trust� for additional information.

In the event the Trust does invest in assets that are deemed securities, however, the Trust may be subject to additional regulatory requirements, including
under the Advisers Act. For example, the Sponsor may be required to register as an investment adviser. Registered investment advisers are subject to
extensive, restrictive and potentially adverse regulations relating to, among other things, operating methods, disclosure, advertising, and fees. Registered
investment advisers may not be permitted to operate their business in the manner in which the Sponsor operates its businesses. However, the Sponsor
seeks to operate in a manner that would be expected of an investment adviser, including the administration of a rigorous internal compliance policy.

Anti-Money Laundering Requirements

In order to comply with applicable anti-money laundering requirements, each investor must represent, among other things, in its Subscription
Agreement with the Trust, that neither the investor, nor any person having a
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direct or indirect beneficial interest in the Shares being acquired by the investor, appears on the Specifically Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons
List of the Office of Foreign Assets Control in the United States Department of the Treasury or in Annex I to United States Executive Order
132224�Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions with Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, or Support Terrorism, and that the investor
does not know or have any reason to suspect that (i) the monies used to fund the investor�s investment in the Trust have been or will be derived from or
related to any illegal activities or (ii) the proceeds from the investor�s investment in the Trust will be used to finance any illegal activities. Each investor
must also agree to provide any information to the Trust and its agents as the Trust may require in order to determine the investor�s and any of its
beneficial owners� identity and source and use of funds and to comply with any anti-money laundering laws and regulations applicable to the Trust.

The Trust may decline to accept a subscription on the basis of the information that is provided or if certain information is not provided. The Sponsor
may be required to provide this information, or report the failure to comply with requests for such information, to appropriate governmental authorities,
in certain circumstances without notifying the Shareholders that the information has been provided. Each of the Sponsor and the Trust will take such
steps as it determines in its sole discretion are necessary to comply with applicable law, regulations, orders, directives or special measures. These steps
may include prohibiting a Shareholder from making further contributions of capital to the Trust, depositing distributions or other funds or assets to
which a Shareholder would otherwise be entitled to in an escrow account or causing the exclusion of a Shareholder from the Trust. The Trust will not
admit an investor without obtaining all know-your-client information that the Trust determines is required. By subscribing for the Shares, investors
consent to the disclosure by the Trust and the Sponsor of any information about them to regulators and others upon request in connection with money
laundering and similar matters in relevant jurisdictions.

Commodity Exchange Act

The Trust will not hold or trade in commodity futures contracts or other derivative contracts regulated by the CEA, as administered by the CFTC. The
Sponsor believes that the Trust is not a commodity pool for purposes of the CEA, and that neither the Sponsor nor the Trustee is subject to regulation as
a commodity pool operator or a commodity trading adviser in connection with the operation of the Trust.

Foreign Considerations

Our primary place of business and market of operation is the United States. We may, however, also be subject to a variety of foreign laws and
regulations that involve matters central to our business. These could include, for example, regulations related to privacy, blockchain technology, data
protection, and intellectual property, among others. In certain cases, foreign laws may be more restrictive than those in the United States. Although we
believe we are operating in compliance with the laws of jurisdictions in which we operate, foreign laws and regulations are constantly evolving and can
be subject to significant change. In addition, the application and interpretation of these laws and regulations are often uncertain, particularly in the new
and rapidly evolving industry in which we operate. As a result, cryptocurrency networks, blockchain technologies, and coin and token offerings such as
those we are involved in face an uncertain regulatory landscape in many foreign jurisdictions, including but not limited to the European Union, China
and Russia. Other foreign jurisdictions may also, in the near future, adopt laws, regulations or directives that affect Portfolio Crypto Assets and the
Shares. See �Risk Factors�Risks Related to Regulation.�

Please refer to �Risk Factors � Risk Factors Related to the Regulation of the Trust and the Shares� for additional discussion of the effect of existing or
probable governmental regulations on the Trust�s operations.
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Tax Review of the Trust

Introduction

The tax aspects of an investment in the Trust are complicated. Nothing in this Registration Statement is or should be construed as legal or tax advice to
any prospective investor. It is recommended that prior to any decision to invest in the Trust, each investor consult with professional advisors familiar
with the tax laws and regulations applicable to investment in a trust that is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Trust is not
intended and should not be expected to provide any tax shelter.

The following discussion summarizes certain, although not all, U.S. federal income tax considerations relating to an investment in the Trust. This
summary provides only a general discussion and does not represent a complete analysis of all income tax consequences of an investment in the Trust,
many of which may depend on individual circumstances, such as the residence or domicile of a Shareholder. It is based on the Code, the Treasury
regulations thereunder (�Regulations�) and judicial and administrative interpretations thereof, all as of the date of this Registration Statement. No
assurance can be given that future legislation, Regulations, administrative pronouncements and/or court decisions will not significantly change
applicable law and materially affect the conclusions expressed in this Registration Statement. Any such change, even though made after a Shareholder
has invested in the Trust, could be applied retroactively. Moreover, the effects of any state, local or foreign tax law, or of federal tax law other than
income tax law, are not addressed in these discussions and, therefore, must be evaluated independently by each prospective investor. In addition,
prospective investors should discuss the impact, if any, of recently enacted U.S. tax legislation on their individual tax circumstances with their own tax
advisors.

Except to the extent set forth below under the heading �� U.S. Taxation of Non-U.S. Persons,� this discussion does not address the U.S. federal income
tax considerations that may be relevant to Non-U.S. Persons (as defined below). In addition, this summary assumes that the Trust�s Shareholders will
generally be U.S. Persons (as defined below).

For purposes of this discussion, a �U.S. Person� is a beneficial owner of Shares in the Trust that is (i) an individual who is a citizen of the United States
or is treated as a resident of the United States for U.S. federal income tax purposes, (ii) a corporation or other entity treated as a corporation for U.S.
federal income tax purposes that is created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, any State thereof or the District of Columbia, (iii) an
estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source, or (iv) a trust that (a) is subject to the supervision of a
court within the United States and the control of one or more U.S. Persons or (b) has a valid election in effect under applicable Treasury regulations to
be treated as a U.S. Person. A �Non-U.S. Person� is a beneficial owner of Shares in the Trust that is an individual, corporation, estate or trust for U.S.
federal income tax purposes and is not a U.S. Person.

No ruling has been requested from the Service or any other federal, state or local agency with respect to the U.S. tax matters discussed below; nor has
the Trust or the Sponsor asked counsel to render any legal opinions regarding any of the matters discussed below. This summary does not in any way
either bind the Service or the courts or constitute an assurance that the income tax consequences discussed in this Annual Report will be accepted by the
Service, any other federal, state or local agency or the courts.

Entity Classification and Partnership Taxation

Classification of the Trust. The Trust is a statutory trust organized under Delaware law and it is anticipated that at all relevant times it will have at least
two Shareholders and thus, subject to the discussion below under �Publicly Traded Partnership Status,� will be classified as a partnership for U.S.
federal income tax purposes. It is anticipated that the Trust will not be classified as a grantor trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes because it will
not hold a fixed pool of assets. As a partnership, the Trust generally will not be subject to federal income tax. Instead, each Shareholder will be required
to report separately on its income tax return for each year its
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distributive share of the Trust�s items of income, gain, loss and deduction and will be taxed currently on that distributive share, regardless of whether
the Shareholder has received or will receive a distribution of cash or other assets from the Trust.

If the Trust were treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, then (i) its taxable income would be subject to corporate income tax,
(ii) distributions of that income, other than on certain redemptions, would be treated as dividend income by the Shareholders (to the extent of the Trust�s
current or accumulated earnings and profits) and (iii) the Shareholders would not take into account their distributive shares of the Trust�s income, gains,
losses and deductions. Accordingly, if the Trust were treated as a corporation for federal tax purposes, the total return to the Shareholders would be
significantly reduced.

Publicly Traded Partnership Status. Under the Code, a �publicly traded partnership� generally is treated as a corporation. A partnership is a �publicly
traded partnership� if interests therein (i) are traded on an established securities market (as defined under the applicable Regulations (�PTP
Regulations�)) or (ii) are readily tradable on a secondary market (or the substantial equivalent thereof) (�readily tradable�). Even if interests of a
partnership are treated as readily tradable such that the partnership is classified as a publicly traded partnership, it would not be treated as a corporation
for federal income tax purposes for any taxable year in which (i) it was not registered under the Investment Company Act and (ii) at least 90% of its
gross income for that year (and each preceding year from the first year in which it was a publicly traded partnership) consisted of �qualifying income.�
�Qualifying income� is defined to include interest (except interest �derived in the conduct of a financial business,� which exception, for example, does
not include interest from commercial mortgages held as investments) and dividends and gain from the sale or disposition of a capital asset. Qualifying
income also includes any income that would qualify for (i) a regulated investment company (mutual fund), and (ii) a real estate investment trust.
Qualifying income generally does not, however, include compensation for the performance of services or income from other trade or business activities.
The Trust will limit its gross income from �non-qualifying income� to no more than 10% of its gross income. Because the Trust will not be registered
under the Investment Company Act and should satisfy the qualifying income requirement each year, even if the Trust were considered a publicly traded
partnership, it should not be treated as a corporation for federal tax purposes. Thus, it is anticipated that the Trust will be taxed as a partnership for U.S.
federal income tax purposes.

The remainder of this discussion assumes that the Trust will be classified as a partnership that is not an association or publicly traded partnership taxable
as a corporation.

General Principles of Partnership Taxation. A partnership generally is not subject to federal income tax; however, a partnership must file a federal
information return in which it reports its items of income, gain, loss and deduction for each taxable year. Each partner in a partnership includes its
allocable share of the partnership�s items in determining its taxable income. Thus, each Shareholder must take into account its allocable share of the
Trust�s partnership items. A Shareholder will be subject to tax on its distributive share of the Trust�s taxable income regardless of whether any
distribution of cash or property is made to it.

Distributions. A distribution by a partnership to a partner generally is not taxable to the partner except to the extent the distribution consists of cash (and,
in certain circumstances, marketable securities) and the amount distributed exceeds the partner�s adjusted basis of its Shares immediately before the
distribution. See �Taxation of Operations � Basis� below. Ordinarily, any such excess will be treated as gain from a sale or exchange of the partner�s
interest. The Trust may, but it is not required to, make distributions to its Shareholders.

Allocations of Income and Loss. A capital account will be established and maintained on the Trust�s books separately for each Share. These accounts
will be maintained in accordance with Code Section 704(b) and Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv).

A partner�s distributive share of a partnership�s items of income, gain, loss or deduction for federal income tax purposes generally is determined in
accordance with the provisions of its partnership agreement. An allocation
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under a partnership agreement may be disregarded, however, if the allocation does not have �substantial economic effect.� An allocation to a partner
that does not cause or increase a deficit balance in the partner�s capital account has economic effect if (i) the partners� capital accounts are determined
and maintained in accordance with the Regulations, (ii) distributions on liquidation of the partnership are to be made in accordance with the partners�
positive capital account balances and (iii) the partnership agreement includes certain protective allocation provisions. Subject to special rules regarding
certain shifting or transitory allocations, the Regulations provide that the economic effect of an allocation will be substantial if there is a reasonable
possibility that the allocation will substantially affect the dollar amount to be received by the partners, independent of tax consequences. It is believed
that the Trust Agreement contains provisions designed to comply with the requirements of the Regulations so that allocations of taxable income and loss
thereunder should have substantial economic effect.

Under the Trust Agreement, the Sponsor has the discretion to follow an industry accounting convention of specially allocating the Trust�s realized gains
and losses, for federal income tax purposes, with respect to Shares that are redeemed or transferred to the extent the capital account balance associated
with such Shares is more or less, respectively, than the tax basis for such Shares. There can be no assurance that the Service will accept any such special
allocation. If the Service successfully challenged such an allocation, the Trust�s gains and losses allocable to the remaining Shares could change.

Allocations Between Transferors and Transferees. In general, our taxable income and losses will be determined on a weekly basis and will be
subsequently apportioned among the Shares. As a result, a Shareholder transferring Shares may be allocated income, gain, loss and deduction realized
after the date of transfer.

Although simplifying conventions are contemplated by the Code and most publicly traded partnerships use similar simplifying conventions, the use of
this method may not be permitted under existing Regulations as there is no direct or indirect controlling authority on this issue. Regulations under
Section 706 of the Code provide a safe harbor pursuant to which a publicly traded partnership may use a semi-monthly or monthly simplifying
convention to allocate tax items among transferors and transferees, although such tax items must be prorated on a daily basis. The Regulations do not
specifically authorize the use of the proration method we have adopted. If this method is not allowed under the Regulations, or only applies to transfers
of less than all of a Shareholder�s interest in the Trust, our taxable income or losses might be reallocated among the Shareholders. We are authorized to
revise our method of allocation between transferors and transferees to conform to a method permitted under existing or future Treasury Regulations.

Taxation of Operations

Gains and Losses from Cryptocurrency Transactions. The Trust expects to deal with its cryptocurrencies as a trader or investor (generally, a person that
buys and sells property for its own account for purposes of investment) and not as a dealer (generally, a person that buys from and sells property to
customers with a view to the gains from those transactions). Accordingly, except as discussed below, the Trust generally expects that gains and losses
recognized on the sale of its cryptocurrencies will be capital gains and losses, which will be long-term or short-term depending, in general, on the length
of time it held the cryptocurrencies and, in some cases, the nature of the transactions. Without limiting the foregoing, each delivery or sale of Portfolio
Crypto Assets for purposes of rebalancing the Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets to track the Index will be a taxable event for Shareholders. In addition,
each sale of Portfolio Crypto Assets by the Trust to pay the Management Fee and/or any Organizational Expenses will be a taxable event for
Shareholders.

Gains recognized by noncorporate taxpayers from property held for more than one year generally will be eligible for favorable tax treatment. The
maximum federal income tax rate applicable to a noncorporate taxpayer�s net capital gain (the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term
capital loss) recognized on the sale or exchange of capital assets held for more than one year is 20%. In addition, certain non-corporate taxpayers are
subject to an increased rate of federal tax on some or all of their �net investment income,� which generally will
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include all or a portion of the income allocated to noncorporate Shareholders by the Trust, and any net gain recognized upon a disposition of Shares.
Prospective investors should consult their tax advisor regarding the applicability of this federal tax in respect of an investment in the Trust.

Other Income. The Trust may realize ordinary income from interest and dividends on any securities held by it. The Trust also may realize ordinary
income or loss with respect to certain of its other investments.

Treatment of Management Fees and Expenses. A partnership may deduct a trade or business expense that is ordinary, necessary and reasonable in
amount. The Service could challenge any expense deducted by the Trust, including the Management Fee, on the ground that the expense is a capital
expenditure, which must either be amortized over an extended period or indefinitely deferred. The Service could also challenge the treatment of the
Trust�s expenses, including the Management Fee, on the grounds that the amount of the expense is unreasonable in relation to the value of the services
performed, the goods acquired or the other benefits to the Trust.

The Trust pays out of its assets certain legal, accounting and other expenses of its organization. Expenses directly related to the Trust�s organization,
such as the costs of preparing the Trust Agreement, may generally be capitalized and amortized over a period of 180 months for tax purposes. Those
expenses, if any, related to the sale of Shares must be capitalized and cannot be amortized.

If the Trust were considered an investor rather than a trader in securities (an annual determination which is generally based on facts and circumstances),
expenses incurred by the Trust, including the Management Fee, would generally constitute �miscellaneous itemized deductions.� A non-corporate
taxpayer�s �miscellaneous itemized deductions,� which include certain investment expenses, are allowable only to the extent they exceed, in the
aggregate, 2% of the non-corporate taxpayer�s adjusted gross income and are not allowed for purposes of the alternative minimum tax and are not
allowed at all for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 and before January 1, 2026. In determining his, her or its miscellaneous itemized
deductions, a non-corporate partner in a partnership, such as the Trust, must take into account his, her or its distributive share of the partnership�s
deductions. The Sponsor will receive Management Fees. If the Management Fees and/or such other expenses are characterized as �miscellaneous
itemized deductions,� each non-corporate Shareholder would be required to include his, her or its allocable share thereof in calculating deductible
miscellaneous itemized deductions, if any.

The Code may also require a non-corporate taxpayer whose adjusted gross income exceeds a specified threshold amount which is adjusted annually for
inflation to reduce the amount allowable for itemized deductions if available (including such amount of miscellaneous itemized deductions as remain
deductible after applying the 2% �floor� described above) by the lesser of (i) 3% of the excess of adjusted gross income over the threshold amount or
(ii) 80% of the total amount of otherwise allowable deductions. When taken together with the limitations on miscellaneous itemized deductions, this
limitation (sometimes referred to as the �overall limitation on itemized deductions�) could cause the amount of taxable income from Trust with respect
to a Shareholder to be significantly higher than his, her or its share of the Trust�s net profits. Prospective non-corporate Shareholders thus should
consider, in the context of their own personal circumstances, the extent to which these limitations may reduce or even eliminate the deductibility of the
Trust�s expenses.

Basis. A Shareholder�s basis of its Shares is important in determining (i) the amount of gain or loss it will realize on the sale or other disposition of the
Shares, (ii) the amount of non-taxable distributions (including any decrease in the Shareholder�s share of the Trust�s liabilities) that it may receive from
the Trust and (iii) its ability to utilize its distributive share of any tax loss of the Trust. A Shareholder�s initial tax basis of its Shares will equal its cost
for the Shares (which, to the extent that the Shareholder contributes property other than cash, will be limited to the Shareholder�s basis in the
contributed property) plus its share of the Trust�s liabilities at the time of purchase. In general, a Shareholder�s �share� of those liabilities will equal the
sum of (i) the entire amount of any otherwise nonrecourse liability of the Trust as to which the Shareholder or an affiliate is the creditor (a �partner
nonrecourse liability�) and (ii) a share, based in part on profit-sharing ratios, of any nonrecourse liabilities of the Trust that are not partner nonrecourse
liabilities as to any partner.
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A Shareholder�s tax basis in each of its Shares will be equal to the Shareholder�s initial purchase price for such Share (i) increased by (a) such Share�s
allocable share of the Trust�s taxable income and gain and (b) any amounts treated as additional contributions by the Shareholder to the Trust with
respect to such Share and (ii) decreased (but not below zero) by (a) such Share�s allocable share of the Trust�s tax deductions and losses and (b) any
distributions by the Trust to the Shareholder with respect to such Share. For this purpose, an increase in a share of the Trust�s liabilities allocated to a
Share will be treated as a contribution by the Shareholder to the Trust with respect to such Share and a decrease in a share of the Trust�s liabilities
allocated to a Share will be treated as a distribution by the Trust to the Shareholder with respect to such Share.

�At Risk� Limitations. The �at risk� rules of Section 465 of the Code generally limit a taxpayer�s loss to the amount the taxpayer has at risk (i.e., the
amount the taxpayer could actually lose from an activity). In the context of a partnership such as the Trust, the �at risk� rules, which apply to
individuals, estates, S corporation shareholders and certain closely-held �C� corporations, can operate to limit the amount of losses that such persons
can deduct from their participation in a partnership in much the same way that the rules discussed above under �Basis� limit a partner�s ability to
deduct currently its distributive share of partnership losses to such partner�s adjusted basis in its partnership interest. In general, a partner�s �at risk�
basis will be equal to the sum of (i) the amount of money and adjusted basis of property contributed by such partner to the activity and (ii) any amounts
borrowed for use in the activity where the partner is personally liable for the repayment of the loan or has pledged property other than that used in the
activity as security (but only to the extent of the net fair market value of the partner�s interest in the property). Such �at risk� basis will be further
increased by a partner�s share of partnership income retained in the partnership but reduced by such items as cash distributed by the partnership to
such partner, the commencement of a guarantee or similar device that eliminates the partner�s personal liability for borrowed amounts, and losses
previously allocated to a partner. If and to the extent that a loss allocated to a partner exceeds the amount that such partner has �at risk,� such loss is
not permanently disallowed but can be carried over indefinitely and deducted in a subsequent taxable year to the extent the partner�s �at risk� basis
increases and is sufficient to absorb such loss in such later year. Rules requiring the recapture of previously deducted losses can be triggered when a
taxpayer�s �at risk� basis in an activity falls below zero.

Limitation on Deductibility of Passive Activity Losses. Section 469 of the Code restricts individual, certain other non-corporate and certain closely-held
corporate taxpayers from using trade or business losses incurred by partnerships and other businesses in which the taxpayer does not materially
participate to offset income from other sources. Therefore, such losses cannot be used to offset salary or other earned income, active business income or
�portfolio� income (i.e., dividends, interest, royalties and non-business capital gains) of the taxpayer. However, losses and credits suspended under
Section 469 of the Code may be carried forward indefinitely and may be used in later years to offset income from passive activities. Moreover, a fully
taxable disposition by a taxpayer of its entire interest in a passive activity will allow the deduction of any suspended losses attributable to that activity.
These so-called �passive activity loss� limitations should not apply to limit the deductibility by Shareholders of their distributive share of any losses of
the Trust because the activities of the Trust should be treated as giving rise only to �portfolio� income and deductions allocable to �portfolio� income.
However, passive losses from other sources generally will not be deductible against a Shareholder�s share of portfolio income and gain from the Trust.
Shareholders should consult with their own tax advisors regarding additional limitations on interest deductions contained in recently enacted tax
legislation.

Alternative Minimum Tax. The extent, if any, to which the federal alternative minimum tax will be imposed on any Shareholder will depend on the
Shareholder�s overall tax situation for the taxable year. Prospective investors should consult with their tax advisors regarding the alternative minimum
tax consequences of an investment in the Trust.

Dissolution and Liquidation of the Trust. On dissolution of the Trust, its assets may be sold, which may result in the realization of taxable gain or loss to
the Shareholders. Distributions of cash in complete liquidation of the Trust generally will cause recognition of gain or loss � which will be capital gain
or loss to a Shareholder if it holds its Shares as capital assets � to the extent, if any, that the Shareholder�s adjusted basis of its Shares is less or greater
than the amount of cash received. Any capital gain or loss will be treated as long-term if the Shares are held for more than one year.
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If liquidating distributions consist wholly or partly of assets other than cash, the Trust will not recognize any gain or loss on the distributions and a
Shareholder that receives such a distribution generally will not recognize any loss on the distribution and will have a basis in the non-cash assets equal
to the adjusted basis of its Shares immediately before the liquidating distribution, reduced by the amount of cash the Shareholder receives in the
distribution.

Redemption or Transfer of Shares

If a Shareholder�s Shares are redeemed or a Shareholder, with the Sponsor�s consent, sells or exchanges its Shares, the Shareholder will realize gain or
loss equal to the difference between the amount realized from the redemption, sale or exchange (including any reduction in its share of the Trust�s
liabilities) and its adjusted basis of its Shares. That gain or loss will be treated as capital gain or loss (taxed as described above). In addition, as noted
above under �Entity Classification and Partnership Taxation � Allocations of Income and Loss,� the Sponsor has the discretion to specially allocate the
Trust�s realized gains and losses, for federal income tax purposes, with respect to Shares that are redeemed or transferred to the extent the capital
account balance associated with such Shares is more or less, respectively, than the tax basis in such Shares.

Tax Elections and Returns

The Trust may make various elections for federal income tax purposes that could result in certain items of income, gain, loss and deduction being treated
differently for tax and accounting purposes. Elections permitted under the Code that may affect the determination of the Trust�s income, the
deductibility of expenses, accounting methods and the like must be made by the Trust and not by the Shareholders, and these elections will be binding in
most cases on all Shareholders.

Section 754 of the Code permits a partnership to elect to adjust the basis of partnership property on the sale or exchange of an interest in the partnership
or on a partner�s death and on certain distributions of cash or property by the partnership to a partner. These adjustments are mandatory if the aggregate
bases of partnership assets exceed their fair market value by more than $250,000 at the time of the sale or exchange, or if a distribution of partnership
property would result in a reduction in the basis of the partnership�s assets of more than $250,000 if a Section 754 election were in effect. If such a basis
adjustment were made by the Trust, a transferee of Shares would be treated, for purposes of computing gain, as though it had acquired a direct interest in
the Trust�s assets, and the Trust would be treated, on certain distributions to Shareholders, as though it had obtained a new cost basis of its assets. The
Trust Agreement authorizes the Sponsor, in its discretion, to make a Section 754 election. If the Sponsor determines not to do so, and the Trust is not
otherwise required to adjust the bases of its assets, a transferee of Shares may be subject to tax on a portion of the income from the disposition of Trust
assets that, as to it, constitutes a return of capital if the purchase price of its Shares exceeds its share of the Trust�s adjusted basis of its investments.

The Trust will file an annual partnership information return with the Service reporting the results of its operations. After the end of each calendar year,
the Trust or the Administrator will distribute to the Shareholders or custodians of Shares, as applicable, federal income tax information reasonably
necessary to enable each Shareholder to report its distributive share of the Trust�s partnership items. Each Shareholder must treat partnership items
reported on the Trust�s returns consistently on the Shareholder�s own returns, unless the Shareholder files a statement with the Service disclosing the
inconsistency.

Audits

The Trust, like all partnerships, is subject to a risk of audit by the Service. Prior to January 1, 2018, any adjustments made to the Trust�s information
return pursuant to such an audit will require each Shareholder to file an amended federal income tax return for each year involved and might result in
audits of and adjustments to the Shareholder�s returns relating to non-Trust-related as well as Trust-related items. In addition, the Trust and the
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Shareholders could incur substantial legal and accounting costs in contesting and litigating any Service challenge, regardless of the outcome.

The Code contains special provisions for audits of partnerships by the Service. Pursuant to these provisions, for tax periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018, the tax treatment of a partnership�s income and deductions generally will be determined at the partnership level in a single proceeding,
rather than by individual audits of the partners, and no deficiency resulting from such an audit may be assessed against a partner until the correctness of
any challenge by the Service to any of the partnership�s federal returns is determined at the administrative or judicial level.

Under the Trust Agreement, to the extent permitted by applicable law, the Sponsor serves as the Trust�s �partnership representative.� The Trust will be
subject to new partnership audit procedures that may result in partnership adjustments at the Trust level. The Sponsor may require that the Shareholders
affected by such partnership adjustments file amended returns that take into account such partnership adjustments and pay any additional tax due or the
Sponsor may elect to issue amended statements to the Shareholders and the Shareholders will be responsible for any increase in tax and associated
penalties and interest.

The Trust�s partnership representative will have considerable authority to make decisions affecting the tax treatment of partnership items and procedural
rights of the Shareholders. For example, the partnership representative will have the right on behalf of all Shareholders to extend the statute of
limitations with respect to the Trust�s tax items and to select the forum for litigating any tax disputes, including a forum that might require the
Shareholders to pay an assessed tax deficiency before the litigation is resolved. In certain circumstances, Shareholders may be bound by the outcome of
final administrative adjustments agreed to by the partnership representative resulting from an audit by the Service of the Trust, as well as by the outcome
of judicial review of disputed adjustments.

Tax Shelter Disclosure

Certain rules require taxpayers to disclose�on their federal income tax returns and, under certain circumstances, separately to the Office of Tax Shelter
Analysis�their participation in �reportable transactions� and require �material advisors� to maintain investor lists with respect thereto. These rules apply
to a broad range of transactions, including transactions that would not ordinarily be viewed as tax shelters, and to indirect participation in a reportable
transaction (such as through a partnership). For example, reportable transactions include �loss transactions,� defined as any losses incurred by a
taxpayer, either directly or through a partnership, that exceed certain thresholds.

An excise tax and additional disclosure requirements may apply to certain tax-exempt entities that are �parties� to certain types of reportable
transactions (referred to as �prohibited tax shelter transactions�). A notice issued by the Service in February 2007 and confirmed by Regulations
finalized in 2010 provides that a tax-exempt investor in a partnership will generally not be treated as a �party� to a prohibited tax shelter transaction,
even if the partnership engages in such a transaction, if the tax-exempt investor does not facilitate the transaction by reason of its tax-exempt, tax
indifferent or tax-favored status. There can be no assurance, however, that the Service or Treasury Department will not provide guidance in the future,
either generally or with respect to particular types of investors, that reaches a conclusion different than the conclusion in the notice.

Failure to comply with the disclosure requirements for reportable transactions or prohibited tax shelter transactions can result in the imposition of
penalties. Prospective investors are urged to consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the effect of these rules on an investment in the Trust.

U.S. Taxation of Non-U.S. Persons

In general, the tax treatment of a Non-U.S. Person will depend on whether the Trust is deemed to be engaged in a U.S. trade or business and whether the
Trust earns effectively connected income (�ECI�).
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To the extent the Trust is not engaged in a U.S. trade or business (or such income is not effectively connected to a U.S. trade or business), non-U.S.
source dividends and interest paid to the Trust and, except as discussed below, gains from the sale or other disposition of securities by the Trust, that are
allocable to a Non-U.S. Person generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax. However, a non-resident individual present in the United States
for 183 or more days in the taxable year of a sale generally will be subject to a 30% U.S. federal income tax (or applicable lower treaty rate) on any gain
resulting from such sale if either (i) such individual�s tax home for U.S. federal income tax purposes is in the United States or (ii) the gain is attributable
to an office or other fixed place of business maintained in the United States by such individual.

To the extent the Trust is not engaged in a U.S. trade or business (or such income is not effectively connected to a U.S. trade or business), U.S. source
dividends paid to the Trust that are allocable to a Non-U.S. Person generally will be subject to withholding tax at a 30% rate. U.S. source interest paid to
the Trust that is allocable to a Non-U.S. Person will also be subject to 30% withholding unless such interest qualifies as portfolio interest. Portfolio
interest generally includes (with certain exceptions) interest paid on registered obligations with respect to which the beneficial owner provides a
statement that it is not a U.S. Person. The portfolio interest exemption is not available with respect to interest paid to a 10% shareholder of the issuer of
the indebtedness and is subject to certain other limitations. A Non-U.S. Person who is resident for tax purposes in a country with respect to which the
United States has an income tax treaty may be eligible for a reduced rate of withholding on such Person�s distributive share of U.S. source interest and
dividends.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Trust were to acquire stock in a �U.S. real property holding corporation� and either (i) such stock was not
regularly traded on an established securities market within the meaning of the Code or (ii) the stock was treated as owned by a holder of more than 5%
(by value) of such stock, then gain on the sale of such stock would be treated as income effectively connected with the conduct of a U.S. trade or
business and would be subject to regular U.S. federal income tax. A �U.S. real property holding corporation� is generally a corporation 50% or more of
whose assets consist of U.S. real property interests within the meaning of Section 897(c) of the Code (�USRPIs�).

If the Trust were engaged in a U.S. trade or business or otherwise realizes ECI, it generally will be required to withhold and pay over to the U.S. tax
authorities a percentage equal to the highest applicable U.S. tax rate of each Non-U.S. Person�s share of the Trust�s net ECI (thus, the Trust would be
liable for taxes attributable to a Non-U.S. Person�s investment), and each Non-U.S. Person would be required to file U.S. tax returns and pay U.S. tax
on its share of the Trust�s net ECI. In addition, all or a portion of the gain realized on the disposition (including by redemption) by a Non-U.S. Person of
its Shares will be treated as ECI to the extent such gain is attributable to assets of the Trust that generate ECI, including for this purpose gain that is
attributable to stock of a U.S. real property holding corporation, and may be subject to U.S. withholding tax under certain circumstances. ECI realized
by a Non-U.S. Person generally will be subject to U.S. income tax on a net basis at graduated rates. A Non-U.S. Person that is a non-U.S. corporation
that is (or is deemed to be) engaged in a trade or business also may be subject to an additional branch profits tax of 30% on its effectively connected
earnings and profits (which generally will include any ECI realized with respect to its investment in the Trust), adjusted as provided by law (subject to
reduction by any applicable tax treaty).

In addition, if the Trust were regarded as engaged in a U.S. trade or business for U.S. federal income tax purposes, Non-U.S. Persons would be viewed
as being engaged in a trade or business in the United States and as maintaining an office or other fixed place of business in the United States. Certain
other income of a Non-U.S. Person could thus be treated as ECI as a result of such Non-U.S. Person�s investment in the Trust. For example, a Non-U.S.
Person who, pursuant to an applicable tax treaty, is currently not subject to tax with respect to a trade or business in the United States because such
Non-U.S. Person does not have a permanent establishment in the United States could lose the benefits of the tax treaty as a result of its investment in the
Trust.

Special rules may apply in the case of Non-U.S. Persons (i) that have an office or fixed place of business in the United States or (ii) that are former
citizens of the United States, controlled foreign corporations as to the
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United States, foreign insurance companies that hold interests in the Trust in connection with their U.S. business, passive foreign investment companies,
and corporations which accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax. Such persons are urged to consult their U.S. tax advisors before
investing in the Trust.

Possible Legislative or Other Changes

The Code, with respect to all of the foregoing matters and other matters that may affect the Trust or the Shareholders, is constantly subject to change by
Congress. Congress, in 2017, enacted a major overhaul of the Code. In recent years there have been significant changes in the Code, many of which are
being reconsidered by Congress and interpretations of which are being considered by the Service and the courts. It is not possible at this time to predict
whether or to what extent any changes in the Code or interpretations thereof will occur. Prospective investors should note that the Trust will not
undertake to advise Shareholders of any legislative or other developments. Such Shareholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding pending
and proposed legislation or other changes.

State and Local Taxation

In addition to the federal income tax considerations summarized above, prospective investors should consider potential state and local tax consequences
of an investment in the Trust. A Shareholder�s distributive share of the Trust�s taxable income or loss generally will be required to be included in
determining the Shareholder�s taxable income for state and local tax purposes in the jurisdiction in which it is resident. However, state and local laws
may differ from the federal income tax law with respect to the treatment of specific items of income, gain, loss and deduction from a partnership.

Prospective Investors are urged to consult with their own tax advisors with respect to state and local income tax consequences of an investment in the
Trust.

Other Jurisdictions

Interest, dividend and other income received by the Trust from sources outside the United States may give rise to withholding or other taxes imposed by
other jurisdictions. The Trust may also be subject to taxes on net income in certain other jurisdictions with respect to its investments.

Electronic Delivery of Information and Reports

Each Shareholder of the Trust consents to the electronic delivery (including via email and through PDF file format) of information, including, without
limitation, any information required to be delivered pursuant to applicable securities laws. In addition, each Shareholder will (i) consent to the electronic
delivery of reports, including without limitation, any applicable tax reports (e.g., Schedules K-1), (ii) agree that such reports may be delivered by the
Trust making them available for viewing, downloading and/or saving on the Internet website www.bitwiseinvestments.com under �under �Sign In�,�
and (iii) agree to monitor that website on a regular basis in order to ensure timely receipt of such information.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Potential investors should be aware that an investment in the Trust involves a high degree of risk. There can be no assurance that the Trust�s investment
objective will be achieved, or that Shareholders will receive a return of their capital. Shareholders may lose all of their investment in the Trust. In
addition, there will be occasions when the Sponsor and its affiliates may encounter potential conflicts of interest in connection with the Trust. The
following considerations should be carefully evaluated before making an investment in the Trust. However, the following does not purport to be a
summary of all of the risks associated with an investment in the Trust. Rather, the following describes certain specific risks to which the Trust (and,
therefore, Shareholders) is subject. Potential investors should carefully consider these risks and consult with their professional advisors, as they deem
necessary.
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Risks Related to Cryptocurrencies

The blockchains on which ownership of Portfolio Crypto Assets are recorded and the Portfolio Crypto Assets themselves may be the target of
malicious cyberattacks or may contain exploitable flaws in their underlying code, which may result in security breaches, the loss or theft of Portfolio
Crypto Assets or the decline in value of Portfolio Crypto Assets.

The Portfolio Crypto Assets rely on blockchains for records of ownership. As a result, the Portfolio Crypto Assets are subject to a number of reliability
and security risks attendant to blockchain and distributed ledger technology, including malicious attacks seeking to identify and exploit weaknesses in
the software. Some of these known risks include:

� �51% attacks,� which occur when an attacker controls a majority of computing power or digital assets necessary to validate transactions
on a blockchain, giving the attacker a majority of the validation power on the network. Validators on blockchains who successfully obtain
this validation power�either individually or as part of a �mining pool� or group of validators�may block other users� transactions or make
it appear as though they still have tokens that have been spent, which is known as a �double-spend attack,� or otherwise fabricate
transactions. A 51% attack may also allow an attacker to use its monopoly over new blocks to �censor� other user transactions by actively
preventing them from being written to the blockchain. Any such attack on the blockchains could result in the loss of Portfolio Crypto
Assets or their valuation.

� A �finney attack� occurs when an attacker mines a block but does not announce it to the network. In this case, a miner can double-spend
tokens by sending them to another user in a legitimate transaction and then create a valid new block with a double-spend of those same
tokens; for the attack to be successful, this block must be released so that it is added to the blockchain before the target user�s legitimate
transaction. Once the block the attacker mines is accepted, the legitimate transaction will not be accepted and the honest user will not
receive the tokens, thereby being out of a payment. Typically, developers and users who accept �quick transactions� (transactions that are
accepted before the counterparty can confirm that the transaction has been written to the correct version of the blockchain) when accepting
payment on the network are vulnerable to this type of attack. These attacks can be avoided by requiring that several additional network
operations be written to the blockchain after any transaction before considering that transaction complete; bit developers may be
incentivized not to do so to allow for quicker processing of network operations on their application.

Such attacks may materially and adversely affect blockchains recording the ownership of Portfolio Crypto Assets, which may in turn materially and
adversely affect the transfer or storage of Portfolio Crypto Assets. As a result of these and other risks of malicious attacks, there can be no assurances
that the transfer or storage of Portfolio Crypto Assets will be uninterrupted or fully secure. Any such interruption or security failure may result in
impermissible transfers of Portfolio Crypto Assets and/or loss of Portfolio Crypto Assets.

The networks underlying the Portfolio Crypto Assets rely on software and programming that is complex, and if this software contains undetected
errors, the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Shares could be adversely affected.

The networks underlying the Portfolio Crypto Assets rely on software that is highly complex. Any errors, bugs or defects discovered in the software on
which these networks rely could result in harm to the reputations of these networks, loss of developers or users on those networks, and, in turn, loss in
value of Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Shares. In the past, for example, flaws in the source code for digital assets have been exposed and exploited,
including flaws that disabled some functionality for users, exposed users� personal information and/or resulted in the theft of users� digital assets. In
addition, the cryptography underlying a digital asset held by the Trust could prove to be flawed or ineffective, or developments in mathematics and/or
technology, including advances in digital computing, algebraic geometry and quantum computing, could result in such cryptography becoming
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ineffective. In any of these circumstances, a malicious actor may be able to take the digital assets held by the Trust, which would adversely affect an
investment in the Shares.

The Sponsor may experience loss or theft of its Portfolio Crypto Assets during the transfer of Portfolio Crypto Assets from the Custodian to the
Sponsor or to Crypto Asset trading venues.

Under certain circumstances, the Sponsor may gain control of the Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets. These circumstances may include withdrawals of its
Portfolio Crypto Assets by the Sponsor in order to send Portfolio Crypto Assets to certain trading counterparties or to approved crypto asset trading
venues in order to make certain types of trades. The ability to gain temporary control of even a portion of the Portfolio Crypto Assets is restricted to
limited number of authorized personnel of the Sponsor. The withdrawal process requires that one authorized person initiate a request for the withdrawal
of Portfolio Crypto Assets from the Custodian and that a second authorized person approve the withdrawal before the Custodian will process the
request. A video call with the both of the necessary authorized personnel of the Sponsor is then required for confirmation of the withdrawal before the
Custodian will complete the withdrawal request. Once the Custodian processes the transaction, the Sponsor has the ability to send the withdrawn
Portfolio Crypto Assets to the delivery address of trading counterparties or trading venues. During any such transfer, the Portfolio Crypto Assets may be
vulnerable to security breaches, including hacking and other efforts to obtain the Portfolio Crypto Assets, as well as the risk that while Portfolio Crypto
Assets are under the Sponsor�s control, an employee of the Sponsor could access and obtain the Portfolio Crypto Assets. Some of these attempts to
obtain the Portfolio Crypto Assets may be successful, and the Sponsor may lose some or all of the transferred Portfolio Crypto Assets. In addition,
Portfolio Crypto Assets transferred to exchanges or other trading venues or protocols are subject to increased risk of loss or theft due to reliance on the
security procedures of the trading venue (when the Portfolio Crypto Assets are no longer in the custody of the Custodian) and because the same
withdrawal procedures required by the Custodian, which are designed to reduce the risk of error or theft, may not be required by trading venues.

The Custodian may experience loss or theft of the Portfolio Crypto Assets.

The Custodian may experience malicious attacks seeking to identify and exploit weaknesses in its software and gain access to the Portfolio Crypto
Assets. Some of these attempts to obtain the Portfolio Crypto Assets may be successful, and the Custodian may lose some or all of the transferred
Portfolio Crypto Assets. As a result of the risk of malicious attacks, there can be no assurances that the storage of Portfolio Crypto Assets with the
Custodian will be uninterrupted or fully secure. Any such security failure may result in impermissible transfers of Portfolio Crypto Assets and/or loss of
Portfolio Crypto Assets.

The blockchains on which ownership of Portfolio Crypto Assets are recorded are dependent on the efforts of third parties acting in their capacity as
the blockchain transaction miners or validators, and if these third parties fail to successfully perform these functions, the operation of the
blockchains that record ownership of Portfolio Crypto Assets could be compromised.

Blockchain miners or validators maintain the record of ownership of Portfolio Crypto Assets. If these entities suffer from cyberattacks or other security
incidents (whether from hacking, which involves efforts to gain unauthorized access to information or systems, or to cause intentional malfunctions or
loss or corruption of data, software, hardware or other computer equipment, the inadvertent transmission of computer viruses or other malware, other
forms of malicious attacks, malfeasance or negligent acts of its personnel, or via other means, including phishing attacks and other forms of social
engineering), of for financial or other reasons cease to perform these functions, the functioning of the blockchains on which the ownership of Portfolio
Crypto Assets is recorded and the valuation based may be jeopardized. Any such interruption could result in impermissible transfers of Portfolio Crypto
Assets and/or loss of Portfolio Crypto Assets and/or their value.

In addition, over the past several years, digital asset mining operations have evolved from individual users mining with computer processors, graphics
processing units and first-generation application specific integrated
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circuit (�ASIC�) machines to �professionalized� mining operations using proprietary hardware or sophisticated machines. If the profit margins of
digital asset mining operations are not sufficiently high, digital asset miners are more likely to immediately sell tokens earned by mining, resulting in an
increase in liquid supply of that digital asset, which would generally tend to reduce that digital asset�s market price.

The technology underlying crypto asset and blockchain technology is subject to a number of known and unknown technological challenges and
risks that may prevent wide adoption and use of the Portfolio Crypto Assets, which may negatively affect the value of Portfolio Crypto Assets and the
Shares.

The blockchain technology used in connection with Portfolio Crypto Assets, which is sometimes referred to as �distributed ledger technology,� is a
relatively new, untested and evolving technology. It represents a novel combination of several concepts, including a publicly available database or ledger
that represents the total ownership of the currency at any one time, novel methods of authenticating transactions using cryptography across distributed
network nodes that permit decentralization by eliminating the need for a central clearing-house while guaranteeing that transactions are irreversible and
consistent, differing methods of incentivizing this authentication by the use of blocks of new tokens issued as rewards for the validator of each new
block or transaction fees paid by participants in a transaction to validators, and hard limits on the aggregate amount of currency that may be issued. As a
result of the new and untested nature of cryptocurrency and blockchain technology, the Portfolio Crypto Assets are vulnerable to risks and challenges,
both foreseen and unforeseen. Examples of these risks and challenges include:

� Scalability is a challenge for platforms working with large blockchains, because addition of records to a blockchain requires the network to
achieve consensus through a transaction validation mechanism, which often involves redundant and extensive computation, processing of
transactions is slower than that achieved by a central clearing-house, and delays and bottlenecks in the clearance of transactions may result
as the cryptocurrency expands to a greater number of users.

� To the extent incentive payments are used to incentivize the validation of a transaction or record to a block on the blockchains that record
ownership of the Portfolio Crypto Assets, these fees may spike during times of high transaction volume. We believe that these rewards do
not warrant validator registering as a broker-dealer, as discussed in the section �Overview of Government Regulation�; however, there is
no guarantee that regulatory agencies will agree with our position.

� Generally, blocks cannot be removed from a blockchain, but during the validation process for large blockchains, competing blockchains
may arise with respect to the last few blocks on the blockchain. As a result, a block is often not considered to be irreversibly on the
blockchain until several additional blocks have been added to it and occasionally blocks with a handful of confirmations can be dropped
and modified.

� Although blockchains are generally considered reliable, they are subject to certain attacks as described above under �Risk Factors�The
blockchains on which ownership of Portfolio Crypto Assets are recorded and the Portfolio Crypto Assets themselves may be the target of
malicious cyberattacks or may contain exploitable flaws in their underlying code, which may result in security breaches, the loss or theft
of Portfolio Crypto Assets or the decline in value of Portfolio Crypto Assets.�

� The software related to the blockchains on which ownership of Portfolio Crypto Assets is recorded may either increase or decrease the
incentive payments paid to miners or validators required to complete transactions, which could materially and adversely affect the transfer
or storage of Portfolio Crypto Assets. In addition, changes could also reduce the number of miners or validators on the blockchains on
which ownership of Portfolio Crypto Assets is recorded�which could possibly leave these blockchains increasingly vulnerable to a 51%
attack.

� Because the blockchains on which ownership of Portfolio Crypto Assets are recorded are public blockchains, malicious users may freely
view and access and interact with key components of the these blockchains.
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Although there may be solutions that have been proposed and implemented to these and other challenges facing various cryptocurrencies, the
effectiveness of these solutions has not been proven. Further, other challenges may arise in the future that we cannot predict. For example, advances in
cryptography and/or technical advances, such as the development of quantum computing, could present risks to the blockchains on which ownership of
the Portfolio Crypto Assets is recorded and the Portfolio Crypto Assets by undermining or vitiating the cryptographic consensus mechanism that
underpins the blockchain protocols. Similarly, legislatures and regulatory agencies could prohibit the use of current and/or future cryptographic
protocols which could limit the utility and value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets and, in turn, the Shares, resulting in a significant loss of value or the
termination of Portfolio Crypto Assets. Accordingly, the further development and future viability of cryptocurrency in general or specific
cryptocurrencies, such as the Portfolio Crypto Assets, is uncertain, and unknown challenges may prevent their wider adoption.

The technology underlying cryptocurrency and blockchain technology is subject to a number of industry-wide challenges and risks relating to
consumer acceptance of blockchain technology. The slowing or stopping of the development or acceptance of blockchain networks and blockchain
assets would have an adverse material effect on the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Shares.

The growth of the blockchain industry in general, as well as the blockchain networks on which the Portfolio Crypto Assets will rely, are subject to a high
degree of uncertainty regarding consumer adoption and long-term development. The factors affecting the further development of the cryptocurrency and
crypto asset industry, as well as blockchain networks, include, without limitation:

� worldwide growth in the adoption and use of digital assets and other blockchain technologies;

� government and quasi-government regulation of digital assets and their use, or restrictions on or regulation of access to and operation of
blockchain networks or similar systems;

� the maintenance and development of the open-source software protocol of blockchain networks;

� changes in consumer demographics and public tastes and preferences;

� the availability and popularity of other forms or methods of buying and selling goods and services, or trading assets including new means
of using government-backed currencies or existing networks;

� the extent to which current interest in cryptocurrencies represents a speculative �bubble;�

� general economic conditions in the United States and the world;

� the regulatory environment relating to cryptocurrencies and blockchains; and

� a decline in the popularity or acceptance of cryptocurrencies or other blockchain-based tokens.

The digital assets industries as a whole have been characterized by rapid changes and innovations and are constantly evolving. Although they have
experienced significant growth in recent years, the slowing or stopping of the development, general acceptance and adoption and usage of blockchain
networks and blockchain assets may negatively affect the value of Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Shares.

In addition, the creation of digital assets as a medium of exchange is not the sole purpose of some digital networks on which Portfolio Crypto Assets are
used. The Ethereum network, for example, is a digital decentralized ledger protocol that powers smart contracts. The differing focus of any such digital
asset could affect its growth and acceptance by users, which may negatively affect its expansion and an investment in the Shares.

The blockchain network on which ownership and transfer of Portfolio Crypto Assets are recorded utilizes code that is subject to change at any time.
These changes may negatively affect the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Shares.

In addition to the aforementioned risks regarding development and acceptance of blockchain networks or the price of blockchain assets that may
negatively affect the blockchain networks that record ownership of the
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Portfolio Crypto Assets, other changes such as upgrades to these blockchains, hard forks, or a change in how transactions are confirmed on these
blockchains may have unintended, adverse effect. These changes may occur at any time and may cause problems with the blockchain networks that
record the ownership of the Portfolio Crypto Assets. Any such changes could, as a result, negatively affect the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets and
the Shares.

Changes in the governance of a cryptocurrency blockchain network may not receive sufficient support from users and miners, which may negatively
affect that blockchain network��s ability to grow and respond to challenges.

The governance of decentralized networks, such as the Bitcoin and Ethereum networks, is by voluntary consensus and open competition. As a result,
there may be a lack of consensus or clarity on the governance of any particular decentralized cryptocurrency network, which may stymie such
network�s utility and ability to grow and face challenges. The foregoing notwithstanding, the protocols for some decentralized cryptocurrency networks,
such as the Bitcoin network, are informally managed by a group of core developers that propose amendments to the relevant network�s source code.
Core developers� roles evolve over time, largely based on self-determined participation. If a significant majority of users and miners adopt amendments
to a decentralized network based on the proposals of such core developers, such network will be subject to new protocols that may adversely affect the
value of the relevant digital asset. As a result of the foregoing, it may be difficult to find solutions or marshal sufficient effort to overcome any future
problems, especially long-term problems, on cryptocurrency networks. This could, in turn, have a materially negative effect on the value of the Portfolio
Crypto Assets and the Shares.

The long-term viability of cryptocurrencies is unknown, and this could negatively impact the value of cryptocurrencies.

Cryptocurrencies are a new and relatively untested product. There is considerable uncertainty about their long-term viability, which could be affected by
a variety of factors, including many market-based factors such as economic growth, inflation, and others. In addition, the success of cryptocurrencies
will depend on the long-term utility and economic viability of blockchain and other new technologies related to cryptocurrencies. Due in part to these
uncertainties, the price of cryptocurrencies is volatile and cryptocurrencies may be hard to sell. The Trust and the Sponsor do not control any of these
factors, and therefore may not be able to control the ability of any cryptocurrency to maintain its value.

The growth of this industry in general, and the use of cryptocurrencies in particular, are subject to a high degree of uncertainty. The factors affecting the
further development of this industry, as well as the Trust, include:

� continued worldwide growth in the adoption and use of cryptocurrencies;

� general economic conditions, as well as government and quasi-government regulation of cryptocurrencies and their use, or restrictions on
or regulation of access to and operation of cryptocurrency trading systems;

� changes in consumer demographics and public preferences;

� the availability and popularity of other forms or methods of buying and selling goods and services, including new means of using
government-issued currencies; and

� negative consumer sentiment and perception of cryptocurrencies.

Cryptocurrency networks face significant scaling challenges and efforts to increase the volume of transactions may not be successful.

Many cryptocurrency networks face significant scaling challenges due to the fact that public blockchains generally face a tradeoff regarding security and
scalability. One means through which public blockchains achieve
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security is decentralization, meaning that no intermediary is responsible for securing and maintaining these systems. For example, a greater degree of
decentralization generally means a given cryptocurrency network is less susceptible to manipulation or capture. In practice, this typically means that
every single node on a given cryptocurrency network is responsible for securing the system by processing every transaction and maintaining a copy of
the entire state of the network. As a result, a cryptocurrency network may be limited in the number of transactions it can process by the capabilities of
each single fully participating node, and in an effort to increase the volume of transactions that can be processed on a given cryptocurrency network,
many cryptocurrencies are being upgraded with various features to increase the speed and throughput of digital asset transactions.

As corresponding increases in throughput lag behind growth in the use of cryptocurrency networks, average fees and settlement times may increase
considerably. For example, the number of transactions on the Bitcoin network has led to increased transaction fees. Increased fees and decreased
settlement speeds could preclude certain uses for cryptocurrencies (e.g., micropayments), and could reduce demand for, and the price of,
cryptocurrencies, which could adversely impact the value of the Shares.

Many developers are actively researching and testing scalability solutions for public blockchains that do not necessarily result in lower levels of security
or decentralization. However, there is no guarantee that any of the mechanisms in place or being explored for increasing the scale of settlement of the
Bitcoin Network transactions will be effective, or how long these mechanisms will take to become effective, which could adversely impact the value of
the Shares.

Security threats could result in a loss of the Trust��s digital assets and adversely affect an investment in the Trust.

Security breaches, computer malware and computer hacking attacks have been a prevalent concern in the digital asset exchange markets. Any security
breach caused by hacking, which involves efforts to gain unauthorized access to information or systems, or to cause intentional malfunctions or loss or
corruption of data, software, hardware or other computer equipment, and the inadvertent transmission of computer viruses, could harm the Trust�s
operations or result in loss of the Trust�s digital assets. Any breach of the Sponsor�s infrastructure could result in damage to its reputation which could
adversely affect an investment in the Trust. Furthermore, as the Trust�s assets grow, it may become a more appealing target for security threats such as
hackers and malware.

The security system and operational infrastructure may be breached due to the actions of outside parties, error or malfeasance of an employee of the
Sponsor, or otherwise, and, as a result, an unauthorized party may obtain access to the Sponsor�s, private keys, data or bitcoins. Additionally, outside
parties may attempt to fraudulently induce employees of the Sponsor to disclose sensitive information in order to gain access to the Sponsor�s
infrastructure. As the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems change frequently, or may be
designed to remain dormant until a predetermined event and often are not recognized until launched against a target, the Sponsor may be unable to
anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. If an actual or perceived breach of the Sponsor�s security system occurs, the
market perception of the effectiveness of the Sponsor�s security system could be harmed, which could adversely affect an investment in the Trust.

In the event of a security breach, the Sponsor or the Trust may be forced to cease operations, or suffer a reduction in assets, the occurrence of each of
which could adversely affect an investment in the Trust.

Cryptocurrencies are subject to volatile price fluctuations which can impact investments in the Trust.

Prices of cryptocurrencies have fluctuated widely for a variety of reasons including uncertainties in government regulation and may continue to
experience significant price fluctuations. Since the inception of the Trust, volatility has had a significant impact on the fair market value of the Portfolio
Crypto Assets, to date resulting in a large positive change in the Trust�s net realized and unrealized gain on investment in digital assets. For
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example, the average price of Bitcoin, the Trust�s primary Portfolio Crypto Asset, increased from an average of $8,119.40 a Bitcoin during the period
from November 22, 2017 (the inception of the Trust) to December 31, 2018 to an average of $11,107.74 a Bitcoin during the period from January 1,
2020 to December 31, 2020 to an average of $45,229,24 a Bitcoin during the period from January 1, 2021 to March 31, 2021. There can be no
assurance, however, that ongoing volatility will continue to positively impact the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets. See �Management�s Discussion
and Analysis � Historical Crypto Asset Prices.�

Several factors may affect the price of cryptocurrencies, including:

� Total cryptocurrencies in existence;

� Global cryptocurrency supply and demand;

� Investors� expectations with respect to the rate of inflation of fiat currencies;

� Currency exchange rates;

� Interest rates;

� Cryptocurrency market fragmentation and consolidation;

� Fiat currency withdrawal and deposit policies of cryptocurrency exchanges and liquidity of such exchanges;

� Interruptions in service from or failure of major cryptocurrency exchanges;

� Cyber theft of cryptocurrencies from online cryptocurrency wallet providers, or news of such theft from such providers, or theft from
individual cryptocurrency wallets;

� Investment and trading activities of hedge funds and other large cryptocurrency investors;

� Monetary policies of governments, trade restrictions, currency devaluations and revaluations;

� Regulatory measures, if any, that restrict or facilitate the ability to buy, sell or hold cryptocurrencies or use cryptocurrencies as a form of
payment;

� Availability and popularity of businesses that provide cryptocurrency-related services;

� Maintenance and development of the open-source software protocol of the cryptocurrency network;

� Increased competition from other forms of cryptocurrency or payments services;

� Global or regional political, economic or financial events and uncertainty;

� Manipulative trading activity on cryptocurrency exchanges, which are largely unregulated;

� The adoption of such cryptocurrencies as a medium of exchange, store-of-value or other consumptive asset and the maintenance and
development of the open-source software protocol of the applicable cryptocurrency;

� Forks in the applicable cryptocurrency network;

� Consumer preferences and perceptions of such cryptocurrency specifically and cryptocurrencies generally;

� An active derivative market for such cryptocurrency or for cryptocurrencies generally;

� Fees associated with processing a transaction of such cryptocurrency and the speed at which such transactions are settled; and

� Decreased confidence in cryptocurrency exchanges due to the unregulated nature and lack of transparency surrounding the operations of
cryptocurrency exchanges.
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If cryptocurrency markets continue to be subject to sharp fluctuations, Shareholders may experience losses as the value of the Trust�s investments
decline. Even if Shareholders are able to hold their Shares in the Trust for the long-term, their Shares may never generate a profit, since cryptocurrency
markets have historically experienced extended periods of flat or declining prices, in addition to sharp fluctuations. In addition, Shareholders should be
aware that there is no assurance that cryptocurrencies will maintain their long-term value in terms of future purchasing power.

If a Shareholder contributes to the Trust in cryptocurrency, the number of Shares the Shareholder ultimately receives will depend on the value of the
cryptocurrency at the time of admission to the Trust. Shareholders are admitted periodically. There may be considerable differences in the value of a
cryptocurrency from the time the cryptocurrency is contributed by a Shareholder to the Trust (or its agent) and the time the cryptocurrency is valued for
purposes of determining the number of Shares received. For the avoidance of doubt, if the value of a cryptocurrency declines after a Shareholder
contributes the cryptocurrency and before the cryptocurrency is valued, the number of Shares the Shareholder receives may decline, potentially
significantly. All cryptocurrencies will be valued in accordance with the Trust�s valuation policies and procedures at the time of the valuation. The
functional currency of the Trust is U.S. dollars.

Transactions in cryptocurrencies may be irreversible even if they are fraudulent or accidental transactions.

Transactions in cryptocurrencies may be irreversible, and, accordingly, losses due to fraudulent or accidental transactions may not be recoverable. If
there is an error and a transaction occurs with the wrong account, to the extent that the Trust is unable to seek a corrective transaction with such third
party or is incapable of identifying the third party which has received the cryptocurrencies through error or theft, the Trust will be unable to revert or
otherwise recover incorrectly transferred cryptocurrencies. To the extent that the Trust is unable to seek redress for such error or theft, such loss could
result in the total loss of a Shareholder�s investment in the Trust.

The Shareholder is solely responsible for providing the Trust or its agent with accurate information with respect to its digital wallet and sending the
Shareholder�s contributions to the Trust�s correct digital wallet address. If a Shareholder�s contributions are sent to the wrong wallet address or are not
delivered to the Trust, the Trust will have no liability to the Shareholder. If information provided by a Shareholder proves incorrect, and as a result,
cryptocurrencies are not delivered to the Trust, the Trust will have no liability to the Shareholder for the Trust�s good faith reliance on such
misinformation.

There exists to an extent shallow trade volume, extreme hoarding, low liquidity and high bankruptcy risk in the market for cryptocurrencies.

By some comparisons, the market for cryptocurrencies, by trade volume, is very shallow. Many coins may also be hoarded by a few owners. Ownership
concentration can be high which creates greater market liquidity risk as large blocks of cryptocurrencies are difficult to sell in a timely and market
efficient manner and well-connected customers can gain preferential treatment in order execution. The daily trade volume of cryptocurrencies is a
fraction of total cryptocurrencies mined. The lack of a robust and regulated derivatives market for most cryptocurrencies means that market participants
do not have a broad basket of tools at their disposal, making hedging difficult.

Cryptocurrencies can be subject to permanent loss due to unsecure local storage sites, malware and data loss.

Similar to fiat currencies, cryptocurrencies are susceptible to theft, loss and destruction. Destruction of the physical media storing private keys can result
in a total and permanent loss of the cryptocurrency from the market. While traditional financial products have strong consumer protections, there is no
intermediary that can limit consumer loss in connection with cryptocurrencies.

48

Copyright © 2022 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Table of Contents
Certain cryptocurrencies may rely on a public or third-party blockchain and the success of such blockchain may have a direct impact on the success
and value of cryptocurrencies held by the Trust.

Some cryptocurrencies are built on existing third-party blockchains and are partly dependent on the effectiveness and success of such blockchains, as
well as the success of other blockchain and decentralized data storage systems that are being used by the issuer of the cryptocurrencies. There is no
guarantee that any of these systems or their sponsors will continue to exist or be successful. This could lead to disruptions of the operations of the Trust
and could negatively affect the Shares.

Cryptocurrencies held by the Trust may be negatively affected by technological advances that undermine the cryptographic consensus mechanism
underpinning blockchain and distributed ledger protocols.

Advances in cryptography or technical advances such as the development of quantum computing could present risks to the viability of cryptocurrencies
and the Trust by undermining or vitiating the cryptographic consensus mechanism that underpins blockchain and distributed ledger protocols. Similarly,
legislatures and regulatory agencies could prohibit the use of current and/or future cryptographic protocols which could limit the use of
cryptocurrencies, resulting in a significant loss of value of the Shares.

The value of cryptocurrencies may be subject to momentum pricing and therefore, an inaccurate valuation.

Momentum pricing typically is associated with growth stocks and other assets whose valuation, as determined by the investing public, accounts for
anticipated future appreciation in value. The price of a cryptocurrency is determined primarily using data from various currency exchanges,
over-the-counter markets, and derivative platforms. Momentum pricing of cryptocurrencies has resulted, and may continue to result, in speculation
regarding future appreciation in the value of cryptocurrencies, inflating and making more volatile the price of such cryptocurrencies. Cryptocurrencies
that lead the market are subject to even more speculation. Generally, the Trust tracks the Index and therefore largely invests in the top 10
cryptocurrencies in the cryptocurrency market and therefore is susceptible to increased price fluctuations in part from momentum pricing.

The Sponsor is solely responsible for determining the value of Portfolio and Shares in accordance with the Trust Agreement, and any errors,
discontinuance or changes in such valuation calculations may have an adverse effect on the value of the Shares.

The Sponsor will determine the value of the Trust�s assets and Share price in accordance with the terms of Article 6 of the Trust Agreement. The
Sponsor has not engaged a third-party calculation agent. The Sponsor calculates the price and sends it to Theorem Trust Fund Services LLC who then
uses that information to calculate the NAV. The NAV of the Trust is calculated by summing the assets and liabilities and the NAV per share is calculated
by dividing the total NAV by the shares outstanding. To the extent that these calculations are not made correctly, the Sponsor may not be liable for any
error and such misreporting of valuation data could adversely affect the value of the Shares.

Competition from the emergence or growth of other cryptocurrencies or methods of investing in cryptocurrencies could have a negative impact on
the price of Portfolio Crypto Assets and adversely affect the value of the Shares.

Shareholders may invest in cryptocurrencies through means other than the Shares, including through direct investments in cryptocurrencies and other
potential financial vehicles, possibly including securities backed by or linked to one or more cryptocurrencies and cryptocurrency financial vehicles
similar to the Trust. Market and financial conditions, and other conditions beyond the Sponsor�s control, may make it more attractive to invest in other
financial vehicles or to invest in such cryptocurrency directly, which could limit the market for, and reduce the liquidity of, the Shares. In addition, to the
extent digital asset financial vehicles other than the Trust tracking the price of one or more cryptocurrencies are formed and represent a significant
proportion of the demand for any
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particular cryptocurrency, large purchases or redemptions of the securities of these digital asset financial vehicles, or private funds holding such
cryptocurrency, could negatively affect the any of the cryptocurrency reference rates, the cryptocurrency holdings, the price of the Shares, the NAV and
the NAV per Share.

Failure of funds that hold cryptocurrencies or that have exposure to cryptocurrencies through derivatives to receive SEC approval to list their shares
on exchanges could adversely affect the value of the Shares.

There have been a growing a number of attempts to list on national securities exchanges the shares of funds that hold cryptocurrencies or that have
exposures to cryptocurrencies through derivatives. These investment vehicles attempt to provide institutional and retail investors exposure to markets for
cryptocurrencies and related products. The SEC has repeatedly denied such requests, including a request submitted in connection with a fund operated
by the Sponsor. The exchange listing of shares of cryptocurrency funds would create more opportunities for institutional and retail investors to invest in
the cryptocurrency market. If exchange-listing requests are not ultimately approved by the SEC, increased investment interest by institutional or retail
investors could fail to materialize, which could reduce the demand for cryptocurrencies generally and therefore adversely affect the value of the Shares.

The value of the Trust��s cryptocurrencies is dependent, directly or indirectly, on prices established by cryptocurrency exchanges and other
cryptocurrency trading venues, which are new and, in most cases, largely unregulated.

Cryptocurrency exchanges and other trading venues on which cryptocurrencies trade are relatively new and, in most cases, largely unregulated and may
therefore be more exposed to fraud and failure than established, regulated exchanges for securities, derivatives and other currencies. Much of the daily
trading volume of cryptocurrencies is conducted on poorly capitalized, unregulated, unaudited and unaccountable exchanges located outside of the
United States where there is little to no regulation governing trading. Such exchanges may engage in unethical practices that may have a significant
impact on cryptocurrency pricing, such as front-running, wash trades and trading with insufficient funds. To the extent that the cryptocurrency
exchanges or other cryptocurrency trading venues are involved in fraud or experience security failures or other operational issues, this could result in a
reduction in the cryptocurrency market prices and adversely affect an investment in the Trust. The SEC, in March 2017, stated that cryptocurrency
exchanges currently lack the ability to enter into surveillance-sharing agreements with significant, regulated markets for trading in cryptocurrencies
thereby lacking the ability to detect and deter price manipulation. Although there has been improvement on this front with the self-certification of
certain Bitcoin futures contracts resulting in information sharing agreements between certain futures markets and several cryptocurrency exchanges,
regulators still lack the ability to surveil many cryptocurrency exchanges. In addition, users transacting on cryptocurrency trading platforms do not
receive many of the market protections that they would when transacting through broker-dealers on registered securities exchanges or alternative trading
systems, such as best execution, prohibitions on front running, short sale restrictions, and custody and capital requirements.

During the past few years, a number of cryptocurrency exchanges have been closed due to fraud, business failure or security breaches. In many of these
instances, the customers of the closed cryptocurrency exchanges were not compensated or made whole for the partial or complete losses of their account
balances in such cryptocurrency exchanges.

Cryptocurrency prices on public cryptocurrency exchanges have been volatile and subject to influence by many factors including the levels of liquidity
on the exchanges specifically and on the cryptocurrency exchange market generally. Even the largest exchanges have been subject to operational
interruption (e.g., thefts of cryptocurrencies from operational or �hot� wallets, suspension of trading on exchanges due to distributed denial of service
attacks by hackers and/or malware and bankruptcy proceedings or cessation of services by exchanges), limiting the liquidity of cryptocurrencies on the
affected cryptocurrency exchange and resulting in volatile prices and a reduction in confidence in the cryptocurrency exchange market generally. The
price of cryptocurrencies on
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public exchanges may also be impacted by policies on or interruptions in the deposit or withdrawal of fiat currency into or out of larger cryptocurrency
exchanges.

On large cryptocurrency exchanges, users may buy or sell cryptocurrencies for fiat currency or transfer cryptocurrencies to other wallets. Operational
limits (including regulatory, exchange policy or technical or operational limits) on the size or settlement speed of fiat currency deposits by users into
cryptocurrency exchanges may, (1) reduce demand on such exchanges, resulting in a reduction in the cryptocurrency price on such exchange or
(2) reduce supply on such exchanges, potentially resulting in a temporary increase in the cryptocurrency price on such exchange during the existence of
such operational limits. To the extent that fees for the transfer of cryptocurrencies either directly or indirectly occur between cryptocurrency exchanges,
the impact on cryptocurrency prices of operation limits on fiat currency deposits and withdrawals may be reduced by �exchange shopping� among
cryptocurrency exchange users. For example, a delay in U.S. Dollar withdrawals on one site may temporarily increase the price on such site by reducing
supply (i.e., sellers transferring cryptocurrencies to another exchange without operational limits in order to settle sales more rapidly), but the resulting
increase in price will also reduce demand because bidders on cryptocurrencies will follow increased supply on other cryptocurrency exchanges not
experiencing operational limits. To the extent that users are able or willing to utilize or arbitrage prices between more than one cryptocurrency exchange,
exchange shopping may mitigate the short-term impact on and volatility of cryptocurrency prices due to operational limits on the deposit or withdrawal
of fiat currency into or out of larger cryptocurrency exchanges.

These risks also apply to other cryptocurrency trading venues, including over-the-counter markets and derivatives platforms, which may be used by
public cryptocurrency exchanges and therefore by the Sponsor in calculating the net asset value of the Trust.

The Trust is designed to have limited exposure to individual trading venue interruptions by using multiple data sources and liquidity providers. Despite
efforts to ensure accurate pricing, the Trust, and the price of cryptocurrencies generally, remains subject to volatility experienced by the cryptocurrency
exchanges and other cryptocurrency trading venues. Such volatility can adversely affect an investment in the Trust. The value of cryptocurrencies is also
dependent on the availability of exchanges on which to buy and sell such assets. If exchanges for cryptocurrencies became increasingly sparse, then
there would be a material adverse impact on the value of cryptocurrencies and an investment in the Trust.

Cryptocurrencies have vulnerabilities which may adversely affect their value.

Instability in the cryptocurrency exchange market and the closure or temporary shutdown of cryptocurrency exchanges due to fraud, business failure,
hackers, malware, or government-mandated regulation may reduce confidence in the cryptocurrency exchange market and result in greater volatility in
cryptocurrency prices. Since the Index uses cryptocurrency prices published on public cryptocurrency exchanges, the failure, closure, or manipulation of
such exchanges could adversely affect an investment in the Trust which relies on the Index for its investment strategy.

A temporary or permanent ��fork�� could adversely affect the value of the Shares.

Many cryptocurrency networks operate using open-source protocols, meaning that any user can download the software, modify it and then propose that
the users and miners of the cryptocurrency adopt the modification. When a modification is introduced and a substantial majority of users and miners
consent to the modification, the change is implemented and the network remains uninterrupted. However, if less than a substantial majority of users and
miners consent to the proposed modification, and the modification is not compatible with the software prior to its modification, the consequence would
be what is known as a �hard fork� of the network, with one group running the pre-modified software and the other running the modified software. The
effect of such a fork would be the existence of two versions of the cryptocurrency running in parallel, yet lacking interchangeability.
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Forks may also occur as a network community�s response to a significant security breach. A fork may also occur as a result of an unintentional or
unanticipated software flaw in the various versions of otherwise compatible software that users run. Such a fork could lead to users and miners
abandoning the digital asset with the flawed software. It is possible, however, that a substantial number of users and miners could adopt an incompatible
version of the digital asset while resisting community-led efforts to merge the two chains. This could result in a permanent fork.

Furthermore, a hard fork can lead to new security concerns, as a result of, for example, inherent decrease in the level of security due to significant
amounts of mining power remaining on one network or migrating instead to the new forked network. After a hard fork, it may become easier for an
individual miner or mining pool�s hashing power to exceed 50% of the processing power of the cryptocurrency network that retained or attracted less
mining power, thereby making cryptocurrencies that rely on proof-of-work more susceptible to attack. A future fork in the network of a Portfolio Crypto
Asset could adversely affect the value of the Shares or the ability of the Trust to operate.

Banks may not provide banking services, or may cut off banking services, to businesses that provide cryptocurrency-related services or that accept
cryptocurrencies as payment.

The inability or difficulty of securing banking services could damage the public perception of cryptocurrencies and the utility of cryptocurrencies as a
payment system. It could also decrease the price of cryptocurrencies and adversely affect an investment in the Trust.

A number of companies that provide cryptocurrency-related services have been unable to find banks that are willing to provide them with bank accounts
and banking services. Similarly, a number of such companies have had their existing bank accounts closed by their banks. Banks may refuse to provide
bank accounts and other banking services to cryptocurrency-related companies or companies that accept cryptocurrencies for a number of reasons, such
as perceived compliance risks or costs. If the Sponsor or the Trust is unable to secure bank accounts or banking services, it could have a material adverse
effect on the Sponsor�s ability to manage the Trust and the ability of the Trust to continue operations.

The impact of geopolitical events on the supply and demand for cryptocurrencies is uncertain and may negatively impact investments in the Trust.

As an alternative to fiat currencies that are backed by central governments, digital assets such as cryptocurrencies, which are relatively new, are subject
to supply and demand forces based upon the desirability of an alternative, decentralized means of buying and selling goods and services, and it is
unclear how such supply and demand will be impacted by geopolitical events. Nevertheless, political or economic crises may motivate large-scale
acquisitions or sales of cryptocurrencies either globally or locally. Large-scale sales of cryptocurrencies would result in a reduction in the value of
cryptocurrencies and adversely affect an investment in the Trust.

The further development and acceptance of the cryptographic and algorithmic protocols governing the issuance of and transactions in
cryptocurrencies, which represents a new and rapidly changing industry, is subject to a variety of factors that are difficult to evaluate.

The use of cryptocurrencies to, among other things, buy and sell goods and services, is part of a new and rapidly evolving industry that employs digital
assets based upon a computer-generated mathematical and/or cryptographic protocol. The growth of this industry in general, and the use of
cryptocurrencies in particular, are subject to a high degree of uncertainty. Many networks are still in the process of developing and making significant
decisions, such as decisions that will affect policies that govern the supply and issuance of their respective crypto assets.
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The factors affecting the further development of the industry, include, but are not limited to:

� Continued worldwide growth in the adoption and use of cryptocurrencies;

� Governmental and quasi-governmental regulation of cryptocurrencies and other digital assets and their use, or restrictions on or regulation
of access to and operation of cryptocurrency exchanges or similar digital asset trading venues;

� Changes in consumer demographics and public tastes and preferences;

� The maintenance and development of the open-source software protocol of cryptocurrency exchanges;

� The availability and popularity of other forms or methods of buying and selling goods and services, including new means of using fiat
currencies;

� General economic conditions and the regulatory environment relating to digital assets; and

� Negative consumer sentiment and perception of cryptocurrencies generally.

The slowing or stopping of the development or acceptance of these protocols may adversely affect an investment in the Trust.

In addition, the open-source structure of many crypto asset network protocols means that developers and other contributors are generally not directly
compensated for their contributions in maintaining and developing such protocols. As a result, the developers and other contributors of a particular
digital asset may lack a financial incentive to maintain or develop the network, or may lack the resources to adequately address emerging issues.
Alternatively, some developers may be funded by companies whose interests are at odds with other participants in a particular network. A failure to
properly monitor and upgrade the protocol of a particular digital asset could damage that network, which could adversely affect the value of Portfolio
Crypto Assets and the Shares.

Shareholders may not receive the benefits of any forks or ��airdrops.��

In addition to forks, a digital asset may become subject to a similar occurrence known as an �airdrop.� In an airdrop, the promotors of a new digital
asset announce to holders of another digital asset that such holders will be entitled to claim a certain amount of the new digital asset for free, based on
the fact that they hold such other digital asset. Shareholders may not receive the benefits of any forks, and the Trust may not choose, or be able, to
participate in an airdrop. There may be operational, securities law, regulatory, legal and practical issues with accepting such assets. Additionally, laws,
regulation or other factors may prevent Shareholders from benefitting from such forks or airdrops. For example, it may be illegal to sell or otherwise
dispose of such assets, or there may not be a suitable market into which such assets can be sold (immediately after the fork or airdrop, or ever).

In the event of a hard fork of the network of a digital asset held by the Trust, the Sponsor will use its discretion to determine which network should
be considered the appropriate network for the Trust��s purposes, and in doing so may adversely affect the value of the Shares.

In the event of a hard fork affecting a Portfolio Crypto Asset, the Sponsor will use its discretion to determine, in good faith, which peer-to-peer network,
among a group of incompatible forks of such network, is generally accepted as the network for such digital asset and should therefore be considered the
appropriate network for the Trust�s purposes. The Sponsor will base its determination on a variety of then relevant factors, including, but not limited to,
the Sponsor�s beliefs regarding expectations of the core developers of such digital asset, users, services, businesses, miners and other constituencies, as
well as the actual continued acceptance of, mining power on, and community engagement with, the network of such digital asset. There is no guarantee
that the Sponsor will choose the digital asset that is ultimately the most valuable fork, and the Sponsor�s decision may adversely affect the value of the
Shares as a result.
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Any name change and any associated rebranding initiative by the core developers of a Portfolio Crypto Asset may not be favorably received by the
digital asset community, which could negatively impact the value of such digital asset and an investment in the Shares.

From time to time, digital assets may undergo name changes and associated rebranding initiatives or changes in how such assets are used. We cannot
predict the impact of any name change and any associated rebranding initiative on the relevant digital asset. After a name change and an associated
rebranding initiative, a digital asset may not be able to achieve or maintain brand name recognition or status that is comparable to the recognition and
status previously enjoyed by such digital asset. The failure of any name change and any associated rebranding initiative by a digital asset may result in
such digital asset not realizing some or all of the anticipated benefits contemplated by the name change and associated rebranding initiative, and could
negatively impact the value of the relevant digital asset and an investment in the Shares.

The Trust��s investments in Portfolio Crypto Assets may be illiquid.

It may be difficult or impossible for the Trust to sell Portfolio Crypto Assets. Digital assets are also often difficult to value and market prices for digital
assets have experienced significant volatility in comparison to more liquid investments in other asset classes, such as equities. This could adversely
affect the price at which the Trust is able to sell Portfolio Crypto Assets, if it is able to do so at all.

The Trust purchases digital assets from various counterparties and if one of these counterparties were to become insolvent or otherwise default on
its obligations to the Trust, it could result in financial loss and business disruption.

The Trust purchases digital assets from approved counterparties that include exchanges, electronic trading systems that seek liquidity from multiple
trading venues, and market making firms known as �over the counter� or �OTC� trading desks. The Trust faces the risk that one or more of its
institutional counterparties may fail to fulfill their contractual obligations to the Trust. For example, it is possible that counterparty would not settle a
transaction in accordance with its terms and conditions because of a dispute over the terms of the contract (whether or not bona fide) or because of a
credit or liquidity problem, thus causing the Trust to suffer a loss. Such �counterparty risk� is accentuated for digital assets where the Trust has
concentrated its transactions with a single or small group of counterparties. The Trust is not restricted from dealing with any particular counterparty or
from concentrating any or all of its transactions with one counterparty. Moreover, the Trust has no internal credit function that evaluates the
creditworthiness of its counterparties.

A counterparty may default on its obligations to the Trust for a number of reasons, such as changes in financial condition, a reduction in liquidity,
operational failures, regulatory actions against the counterparty or insolvency. Counterparty defaults or limitations on their ability to do business with
the Trust could result in financial losses or hamper the Trust�s ability to do business or manage the risks to its business. In addition, if the Trust is unable
to replace a defaulting counterparty that performs services critical to the Trust�s business, it could adversely affect the Trust�s ability to conduct its
operations. The ability of the Trust to transact business with any one or number of counterparties, the lack of any meaningful and independent evaluation
of such counterparty�s financial capabilities and the absence of a regulated market to facilitate settlement may increase the potential for losses by the
Trust.
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Risks Related to Bitcoin and Ethereum

In addition to the risks noted above regarding cryptocurrencies in general, the following risk factors are specific to Bitcoin and Ethereum, the two
primary Portfolio Crypto Assets held by the Trust.

Currently, there is limited use of Bitcoin in the retail and commercial marketplace in comparison to relatively extensive use by speculators, thus
contributing to price volatility that could adversely affect an investment in the Trust.

As relatively new products and technologies, Bitcoin and the Bitcoin network (a peer-to-peer Bitcoin computer network (the �Bitcoin Network�)) have
only recently become selectively accepted as a means of payment for goods and services by many commercial outlets, and use of Bitcoin by consumers
to pay such retail and commercial outlets remains limited. Banks and other established financial institutions may refuse to process funds for Bitcoin
transactions; process wire transfers to or from Bitcoin exchanges, Bitcoin-related companies or service providers; or maintain accounts for persons or
entities transacting in Bitcoin. Conversely, a significant portion of Bitcoin demand is generated by speculators and investors seeking to profit from the
short- or long-term holding of Bitcoin. Price volatility undermines Bitcoin�s role as a medium of exchange as retailers are much less likely to accept it
as a form of payment. Market capitalization for Bitcoin as a medium of exchange and payment method may always be low. A lack of expansion by
Bitcoin into retail and commercial markets, or a contraction of such use, may result in increased volatility which could adversely impact an investment
in the Trust.

Significant Bitcoin Network contributors could propose amendments to the Bitcoin Network��s protocols and software that, if accepted and
authorized by the Bitcoin Network, could adversely affect an investment in the Trust.

A small group of individuals contribute to the Bitcoin Core project on Github. This group of contributors is currently headed by Wladimir J. van der
Laan, the current lead maintainer. These individuals can propose refinements or improvements to the Bitcoin Network�s source code through one or
more software upgrades that alter the protocols and software that govern the Bitcoin Network and the properties of Bitcoin, including the irreversibility
of transactions and limitations on the mining of new Bitcoin. Proposals for upgrades and discussions relating thereto take place on online forums. For
example, there is an ongoing debate regarding altering the Blockchain by increasing the size of blocks to accommodate a larger volume of transactions.

Although some proponents support an increase, other market participants oppose an increase to the block size as it may deter miners from confirming
transactions and concentrate power into a smaller group of miners. To the extent that a significant majority of the users and miners on the Bitcoin
Network install such software upgrade(s), the Bitcoin Network would be subject to new protocols and software that may adversely affect an investment
in the Trust. In the event a developer or group of developers proposes a modification to the Bitcoin Network that is not accepted by a majority of miners
and users, but that is nonetheless accepted by a substantial plurality of miners and users, two or more competing and incompatible Blockchain
implementations could result. This is known as a �hard fork.� In such a case, the �hard fork� in the Blockchain could materially and adversely affect the
perceived value of Bitcoin as reflected on one or both incompatible Blockchains, and thus the value of the Trust�s Bitcoin.

The open-source structure of the Bitcoin Network protocol means that the contributors to the protocol are generally not directly compensated for
their contributions in maintaining and developing the protocol. A failure to properly monitor and upgrade the protocol could damage the Bitcoin
Network and an investment in the Trust.

The Bitcoin Network operates based on an open-source protocol maintained by contributors, largely on the Bitcoin Core project on GitHub. As an open
source project, Bitcoin is not represented by an official organization or authority. As the Bitcoin Network protocol is not sold and its use does not
generate revenues for contributors,
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contributors are generally not compensated for maintaining and updating the Bitcoin Network protocol. Although the MIT Media Lab�s Digital
Currency Initiative funds the current maintainer Wladimir J. van der Laan, among others, this type of financial incentive is not typical. The lack of
guaranteed financial incentive for contributors to maintain or develop the Bitcoin Network and the lack of guaranteed resources to adequately address
emerging issues with the Bitcoin Network may reduce incentives to address the issues adequately or in a timely manner. This may adversely affect an
investment in the Trust.

If a malicious actor obtains control in excess of fifty (50) percent of the processing power (or aggregate hashrate) active on the Bitcoin Network, it is
possible that such actor could manipulate the Blockchain in a manner that adversely affects an investment in the Trust.

If a malicious actor obtains a majority of the processing power (referred to herein as �aggregate hashrate�) dedicated to mining on the Bitcoin
Network or Ethereum Network, it will be able to exert unilateral control over the addition of blocks to these blockchains. As long as the malicious actor
enjoys this majority it may be able to �double-spend� its own digital asset (i.e., spend the same digital asset in two or more conflicting transactions) as
well as prevent the confirmation of other digital asset transactions. If such a scenario were to materialize, it could adversely affect an investment in the
Trust or the ability of the Trust to operate.

In 2014, a specific mining pool approached and appeared to briefly exceed the threshold of fifty (50) percent of the aggregate hashrate on the Bitcoin
Network. Reports about this incident indicate that such threshold was surpassed for only a short period, and there are no reports of any malicious
activity by the mining pool. Furthermore, pool participants appear to have redirected their hashrate in the mining pool to other pools on a voluntary
basis, which is customary when a mining pool exceeds forty (40) percent of the aggregate hashrate on the Bitcoin Network. Nevertheless, the approach
to and possible crossing of the fifty (50) percent threshold indicate a greater risk that a single mining pool could exert authority over the validation of
Bitcoin transactions.

To the extent that the Bitcoin ecosystem, Ethereum ecosystem, contributors and the administrators of mining pools, do not act to ensure greater
decentralization of Bitcoin or Ether mining aggregate hashrate, the feasibility of a malicious actor obtaining in excess of fifty (50) percent of the
aggregate hashrate on the Bitcoin Network or Ethereum Network (e.g., through control of a large mining pool or through hacking such a mining pool)
will increase, which may adversely impact an investment in the Trust. Additionally, there are some academics and market participants who believe the
applicable threshold required to exert authority over the Bitcoin Network or Ethereum Network could be less than fifty (50) percent, which would
increase the chances of a malicious actor exerting authority over the Bitcoin Network and Ethereum Network.

If the award of Bitcoin or Ether for solving blocks and transaction fees for recording transactions are not sufficiently high to incentivize miners,
miners may cease expending hashrate to solve blocks and confirmations of transactions on the blockchain could be slowed temporarily. A reduction
in the hashrate expended by miners on the network could also increase the likelihood of a malicious actor obtaining control in excess of fifty
(50) percent of the aggregate hashrate active on the network, potentially permitting such actor to manipulate the blockchain in a manner that
adversely affects an investment in the Trust or the ability of the Trust to operate.

As the amount of new Bitcoin or Ether rewarded for solving blocks declines, and if transaction fees are not sufficiently high, miners may not have an
adequate incentive to continue mining and may cease their mining operations. The current fixed reward for solving a new block is six and one quarter
(6.25) Bitcoin per block; the reward decreased from twelve and a half (12.5) Bitcoin in May 2020. It is estimated that it will halve again in about four
(4) years, and every four years until the year 2140. The current fixed reward for solving a new block is currently three (3) Ether per block; the reward
decreased from five (5) Ether in October 2017. It is estimated that it will be reduced to two (2) Ether per block in the future. This recent reduction in
rewards, as well as future halvings, may result in a reduction in the aggregate hashrate of these networks as the incentive for miners may decrease. This
would adversely affect the confirmation process for transactions (i.e., temporarily decreasing the
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speed at which blocks are added to the blockchain until the next scheduled adjustment in difficulty for block solutions) and make the networks more
vulnerable to a malicious actor obtaining control in excess of fifty (50) percent of the aggregate hashrate on the Bitcoin Network or Ethereum Network.

Periodically, the Bitcoin Network has adjusted the difficulty of solving blocks so that transaction processing speeds remain in the vicinity of the
expected ten (10) minute confirmation time targeted by the Bitcoin Network protocol. From time to time there will be considerations and adjustments to
the Ethereum Network regarding the difficult for block solutions. Any reduction in confidence in the confirmation process or aggregate hashrate of the
Bitcoin Network or Ethereum Network may negatively impact the value of Bitcoin or Ethereum, which will adversely impact an investment in the Trust.

As the number of Bitcoin awarded for solving a block in the Blockchain decreases, the incentive for miners to continue to contribute hashrate to the
Bitcoin Network will transition from the block reward to transaction fees. Either the requirement from miners of higher transaction fees in
exchange for recording transactions in the Blockchain or a potential change to the Bitcoin Network protocol to increase miner compensation could
impede its adoptions for transactions, such as with retail merchants and commercial businesses, resulting in a potential reduction in the price of
Bitcoin that could adversely impact an investment in the Trust.

In order to incentivize miners to continue to contribute hashrate to the Bitcoin Network, the Bitcoin Network may either formally or informally increase
transaction fees earned upon solving for a block. This transition could be accomplished by miners independently electing to record in the blocks they
solve only those transactions that include payment of a transaction fee. However it might come about, if transaction fees required for Bitcoin
transactions become too high, the marketplace may be reluctant to accept Bitcoin as a means of payment and existing users may be motivated to switch
from Bitcoin to another Digital Asset or back to fiat currency. Decreased use and demand for Bitcoin or viability for processing transactions may
adversely affect their value and result in a reduction in the price of the Shares.

To the extent that the profit margins of Bitcoin mining operations are low, operators of Bitcoin mining operations are more likely to immediately sell
Bitcoin earned by mining, resulting in a reduction in the price of Bitcoin that could adversely impact an investment in the Trust.

Over the past two several years, Bitcoin Network mining operations have evolved from individual users mining with computer processors, graphics
processing units and first-generation application-specific integrated circuit processors (�ASICs�). Currently, new hashrate brought onto the Bitcoin
Network is predominantly added by incorporated and unincorporated �professionalized� mining operations. Professionalized mining operations may use
proprietary, sophisticated hardware like customized ASICs. Mining requires an investment of significant capital and expertise to acquire this hardware,
the leasing of operating space (often in data centers or warehousing facilities), incurring of electricity costs and the employment of technicians to
operate the mining farms. As a result, professionalized mining operations are of a greater scale than prior Bitcoin Network miners and have more
defined, regular expenses and liabilities. These regular expenses and liabilities may require professionalized mining operations to more immediately sell
Bitcoin earned from mining operations on one of the various Bitcoin exchanges (each a �Bitcoin Exchange� and collectively, the �Bitcoin Exchange
Market�), whereas it is believed that individual miners in past years were more likely to hold newly mined Bitcoin for more extended periods. The
immediate selling of newly mined Bitcoin may increase the supply of Bitcoin on the Bitcoin Exchange Market in a material way, potentially creating
downward pressure on the price of Bitcoin.

The extent to which the value of Bitcoin mined by a professionalized mining operation exceeds the operating costs determines the profit margin of such
operation. A professionalized mining operation may be more likely to sell a higher percentage of its newly mined Bitcoin rapidly if it is operating at a
low profit margin�and it may partially or completely cease operations if its profit margin is negative. In a low profit margin environment, a higher
percentage could be sold into the Bitcoin Exchange Market more rapidly, thereby potentially reducing Bitcoin prices. Lower Bitcoin prices could result
in further tightening of profit margins, particularly for
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professionalized mining operations with higher costs and more limited capital reserves, creating a knock-on effect that may further reduce the price of
Bitcoin until mining operations with higher operating costs become unprofitable and remove mining power from the Bitcoin Network. The knock-on
effect of reduced profit margins resulting in greater sales of newly mined Bitcoin could result in a reduction in the price of Bitcoin that could adversely
impact an investment in the Trust.

The acceptance of Bitcoin Network software patches or upgrades by a significant, but not complete, percentage of the users and miners in the
Bitcoin Network could lead to a ��hard fork�� in the Blockchain, resulting in the operation of two separate and incompatible networks. The temporary
or permanent existence of forked Blockchains could adversely impact an investment in the Trust.

Bitcoin is an open source project and, although there is an influential group of contributors in the Bitcoin community, there is no designated developer or
group of developers who formally control the Bitcoin Network. Any individual can download the Bitcoin Network software and make any desired
modifications, which are proposed to users and miners on the Bitcoin Network through modifications typically posted to the Bitcoin development forum
on GitHub. A substantial majority of miners and Bitcoin users must affect those software modifications; otherwise, such miners and Bitcoin users would
become substantially less relevant to the overall Bitcoin Network. A developer or group of developers could potentially propose a modification to the
Bitcoin Network that is not accepted by a vast majority of miners and users, but that is nonetheless accepted by a substantial plurality of miners and
users. In such a case, and if the modification is not compatible with the dominant implementation of Bitcoin Network software, a deviation or �hard
fork� in the Blockchain could develop, and two separate Bitcoin Networks could result, one running the pre-modification software program and the
other running the modified version (i.e., a second �Bitcoin network�). A Bitcoin network fork of this kind could materially and adversely affect the
perceived value of Bitcoin as reflected on one or both incompatible Blockchains.

In the event of an upcoming modification to the Bitcoin Network that could potentially result in a hard fork with two separate and incompatible Bitcoin
Networks, the Sponsor maintains full discretion to elect which Bitcoin Network to support. However, it is anticipated that the Sponsor will elect to
support the Bitcoin Network that has the greatest cumulative computational difficulty for the forty-eight (48) hour period following a given hard fork, in
order to engage in bitcoin transactions and the valuation of bitcoin. Resignations may be halted during this period. The greatest cumulative
computational difficulty is defined as the total threshold number of hash attempts required to mine all existing blocks in the respective Blockchain,
accounting for potential differences in relative hash difficulty.

If, at or after the time of such election, users� and miners� support of the selected Bitcoin Network diminishes, this could adversely affect the value of
the Trust�s Bitcoin and the value of an investment in the Trust.

The Value of Shares in the Trust relates directly to the value of Bitcoin and the Ethereum Network native crypto asset (Ether) held by the Trust and
fluctuations in the price of Bitcoin and Ether could adversely affect an investment in the Trust.

The values of the Shares in the Trust are directly related to the value of the amount of Bitcoin and Ether held by the Trust. The prices of Bitcoin and
Ether has fluctuated widely since the crypto assets were introduced in 2008 and 2015, respectively. Several exchange-related factors may affect the
prices of Bitcoin and Ether, including:

� Demand from people willing to acquire Bitcoin and Ether in the market, which is influenced by the growth of trading activity in the
network, the amount of fees collected on network trading activity, the value derived from users being able to exert governance over the
network, the expectation among participants that the value of the network will change, among other factors;

� Supply from people willing to dispose of Bitcoin and Ether in the market, which is influenced by similar factors as the demand for
acquiring tokens in the market in addition to the supply of new Bitcoin and Ether that are brought to the market according to the relevant
protocol�s supply schedule;
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� Service availability on crypto asset exchanges, such as but not limited to, fiat currency withdrawal and deposit policies, interruption in

service for technical failure or strong market imbalances, and cyber theft or news of such theft;

� Manipulative trading activity on crypto asset exchanges, which are largely unregulated;

� Investment and trading activities of large investors, including private and registered funds, that may directly or indirectly invest in Bitcoin,
Ether or other digital assets that utilize either token�s blockchain;

� Regulatory developments, if any, that restrict the use of the Bitcoin or the Ethereum network or the purchase of Bitcoin or Ether in the
market;

� The maintenance and development of the open-source software code of the Ethereum network and;

� Increased competition from other platforms that allow users to program and execute smart contracts, including potential forks of the
Bitcoin or Ethereum networks.

If Ether markets continue to be subject to sharp fluctuations, investors may experience losses as the value of the Trust�s investments decline. Even if
investors are able to hold their Shares in the Trust for the long-term, their Shares may never generate a profit, since crypto asset markets have
historically experienced extended periods of flat or declining prices, in addition to sharp fluctuations. In addition, investors should be aware that there is
no assurance that Ether will maintain their long-term value in terms of future purchasing power.

Significant Ethereum Network contributors could propose amendments to the Ethereum Network��s protocols and software that, if accepted and
authorized by the Ethereum Network, could adversely affect the crypto assets that utilize the Ethereum Network, therefore impacting the value of the
Shares.

A small group of individuals contribute to the Ethereum code base on Github. This group of contributors is currently headed by Vitalik Buterin, the
founder of Ether and the head of the Ethereum Foundation. These individuals can propose refinements or improvements to the Ethereum Network�s
source code through one or more software upgrades that alter the protocols and software that govern the Ethereum Network and the properties of Ether,
including the irreversibility of transactions and limitations on the mining of new Ether.

Proposals for upgrades and discussions relating thereto take place on online forums. For example, on June 17, 2016, a hacker began rapidly diverting
Ether from the DAO, an unincorporated organization executed on the Ethereum Network, causing approximately 3.6 million Ether�1/3 of the total Ether
raised by the DAO�s offering�to move from the DAO�s Ether Blockchain address to an Ether Blockchain address controlled by the hacker. Although
the diverted Ether was then held in an address controlled by the hacker, the hacker was prevented by the DAO�s code from moving the Ether from its
address for 27 days.

In order to secure the diverted Ether and return it to DAO token holders, the DAO�s founders and others endorsed a �hard fork� to the Ether
Blockchain. The hard fork called for a change in the Ether protocol on a going forward basis that would restore the DAO Token holders� investments as
if the hack had not occurred. On July 20, 2016, after a majority of the Ethereum Network adopted the necessary software updates, the new, forked Ether
Blockchain became active.

A minority group, however, elected not to adopt the new Ether Blockchain created by the hard fork because to do so would run counter to the concept
that a blockchain is immutable. Instead they continued to use the former version of the blockchain, which is now known as �Ethereum Classic.�

During the DAO event, the price of Ether was volatile and many users viewed the software update as contrary to the principles of a distributed system.
While a majority of miners and market participants ultimately determined to support the hard fork, it is possible that the hard fork could have affected
the long-term viability of the Network and the price of Ether. It is likely that additional changes to the Ethereum Network will be proposed, and such
proposals could adversely affect the price of Ether and investments in the Trust.
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Ethereum is moving to a mining mechanism called proof-of-stake (PoS) from proof-of-work (PoW) as part of the strategy to scale Ethereum via
upgrades. Significant changes to the protocol��s core functionality and security mechanisms creates significant execution and security risks. It is
possible that during or after these upgrades, bad actors could attack and, if successful, manipulate the Blockchain in a manner that adversely affects
an investment in the Trust.

The Ethereum Network is in the process of implementing software upgrades and other significant changes to the protocol, including the eventual
transition from its current Proof-of-Work consensus mechanism to the Proof-of-Stake consensus mechanism it plans to use in the future (known as
Ethereum 2.0). A blockchain�s consensus mechanism is a core aspect of its functionality and these types of significant changes introduce material
execution risk where failure to successfully implement could have a material impact on the value of Ether that could adversely impact an investment in
the Trust.

PoS networks use a consensus mechanism that requires users to stake their ETH in order to become validators. As assets are staked in the network, a
hack or theft could occur resulting in stolen staked tokens. Additionally, network centralization is a risk in PoS networks, which if achieved, could
potentially permit bad actors to manipulate the Blockchain in a manner that adversely affects an investment in the Trust or the ability of the Trust to
operate. Additionally, a coordinated attack on node infrastructure, if successful, could take a large amount of staked ETH offline, increasing the bad
actors share of outstanding ETH. Any of these attack vectors could be exploited, and additional attack vectors could be discovered and exploited in the
future, resulting in a reduction in the price of Ether that could adversely impact an investment in the Trust.

There is no guarantee that any of the mechanisms in place or being explored for future implementation will be effective in achieving their eventual goal,
or how long these mechanisms will take to become effective, which could adversely impact the value of Ether that could adversely impact an investment
in the Trust.

Currently, there is limited use of Ether in non-financial applications in the retail and commercial marketplace in comparison to relatively extensive
use by speculators, thus contributing to price volatility that could adversely affect an investment in the Trust.

As a relatively new product and technology, most of the transactions of Ether that settle on the Ethereum Network are related to speculative use cases.
More recently, as Decentralized Finance (DeFi) applications gained traction, a bigger share of transactions are now related to the execution of smart
contracts. Nonetheless, many such smart contracts are used for speculative purposes, such as trading across crypto assets or obtaining leverage against
pledged collateral. If the Ethereum network fails to find use cases non-related to speculation, Ether�s price volatility could remain high for a significant
period of time and have an adverse impact in the Trust.

The open-source structure of the Ethereum Network protocol means that the contributors to the protocol are generally not directly compensated for
their contributions in maintaining and developing the protocol. A failure to properly monitor and upgrade the protocol could damage the Ethereum
Network and have a negative impact on crypto assets that utilize the Ethereum Network, therefore impacting the value of the Trust��s Shares.

The Ethereum Network operates based on an open-source protocol maintained by contributors, largely on the Ethereum codebase on GitHub. As an
open source project, Ether is not represented by an official organization or authority. As the Ethereum Network protocol is not sold and its use does not
generate revenues for contributors, contributors are generally not compensated for maintaining and updating the Ethereum Network protocol.

The price of Bitcoin could decline due to circumstances outside of the control of the Trust resulting in declined demand for Bitcoin, and such
decline in the price of Bitcoin could negatively impact the value of the Trust��s shares.

Circumstances outside of the control of the Trust could result in a decline in demand for Bitcoin and a resulting decrease in the price of Bitcoin. These
circumstances may include: the use of Bitcoin for illegal purposes, which
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could result in both affirmative action taken against Bitcoin, such as governmental bans on Bitcoin, as well as a shift in public perception which could
cause Bitcoin to be viewed negatively and demand for Bitcoin to decline; a decline in Bitcoin mining activity due to regulatory action against miners,
including restrictions on mining related to the environmental impact of Bitcoin mining; and the potential for new or different regulatory action against
Bitcoin, which could have the effect of severely dampening demand for Bitcoin. Any of these circumstances or other circumstances that affect the
demand for Bitcoin could cause the price of Bitcoin to decline which could then negatively affect the value of the Trust�s shares.

Risks Related to Decentralized Finance Portfolio Crypto Assets

Certain Portfolio Crypto Assets utilize decentralized finance protocols, and such protocols permit holders of the protocol��s native digital asset to
participate in activities such as governance voting, staking, lending and liquidity provision, in exchange for compensation. If the Trust is unable to
engage in such activities, or elects not to engage in such activities, its holdings can be diluted in favor of other token holders.

The Trust holds certain Portfolio Crypto Assets that utilize decentralized finance protocols. To date, Ether, EOS and Tezos are blockchain networks that
allow for some level of staking at the option of the holder. Chainlink, Aave and Uniswap are crypto applications built on top of the Ethereum network
which provide decentralized finance services through their protocols in which the holder can choose to engage, including governance, voting, staking
assets, lending assets, and liquidity provision options. Decentralized finance protocols choose to incentivize holders of the protocol�s native digital asset
to actively participate in the protocol by directing rewards, such as newly minted digital assets, transaction fees, or other mechanisms, to the digital asset
holder if the digital asset holder participates in certain activities. These activities can vary across protocols and may include, but are not limited to,
governance voting, staking assets, lending assets or providing collateral or liquidity to the protocol.

These rewards can represent a significant share of the total supply of the digital asset, and, if the Trust is unwilling or unable to engage in such activities,
the holdings of these specific assets can be diluted in favor of other token holders who opt to engage in such activities.

If the Trust decides to engage in activities allowed by some decentralized finance protocols such as governance voting, staking, lending and liquidity
provision, the Trust may experience losses.

Certain decentralized finance protocols choose to incentivize holders of the protocol�s native digital asset to actively participate in the protocol by
directing rewards, such as newly minted digital assets, transaction fees, or other mechanisms, to the digital asset holder if the digital asset holder
participates in certain activities. These activities can vary across protocols and may include, but are not limited to, governance voting, staking assets,
lending assets or providing collateral or liquidity to the protocol. As a holder of a protocol�s native digital assets, the Trust may be able to participate in
such activities. Should the Trust participate in such activities, it may experience losses as a result of such activities.

To date, the only decentralized financial protocol that the Trust has participated in, including governance, voting, staking assets and lending assets, was
in staking Tezos. While the Trust currently does not participate in any staking activities, it may in the future engage in further staking activities if the
Trust deems such activity to be in the best interests of shareholders.

Decentralized finance is a nascent field and an understanding of how decentralized finance protocols and staking activity fit into regulatory
frameworks is still developing.

The provision of financial services is a highly regulated activity. Decentralized finance protocols are structured to provide financial services in a novel
and decentralized manner, including through the use of staking. As a result,
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the regulations regarding decentralized financial protocols are not yet clear. There are a number of regulators that may exercise jurisdiction over
activities such as a staking that take place on decentralized finance protocols, including but not limited to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC), the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC), the Internal Revenue Service (IRS), the Financial Crimes Enforcement
Network (FinCEN) and state securities regulators.

Regulators have not provided much information on the regulation of decentralized finance protocols, and it is unclear how regulators are currently
thinking about this market, or how regulators� considerations and concerns may evolve in the future. It is possible that in the future one or more
regulators could advance rulings that would have a negative impact on the price of the decentralized finance protocol�s native digital assets. Such
rulings could, among other things, preclude the Trust from holding these assets, disincentivize users to participate in the protocol, or determine that
activities such as staking are financial activities that are subject to relevant financial regulations.

In addition, the fact that decentralized finance protocols, including staking, are global and permit users from around the world to access the protocols
could result in regulation occurring outside of the U.S. which could affect decentralized finance protocols. Any of these issues could have a material
adverse effect on a decentralized finance protocol�s business, operations and financial position, which could have a negative impact on the price of the
decentralized finance digital asset. If the price of a decentralized finance protocol�s digital asset that is included in the Index declines, that could result
in a negative impact on the Trust. In addition, to the extent that decentralized finance activities are determined to be subject to regulation as financial
activities, the Trust could be subject to regulation if it had participated in such activities.

Decentralized Finance protocols may require one or more outside digital assets that are not its native digital asset to be used as collateral in order to
operate certain functionality. A sudden or significant drop in the value of the digital asset used as collateral could have negative implications for the
functioning of the Decentralized Finance protocol and therefore could affect the price of its native digital asset.

Certain Decentralized Finance protocols require users to post collateral in the form of a digital asset in order to borrow other assets from the
protocol. In order to protect users who lend their digital assets to borrowers, if the collateral price were to fall, the protocols are usually
overcollateralized, that is, the protocol will require more collateral than is necessary. If the price of the collateral were to fall, over-collateralization
would allow the Decentralized Finance protocol to liquidate the posted collateral so as to ensure that the user who lent the digital assets is made
whole.

It is possible that certain situations might occur which would cause the Decentralized Finance protocol to become undercollateralized and put the users
who are borrowing assets in a potential position of loss. Such situations could include, but are not limited to, sudden or significant falls in the price of
the digital asset used as the collateral. Depending on the rules of the protocol, these losses may be borne by the holders of digital assets through
mechanisms such as, among others, dilution through the issuance of new tokens to cover the losses or confiscation of staked assets. This could in turn
cause a sudden or significant drop in the value of the digital asset used as collateral, which could have negative implications for the functioning of the
Decentralized Finance protocol and therefore could affect the price of its native digital asset. If the price of a Decentralized Finance protocol�s digital
asset that is included in the Bitwise Decentralized Finance Crypto Index price declines, that could result in a negative impact on the Trust�s Portfolio.

Staking activity may require withdrawals of Portfolio Crypto Assets and such withdrawals may result in the Portfolio Crypto Assets being vulnerable
to security breaches, including hacking and other efforts to obtain the Portfolio Crypto Assets.

Staking activity may require withdrawals of its Portfolio Crypto Assets by the Sponsor in order venues in order to make certain types of trades or to
deposit certain Portfolio Crypto Assets within various protocols. While the
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ability to gain temporary control of even a portion of the Portfolio Crypto Assets is restricted to limited number of authorized personnel of the Sponsor,
once the Custodian processes the transaction, the Sponsor has the ability to send the withdrawn Portfolio Crypto Assets to the delivery address of
trading counterparties or trading venues. During any such transfer, the Portfolio Crypto Assets may be vulnerable to security breaches, including
hacking and other efforts to obtain the Portfolio Crypto Assets, as well as the risk that while Portfolio Crypto Assets are under the Sponsor�s control, an
employee of the Sponsor could access and obtain the Portfolio Crypto Assets. Some of these attempts to obtain the Portfolio Crypto Assets may be
successful, and the Sponsor may lose some or all of the transferred Portfolio Crypto Assets. In addition, Portfolio Crypto Assets transferred to
exchanges or other trading venues or protocols, such as smart-contracts that facilitate staking or other reward-generating activity, are subject to increased
risk of loss or theft due to reliance on the security procedures of the trading venue or protocol (when the Portfolio Crypto Assets are no longer in the
custody of the Custodian) or the risk of the smart- contract operating appropriately, and because the same withdrawal procedures required by the
Custodian, which are designed to reduce the risk of error or theft, may not be required by trading venues. Portfolio Crypto Assets transferred for the
purposes of lending, staking, or participating in other network activities are subject to increased risk of loss, theft, or technological complication that
could result in the loss of Portfolio Crypto Assets in their entirety.

Certain staking activities require Portfolio Crypto Asset to be restricted within a protocol for a specific period of time, and such restrictions may be
result in the Trust being unable to rebalance its holdings.

If the Trust decides to pursue staking activities that require Portfolio Crypto Assets to be restricted within a protocol for a specific period of time, the
Trust may be unable to rebalance its holdings in accordance with the monthly rebalancing of the Index. The inability of the Trust to rebalance in
accordance with the Index could cause deviations between the Trust and the Index, and such deviations could create performance differences between
the Trust and the Index. If the Trust was unable to rebalance its holdings in accordance with the monthly rebalancing of the Index, the Trust would
include this information on its website, as the current Portfolio and any relevant information regarding the Portfolio is always provided on the Trust�s
website.

Risks Related to Index Investing

The Bitwise 10 Crypto Index has a fairly limited history.

The Index was created in 2017 and has a fairly limited history. The Committee has substantial discretion at any time to change the methodology used to
calculate the Index and guidelines used to select public exchanges from which cryptocurrency trading data is sourced for inclusion in the Index. The
Committee does not have any obligation to take the needs of the Trust, the Trust�s Shareholders, or anyone else into consideration in connection with
such changes. There is no guarantee that the methodology currently used in calculating and balancing the Index will appropriately track the price of
cryptocurrencies comprising the Index in the future.

The Index is based on various inputs which may include price data from various third-party exchanges and markets as well as supply data. The
Committee does not guarantee the validity of any of these inputs, which may be subject to technological error, manipulative activity, or fraudulent
reporting from their initial source. The Committee is not required to publicize or explain the changes to the Index, nor to alert the Trust to such changes.
Shareholders in the Trust may not be aware of what inputs the Committee uses to calculate the Index, when the Committee changes the inputs, or when
the Committee changes the methodology to calculate the Index, even when material to the calculation of the Index. The Index could be calculated now
or in the future in a way that adversely affects an investment in the Trust.

The methodology for determining the Index established by the Index Provider, which is an affiliate of the Sponsor, is relatively new.

The methodology for determining the Index established by the Index Provider, which is an affiliate of the Sponsor, is relatively new. Such methodology
is based on a flexible set of rules that were designed by the
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Sponsor and its affiliates. Should any material change be made to the Index Methodology that results in a material change to the composition of the
Index and, as part of the Trust�s monthly rebalancing process, results in a material change to the composition of the Trust the Trust will notify
Shareholders of such material change by filing a Form 8-K with the SEC. The Trust defines material change as any change of 10% or more to the
composition of the Index. Certain assumptions included in the methodology may be flawed and may adversely impact the Index�s ability to accurately
establish or maintain an Index of top cryptocurrencies. The failure of one or more of the assumptions built into the Index Methodology could have an
adverse effect on the Trust and on the value of an investment in the Trust. For example, such methodology relies on facts and circumstances as known to
the Committee from time to time, however, such facts and circumstances as known to the Committee may later prove to be false or incomplete or the
Committee may have given undue weight to information deemed by the Committee to be material at the time but which may later be found to be
immaterial. For more detailed information on the Index Methodology, see �Business�Index Methodology.�

The Trust��s investment policies are rules-driven, which may lead the Trust��s portfolio to be underrepresented with respect to digital assets that are
increasing in value and/or overrepresented with respect to digital assets that are declining in value.

As described under �Description of the Trust�Purpose of the Index,� the Trust seeks to invest in a Portfolio of cryptocurrencies in accordance with the
Index. The Index and investment strategy of the Trust may, however, create undesirable outcomes for Shareholders. At any given time, for example, the
Trust�s portfolio may be underrepresented with respect to digital assets that are increasing in value and/or overrepresented with respect to digital assets
that are declining in value. Should this be the case, the Trust may underperform relative to other investment options that do invest in such digital assets
and do not follow similar investment policies. Moreover, the Sponsor will only rebalance the Trust�s Portfolio on a monthly basis, meaning that
rebalancing that could achieve more favorable results for Shareholders may only occur upon delay. This could have an adverse effect on the Trust and
on the value of an investment in the Trust.

The development and commercialization of the Index is highly competitive, and the Trust may not be commercially successful.

The Trust faces competition with respect to the creation and maintenance of a competing cryptocurrency index fund. Much of the information used to
construct and maintain the Index is within the public domain. Competitors could develop a similar, competing cryptocurrency index or fund. Many of
the Sponsor�s competitors have significantly greater financial, technical and human resources than the Sponsor�s has and superior expertise in fund
operation and management, and thus may be better equipped than the Sponsor�s to develop and commercialize an index. These competitors also
compete with the Sponsor�s in recruiting and retaining qualified personnel. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant
competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. Accordingly, the Sponsor�s competitors may
commercialize an index involving cryptocurrencies more rapidly or effectively than the Sponsor�s is able to, which would adversely affect the
Sponsor�s competitive position, the likelihood that the Index will achieve initial market acceptance and the Sponsor�s ability to generate meaningful
revenues from the Trust.

The Trust will not track the Index exactly and the Trust��s investments may diverge from those comprising the Index.

It is not possible to invest directly in an index. The Trust will invest its assets to closely track the Index but will not be able to or may not desire to track
the Index exactly. In certain instances, the Sponsor, in its sole discretion, may choose to diverge the Trust�s investments from those comprising the
Index. For example, the Index may include a digital asset that the Trust�s custodian cannot custody, and the Trust therefore would not include that
particular digital asset. The Trust will have losses, liabilities and expenses that will offset its income and gains and therefore the Trust�s performance
may be below the Index�s performance. In addition, the performance of the Trust and the Index may vary somewhat due to other factors such as
imperfect correlation between the Trust�s
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investments and Index composition, regulatory restrictions, high portfolio turnover rate, rounding of prices and timing differences associated with
additions to and deletions from the Index.

The Sponsor is solely responsible for determining the NAV per Share, and any errors, discontinuance or changes in such valuation calculations may
have an adverse effect on the value of the Shares.

The Sponsor is responsible for determining the NAV per Share. The Sponsor and its affiliates will use the applicable rules-based methodology, to
calculate and disseminate the Index on a daily basis. The composition of the Index is dependent on data from one or more third parties and/or the
application of such data within the rules of the Index Methodology, which may be based on assumptions or estimates. To the extent that the this is
incorrectly calculated, the Sponsor may not be liable for any error and such misreporting of valuation data could adversely affect an investment in the
Shares.

The value of the Shares will be adversely affected if the Trust is required to indemnify the Sponsor, the Trustee or the Custodian.

Each of the Sponsor, the Trustee, the Custodian, and certain other service providers, has a right to be indemnified by the Trust under certain
circumstances. In order to satisfy these obligations, the Trust may be required to sell some Portfolio Crypto Assets in order to cover losses or liability
suffered by it. Any sale of that kind would reduce the Portfolio Crypto Assets of the Trust and the value of the Shares.

The Index may be unable to meet its stated purpose of tracking a basket of cryptocurrencies that represents the majority of cryptocurrencies by
market capitalization if the size of the constituent assets continues to decrease relative to the total market capitalization.

The Index tracks only the top ten cryptocurrencies by market capitalization, and as more new cryptocurrencies are created, this decreases the percentage
of total market capitalization that the Index is tracking. The total market capitalization of cryptocurrency is equal to the sum of the market capitalization
of all cryptocurrencies that are in existence. If new cryptocurrencies are created, the addition of new cryptocurrencies to the total overall market
capitalization can cause the size of any single cryptocurrency relative to the total overall market capitalization to decrease. It is possible that so many
new cryptocurrencies could be created, that an index that tracked the top ten cryptocurrencies by each cryptocurrency�s market capitalization would
track a basket of assets that may together constitute only a very small percentage of the total market capitalization. If that were to occur, the Index would
not be able to meet its purposes of tracking a basket of cryptocurrencies that represented a majority of cryptocurrencies, even if the Index was still
comprised of the top ten cryptocurrencies by market capitalization.

Risks Related to Trust and Portfolio Investments

Because of the holding period under Rule 144 and the lack of an ongoing redemption program for Shareholders that invest directly into the Trust
(as opposed to Shareholders who acquire Shares in the public secondary trading market) there is no arbitrage mechanism to keep the price of the
Shares closely linked to the value of the underlying Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Shares may trade at a substantial premium over, or substantial
discount to, the NAV per Share.

Because of the holding period under Rule 144 and the lack of an ongoing redemption program for Shareholders that invest directly into the Trust, the
Trust cannot rely on arbitrage opportunities resulting from differences between the price of the Shares and the price of the relevant digital asset to keep
the price of the Shares closely linked to the relevant Portfolio Crypto Assets. As a result, the value of the Shares may not approximate, and the Shares
may trade at a substantial premium over, or discount to, the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets held by the Trust, less the Trust�s expenses and other
liabilities, on the OTCQX secondary trading market.
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The Trust has limited operating history upon which an investor may base its investment decision.

The Trust has limited operating history upon which an investor may base its investment decision. There can be no assurance that the Trust will be able to
successfully implement its business plan. The success of the Trust should be considered in light of the problems, expenses, difficulties, complications,
and delays frequently encountered in connection with the inception of a business, operation in a competitive industry, and the continued development of
advertising and a corresponding investor base. For these and other unforeseeable factors, there can be no assurance that the Trust will achieve or sustain
profitable operations. The performance of prior investment entities and business ventures associated with the Principals is not necessarily indicative of
the Trust�s future performance.

The Sponsor will incur significant costs as a result of the registration of the Shares under the Exchange Act and the Trust becoming a reporting
issuer under the Exchange Act.

As the sponsor of a trust fully reporting under the Exchange Act, the Sponsor will incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that it did not
incur previously. In addition, the Exchange Act imposes various requirements on issuers that require the Sponsor�s management and other personnel to
devote a substantial amount of time to compliance initiatives.

The Trust depends, in part, on the Sponsor��s ability to attract and retain key personnel and the Trust��s failure to do so may negatively impact the
commercial success of the Trust.

The Trust depends, in part, on the Sponsor�s ability to attract and retain key personnel. The Trust�s future also depends on the continued contributions
of the executive officers and other key Bitwise personnel, each of whom would be difficult to replace. In particular, Hunter Horsley and Hong Kim, the
co-founders of Bitwise, Teddy Fusaro, Chief Operating Officer of Bitwise, and Matt Hougan, Managing Director and Global Head of Research, are
critical to the management of the Trust�s business and operations and the Trust�s strategic direction. The loss of the services of either Messrs. Horsley,
Kim, Fusaro, or Hougan, or other key personnel of Bitwise or the Sponsor, and the process to replace them would involve significant time and expense
and may significantly delay or prevent the achievement of the Trust�s business objectives.

The Trust does not maintain key man life insurance on key personnel.

The Trust is dependent on Messrs. Horsley, Kim, Fusaro, and Hougan in order to manage its investments and operations, maintain the Index and execute
on the Trust�s investment strategy. Neither Bitwise nor the Sponsor has, however, purchased any insurance policies with respect to those individuals in
the event of their death or disability. Therefore, if any of Messrs. Horsley, Kim, Fusaro, or Hougan die or become disabled, neither Bitwise nor the
Sponsor will receive any compensation to assist with such person�s absence. The loss of such person could negatively affect the Trust and its
investments.

Shareholders are expected to rely entirely on the Sponsor to conduct and manage the affairs of the Trust and will not be able to actively participate
in management.

Shareholders are expected to rely entirely on the Sponsor to conduct and manage the affairs of the Trust. Shareholders do not participate in the
management of the Trust or in the conduct of their business. Moreover, Shareholders have no right to influence the management of the Trust, whether by
voting or otherwise, other than in the limited fashion as set forth in the Trust Agreement. The Sponsor will have exclusive responsibility for the Trust�s
activities. Other than as may be set forth in the Trust Agreement, Shareholders will not be able to make investment or any other decisions in the
management of the Trust. In general, the Shareholders will have no opportunity to control or participate in the day-to-day operations, including
investment and disposition decisions, of the Trust. As such, Shareholders will not have an opportunity to evaluate for themselves the investment
decisions made by the Trust, and instead will be relying on the ability of the Sponsor to select investments to be
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made and rebalance the Trust�s portfolio using the Index. Accordingly, the success of the Trust will depend in large part upon the skill and expertise of
the Sponsor, and other investment professionals employed by the Sponsor. There can be no assurance that these professionals will continue to be
associated with the Sponsor throughout the life of the Trust.

Further, if the Sponsor were to lack funds to continue to manage the Trust, the Index, and/or other investment-related operations essential to the Trust, it
may be difficult or impossible for the Trust to secure other, similarly-skilled management for the Trust. If the Sponsor were to lack such funds or were to
discontinue its business for any other reasons, this could have a material adverse effect on the Trust and the value of an investment in the Trust.

Investors may experience the complete loss of their investment.

An investment in the Trust is suitable only for certain sophisticated investors for whom such investment does not constitute a complete investment
program and that fully understand, are willing to assume, and have the financial resources necessary to withstand, the risks involved in the Trust�s
investment strategy, and that can bear the potential loss of their entire investment in the Trust. There is no assurance as to whether the Trust will be
profitable or meet its expenses and liabilities. Any investment made in the Trust may result in a total loss of the investment.

If shareholders enter into share lending arrangement with respect to shares of the Trust, shareholders may experience various risks associated with
these arrangements.

Certain lending entities may be willing to provide loans to Shareholders in the Trust. Neither the Trust, the Sponsor nor any of their affiliates
recommend or endorse any such lending arrangements. The decision to enter into such a lending arrangement is solely the decision of the Shareholder,
and the Shareholder should consult with its legal and financial advisers before doing so. The Trust, the Sponsor, and their affiliates disclaim any and all
liability from any such lending arrangements, including without limitation any liability for losses or adverse consequences that may be incurred by the
lender, the Shareholder, or any other person or entity.

In some cases, these lending arrangements may be entered into without the knowledge or the involvement of the Trust or the Sponsor. In other cases, the
parties to such a lending transaction may ask the Trust and/or the Sponsor to be a party to an agreement in which the Trust and/or the Sponsor is asked to
provide certain assurances or non-objections to such a lending transaction.

The are several factors the Sponsor will consider in providing assurances and non-objections to the lending arrangements with regard to the Trust�s
shares. First, the Trust will only grant consent to allow for the Trust�s shares to be used in lending arrangements for shares purchased by the prospective
pledgor directly from the Trust, and that are �restricted securities� within the meaning of Rule 144 (�Rule 144�) under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (�Securities Act�) and consent will not be granted by the Trust for lending arrangements involving any shares that the pledgor purchases from
any person other than the Trust and for any shares of the Trust that are not �restricted securities� within the meaning of Rule 144. Second, in order for
the Trust to grant consent to the proposed lending arrangement, the pledgor and the secured party must both agree to remain in full compliance with all
obligations and responsibilities under the subscription agreement with the Trust, with regard to all organizational documents of the Trust, and with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations relating to these Trust obligations. Third, neither the pledgor nor the secured party may be an affiliate of the Trust,
or any affiliate of the Trust, and may not become an affiliate at any time during the term of the lending arrangement. And fourth, the Trust will only
consent to the lending arrangement if the secured party agrees that any sale of the collateral will only be made in transactions registered under the
Securities Act, or in transactions for which the secured party delivers an opinion of counsel to the Trust that such transactions are exempt from
registration under the Securities Act, and will only be made in transactions and to purchasers that are eligible to be holders of each Trust in accordance
with each Trust�s organizational documents and are otherwise in compliance with all applicable securities laws.
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The Trust and the Sponsor are under no obligation to enter into any such agreement, and may do so or not in their sole discretion. Neither the Trust, the
Sponsor nor any of their affiliates will receive any compensation from any party under or pursuant to such an agreement.

The Trust is a passive investment vehicle and the Sponsor will generally not actively manage the cryptocurrencies held by the Trust.

While the Sponsor reserves the right to engage in staking, lending and similar activities with Trust assets if the Sponsor determines that any such
activities are in the best interest of the Trust and its shareholders, the Sponsor will generally not actively manage the cryptocurrencies held by the Trust.
Instead, the Trust will hold investments that track the Index, regardless of the current or projected performance of the Index or of the actual
cryptocurrencies included in the Index. This is different from an actively managed fund, which would seek to outperform a benchmark index and means
that the Trust�s net asset value may be adversely affected by losses that, if the Trust had been actively managed, might have been possible to avoid.
Accordingly, the Sponsor will not sell cryptocurrencies at times when their price is high, or acquire cryptocurrencies at low prices in the expectation of
future price increases, or take any other action that may be available to cryptocurrency investors to attempt to reduce the risk of losses resulting from
cryptocurrency price decreases and conversely, maximize gains resulting from cryptocurrency prices increases. Any losses sustained by the Trust will
adversely affect an investment in the Trust.

The Trust is subject to additional risks due to its concentration of investments in a single asset class.

Unlike other funds that may invest in diversified assets, the Trust�s investment strategy is concentrated in a single asset class: broad based
cryptocurrencies. This concentration maximizes the degree of the Trust�s exposure to a variety of market risks associated with cryptocurrencies. By
concentrating its investment strategy solely in cryptocurrencies, any losses suffered as a result of a decrease in the value of cryptocurrencies, can be
expected to reduce the value of Shares in the Trust and will not be offset by other gains if the Trust were to invest in underlying assets that were
diversified.

The Trust may not have adequate sources of recovery if its cryptocurrencies are lost, stolen or destroyed.

If the Trust�s cryptocurrencies are lost, stolen or destroyed under circumstances rendering a party liable to the Trust, the responsible party may not have
the financial resources sufficient to satisfy the Trust�s claim.

The Trust and Sponsor must comply with applicable federal and state privacy and data security laws and may experience material negative effects to
its business and financial condition if it does not comply.

Along with the Trust�s and Sponsor�s confidential data and information in the normal course of the Trust�s activities, the Sponsor, on behalf of the
Trust, collects and retains certain types of data, some of which are subject to certain laws and regulations. For example, the data that collected from
Shareholders and potential investors includes personally identifiable information. The Trust and Sponsor must comply with applicable federal and state
laws and regulations governing the collection, retention, processing, storage, disclosure, access, use, security, and privacy of such information in
addition to the Trust�s information security and privacy policies and applicable industry standards. The legal, regulatory, and contractual environment
surrounding the foregoing continues to evolve, and there has been an increasing amount of focus on privacy and data security issues with the potential to
affect the Trust�s activities. These privacy and data security laws and regulations, as well as contractual requirements, could increase the Trust�s cost of
doing business, and failure to comply with these laws, regulations and contractual requirements could result in government enforcement actions (which
could include civil or criminal penalties), private litigation, and/or adverse publicity. In the event of a breach of personal information, the Trust and
Sponsor may be subject to governmental fines, individual and class action claims, remediation expenses, and/or harm to reputation. Further, if the Trust
or Sponsor fail to comply with applicable privacy and security laws, regulations, policies and standards, properly protect the integrity and
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security of facilities and systems and the data located within them, or defend against cybersecurity attacks, or if the Trust�s third-party service providers,
partners, or vendors fail to do any of the foregoing with respect to data and information assessed, used, stored, or collected on the Trust�s behalf, the
Trust�s activities, reputation, returns, and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

The Trust is subject to the risk of cybercrime and data privacy breaches.

The Trust and the Sponsor rely on information technologies and infrastructure to manage the Trust and Index, including digital storage of Trust assets,
marketing strategies and Shareholder information. Data maintained in digital form is subject to the risk of intrusion, tampering and theft. The incidence
of malicious technology-related events, such as cyberattacks, computer hacking, computer viruses, worms or other destructive or disruptive software,
denial of service attacks or other malicious activities is on the rise worldwide. Power outages, equipment failure, natural disasters (including extreme
weather), terrorist activities or human error may also affect our systems and result in disruption of our services or loss or improper disclosure of personal
data, business information or other confidential information.

Likewise, data privacy breaches, as well as improper use of social media, by employees and others may pose a risk that sensitive data, such as
personally identifiable information, strategic plans and trade secrets, could be exposed to third parties or to the general public. The Trust and Sponsor
also utilize third parties, including third-party �cloud� computing services, to store, transfer or process data, and system failures or network disruptions
or breaches in the systems of such third parties could adversely affect its reputation or business. Any such breaches or breakdowns could expose the
Trust to legal liability, be expensive to remedy, result in a loss of Shareholders and damage the Trust�s reputation. Efforts to develop, implement and
maintain security measures are costly, may not be successful in preventing these events from occurring and require ongoing monitoring and updating as
technologies change and efforts to overcome security measures become more sophisticated.

The Trust invests in cryptocurrencies that are not expected to be considered to be securities under the U.S. securities laws and therefore do not have
the regulatory protections afforded to securities under the U.S. securities laws.

The Trust invests in cryptocurrencies that are not expected to be considered to be securities under the U.S. securities laws. Accordingly, Shareholders in
the Trust do not have the regulatory protections afforded under the U.S. securities laws regarding the Trust�s assets.

Cryptocurrencies held by the Trust will not have FDIC or SIPC protections.

The Trust is not a banking institution or otherwise a member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (�FDIC�) or the Securities Investor
Protection Corporation (�SIPC�). Accordingly, deposits or assets held by the Trust are not subject to the protections enjoyed by depositors with FDIC
or SIPC member institutions. The undivided interest in the Trust�s cryptocurrencies and other assets represented by Shares in the Trust are not insured.

The Trust is not subject to Sarbanes-Oxley regulations and lacks the financial controls and safeguards required of public companies.

The Trust does not have the internal infrastructure necessary, and is not required, to complete an attestation about its financial controls similar to those
required under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. There can be no assurance that there are no significant deficiencies or material
weaknesses in the quality of the Trust�s financial controls. The Trust expects to incur additional expenses and diversion of management�s time if and
when it becomes necessary to perform the system and process evaluation, testing and remediation required in order to comply with the management
certification and auditor attestation requirements.
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The Trust Agreement includes provisions that limit Shareholders�� voting rights and restrict Shareholders�� right to bring a derivative action.

Under the Trust Agreement, Shareholders have limited voting rights and the Trust will not have regular Shareholder meetings. Shareholders take no part
in the management or control of the Trust. Accordingly, Shareholders do not have the right to authorize actions, appoint service providers or take other
actions as may be taken by Shareholders of other trusts or companies where shares carry such rights. The Shareholders� limited voting rights give
almost all control under the Trust Agreement to the Sponsor and the Trustee. The Sponsor may take actions in the operation of the Trust that may be
adverse to the interests of Shareholders and may adversely affect the value of the Shares.

Moreover, pursuant to the terms of the Trust Agreement, Shareholders� statutory right under Delaware law to bring a derivative action (i.e., to initiate a
lawsuit in the name of the Trust in order to assert a claim belonging to the Trust against a fiduciary of the Trust or against a third-party when the Trust�s
management has refused to do so) is restricted. Under Delaware law, a beneficial owner of a Delaware statutory trust may bring a derivative action if the
beneficial owner is a beneficial owner at the time the action is brought and either (i) was a beneficial owner at the time of the transaction at issue or
(ii) acquired the status of beneficial owner by operation of law or the Trust�s governing instrument from a person who was a beneficial owner at the
time of the transaction at issue. Additionally, Section 3816(e) of the DSTA specifically provides that a �beneficial owner�s right to bring a derivative
action may be subject to such additional standards and restrictions, if any, as are set forth in the governing instrument of the statutory trust, including,
without limitation, the requirement that beneficial owners owning a specified beneficial interest in the statutory trust join in the bringing of the
derivative action.� In addition to the requirements of applicable law and in accordance with Section 3816(e) of the DSTA, the Trust Agreement provides
that no Shareholder will have the right, power or authority to bring or maintain a derivative action, suit or other proceeding on behalf of the Trust unless
two or more Shareholders who (i) are not affiliates of one another and (ii) collectively hold at least 10.0% of the outstanding Shares join in the bringing
or maintaining of such action, suit or other proceeding.

This provision applies to any derivative actions brought in the name of the Trust other than claims under the federal securities laws and the rules and
regulations thereunder.

Due to this additional requirement, a Shareholder attempting to bring or maintain a derivative action in the name of the Trust will be required to locate
other Shareholders with which it is not affiliated and that have sufficient Shares to meet the 10.0% threshold based on the number of Shares outstanding
on the date the claim is brought and thereafter throughout the duration of the action, suit or proceeding. This may be difficult and may result in increased
costs to a Shareholder attempting to seek redress in the name of the Trust in court. Moreover, if Shareholders bringing a derivative action, suit or
proceeding pursuant to this provision of the Trust Agreement do not hold 10.0% of the outstanding Shares on the date such an action, suit or proceeding
is brought, or such Shareholders are unable to maintain Share ownership meeting the 10.0% threshold throughout the duration of the action, suit or
proceeding, such Shareholders� derivative action may be subject to dismissal. As a result, the Trust Agreement limits the likelihood that a Shareholder
will be able to successfully assert a derivative action in the name of the Trust, even if such Shareholder otherwise believes that he or she has a valid
derivative action, suit or other proceeding to bring on behalf of the Trust.

If the Trust were to end its ability to take on new subscribers, it is possible that the number of Portfolio Crypto Assets represented by each share of
the Trust would decrease as the Trust��s Portfolio Crypto Assets are used to pay the Trust��s expenses.

Each Share of the Trust represents an amount of Portfolio Crypto Assets. The Trust sells Portfolio Crypto Assets to pay for the Trusts� expenses. If the
Trust no longer was able to replenish the amount of Portfolio Crypto Assets, the number of Portfolio Crypto Assets represented by each share of the
Trust would decline, as Portfolio Crypto Assets were sold in order to pay the Trust�s expenses. This could occur because the Trust had decided to no
longer take on new subscribers, so that no new crypto assets were being added to the Trust�s holdings. If the number of Portfolio Crypto Assets
represented by each share of the Trusts declined, that would have a negative effect on the Trust�s holdings.
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Risks Related to Potential Conflicts of Interest

Potential conflicts of interest may arise among the Sponsor or its affiliates and the Trust. The Sponsor and its affiliates have no fiduciary duties to
the Trust and its Shareholders other than as provided in the Trust Agreement, which may permit them to favor their own interests to the detriment of
the Trust and its Shareholders.

The Sponsor will manage the affairs of the Trust. Conflicts of interest may arise among the Sponsor and its affiliates, including the Index Provider and
the Authorized Participants, on the one hand, and the Trust and its Shareholders, on the other hand. As a result of these conflicts, the Sponsor may favor
its own interests and the interests of its affiliates over the Trust and its Shareholders. These potential conflicts include, among others, the following:

� The Sponsor has no fiduciary duties to, and is allowed to take into account the interests of parties other than, the Trust and its Shareholders
in resolving conflicts of interest, provided the Sponsor does not act in bad faith;

� The Trust has agreed to indemnify the Sponsor and its affiliates pursuant to the Trust Agreement;

� The Sponsor is responsible for allocating its own limited resources among different clients and potential future business ventures, to each
of which it owes fiduciary duties;

� The Sponsor and its staff also service affiliates of the Sponsor, including several other digital asset investment vehicles, and their
respective clients and cannot devote all of its, or their, respective time or resources to the management of the affairs of the Trust;

� The Sponsor, its affiliates and their officers and employees are not prohibited from engaging in other businesses or activities, including
those that might be in direct competition with the Trust; and

� The Sponsor decides whether to retain separate counsel, accountants or others to perform services for the Trust.

By purchasing the Shares, Shareholders agree and consent to the provisions set forth in the Trust Agreement. See �Item 1. Business�Description of the
Trust Agreement.�

For a further discussion of the conflicts of interest among the Sponsor and the Trust, see �Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and
Director Independence.�

Shareholders cannot be assured of the Sponsor��s continued services, the discontinuance of which may be detrimental to the Trust.

Shareholders cannot be assured that the Sponsor will be willing or able to continue to serve as sponsor to the Trust for any length of time. If the Sponsor
discontinues its activities on behalf of the Trust and a substitute sponsor is not appointed, the Trust will terminate and liquidate its Portfolio Crypto
Assets.

Appointment of a substitute sponsor will not guarantee the Trust�s continued operation, successful or otherwise. Because a substitute sponsor may have
no experience managing a digital asset financial vehicle, a substitute sponsor may not have the experience, knowledge or expertise required to ensure
that the Trust will operate successfully or continue to operate at all. Therefore, the appointment of a substitute sponsor may not necessarily be beneficial
to the Trust and the Trust may terminate. See �Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.�

Although the Custodian is a fiduciary with respect to the Trust��s assets, it could resign or be removed by the Sponsor, which would trigger early
termination of the Trust.

The Custodian is a fiduciary under § 100 of the New York Banking Law and a qualified custodian for purposes of Rule 206(4)-2(d)(6) under the
Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, and is licensed to custody the
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Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets in trust on the Trust�s behalf. However, during the initial term, the Custodian may terminate the Custodian Agreement
for Cause (as defined in �Description of the Custodian Agreement�Termination�) at any time, and after the initial term, the Custodian can terminate the
Agreement for any reason upon the notice period of thirty days provided under the Custodian Agreement. If the Custodian resigns or is removed and no
replacement custodian acceptable to the Sponsor is engaged, the Trust will dissolve in accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement.

Shareholders may be adversely affected by the lack of independent advisers representing investors in the Trust.

The Sponsor has consulted with counsel, accountants and other advisers regarding the formation and operation of the Trust. No counsel was appointed
to represent investors in connection with the formation of the Trust or the establishment of the terms of the Trust Agreement and the Shares. Moreover,
no counsel has been appointed to represent Shareholders in connection with an investment in the Shares. Accordingly, an investor should consult his, her
or its own legal, tax and financial advisers regarding the desirability of an investment in the Shares. Lack of such consultation may lead to an
undesirable investment decision with respect to investment in the Shares.

Potential conflicts of interest may arise among the Sponsor or its affiliates, including the Index Provider and the Committee, and the Trust.

The composition of the Committee is selected by the Index Provider, which is under the control of the parent of the Sponsor. The Sponsor and its
affiliates, including the Committee and the Index Provider, have no fiduciary duties to the Trust and its Shareholders other than as provided in the Trust
Agreement, which may permit them to modify or manage the Index to favor their own interests to the detriment of the Trust and its Shareholders.

The Sponsor�s parent controls the Index Provider, which selects the composition of the Committee. Conflicts of interest may arise among the Sponsor
and its affiliates, including the Index Provider and the Committee, on the one hand, and the Trust and its Shareholders, on the other hand. As a result of
these conflicts, the Index Provider and the Committee may modify or manage the Index to favor their own interests and the interests of their affiliates
over the Trust and its Shareholders and/or in a manner adverse to the Trust and its Shareholders.

Risks Related to Trading on the OTCQX

The Shares may trade on the OTCQX at a price that is at, above or below the NAV per Share as a result of the non-current trading hours between
OTCQX and markets for the Portfolio Crypto Assets.

The price of the NAV per Share fluctuates with changes in the market value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets, and the Sponsor expects the trading price of
the Shares to fluctuate in accordance with changes in market supply and demand. However, the Shares traded on the OTCQX may trade at, above or
below NAV per Share for a variety of reasons. For example, because OTCQX will be open for trading in the Shares for a limited period each day, but
the Portfolio Crypto Assets may trade in 24-hour marketplaces. During periods when OTCQX is closed but markets for the Portfolio Crypto Assets are
open, significant changes in the price of Portfolio Crypto Assets on the markets trade in Portfolio Crypto Assets could result in a difference in
performance between the value of Portfolio Crypto Assets and the most recent NAV per Share or closing trading price. Even during periods when
OTCQX is open, large marketplaces for the Portfolio Crypto Assets (or a substantial number of smaller marketplaces) may be lightly traded or are
closed for any number of reasons, which could increase trading spreads and widen any premium or discount on the Shares. If the price of Portfolio
Crypto Assets drops significantly during hours OTCQX is closed, Shareholders may not be able to sell their Shares until after the �gap� down has been
fully realized, resulting in an inability to mitigate losses in a rapidly negative market. These premiums or discounts may have an adverse effect on an
investment in the Shares if a Shareholder sells or acquires its Shares during a period of discount or premium, respectively.
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Due to the fact that the Shares may trade on the OTCQX at a price that is at, above or below NAV per Share, investors who purchase Shares on the
secondary market may pay more than or less than the NAV per Share paid by Shareholders who invest directly in the Trust.

As described above, the Shares available for purchase on the OTCQX may trade at, above or below NAV per Share. As a result, investors who purchase
Shares on OTCQX may pay more or less for a Share than Shareholders who purchase Shares directly from the Trust at NAV per Share. The historical
difference between the prices quoted on the OTCQX and NAV per Share has ranged from a difference of 11% to a difference of 649%. To date, the
Shares traded on OTCQX have always traded at a premium over NAV per Share. As a result, investors have paid a premium for the Shares purchased on
OTCQX. It is possible that such deviations between the price quoted on the OTCQX and the NAV per Share may result in a decline in demand for
Shares of the Trust, which could then result in a decline in the price of the Shares.

If we fail to meet the continued listing standards of the OTCQX, our Shares may no longer be permitted to trade, which may adversely affect the
market price and liquidity of the Shares.

The Shares are currently quoted for trading on the OTCQX. In order to continue trading on the OTCQX, we must maintain a minimum per share bid
price, a minimum amount of market capitalization, minimum net tangible assets, and a minimum public float, among other requirements. If we are
unable to comply with the OTCQX rules, this could result in an inability of our Shares to trade on this platform, resulting in adverse consequences for
our shareholders, including limited availability of market quotations for our Shares and reduced liquidity for the trading of the Shares.

There is no guarantee that an active trading market for the Shares will continue to develop.

The Shares are qualified for public trading on OTCQX and an active trading market for the Shares has developed. However, there can be no assurance
that such trading market will be maintained or continue to develop. In addition, OTCQX can halt the trading of the Shares for a variety of reasons. To
the extent that OTCQX halts trading in the Shares, whether on a temporary or permanent basis, investors may not be able to buy or sell Shares, which
could adversely affect the value of the Shares. If an active trading market for the Shares does not continue to exist, the market prices and liquidity of the
Shares may be adversely affected.

It is possible that the SEC or a court may determine that the Trust��s redemption program, which ended prior to the quotation of the Shares on
OTCQX, violated Regulation M.

Regulation M prohibits the issuer of a security from simultaneously engaging in both the sale and purchase of the issuer�s securities. Prior to the
approval by OTCQX for the quotation of the Shares, the Trust permitted redemptions of the Shares. The Trust ended its redemption program on
October 7, 2020 and OTCQX approved the Shares for quotation on December 9, 2020. The Trust has taken the position that its ceasing the redemption
program approximately two months prior to the date on which the Shares were approved for quotation on OTCQX is consistent with the guidance set
out by the SEC in the Spotify Technology S.A. No-Action Letter (March 23, 2018), as well as consistent with general market practice by other funds
that undertake redemption programs prior to having shares listed or approved for quotation. It is possible, however, that the SEC or the courts may
disagree with the Trust�s position and may deem the Trust to have violated Regulation M.

Risks Related to the Market and Investment

An investment in the Trust involves a high degree of risk, including the risk that the entire amount invested may be lost.

An investment in the Trust involves a high degree of risk, including the risk that the entire amount invested may be lost. No guarantee or representation
is made that the Trust�s investment program will be successful. The
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Sponsor will be investing, in accordance with the Index and in line with the investment policies of the Trust, substantially all of the Trust�s assets in
cryptocurrencies, some of which may be particularly sensitive to economic, market, industry and other variable conditions. The cryptocurrency market
in which the Trust expects to invest has in recent years experienced and continues to be susceptible to significant volatility and losses. No assurance can
be given as to when or whether adverse events might occur that could cause immediate and significant losses to the Trust.

The success of the Trust��s activities will be affected by general economic and market conditions, which would have a negative effect on the Trust��s
activities.

The success of the Trust�s activities will be affected by general economic and market conditions, such as interest rates, availability of credit, credit
defaults, inflation rates, economic uncertainty, changes in laws (including laws relating to taxation of the Trust�s investments), trade barriers, currency
exchange controls, and national and international political circumstances (including wars, terrorist acts or security operations). These factors may affect,
among other things, the level and volatility of cryptocurrency prices and the availability of certain cryptocurrencies and investments. Volatility or
illiquidity could impair the Trust�s profitability or result in losses. The Trust�s trading positions can be materially adversely affected by the level of
volatility in the financial markets�the larger the positions, the greater the potential for loss.

In recent years global markets have experienced unprecedented volatility and illiquidity. The effects thereof may continue and there can be no assurance
that the Trust will not be materially adversely affected. Due to these conditions, extensive governmental interventions have in certain cases been
implemented on an �emergency� basis, suddenly and substantially eliminating market participants� ability to continue to implement certain strategies or
manage the risk of their outstanding positions. In addition�as one would expect given the complexities of the financial markets and the limited time
frame within which governments have felt compelled to take action�these interventions have typically been unclear in scope and application, resulting
in confusion and uncertainty. It is impossible to predict what additional interim or permanent governmental restrictions may be imposed on the markets
and/or the effect of such restrictions on the Sponsor�s strategies. Further, it is impossible to predict how the reduction and/or cessation of such
governmental restrictions, and other governmental market interventions such as quantitative easing, may affect global markets.

Demand for Trust��s Shares is related to general economic conditions and if conditions are poor, demand may decline.

A substantial portion of the Trust�s subscriptions is derived from discretionary spending by individuals, which typically falls during times of economic
instability. Declines in economic conditions in the U.S. or in other countries may adversely impact the Trust�s value.

If the Trust invests in equity securities, the success of the Trust may depend on the value of such securities.

While the Trust does not currently intend to invest in assets or cryptocurrencies that are considered to be �securities� under U.S. securities laws, in the
rare event that it does invest in securities, the success of the Trust will be dependent upon the value of these securities. Such value generally will vary
with the performance of the issuer and movements in the securities markets. As a result, the Trust may suffer losses if it invests in securities of issuers
whose performance diverges from the Sponsor�s expectations or if equity markets generally move in a downward direction.

The Trust intends to make investments that are concentrated in cryptocurrencies and does not currently intend to diversify its investments beyond
cryptocurrencies.

The Trust intends to make investments that are concentrated in cryptocurrencies. The Sponsor does not currently intend to engage in hedging
transactions, engaging in short selling, or investing in non-publicly traded securities.
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The Trust may experience lower investment returns than if it had engaged in these activities. In the event that the Sponsor determines to engage in these
activities, the Trust may face additional risks, not limited to liquidity risk and counterparty risk, which could adversely affect the Trust�s performance.

The Trust will select investments for the Trust in large part on the basis of information and data provided in the Index, which relies on financial
reporting by third parties and such reporting may be subject to financial fraud.

The Trust will select investments for the Trust in large part on the basis of information and data provided in the Index. The Index is dependent upon the
integrity of public cryptocurrency exchanges and the reporting processes in general of such exchanges. The Sponsor will not confirm the completeness,
genuineness or accuracy of such information and data. Instances of fraud and other deceptive practices committed by public cryptocurrency exchanges
may negatively affect the composition of the Index and the valuation of the Trust�s investments. The Sponsor will not be conducting any additional due
diligence with respect to the Index.

The Trust��s investment strategy is focused on the long-term performance of the cryptocurrencies in which the Trust invests.

While there is no average period of time in which the Trust expects to hold any of its positions, the investment strategy is focused on the long-term
performance of the cryptocurrencies in which the Trust invests. Shareholders should expect that the Trust may hold its positions in cryptocurrencies for
a period of years, and for differing time periods than one may potentially expect from other long-only funds.

There is no assurance that all of the Trust��s transactions will be executed with optimal quality and due to the degree of trading, total commission
charges and other transaction costs may be expected to be high.

Generally, the Trust�s portfolio are rebalanced and revised monthly in the sole discretion of the Sponsor by tracking changes to the Index, and such
changes may be frequent, resulting in significant transaction costs to the Trust. Should any material change be made to the Index Methodology that
results in a material change to the composition of the Index and, as part of the Trust�s monthly rebalancing process, results in a material change to the
composition of the Trust the Trust will notify Shareholders of such material change by filing a Form 8-K with the SEC. The Trust defines material
change as any change of 10% or more to the composition of the Index. The successful application of the Trust�s investment strategy will therefore
depend, in part, upon the quality of execution of transactions. Although the Trust will seek to utilize professional trade execution techniques, work with
trading counterparties and use multiple trading venues that will afford superior execution capability to the Trust, there is no assurance that all of the
Trust�s transactions will be executed with optimal quality. Furthermore, due to the degree of trading, total commission charges and other transaction
costs may be expected to be high. As stated above, many of the cryptocurrency exchanges are in their nascent stages and subject to light regulatory
oversight. There is no guarantee that the Sponsor will be able to ascertain the accurate price, cost, speed, likelihood of execution and settlement.
Cryptocurrency exchanges may also provide a limited selection of market orders, furthering limiting the Sponsor�s ability to obtain the best possible
execution. Furthermore, due to the degree of trading, total commission charges and other transaction costs may be expected to be high. The level of
transaction charges, as an expense of the Trust, may therefore be expected to be a factor in determining future profitability of the Trust.

Intellectual property rights claims may adversely affect the Trust and an investment in the Shares.

The Sponsor is not aware of any intellectual property rights claims that may prevent the Trust from operating and holding any digital assets. However,
third parties may assert intellectual property rights claims relating to the operation of the Trust and the mechanics instituted for the investment in,
holding of and transfer of digital assets. Regardless of the merit of an intellectual property or other legal action, any legal expenses to defend, or
payments to settle, such claims would be extraordinary expenses that would be borne by the Trust in most cases through the sale or transfer of its digital
assets. Additionally, a meritorious intellectual property rights claim could prevent the Trust from operating and force the Sponsor to terminate the Trust
and liquidate its digital assets. As a result, an intellectual property rights claim against the Trust could adversely affect an investment in the Shares.
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Risks Related to Regulatory and Compliance

A determination that any of the Portfolio Crypto Assets are a ��security�� may adversely affect the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets and the value
of the Shares, and result in potentially extraordinary, nonrecurring expenses to, or termination of, the Trust.

The SEC has stated that certain digital assets may be considered �securities� under the federal securities laws. If any of the Portfolio Crypto Assets are
determined to be a �security� under federal or state securities laws by the SEC or any other agency, or in a proceeding in a court of law or otherwise, it
may have material adverse consequences for the Portfolio Crypto Assets, the Sponsor, the Trust, and the Shares. It may, for example, become more
difficult for the Portfolio Crypto Assets to be traded, cleared and custodied as compared to other digital assets that are not considered to be securities,
which could in turn negatively affect the liquidity and general acceptance of the Portfolio Crypto Assets and cause users to migrate to other digital
assets. Further, if other digital assets are determined to be �securities� under federal or state securities laws by the SEC or any other agency, or in a
proceeding in a court of law or otherwise, it may have material adverse consequences for the Portfolio Crypto Assets due to negative publicity or a
decline in the general acceptance of digital assets. As such, any determination that the Portfolio Crypto Assets or any other digital asset is a security
under federal or state securities laws may adversely affect the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets and, as a result, the value of the Shares.

While the Committee engages in a limited risk-based assessment of digital assets when determining which digital assets to include in the Index, such
assessment does not preclude legal or regulatory action based on the presence of a security. Such risk-based assessment include an evaluation of: 1)
public information to determine if the SEC, any other US regulatory agency or any court has made any statements regarding the digital asset, 2) public
information regarding how the digital asset markets view the digital asset, including whether the digital asset has been listed on entities such as
Coinbase or other US exchanges that would have had access to a reasonable amount of information when making their determinations to list the digital
asset, 3) public information to undertake reasonable diligence into the structure and technology of the digital asset, including reviewing the digital
asset�s whitepaper if available and speaking with the sponsor of the digital asset, and 4) any other information gained from reputable sources that may
impact the Committee�s view of digital asset. The Committee does not engage in legal analysis of any digital assets or perform any analysis of digital
assets based upon any legal standards.

Since the Trust�s principal investment objective is to invest in a portfolio of cryptocurrencies that tracks the Index as closely as possible, the Trust relies
on the Index Methodology when the Trust determines which digital assets it should invest in. The Trust, in the Sponsor�s sole discretion, may choose to
immediately liquidate its position in any Portfolio Crypto Asset that it determines may be at increased risk of being in violation of U.S. federal securities
laws or based on consideration of new public information available regarding the asset. The Sponsor makes its determination using the same process as
the Committee, as set forth in �Item 1. Business�Eligibility of Cryptocurrencies.� Assets will lose eligibility and be removed from the Index at the next
monthly reconstitution event if they violate any of the listed Eligibility Requirements for 30-consecutive days. Under extraordinary circumstances,
assets may lose eligibility and be removed on a same-day basis by a unanimous vote of the quorum of members of the Bitwise Crypto Index Committee.
Such emergency removals will take place at 4:00 p.m. ET following the conclusion of the meeting and public posting of that notice on the Sponsor�s
website.

For example, on December 22, 2020, the SEC instituted proceedings to enjoin Ripple Labs Inc., the creator of XRP, on the basis that the offer and sale
of XRP was an unregistered, ongoing offering of securities in violation of Sections5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act. On December 23, 2020, the Trust
made a decision to liquidate its position in XRP based on consideration of new public information from the SEC�s complaint. Prior to the sale of the
asset on December 23, 2020, XRP was approximately 3.8% of the Trust. The Trust sold its XRP holdings for gross proceeds of $8,241,977.07 which
represented a realized loss of $1,468,447.06. This realized loss is
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reflected as a component of the �Net realized loss from digital assets� in the Statement of Operations table in the Financial Statements. The Trust
immediately reinvested the proceeds from the liquidated position in other Portfolio Crypto Assets, primarily Bitcoin and Ethereum.

In addition, to the extent that any Portfolio Crypto Assets are determined to be a security, the Trust, and the Sponsor may also be subject to additional
regulatory requirements, including under the Investment Company Act, and the Sponsor may be required to register as an investment adviser under the
Investment Advisers Act. See �Overview of Government Regulation� for further information. If the Sponsor determines not to comply with such
additional regulatory and registration requirements, the Sponsor will terminate the Trust. Any such termination could result in the liquidation of the
Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets at a time that is disadvantageous to Shareholders.

There are uncertainties related to the regulatory regimes governing blockchain technologies, cryptocurrencies, digital assets, and new regulations,
interpretations or policies may materially adversely affect the value of Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Shares.

Regulation of assets like the Portfolio Crypto Assets and related technologies and actors (such as blockchains and cryptocurrency exchanges) involves
uncertainty as to how existing law will apply; is likely to rapidly evolve as government agencies take greater interest and develop new approaches to
regulation of these assets and technologies; and varies significantly among international, federal, state and local jurisdictions.

There is significant uncertainty regarding the regulatory classification of assets like the Portfolio Crypto Assets. Several state and federal regulatory
agencies have asserted jurisdiction over virtual currencies such as the Portfolio Crypto Assets which may disrupt cryptocurrency trading, and have a
negative impact on their value.

The technologies underlying the Portfolio Crypto Assets are novel technologies and relatively untested, and the application of U.S. federal and state
securities laws to aspects of these technologies and the Portfolio Crypto Assets is unclear in certain respects. Because of the novelty of the Portfolio
Crypto Assets and their underlying blockchain technologies, it is possible that securities regulators may interpret laws in a manner that adversely affects
the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Shares. Various legislative and executive bodies in the United States and in other countries may, in the
future, adopt laws, regulations, or guidance, or take other actions that could severely or materially impact the permissibility of the operation of the
blockchain networks underlying the Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Trust. It is difficult to predict how or whether regulatory agencies may apply
existing or new regulation with respect to this technology and its applications. In addition, self-regulatory bodies may be established that set guidelines
regarding cryptocurrencies, tokens like the Portfolio Crypto Assets, which could have similar effects to new policies adopted by government bodies.

Any future regulatory actions applicable to the Portfolio Crypto Assets, the blockchain networks underlying them, the Shares, and our related activities
could severely impact us, and the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Shares. It could also result in negative publicity. Regulatory change could
even potentially result in certain operations of our operations being viewed as impermissible, which could negatively affect the value of the Portfolio
Crypto Assets and the Shares. If the Sponsor determines not to comply with such additional regulatory and registration requirements, the Sponsor may
terminate the Trust, and any such termination could result in the liquidation of the Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets at a time that is disadvantageous to
Shareholders.

Cryptocurrency networks, blockchain technologies, and coin and token offerings also face an uncertain regulatory landscape in many foreign
jurisdictions, including (among others) the European Union, China and Russia. Various foreign jurisdictions may, in the future, adopt laws, regulations
or directives that affect the Portfolio Crypto Assets and the value of the Shares. The effect of any future regulatory change is impossible to predict, but
any change could be substantial and materially adverse to the adoption and value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Shares.
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New or changing laws and regulations or interpretations of existing laws and regulations, in the United States and other jurisdictions, may materially
and adversely impact the Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Shares, including with respect to their value, their liquidity, the ability to access marketplaces
or exchanges on which to trade the Portfolio Crypto Assets, and the structure, rights and transferability of Portfolio Crypto Assets.

The Trust is not registered as a money transmitter or money services business, and our operations may be adversely affected if it is required to do so.

The Sponsor and the Trust believe that the Trust is not a money transmitter or money services business. If it is deemed to be money transmitter and/or
money services business, the Trust would be subject to significant additional regulation and costs. This could lead to significant changes with respect to
operations of the Trust, and suspensions of operations. It could also lead to a decrease in the value of the Shares.

Shareholders in the Trust do not have the protections associated with ownership of interests in an investment company registered under the
Investment Company Act, even while our company is subject to the risk of possibly becoming an investment company under the Investment
Company Act.

The Investment Company Act is designed to protect investors by preventing insiders from managing investment companies to their benefit and to the
detriment of public investors, such as: the issuance of securities having inequitable or discriminatory provisions; the management of investment
companies by irresponsible persons; the use of unsound or misleading methods of computing earnings and asset value; changes in the character of
investment companies without the consent of investors; and excessive leveraging. To accomplish these ends, the Investment Company Act requires the
safekeeping and proper valuation of fund assets, restricts greatly transactions with affiliates, limits leveraging, and imposes governance requirements as
a check on fund management. The Trust is not subject to regulation under the Investment Company Act and therefore is not registered as an investment
company under the Investment Company Act. Consequently, Shareholders in the Trust do not have the regulatory protections afforded to investors in
registered investment companies.

To the extent that cryptocurrencies are deemed to fall within the definition of a security for U.S. securities laws purposes, the Sponsor may be required
to register and comply with additional regulation under the Investment Company Act. If the Sponsor determines in its sole discretion not to comply with
such additional regulatory and registration requirements, it may terminate the Trust. Any such termination could result in the liquidation of the Trust�s
cryptocurrency portfolio at a time that is disadvantageous to Shareholders in the Trust.

Registration under the Investment Company Act would require the Trust to comply with a variety of substantive requirements that impose, among other
things:

� limitations on capital structure;

� restrictions on specified investments;

� restrictions on leverage or senior securities;

� restrictions on unsecured borrowings;

� prohibitions on transactions with affiliates; and

� compliance with reporting, record keeping, voting, proxy disclosure and other rules and regulations that would significantly increase the
Trust�s operating expenses.

If the Trust was required to register as an investment company but failed to do so, the Trust could be prohibited from engaging in its business, and
criminal and civil actions could be brought against the Trust, Sponsor or any of their affiliates. Registration with the SEC as an investment company
would be costly, would subject the Trust to a host of complex regulations and would divert attention from the conduct of the Trust�s business, which
could materially and adversely affect the Trust.
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In addition, the Trust will not be subject to the various statutory and SEC regulatory requirements applicable to registered investment companies. For
example, the Trust is not required to maintain custody of its securities or place its securities in the custody of a bank or a member of a U.S. securities
exchange in the manner required of registered investment companies under rules promulgated by the SEC. The Trust generally will maintain such
accounts at brokerage or custodial firms that do not separately segregate such assets as would be required in the case of registered investment
companies. Under the provisions of the U.S. Securities Investor Protection Act, the bankruptcy of any such brokerage firms might have a greater
adverse effect on the Trust than registered investment companies. It is possible in the future that the regulatory environment for hedge funds and their
Sponsors could change. This could result in new laws or regulations that could, for example, impose restrictions on the operation of the Trust and its
affiliates; impose disclosure or other obligations on those entities; or restrict the offering, sale or transfer of Shares. Accordingly, any such laws or
regulations could adversely affect the investment performance of the Trust or its access to additional capital, create additional costs and expenses for the
Trust or otherwise have an adverse impact on the Trust.

The Shares are not insured by any governmental or private agency and the Trust is not regulated or subject to examination in the same manner as
commercial banks and thrift institutions.

The Shares offered hereby are not insured by any governmental or private agency, and they are not guaranteed by any public or private entity other than
the Trust. Likewise, the Trust is not regulated or subject to examination in the same manner as commercial banks and thrift institutions.

The Trust is not a commercial bank or savings/thrift institution. The Trust is dependent upon proceeds from the acquisition and management of the
Trust�s portfolio to make distributions to the Trust�s Shareholders and to conduct their ongoing operations. The Trust�s revenues from operations,
including the acquisition, servicing and management of its portfolio and the Trust�s working capital represent the sources of funds for distributions to
the Trust�s Shareholders.

The Sponsor may be required to provide certain information in order to comply with anti-money laundering requirements and public disclosure
obligations.

In response to increased regulatory concerns by U.S. and international authorities with respect to the sources of funds used in investments activities, the
Sponsor may request Shareholders to provide additional documentation verifying, among other things, such Shareholders� identity and source of funds
used to purchase Shares. The Sponsor may decline to accept a subscription if this information is not provided or on the basis of such information
provided. Requests for documentation and additional information may be made at any time during which a Shareholder holds Shares in the Trust. The
Sponsor may be required to provide this information, or report the failure to comply with requests for such information, to appropriate governmental
authorities, in certain circumstances without notifying Shareholders that the information has been provided. Each of the Sponsor and the Trust will take
steps that it determines are necessary to comply with applicable law, regulations, orders, directives or special measures, which may include prohibiting a
Shareholder from making further contributions of capital to the Trust, depositing distributions to which a Shareholder would otherwise be entitled in an
escrow account or causing the redemption of all or any portion of a Shareholder�s Shares.

Further, the Trust may be required to disclose confidential information relating to the Trust, the Trust�s investments, the Trust�s financial results and the
Trust�s Shareholders to third parties that may request such information if and to the extent required by federal, state or local law or regulation or the
laws or regulations of any other jurisdiction applicable to the Trust or any of the Trust�s Shareholders, including any Shareholders that are public
agencies or governmental bodies. There can be no assurance that such information will not be disclosed either publicly or to regulators, or otherwise. In
addition, in order to comply with regulations and policies to which the Trust, the Sponsor or service providers (including financial institutions) are or
may become subject, or to satisfy regulatory or other requirements in connection with transactions, the Trust or the Sponsor may be required to disclose
information about Shareholders, including their identities. Such disclosure
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obligations may adversely affect certain Shareholders, particularly Shareholders who are not otherwise subject to public disclosure of information
relating to the private holdings of funds in which they invest.

If regulatory changes or interpretations of the Trust��s or the Sponsor��s activities require the regulation of the Trust or the Sponsor as a money
service business under the regulations promulgated by FinCEN under the authority of the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act or as a money transmitter or
digital asset business under state regimes for the licensing of such businesses, the Trust or the Sponsor may be required to register and comply with
such regulations, which could result in extraordinary, recurring and/or nonrecurring expenses to the Trust or Sponsor, thereby reducing the
liquidity of the Shares.

To the extent that the activities of the Trust cause it to be deemed a �money transmitter� under the regulations promulgated by the Financial Crimes
Enforcement Network (�FinCEN�) under the authority of the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act, the Trust may be required to comply with FinCEN regulations,
including those that would mandate the Trust to implement anti-money laundering programs, make certain reports to FinCEN and maintain certain
records. Such additional regulatory obligations may cause the Trust to incur extraordinary expenses, possibly affecting an investment in the Shares in a
material and adverse manner. Additionally, certain states require virtual currency businesses to register on the state level as money transmitters.
Similarly, the activities of the Trust or the Sponsor may require it to be licensed as a money transmitter or as a digital asset business, such as under
NYDFS� BitLicense scheme.

Such additional regulatory obligations may cause the Trust or the Sponsor to incur extraordinary expenses. If the Trust or the Sponsor decide to seek the
required licenses, there is no guarantee that they will timely receive them. The Sponsor may decide to terminate the Trust in response to the changed
regulatory circumstances, and possibly at a time that is disadvantageous to the Shareholders. Additionally, to the extent the Trust or the Sponsor is found
to have operated without appropriate state or federal licenses, it may be subject to investigation, administrative or court proceedings, and civil or
criminal monetary fines and penalties, all of which would harm the reputation of the Trust or the Sponsor, decrease the liquidity, and have a material
adverse effect on the price of, the Shares.

We may be subject to a variety of foreign laws and regulations that involve matters central to our business.

We may also subject to a variety of foreign laws and regulations that involve matters central to our business. These could include, for example,
regulations related to privacy, blockchain technology, data protection, and intellectual property, among others. In certain cases, foreign laws may be
more restrictive than those in the United States. Although we believe we are operating in compliance with the laws of jurisdictions in which we operate,
foreign laws and regulations are constantly evolving and can be subject to significant change. In addition, the application and interpretation of these
laws and regulations are often uncertain, particularly in the new and rapidly evolving industry in which we operate. As a result, cryptocurrency
networks, blockchain technologies, and coin and token offerings such as those we are involved in face an uncertain regulatory landscape in many
foreign jurisdictions, including but not limited to the European Union, China and Russia. Other foreign jurisdictions may also, in the near future, adopt
laws, regulations or directives that affect Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Shares.

While we believe that we are in compliance with the laws that apply to us as we understand them, the growth of our business and its expansion outside
of the United States may increase the potential of violating foreign laws or our own internal policies and procedures. The risk of us being found in
potential violation of applicable laws and regulations is further increased by the fact that many of them are open to a variety of interpretations given the
absence of formal interpretation by regulatory authorities or the courts.

Any action brought against us by a foreign regulator or in a private action based on foreign law could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and
divert our management�s attention from the operation of the business. If our operations are found to be in violation of any laws and regulations, we may
be subject to penalties associated with the violation, including civil and criminal penalties, damages and fines; we could be required to refund
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payments received by us; and we could be required to curtail or cease operations. Any of these consequences could seriously harm our business and
financial results. In addition, existing and proposed laws and regulations can be costly to comply with and can delay or impede the development of new
products, result in negative publicity, increase operating costs, require significant management time and attention, and subject us to claims or other
remedies, including fines or demands that we modify or cease existing business practices. Any applicable foreign laws, regulations or directives may
also conflict with those of the United States. The effect of any future regulatory change is impossible to predict, but any change could be substantial and
materially adverse to the value of Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Shares.

We may withhold certain information otherwise to be provided to a Shareholder under certain circumstances in order to prevent public disclosure of
such information under the U.S. Freedom of Information Act.

The Sponsor may withhold all or any part of the information otherwise to be provided to a Shareholder (pursuant to the Trust Agreements or otherwise)
under certain circumstances in order to prevent public disclosure of such information under the U.S. Freedom of Information Act (�FOIA�), any
governmental public records access law, any state or other jurisdiction�s laws similar in intent or effect to FOIA, or any other similar statutory or
regulatory requirement. Shareholders may be adversely impacted by such withholding of information, as they will not be able to monitor their
investments in the Trust as closely as if there were no withholding of such information.

Shareholders should carefully consider certain consequences under ERISA and the Code.

The following section sets forth certain consequences under ERISA and the Code which a fiduciary of an �employee benefit plan� as defined in and
subject to the fiduciary responsibility provisions of ERISA, or of a �plan� as defined in and subject to Section 4975 of the Code, who has investment
discretion should consider before deciding to invest the plan�s assets in the Trust (such �employee benefit plans� and �plans� being referred to herein as
a �Plan,� and such fiduciaries with investment discretion being referred to herein as a �Plan Fiduciary�). The following summary is not intended to be
complete, but only to address certain questions under ERISA and the Code that are likely to be raised by the Plan Fiduciary�s own counsel. Each
Shareholder that is a Plan and the corresponding Plan Fiduciary, should consider the matters described in this section in determining whether to invest in
the Trust. The Sponsor intends to operate the Trust such that less than twenty-five percent (25%) of the total interests are held by �benefit plan
investors� as defined below. The provisions of ERISA are complex and their application to an investment in the Trust should be reviewed by the
appropriate representatives of any Shareholder that is a Plan.

EACH INVESTOR CONSIDERING ACQUIRING SHARES IN THE TRUST MUST CONSULT ITS OWN LEGAL AND TAX ADVISERS
BEFORE DOING SO.

Shareholders should consider certain fiduciary matters and prohibited transactions.

In considering an investment in the Trust of a portion of the assets of any Plan and any entity whose underlying assets include plan assets by reason of
an investment in such entity by a Plan (a �benefit plan investor�), a Plan Fiduciary should consider, among other factors, (i) whether the investment is
allowed by the documents governing the underlying Plan and related trust; (ii) whether the investment satisfies the diversification requirements of
Section 404(a)(1)(C) of ERISA, if applicable, to minimize the risk of large losses; (iii) whether the investment provides sufficient liquidity to permit
benefit payments to be made as they become due; (iv) whether the investment can meet any requirement that the Plan Fiduciary annually value the
assets of the underlying plan; (v) whether the investment is a prudent investment for the Plan, since there is a high degree of risk in purchasing interests
in the Trust and it is not expected that there will be any public market in which the interests may be sold or otherwise disposed of; (vi) whether the
investment is being made for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to participants and their beneficiaries; and (vii) whether an investment in the
Trust will result in a transaction prohibited by Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code.
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ERISA and the Code prohibit Plan Fiduciaries from engaging in various transactions (�prohibited transactions�) involving plan assets with persons
who have certain relationships with respect to the Plan, such as other plan fiduciaries (a �party in interest�). Thus, for example, absent an exemption,
the Plan Fiduciaries should not purchase interests in the Trust with assets of any Plan if the Sponsor or any of its affiliates or any of their respective
employees either: (i) has investment discretion with respect to such Plan assets; or (ii) has the authority or responsibility to give or regularly gives
individualized investment advice with respect to such plan assets, for a fee, where there is an understanding that it will serve as the primary basis for the
investment decisions made with respect to such plan assets and that such advice will be based on the particular investment needs of the Plan; or (iii) is
an employer maintaining or contributing to such Plan. A party that is described in clause (i) or (ii) of the preceding sentence is a fiduciary under ERISA
and the Code with respect to the Plan, and any such purchase might result in a �prohibited transaction� under ERISA and the Code.

If the underlying assets of the Trust were deemed to be ��Plan Assets�� under ERISA, that could have certain negative consequences.

If the underlying assets of the Trust (as opposed to interests in the Trust alone) were deemed to be �plan assets� under ERISA, (i) the prudence and other
fiduciary responsibility standards of Title I of ERISA would extend to investments made by the Trust; and (ii) certain transactions in which the Trust
might seek to engage could constitute prohibited transactions.

Under a regulation (the �Plan Assets Regulation�) issued by the U.S. Department of Labor (�DOL�), the assets and properties of certain entities in
which a Plan makes an equity investment (other than an investment in a publicly offered security or a security issued by an investment company
registered under the Investment Company Act) would be deemed to be assets of the investing Plan unless, among other exceptions, equity participation
by �benefit plan investors� is less than 25% of any class of equity of the entity. Shares in the Trust will be neither publicly offered nor securities issued
by an investment company registered under the Investment Company Act, within the meaning of the Plan Assets Regulation, and, although the Sponsor
intends that less than 25% of the total interests are held by benefit plan investors, it is possible that benefit plan investors may purchase 25% or more of
the interests in the Trust.

If the underlying assets of the Trust were deemed to be ��Plan Assets�� under ERISA and a non-exempt prohibited transaction were to occur, that
could have certain negative consequences.

If the Trust�s assets were deemed to constitute �plan assets� subject to Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code and a non-exempt prohibited
transaction were to occur, then the Sponsor, as a fiduciary and �party in interest,� and any other �party in interest� that engaged in the prohibited
transaction could be required (i) to restore to the Plan any profit realized on the transaction and (ii) to reimburse the Plan for any losses suffered by the
Plan as a result of such transaction. In addition, each �party in interest� involved could be subject to an excise tax equal to 15% of the amount involved
in the prohibited transaction for each year such transaction continues and, unless such transaction were corrected within statutorily required periods, to
an additional tax of 100%. Plan Fiduciaries who make the decision to invest in an interest in the Trust could, under certain circumstances, be liable as
co-fiduciaries for actions taken by the Trust or the Sponsor. Furthermore, unless appropriate administrative exemptions were available or were obtained,
the Trust could be restricted from acquiring an otherwise desirable investment or from entering into an otherwise favorable transaction, if such
acquisition or transaction would constitute a �prohibited transaction.�

Except as otherwise set forth, the foregoing statements regarding the consequences under ERISA and the Code of an investment in the Trust are based
on the provisions of the Code and ERISA as currently in effect, and the existing administrative and judicial interpretations thereunder. No assurance can
be given that administrative, judicial or legislative changes will not occur that may make the foregoing statements incorrect or incomplete.

ALLOWING AN INVESTMENT IN THE TRUST IS NOT TO BE CONSTRUED AS A REPRESENTATION BY THE SPONSOR OR ANY OF ITS
AFFILIATES, AGENTS OR EMPLOYEES THAT THIS
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INVESTMENT MEETS SOME OR ALL OF THE RELEVANT LEGAL REQUIREMENTS WITH RESPECT TO INVESTMENTS BY ANY
PARTICULAR PLAN OR THAT THIS INVESTMENT IS APPROPRIATE FOR ANY SUCH PARTICULAR PLAN. THE PERSON WITH
INVESTMENT DISCRETION SHOULD CONSULT WITH THE PLAN�S ATTORNEY AND FINANCIAL ADVISERS AS TO THE PROPRIETY
OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE TRUST IN LIGHT OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE PARTICULAR PLAN, CURRENT TAX LAW AND
ERISA.

The Shareholder may be subject to certain U.S. federal income tax risks.

It is anticipated that the Trust will be classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Each Shareholder must take into account its
allocable share of the partnership items of the Trust. The Trust, like all entities classified as partnerships for federal tax purposes, is subject to a risk of
audit by the Internal Revenue Service (�Service�). Any adjustments made to the Trust�s information returns produced by such an audit might result in
adjustments to the Shareholder�s tax returns, with respect not only to items related to the Trust, but also to unrelated items. Furthermore, federal, state
and local tax laws are subject to change, and Shareholders could incur substantial tax liabilities as a result of changes thereto. Finally, various aspects of
income taxation, including federal, state and local taxation and the alternative minimum tax, produce tax effects that can vary based on each taxpayer�s
particular circumstances. See �Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations.�

We intend to continue to prorate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction for U.S. federal income tax purposes between transferors and
transferees of our Shares on a weekly basis, instead of on the basis of the date a particular Share is transferred. The IRS may challenge this
treatment, which could change the allocation of items of income, gain, loss and deduction among our Shareholders.

We intend to continue to prorate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction for U.S. federal income tax purposes between transferors and transferees
of our Shares on a weekly basis, instead of on the basis of the date a particular Share is transferred. The use of this proration method may not be
permitted under existing Treasury regulations that provide for semi-monthly and monthly simplifying conventions and do not specifically authorize the
use of the proration method we will adopt. If the IRS were to challenge this method or new Treasury regulations were issued, we may be required to
change the allocation of items of income, gain, loss and deduction among our Shareholders. See �Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax
Considerations�Entity Classification and Partnership Taxation�Allocations Between Transferors and Transferees� and ���Certain U.S. Federal Income
Tax Considerations� for additional discussion regarding tax considerations generally.

Shareholders should consult their own tax advisors to determine the tax effects of an investment in the Trust, especially in light of their particular
financial situations.

The Trust may, but is not required to, make distributions to Shareholders. Therefore, a Shareholder should not rely on distributions from the Trust to
cover the Shareholder�s tax liability associated therewith, if any. Instead, a Shareholder will generally be required realize the value of its investment in
the Trust based on the value of any freely tradeable Shares sold on the OTCQX.

The Service could challenge the deductibility of expenses the Trust (directly or indirectly) incurs.

The Service could challenge the deductibility of expenses the Trust (directly or indirectly) incurs, including the Management Fee, for several reasons,
including that those expenses constitute capital expenditures that, among other things, should be added to the Trust�s cost of acquiring its investments
and amortized over a period of time or held in suspense until the Trust liquidates or dissolves.
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The present U.S. federal income tax treatment of an investment in the Trust may be modified by legislative, judicial or administrative action at any
time and any such action may affect investments and commitments previously made.

The present U.S. federal income tax treatment of an investment in the Trust may be modified by legislative, judicial or administrative action at any time
and any such action may affect investments and commitments previously made. The overall impact of recent major changes to the Code enacted by the
U.S. Congress remains uncertain. The U.S. federal income tax rules are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by
the Service and the Treasury Department, resulting from time to time in the adoption of new Treasury regulations or changes to the existing regulations,
revised interpretations of established concepts, as well as statutory changes. The Service currently treats virtual currencies as property for U.S. federal
income tax purposes, but such treatment may be subject to modification or changes. In addition, the Service recently released additional guidance to the
effect that hard forks, airdrops and similar occurrences with respect to digital currencies will under certain circumstances be treated as taxable events
giving rise to ordinary income, however, there continues to be uncertainty with respect to the timing and amount of the income inclusions. Any changes
in the U.S. federal tax laws or interpretations thereof could adversely affect the tax treatment of an investment in the Trust. Congress constantly
scrutinizes the U.S. federal income tax treatment of private investment funds and hedge funds, and there can be no assurance that legislation will not be
enacted that has an unfavorable effect on a Shareholder�s investment in the Trust.

The Trust may experience adverse tax consequences.

While the Trust is advised in tax matters by its accountants, the Service may not accept the tax positions taken by the Trust.

The Trust may experience audit risk.

The Service could audit the Trust and adjustments to the Trust�s tax returns could occur as a result. Any such adjustment could result in the Trust paying
additional tax, interest and penalties, as well as incremental accounting and legal expenses.

Risks Related to the COVID-19 Pandemic

The impact of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic on the global economy and our operations remains uncertain. A continuation or
worsening of the pandemic could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition and on the market
price of our Shares.

On March 12, 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 to be a pandemic. In an effort to contain and mitigate the spread of COVID-19,
many countries, including the United States, Canada and China, have imposed travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, shelter-in-place orders and
limitations on business activity. These measures have, among other things, restricted certain sectors of global economic activity, significantly increased
unemployment and underemployment, and has negatively impacted certain sectors of the U.S. and global economy. Although some restrictive measures
have been eased in certain areas, many of the restrictive measures remain in place or have been reinstated, and in some cases additional restrictive
measures are being implemented. While our operations have not been materially affected at this point, uncertainty remains as to the potential impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations and on the global economy as a whole. As a result, it is possible that there could be negative consequences
of COVID-19 on the Trust and our operations that we cannot currently anticipate. Any such consequences could have material negative consequences
for the value of the Shares and the Trust.
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ITEM 2. FINANCIAL INFORMATION.

MANAGEMENT��S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with, and is qualified in its entirety by
reference to, our audited financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Form 10, which have been prepared in accordance with
GAAP. The following discussion may contain forward-looking statements based on current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual
results could differ materially from those discussed in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under
�Risk Factors,� �Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements� or in other sections of this Form 10.

Trust Overview

The Trust is a Delaware Statutory Trust that issues units of fractional undivided beneficial interest in the form of Shares, which represent ownership in
the Trust. The Trust was initially formed as a Delaware limited liability company on September 18, 2017 and commenced operations on November 22,
2017. On May 1, 2020, the Trust converted from a limited liability company to a Delaware statutory trust. In connection with the corporate action, units
in the limited liability company were converted into Shares of the Trust. All shareholders of �investor class� units received 10 Shares for each unit
owned prior to the corporate action date, and all shareholders of �institutional class� units received 10.12602229 Shares for each unit owned prior to the
corporate action date.

The purpose of the Trust is to make it easier for an investor to invest in the cryptocurrency market as a whole, without having to pick specific tokens,
manage a portfolio, and constantly monitor ongoing news and developments. Although the Shares are not be the exact equivalent of a direct investment
in cryptocurrencies, they provide investors with an alternative that constitutes a relatively cost-effective, professionally managed way to participate in
cryptocurrency markets. The Trust holds a Portfolio of cryptocurrencies, referred to as the Portfolio Crypto Assets.

In furtherance of this objective, the activities of the Trust include (i) issuing Shares in exchange for subscriptions, (ii) selling or buying Portfolio Crypto
Assets in connection with monthly rebalancing, (iii) selling Portfolio Crypto Assets as necessary to cover the Management Fee (as defined below) and/
or any Organizational Expenses (as defined below), (iv) causing the Sponsor to sell Portfolio Crypto Assets upon any potential future termination of the
Trust, and (v) engaging in all administrative and security procedures necessary to accomplish such activities in accordance with the provisions of the
Trust Agreement, and the Custodian Agreement (as defined below).

The Trust�s principal investment objective is to invest in a Portfolio of cryptocurrencies that tracks the Index as closely as possible with certain
exceptions determined by the Sponsor in its sole discretion, as described more fully below in the section entitled �Business of the Trust�. In addition, in
the event the Portfolio Crypto Assets being held by the Trust present opportunities to generate returns in excess of the Index (for example, airdrops,
emissions, forks, or similar network events) the Sponsor may also pursue these incidental opportunities on behalf of the Trust as part of the investment
objective if in its sole discretion the Sponsor deems such activities to be possible and prudent. The Trust believes that it has met its principal investment
objective. As of March 31, 2021, there was a correlation of 99.84% between the Portfolio Crypto Assets and the assets included in the Index. The Trust
is aware that the market price of the Trust�s shares may deviate from the net asset value (�NAV�) of the shares, and the market price may at times be
significantly above or below the shares� NAV. The NAV of the Trust is calculated by summing the assets and liabilities and the NAV per share is
calculated by dividing the total NAV by the shares outstanding. However, the Trust believes that any such deviation does not affect the Trust�s principal
investment objective, as the Trust does not maintain or promote any business objectives related to the market trading price of its shares. Furthermore,
under Regulation M, the Trust as issuer of the Shares is not permitted to take any actions that would seek to reconcile the NAV of the Shares and the
market price of the Shares, and the Trust would not undertake business objectives that it was legally restricted from achieving.

85

Copyright © 2022 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Table of Contents
The Trust and the Sponsor have entered into a limited, non-exclusive, revocable license agreement with Bitwise Index Services, LLC (the �Index
Provider�), an affiliate of the Trust that is controlled by the same parent entity as the Sponsor, at no cost to the Trust or the Sponsor allowing the Trust
to use the Index for the purpose of using as the benchmark index for the Trust (the �License Agreement�).

Results of Operations

Financial Information for the Three Months ended March 31, 2021 and the Three Months Ended March 31, 2020

The following table sets forth statements of operations data for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020.

Statement of Operations

Three Months Ended March 31,
2021 2020

Expenses
Management fees $4,909,445 $159,277
Transaction and other fees 816 2,102

Total Expenses 4,910,261 161,379

Net investment loss (4,910,261 ) (161,379 )

Net realized and change in unrealized gain (loss) on investments
Net realized loss from digital assets (128,174 ) (766,264 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation or (depreciation) from

digital assets 473,156,278 (1,306,427 )
Net realized and change in unrealized gain on investments 473,028,104 (2,072,691 )

Net income�� $468,117,843 $(2,234,070 )

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.

Comparison of the three-month periods ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

The following provides a discussion of the material items that impacted the Trust�s financial condition during the applicable period:

Management fees

The Sponsor charges the Trust a Management Fee payable monthly, in arrears, in an amount equal to 2.5% per annum (1/12th of 2.5% per month) of the
net asset value of the Trust�s assets at the end of each month. Management fees for the three months ended March 31, 2021 were $4,909,445 compared
to management fees for the three months ended March 31, 2020 of $159,277. This change was due to an increase in the Trust�s net asset value due to an
increase in the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets held by the Trust as a result of the fair market value of the Assets (see �Schedule of Investments�
below) and new Shareholder subscriptions.

Net realized loss from digital assets

Net realized loss from digital assets for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was a loss of $128,174 compared to net realized loss from digital assets
for the three months ended March 31, 2020 of a loss of $766,264. This change was due to fluctuations in the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets.
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For the three month period ended March 31, 2021 the Trust recorded net realized losses from sales of Bitcoin of approximately $995,776 and recorded
net realized gains of approximately $645,639 and $216,402 from sales of Tezos and Cosmos, respectively, among gains and losses realized in smaller
amounts from the sale of other portfolio crypto assets. These sales were made as a result of rebalancing activity, sales of portfolio crypto assets to raise
money to pay the management fee, and general fund management. For the three month period ended March 31, 2020, the Trust recorded net realized
losses from sales of Monero (XMR), Cardano (ADA), and Bitcoin (BTC) of $426,933, $166,106, and $158,430, respectively, and recorded net realized
gains of $42,809 from sales of LINK, among realized gains and losses in smaller amounts from the sale of other portfolio crypto assets. These sales
were made as a result of rebalancing activity, sales of portfolio crypto assets to raise money to pay the management fee, and general fund management.

Net change in unrealized appreciation or depreciation from digital assets

Net change in unrealized appreciation or depreciation from digital assets for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was $473,156,278 compared to net
change in unrealized appreciation or depreciation from digital assets for three months ended March 31, 2020 of a loss of $1,306,427. The primary
factors for the change were an increase in the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets held by the Trust as a result of the fair market value of the Portfolio
Crypto Assets (see �Schedule of Investments� below) and new Shareholder subscriptions.

The overall impact of the continued increase in the historical Portfolio Crypto Asset prices during the period was an increase in the Net change in
unrealized appreciation from digital assets of $473,156,278 for the period ended March 31, 2021. The primary driver of this change was an increase in
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment of $373,469,506 in the Trust�s position in Bitcoin and an increase in Net change in unrealized
appreciation on investment of $82,450,267 on the Trusts position in ETH.

Net Income

The Trust�s net income for the three-month period ended March 31, 2021 was $468,117,843 compared to a net loss of $2,234,070 as of March 31, 2020.
The primary factor that impacted 2021 net income compared to 2020 net income was a large change in net realized and change in unrealized gain on
investments from a net loss of $2,072,691 in 2020 to a net gain of $473,028,104 in 2021. The primary factors for the change were an increase in the
value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets held by the Trust as a result of the fair market value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets (see �Schedule of Investments�
below) and new Shareholder subscriptions.
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Financial Information for the Year Ended December 31, 2020 and the Year Ended December 31, 2019

The following table sets forth statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

2020 2019
Income

Redemption fee income $� $3,635
Other income � 753

Total Income � 4,388
Expenses

Management fees 1,875,116 555,041
Transaction and other fees 2,669 32

Total Expenses 1,877,785 555,073
Net investment loss (1,877,785 ) (550,685 )
Net realized and change in unrealized gain (loss) on investments

Net realized loss from digital assets (4,492,966 ) (3,276,792)
Net change in unrealized appreciation or depreciation from digital

assets 160,763,043 9,323,791
Net realized and change in unrealized gain on investments 156,270,077 6,046,999

Net income�� $154,392,292 $5,496,314

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

The following provides a discussion of the material items that impacted the Trust�s financial condition during the applicable period:

Management fees

Management fees for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $1,875,116 compared to management fees for the year ended December 31, 2019 of
$555,041. This change was due to an increase in the Trust�s net asset value due to an increase in the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets held by the
Trust as a result of the fair market value of the Assets (see �Schedule of Investments� below) and new Shareholder subscriptions.

Net realized loss from digital assets

Net realized loss from digital assets for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $4,492,966 compared to net realized loss from digital assets for the year
ended December 31, 2019 of $3,276,791. This change was due to fluctuations in the value of the Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets.

For the twelve month period ended December 31, 2020, the Trust recorded net realized losses from sales of Litecoin (LTC) and Bitcoin (BTC) of
approximately $852,523 and $665,844, respectively, among gains and losses realized in smaller amounts from the sale of other portfolio crypto assets.
These sales were made as a result of rebalancing activity, sales of portfolio crypto assets to raise money to pay the management fee, and general fund
management. During the same period, the Trust also recorded a net realized loss from the liquidation of its position in Ripple (XRP) of approximately
$1,672,497, after the SEC filed a complaint against XRP creator Ripple Labs Inc. and two of its executives, alleging that they failed to register XRP
offers and sales, or satisfy any exemptions from registration.
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For the twelve month period ended December 31, 2019, the Trust recorded net realized losses from sales of Bitcoin (BTC), DASH and Ripple (XRP) of
approximately $1,835,114, $728,405 and $516,162, respectively, among gains and losses realized in smaller amounts from the sale of other portfolio
crypto assets. These sales were made as a result of rebalancing activity, sales of portfolio crypto assets to raise money to pay the management fee, and
general fund management.

As discussed in Risks Related to Regulatory and Compliance Trust sold its XRP holdings for gross proceeds of $8,241,977.07 which represented a
realized loss of $1,468,447.06. This realized loss is reflected as a component of the �Net realized loss from digital assets� in the Statement of
Operations table in the Financial Statements for the period ended December 31, 2020.

Net change in unrealized appreciation or depreciation from digital assets

Net change in unrealized appreciation or depreciation from digital assets for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $160,763,043 compared to net
change in unrealized appreciation or depreciation from digital assets for the year ended December 31, 2019 of $9,323,791. This change was due to
fluctuations in the prices of Portfolio Crypto Assets during the periods.

Net realized and change in unrealized gain on investments

Net change in unrealized appreciation gain on investments for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $156,270,077 compared to net change in
unrealized gain on investments for the year ended December 31, 2019 of $6,046,999. The primary factors for the change were an increase in the value of
the Portfolio Crypto Assets held by the Trust as a result of the fair market value of the Assets (see �Schedule of Investments� below) and new
Shareholder subscriptions.

Net Income

The Trust�s net income for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2020 was $154,392,292 compared to $5,496,314 as of December 31, 2019.
The primary factor that impacted 2020 net income compared to 2019 net income was a significant change in net realized and change in unrealized gain
on investments from a net gain of $156,270,077 in 2020 to a net gain of $6,046,999 in 2019. The primary factors for the change were an increase in the
value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets held by the Trust as a result of the fair market value of the Assets (see �Schedule of Investments� below) and new
Shareholder subscriptions.

Management Fee

The Sponsor charges the Trust a Management Fee payable monthly, in arrears, in an amount equal to 2.5% per annum (1/12th of 2.5% per month) of the
net asset value of the Trust�s assets at the end of each month.

The Sponsor is responsible for paying for all ordinary administrative and overhead expenses of managing the Trust, including payment of rent, custody
charges or flat rate fees for holding the Trust�s assets charged by the Custodian and customary fees and expenses of the Trustee, Administrator and
Auditor (including costs incurred for appraisal or valuation expenses associated with the preparation of the Trust�s financial statements, tax returns and
other similar reports and excluding indemnification and extraordinary costs). The Sponsor also pays for all expenses associated with the operation of the
Trust, including for example, fees associated with quotation of the Shares on the OTCQX, registration with the SEC, and fees associated with retaining
and maintaining the Transfer Agent. �Trading commissions� or trading fees paid to trading venues (also known as exchanges) or intermediaries (such as
trading technology or digital asset brokerage firms) that assist in trade execution for accessing digital asset liquidity are charged to the Trust and may
either be included in the cost of the digital assets acquired by or disposed of by the Trust or may appear as explicit costs in addition to the price of the
digital asset. Trading Fees & Commissions are charged to the Trust and may appear in the financial statements as �Transaction and other fees� in the
Financial Statements� Statement of Operations in the Expenses category or may be included in the cost of the digital assets acquired by the Trust.
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There is no ceiling to the Trust�s expenses that the Sponsor will pay. However, the Sponsor retains the right to cause the Trust to pay indemnification
and extraordinary expenses, and these Trust expenses are not covered by the Management Fee. The Trust may incur certain extraordinary expenses
including, but not limited to, any non-customary costs and expenses including indemnification and extraordinary costs of the Administrator and Auditor,
costs of any litigation or investigation involving Trust activities, and financial distress and restructuring and indemnification expenses.

Shareholder Subscriptions

The minimum initial subscription amount is $25,000 and an existing Shareholder may make additional subscriptions in a minimum amount of $10,000,
subject in all cases to increase, decrease and waiver of such requirements by the Sponsor in its sole discretion.

All subscriptions are made directly to the Trust with processing assistance from the Trust Administrator. Subscriptions may be funded through payment
in U.S. dollars or through in-kind contributions of Portfolio Crypto Assets (�In-Kind Investments�), or both at the sole discretion of the Sponsor. The
Sponsor may accept stablecoins on a case-by-case basis as determined in the discretion of the Sponsor. In-Kind Investments are valued using the same
digital asset prices as per the Trust�s valuation policy at any given valuation date as of 4:00 pm EST on the date of the subscription. Once an In-Kind
Investment has been delivered to the Trust in connection with a subscription funding requirement, an investor cannot cancel its subscription regardless
of the valuation established for the in-kind contribution. For the periods January 1, 2021 to March 31, 2021, the Trust accepted In-Kind Investments
from Shareholders of $94,649,139. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Trust accepted In-Kind Investments from Shareholders of $99,779,732.
The Trust values in-kind contributions to the Trust using the same valuation methodology that it uses to calculate the Trust�s NAV on the day of the
subscription. A contribution in-kind will be valued, in dollar terms, using the same prices for each digital asset that are used to value the assets in the
Trust on that day, and that value is divided by the Trust�s per-share NAV as calculated on that day in order to calculate the number of Shares purchased
by the Subscriber in the transaction. The Trust has not made any in-kind distributions or liquidated a Shareholder�s pro-rata distribution in order to
reduce additional regulatory costs of the Shareholders for any period presented.

For the period January 1, 2021 to March 31, 2021, the Trust accepted In-Kind Investments from Shareholders of $94,649,139. During the period, the
Trust issued 2,819,059 Shares in exchange for 2,065.84 Bitcoin, 12,591.54 Ether, 200 LINK, and 132 UNI. During the fiscal year ended December 31,
2020, the Trust issued 6,252,733.96 shares in exchange for in-kind investments of 4,328.88 Bitcoin, 97,173.33 EOS, 22,165.88 Ether, 34,134.02 LINK,
1,847.38 Bitcoin Cash, 2,055,326.24 XLM, 19,177.97 Litecoin, 6,128,410.06 XRP, and 78,492.20 Tezos.

The goal of the conversion of either dollars (cash) or digital assets accepted to the Trust in-kind is to leave the portfolio in a position where its holdings
and weightings are closely representative of the constituents and weightings of the Trust�s benchmark index. This process requires the use of
quantitative portfolio management techniques to compare the Trust�s existing holdings and weightings, plus the new net assets of the Trust after
accounting for the incoming dollars (cash) and /or digital assets received in-kind, to the constituents and weightings of the index in order to calculate the
amounts and quantities of each digital asset to purchase (or sell) in order to bring the Trust�s portfolio into a position that its holdings and weightings
are closely representative of the holdings and weightings of the Trust�s benchmark index The Trust then has at its disposal multiple venues to acquire
and dispose of digital assets, including trading venues (known as exchanges), direct trading counterparties (known as �OTC desks�), and trading
technology solutions that aggregate liquidity from multiple trading venues. Trade execution and portfolio management is dynamic and complex, and the
Sponsor exercises judgement and recent experience and market conditions, as well as the size of the trades, settlement procedures at each venue, types
of assets that need to be executed, as well as their availability on such platforms, prior to determining on which venue to execute each trade. The
Sponsor attempts to purchase or sell each asset in each instance at a price that is close to the price used for calculating the Trust�s NAV (and the Index�s
daily price) which is 4pm ET, while also minimizing market impact and reducing operational and settlement risk. There is no
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guarantee that the Sponsor will be able to trade digital assets at or near the benchmark price, and there are a number of other factors aside from price
slippage that inform best practices in trade execution.

The Trust generally accepts initial and additional subscriptions weekly on such dates as the Sponsor may determine in its sole discretion. The Trust may
from time to time halt subscriptions for a variety of reasons, including in connection with forks, airdrops, other similar occurrences, or if the Sponsor
determines based on either market developments or business related operating reasons (such as unanticipated challenges trading in the market for
Portfolio Crypto Assets, a business desire to limit the number of investors in the product for administrative, cost, or other reasons). The Sponsor will
make such announcement on its website and will disclose such change on Form 8-K. Digital assets are valued on the day the subscription is processed at
the same price that the Trust uses to value the rest of its assets and strike its NAV. Investors cannot withdraw in-kind subscriptions after the digital assets
are valued. Each investor who seeks to subscribe for Shares is required to execute a subscription agreement pursuant to which the investor will agree to
be bound by the Trust Agreement and other Trust documentation.

No fractional Shares will be issued, and any fractional Share that a Shareholder would otherwise be entitled to receive that is less than 0.5 Share shall be
rounded down to the nearest whole Share and any such fractional Share equal to or greater than 0.5 Share shall be rounded up to the nearest whole
Share; provided, however, that any such rounding up or down would be de minimis and therefore would not change the price per Share or contribution
payable with respect to such Shares as determined in accordance with the Trust Agreement.

Capital Resources and Liquidity

The Trust generally holds only a very small cash balance, and is otherwise fully invested in order to maintain its investment objective of tracking the
Index. When selling Portfolio Crypto Assets to pay the Management Fee, the Sponsor endeavors to sell an exact amount of Portfolio Crypto Assets
needed in order to pay such expenses in order to minimize the Trust�s holdings of assets other than Portfolio Crypto Assets. As a consequence, the
Sponsor expects the Trust will typically have a very small cash balance at each reporting period. Cash may also be held in the Trust after a Subscription
from Shareholder is funded (or sent to the Trust�s bank account) but not yet invested in Portfolio Crypto Assets, or after a redemption from a redeeming
Shareholder had been processed (e.g., by raising cash through the sale of Portfolio Crypto Assets) but not yet paid to the redeeming Shareholder.

As described above, in exchange for the Management Fee, the Sponsor is responsible for payment of almost all of the expenses incurred by the Trust. As
a result, the only material ordinary expense of the Trust during the periods covered by this Registration Statement was the Management Fee. The Trust is
not aware of any trends, demands, conditions or events that are reasonably likely to result in material changes to its liquidity needs.

Value of Portfolio Crypto Assets

As described above in �Risk Factors�The value of the Trust�s cryptocurrencies are dependent, directly or indirectly, on prices established by
cryptocurrency exchanges and other cryptocurrency trading venues, which are new and, in most cases, largely unregulated� and �Overview of the
Digital Asset Industry,� the prices of the various Portfolio Crypto Assets held by the Trust are subject to extreme volatility. This volatility had a
significant impact on the value of the Portfolio Crypto Assets as of the three months ended March 31, 2021 compared to March 31. 2020 and year-end
2020 compared to year end 2019.

As shown below in the �Schedules of Investments,� aside from the change in value of Portfolio Crypto Assets, the increase in total investments in digital
assets from January 1, 2021 to March 31, 2021 was due primarily to an increase of approximately 2,837.65 units of Bitcoin and an increase of
approximately 23,842.82 units of Ethereum, in addition to the number of units invested in the additional cryptocurrencies that comprise the Portfolio
Crypto Assets, purchased in connection with Shareholder subscriptions for Shares, partially offset by the sale of various Portfolio Crypto Assets to pay
the Management Fee.
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The increase in total investments in digital assets from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2020 was due primarily to an increase of approximately
8,373.092 units of Bitcoin and an increase of approximately 46,773.289 units of Ethereum, in addition to the number of units invested in the additional
cryptocurrencies that comprise the Portfolio Crypto Assets, purchased in connection with Shareholder subscriptions for Shares, partially offset by the
sale of various Portfolio Crypto Assets to pay the Management Fee and to fund redemptions.

Shareholder Subscriptions and Redemptions6

During the period from January 1, 2021 to March 31, 2021, Shareholders subscribed for approximately 4,647,510 Shares with an average net asset value
as of March 31, 2021 of $50.68. During the same period, Shareholders redeemed zero Shares. As a result, there were approximately 19,779,750 Shares
outstanding as of March 31, 2021.

During the period from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019, Shareholders subscribed for 746,509.27 Shares with an average net asset value as of
December 31, 2019 of $7.52. During the same period, Shareholders redeemed 239,486.17 Shares. As a result, there were 3,416,265.31 Shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2019. The Trust ceased its redemption program on October 7, 2020.

During the period from January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020, Shareholders subscribed for 11,985,739.55 Shares with an average net asset value as of
December 31, 2020 of $17.2764. During the same period, Shareholders redeemed 269,912.45 Shares. As a result, there were approximately 15,132,240
Shares outstanding as of December 31, 2020.

From January 1, 2021 to March 31, 2021, the Trust took in $161,036,568 of subscriptions. From January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020, the Trust
took in $199,474,452 of subscriptions and processed $2,277,884 of redemptions. From January 1, 2019 through December 31, 2019, the Trust took in
$5,522,177 of subscriptions and processed $1,833,801 of redemptions.

6 The Share and average net asset value numbers presented in this section have been adjusted to reflect an approximately 10:1 stock split that
occurred on May 1, 2020 in connection with the conversion of the Trust from a Delaware limited liability company to a Delaware statutory trust.
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Schedules of Investments

The following provides details on the Portfolio Crypto Assets that comprise the Trust�s assets.

Bitcoin (XBT)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2021�� 10,784.1481 $314,622,646
Purchases 3,070.9157 119,400,111
Sales (233.2662 ) (8,444,234 )
Net realized loss on investment � (995,777 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 373,469,506

Balance at March 31, 2021�� 13,621.7976 $798,052,252

Aave (AAVE)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2021�� � $�
Purchases 9,070.2103 2,794,453
Sales � �
Net realized gain/loss on investment � �
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 663,968

Balance at March 31, 2021�� 9,070.2103 $3,458,421

Cosmos (ATOM)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2021�� � $�
Purchases 283,904.8548 3,522,001
Sales (129,795.4675 ) (1,012,403 )
Net realized gain on investment � 216,400
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 196,552

Balance at March 31, 2021�� 154,109.3873 $2,922,550

Bitcoin Cash (BCH)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2021�� 10,473.1301 $3,580,941
Purchases 3,165.7238 1,476,876
Sales � �
Net realized gain/loss on investment � �
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 2,112,540

Balance at March 31, 2021�� 13,638.8539 $7,170,357
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EOS (EOS)

Units Fair Value
Balance at January 1, 2021� 538,167.0251 $1,394,797

Purchases 156,659.9772 495,980
Sales (0.0840 ) �
Net realized gain/loss on investment � �
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 1,318,478

Balance at March 31, 2021� 694,826.9183 $3,209,255

Ethereum (ETH)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2021� 60,056.7369 $44,737,962
Purchases 23,842.8226 32,186,484
Sales � �
Net realized gain/loss on investment � �
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 82,450,267

Balance at March 31, 2021� 83,899.5595 $159,374,713

Chainlink (LINK)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2021� 198,197.5054 $2,221,197
Purchases 100,331.6396 2,072,770
Sales � �
Net realized gain/loss on investment � �
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 4,053,017

Balance at March 31, 2021� 298,529.1450 $8,346,984

Uniswap (UNI)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2021� � $�
Purchases 220,417.1792 3,764,677
Sales � �
Net realized gain/loss on investment � �
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 2,327,181

Balance at March 31, 2021� 220,417.1792 $6,091,858

Stellar (XLM)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2021� 11,528,862.8879 $1,454,725
Purchases 4,912,393.8293 1,472,363
Sales � �
Net realized gain/loss on investment � �
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 3,538,147

Balance at March 31, 2021� 16,441,256.7172 $6,465,235

94

Copyright © 2022 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Table of Contents
Litecoin (XLT)

Units Fair Value
Balance at January 1, 2021� 41,163.3951 $5,121,884

Purchases 10,900.2283 1,675,552
Sales (3,430.1876 ) (425,000 )
Net realized gain on investment � 5,564
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 3,015,381

Balance at March 31, 2021� 48,633.4358 $9,393,381

Tezos (XTZ)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2021� 439,012.4222 $883,392
Purchases 101,543.2319 302,482
Sales (540,555.6541) (1,842,754)
Net realized gain on investment � 645,639
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 11,241

Balance at March 31, 2021� � $�

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.
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As of March 31, 2021, Bitcoin represented 79.61% of the total Portfolio Crypto Assets held by the Trust, and Ethereum represented 15.90%, while the
remaining 4.69% of the Portfolio Crypto Assets were comprised of Litecoin, Chainlink, Bitcoin Cash, Stellar Lumens, Uniswap, Aave, EOS, and
Cosmos.

Bitcoin (XBT)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2020� 2,411.0565 $17,233,399
Purchases 8,602.3760 165,787,558
Sales (229.2844 ) (2,298,251 )
Net realized loss on investment � (665,844 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 134,565,784

Balance at December 31, 2020� 10,784.1481 $314,622,646

Cardano (ADA)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2020� 3,082,069.9038 $101,149
Purchases � �
Sales (3,082,069.9038 ) (100,421 )
Net realized loss on investment � (166,107 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 165,379

Balance at December 31, 2020� � $�

Bitcoin Cash (BCH)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2020� 2,416.9129 $488,284
Purchases 8,127.5632 2,336,707
Sales (71.3460 ) (18,500 )
Net realized loss on investment � (244,767 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 1,019,218

Balance at December 31, 2020� 10,473.1301 $3,580,942

EOS (EOS)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2020� 127,495.0210 $326,718
Purchases 418,101.5077 1,163,846
Sales (7,429.5036 ) (24,500 )
Net realized loss on investment � (29,316 )
Net change in unrealized depreciation on investment � (41,951 )

Balance at December 31, 2020� 538,167.0251 $1,394,797
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Ethereum Classic (ETC)

Units Fair Value
Balance at January 1, 2020� � $�

Purchases 19,858.2500 217,000
Sales (19,858.2500) (128,681)
Net realized loss on investment � (88,319 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � �

Balance at December 31, 2020� � $�

Ethereum (ETH)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2020� 13,283.4476 $1,698,840
Purchases 47,249.8685 24,997,687
Sales (476.5792 ) (119,007 )
Net realized loss on investment � (389,470 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 18,549,911

Balance at December 31, 2020� 60,056.7369 $44,737,961

Chainlink (LINK)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2020� � $�
Purchases 241,136.6402 1,945,310
Sales (42,939.1348 ) (119,799 )
Net realized gain on investment � 42,810
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 352,875

Balance at December 31, 2020� 198,197.5054 $2,221,196

Stellar (XLM)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2020� 2,579,803.2585 $115,648
Purchases 8,949,059.6295 1,204,428
Sales (0.0001 ) �
Net realized gain/loss on investment � �
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 134,649

Balance at December 31, 2020� 11,528,862.8879 $1,454,725

Litecoin (XLT)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2020� 9,405.8913 $385,714
Purchases 37,629.3210 2,947,583
Sales (5,871.8172 ) (231,500 )
Net realized loss on investment � (852,523 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 2,872,610

Balance at December 31, 2020� 41,163.3951 $5,121,884
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Monero (XMR)

Units Fair Value
Balance at January 1, 2020� 2,355.8898 $104,593

Purchases � �
Sales (2,355.8898 ) (103,308 )
Net realized loss on investment � (426,933 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 425,648

Balance at December 31, 2020� � $�

Ripple (XRP)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2020� 5,863,859.8123 $1,113,258
Purchases 14,908,431.3792 6,106,430
Sales (20,772,291.1915 ) (8,279,982 )
Net realized loss on investment � (1,672,497 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 2,732,791

Balance at December 31, 2020� � $�

Tezos (XTZ)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2020� 90,338.0910 $123,618
Purchases 348,674.9312 773,634
Sales (0.6000 ) (1 )
Net realized gain/loss on investment � �
Net change in unrealized depreciation on investment � (13,859 )

Balance at December 31, 2020� 439,012.4222 $883,392

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.
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As of December 31, 2020, Bitcoin represented approximately 84.29% of the total Portfolio Crypto Assets held by the Trust. Ethereum represented
11.99%, while the remaining 3.93% of the Portfolio Crypto Assets were comprised of Litecoin, Bitcoin Cash, Cardano, Chainlink, Stellar Lumens, EOS,
Tezos, and Cosmos.

Bitcoin (XBT)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2019�� 2,088.9923 $7,698,399
Purchases 536.9212 3,771,052
Sales (214.8570 ) (1,480,537 )
Net realized loss on investment � (1,835,114 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 9,079,599

Balance at December 31, 2019�� 2,411.0565 $17,233,399

Cardano (ADA)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2019�� � $�
Purchases 3,082,073.8017 266,528
Sales (3.8979 ) �
Net realized gain/loss on investment � �
Net change in unrealized depreciation on investment � (165,379 )

Balance at December 31, 2019�� 3,082,069.9038 $101,149

Bitcoin Cash (BCH)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2019�� 2,129.0586 $318,235
Purchases 287.8877 76,251
Sales (0.0334 ) �
Net realized loss on investment � (10 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 93,808

Balance at December 31, 2019�� 2,416.9129 $488,284

Bitcoin Cash SV (BCHSV)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2019�� 2,072.4884 $175,540
Purchases � �
Sales (2,072.4884 ) (178,336 )
Net realized gain on investment � 178,336
Net change in unrealized depreciation on investment � (175,540 )

Balance at December 31, 2019�� � $�
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Dash (DASH)

Units Fair Value
Balance at January 1, 2019�� 1,317.8750 $102,546

Purchases 199.2815 24,676
Sales (1,516.8377 ) (85,284 )
Net realized loss on investment � (728,405 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 686,480

Balance at December 31, 2019�� 0.3188 $13

EOS (EOS)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2019�� 113,635.6891 $285,728
Purchases 13,860.8576 53,052
Sales (1.5257 ) (3 )
Net realized loss on investment � (4 )
Net change in unrealized depreciation on investment � (12,054 )

Balance at December 31, 2019�� 127,495.0210 $326,719

Ethereum (ETH)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2019�� 11,396.2847 $1,491,897
Purchases 2,071.8671 373,771
Sales (184.7042 ) (37,601 )
Net realized loss on investment � (166,725 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 37,498

Balance at December 31, 2019�� 13,283.4476 $1,698,840

Stellar (XLM)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2019�� 2,185,397.1434 $240,605
Purchases 394,406.1154 34,418
Sales (0.0003 ) �
Net realized gain/loss on investment � �
Net change in unrealized depreciation on investment � (159,375 )

Balance at December 31, 2019�� 2,579,803.2585 $115,648

Litecoin (XLT)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2019�� 8,120.1292 $243,357
Purchases 1,285.8017 94,416
Sales (0.0396 ) (1 )
Net realized loss on investment � (6 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 47,948

Balance at December 31, 2019�� 9,405.8913 $385,714
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Monero (XMR)

Units Fair Value
Balance at January 1, 2019�� 2,052.0240 $92,566

Purchases 303.8676 22,571
Sales (0.0018 ) �
Net realized loss on investment � (3,568 )
Net change in unrealized depreciation on investment � (6,977 )

Balance at December 31, 2019�� 2,355.8898 $104,592

Ripple (XRP)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2019�� 4,959,862.0576 $1,726,492
Purchases 1,128,048.7120 374,576
Sales (224,050.9573 ) (97,000 )
Net realized loss on investment � (516,162 )
Net change in unrealized depreciation on investment � (374,648 )

Balance at December 31, 2019�� 5,863,859.8123 $1,113,258

Tezos (XTZ)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2019�� � $�
Purchases 90,338.0910 121,000
Sales � �
Net realized gain/loss on investment � �
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 2,618

Balance at December 31, 2019�� 90,338.0910 $123,618

Zcash (ZEC)
Units Fair Value

Balance at January 1, 2019�� 1,608.3813 $89,885
Purchases 204.6065 12,115
Sales (1,812.9878) (158,945)
Net realized loss on investment � (205,132)
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investment � 262,077

Balance at December 31, 2019�� � $�

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.

As of December 31, 2019, Bitcoin represented approximately 80% of the total Portfolio Crypto Assets held by the Trust, and Ethereum and Ripple
represented 7.85% and 5.14%, respectively, while the remaining 7.6% of the Portfolio Crypto Assets were comprised of Bitcoin Cash, Litecoin, EOS,
Stellar Lumens, Tezos, Monero, Dash, and Cardano.
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Historical Portfolio Crypto Asset Prices

The following provides an overview of the prices of the Portfolio Crypto Assets that comprised the majority of the Trust�s assets during the quarterly
period ended March 31, 2021. The Trust calculates a composite reference price daily by averaging across all prices from select trading venues weighted
by their 60-minute trade volume. The list of exchanges currently used in order to calculate daily reference prices include Poloniex, Binance, Bittrex,
Kraken, Bitstamp, itBit, Gemini, Coinbase and BitFlyer. The Trust calculates a composite reference price daily by averaging across all prices weighted
by their 60-minute trade volume. The Trust does not make adjustments when calculating the average price. For further information on the calculation of
the average, please see �Business�Business of the Trust Index�Index Methodology�Composite Price Index.�

Three-Months Ended March 31, 2021��

Crypto Asset Average High Date Low Date
End of
Period Date

Bitcoin $45,229.24 $61,282.30 3/13/2021 $29,264.11 1/1/2021 $58,586.41 3/31/2021
Ether $1,538.09 $1,987.21 2/20/2021 $730.67 1/1/2021 $1,899.59 3/31/2021
Litecoin $174.37 $239.39 2/19/2021 $126.35 1/1/2021 $193.15 3/31/2021
Chainlink $25.17 $35.65 2/20/2021 $11.46 1/2/2021 $27.96 3/31/2021
Bitcoin Cash $506.71 $746.48 2/15/2021 $338.22 1/2/2021 $525.73 3/31/2021
Stellar Lumens $0.36 $0.55 2/13/2021 $0.12 1/2/2021 $0.39 3/31/2021
Uniswap $20.21 $34.74 3/22/2021 $4.71 1/2/2021 $27.64 3/31/2021
Aave $325.01 $525.35 2/12/2021 $82.31 1/2/2021 $381.29 3/31/2021
EOS $3.63 $5.43 2/13/2021 $2.49 1/2/2021 $4.62 3/31/2021
Cosmos $14.71 $24.81 2/17/2021 $5.20 1/2/2021 $18.96 3/31/2021

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2020��

Crypto Asset Average High Date Low Date
End of
Period Date

Bitcoin $11,107.74 $29,174.55 12/31/2020 $4,962.38 3/16/2020 $29,174.55 12/31/2020
Ether $307.13 $751.82 12/30/2020 $110.31 3/16/2020 $744.93 12/31/2020
Litecoin $56.16 $133.75 12/26/2020 $32.28 3/16/2020 $124.43 12/31/2020
Chainlink $7.44 $19.56 8/15/2020 $1.72 1/2/2020 $11.21 12/31/2020
Bitcoin Cash $269.82 $493.33 2/14/2020 $168.35 3/16/2020 $341.92 12/31/2020
Stellar Lumens $0.08 $0.22 11/25/2020 $0.03 3/16/2020 $0.13 12/31/2020
EOS $2.91 $5.41 2/12/2020 $1.87 3/16/2020 $2.59 12/31/2020
Cosmos $4.12 $8.17 8/24/2020 $1.65 3/16/2020 $6.10 12/31/2020
Tezos $2.43 $4.36 8/16/2020 $1.25 1/4/2020 $2.01 12/31/2020
Cardano $0.09 $0.18 12/29/2020 $0.02 3/16/2020 $0.18 12/31/2020
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Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2019��

Crypto Asset Average High Date Low Date
End of
Period Date

Bitcoin $7,358.62 $13,827.07 6/26/2019 $3,361.18 2/7/2019 $7,147.66 2/31/2019
Ether $180.64 $350.55 6/26/2019 $103.42 2/7/2019 $127.89 2/31/2019
Litecoin $69.27 $142.01 6/22/2019 $29.96 1/13/2019 $41.01 12/31/2019
Chainlink $1.53 $4.25 6/29/2019 $0.29 1/1/2019 $1.76 12/31/2019
Bitcoin Cash $259.84 $505.08 6/26/2019 $108.79 1/28/2019 $202.03 12/31/2019
Stellar Lumens $0.09 $0.14 5/19/2019 $0.04 2/17/2019 $0.04 2/31/2019
EOS $3.99 $8.18 5/29/2019 $2.18 12/17/2019 $2.56 12/31/2019
Tezos $1.00 $1.78 2/13/2019 $0.36 2/7/2019 $1.37 2/31/2019
Cardano $0.05 $0.10 6/26/2019 $0.03 2/17/2019 $0.03 2/31/2019
XRP $0.31 $0.48 6/26/2019 $0.18 12/17/2019 $0.19 12/31/2019

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.

Ripple (��XRP��)

On December 22, 2020, the Trust elected to liquidate its position in the digital asset XRP after the SEC filed a complaint against XRP creator Ripple
Labs Inc. and two of its executives, alleging that they failed to register XRP offers and sales, or satisfy any exemptions from registration.

Period Average High Date Low Date End of Period Date
January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019 $0.31 $0.48 6/26/2019 $0.18 12/17/2019 $ 0.19 12/31/2019
January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020 $0.26 $0.71 11/24/2020 $0.14 03/16/2020 $ 0.22 12/31/2020

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Trust is not a party to any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The Trust Agreement does not authorize the Trust to borrow for payment of the Trust�s ordinary expenses. The Trust does not engage in transactions in
foreign fiat currencies which could expose the Trust or holders of Shares to any foreign fiat currency related market risk. The Trust does not invest in
derivative financial instruments and has no foreign operations or long-term debt instruments.

Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The financial statements are expressed in U.S. dollars and have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (�U.S. GAAP�). The Trust is an investment company and follows the specialized accounting and reporting guidance in the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) Accounting Standards Codification (�ASC� or �Codification�) Topic 946, Financial Services�Investment
Companies.

Pursuant to the Statement of Cash Flows Topic of the Codification, the Trust qualifies for an exemption from the requirement to provide a statement of
cash flows and has elected not to provide a statement of cash flows.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
income and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash

Cash represents cash deposits held at financial institutions. Cash in a bank deposit account, at times, may exceed U.S. federally insured limits. The Trust
has not experienced any losses in such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to any significant credit risk on such bank deposits.

Investments and Valuation

Calculation of Valuation

For all periods through the quarterly period ended March 31, 2021, the NAV per share, the NAV of the Trust, and the fair valuations for each Portfolio
Crypto Asset were calculated by the Trust�s Administrator in reliance on the fair value of each portfolio crypto asset based on the Blended Bitwise
Crypto Asset Price, which the Sponsor was responsible for calculating. The Sponsor provided this price to the Administrator, and the Administrator used
this price (multiplied by the Trust�s holdings) for each asset to determine the fair value of the Trust�s assets. The Administrator then subtracted the
Trust�s liabilities to determine the Trust�s NAV. The administrator then divided this value by the Trust�s shares outstanding in order to determine the
NAV per share. As a result of the Sponsor�s responsibility in this regard, any errors, discontinuance or changes in such valuation calculations may have
had or may have an adverse effect on the value of the Shares. The Sponsor instituted this valuation policy because it determined that such policy was in
the best interest of shareholders, as it would avoid misstatements in valuation of the assets potentially arising from deviations in pricing across the
digital asset market, and because of the fragmented nature of the digital asset trading ecosystem. As a result, management applied this valuation
technique which it determined to be appropriate given the circumstances.

Following the filing of its Form 10, the Sponsor conducted a complete review of its process for determining fair valuation in the presentation of its
financial statements and calculation of NAV. In this process, the Sponsor evaluated whether or not the identification of a principal market for each of the
Trust�s assets for valuation purposes, during each period for which the Trust created and had audited its financial statements, would have created a
material difference in the Trust�s estimated fair value or assets. In conjunction, the Sponsor began to consider a change in valuation policy for the fair
valuation of cryptocurrencies held in the Trust. As a result, the Sponsor developed a process for the determination of a principal market for each asset
based on this consideration and intends to disclose this change in valuation policy and accounting policy when implemented, which has been
implemented prior to the creation of financial statements for the period ending September 30, 2021. The price that is calculated using a principal market
is known as the Principal Market Bitwise Crypto Asset Price. The Blended Bitwise Crypto Asset Price is no longer used for any calculations by Trust,
including NAV per share, NAV of the Trust or fair valuations for any Portfolio Crypto Asset.

The process that the Sponsor has developed for identifying a principal market that would be used for the calculation of the Principal Market Bitwise
Crypto Asset Price, as described in Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) Accounting Standards Codification (�ASC�) 820-10, which
outlines the application of fair value accounting, was to begin by identifying publicly available, well-established and reputable cryptocurrency
exchanges selected by the Sponsor and its affiliates in their sole discretion, currently including BitFlyer, Binance, Bitstamp, Bittrex, Coinbase, itBit,
Kraken, Gemini and Poloniex, and then calculating, on each valuation period, the highest volume exchange during the 60 minutes prior to 16:00 ET for
each asset. In evaluating the markets that could be considered principal markets, the Trust considered whether or not the specific markets were
accessible to the Trust, either directly or through an intermediary, at the end of each period.
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In the process of this review, the Sponsor also retroactively applied this process for identifying a principal market to the prior periods of reported
financial results, including the fiscal years 2018, 2019 and 2020, to determine whether or not any material or significant differences would have resulted
from the application of a different valuation policy in the creation of each financial statement (e.g., comparing the fair value prices determined using the
existing and previous valuation methodology to the hypothetical fair value prices using an identified principal market for each asset) and to consider
whether management�s use of the existing valuation policy would have created any material departures from a valuation policy of identifying a
principal market.
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The results of this review are presented in the tables below for each period end for which the Trust prepared, and had audited, financial statements. The
Sponsor�s results conclude that there are no material or significant differences in valuation or the financial statements as presented when using the
policy of identifying a principal market described above as compared to the existing valuation methodology for any period since the Trust commenced
operations, as the average difference in valuation prices was in all cases less than 0.05% or five one hundredths of one percent for each asset for each
period measured, and that such differences are immaterial in all cases.

Quarterly Period Ended March 31, 2021

Asset
Existing Fair
Value Price

Potential
Principal
Market

Potential Principal
Market Price

Difference in
Valuation in
Percentage

Terms
BTC $58,586.41 Coinbase $ 58,601.27 0.03 %
ETH $1,899.59 Coinbase $ 1,899.98 0.02 %
BCH $525.73 Coinbase $ 526.01 0.05 %
LTC $193.15 Coinbase $ 193.22 0.04 %
EOS $4.62 Coinbase $ 4.62 0.07 %
XLM $0.39 Coinbase $ 0.39 0.05 %
LINK $27.96 Coinbase $ 27.96 0.01 %
ATOM $18.96 Coinbase $ 18.96 -0.04 %
UNI $27.64 Coinbase $ 27.62 -0.05 %
AAVE $381.29 Coinbase $ 381.25 -0.01 %

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2020

Asset
Existing Fair
Value Price

Potential
Principal
Market

Potential Principal
Market Price

Difference in
Valuation in
Percentage

Terms
BTC $29,174.55 Coinbase $ 29,185.05 0.04 %
ETH $744.93 Coinbase $ 744.99 0.01 %
BCH $341.92 Binance $ 342.10 0.05 %
LTC $124.43 Coinbase $ 124.49 0.05 %
EOS $2.59 Coinbase $ 2.59 -0.11 %
XLM $0.13 Coinbase $ 0.13 -0.07 %
XTZ $2.01 Coinbase $ 2.01 -0.06 %
LINK $11.21 Coinbase $ 11.21 0.00 %

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2019

Asset
Existing Fair
Value Price

Potential
Principal
Market

Potential Principal
Market Price

Difference in
Valuation in
Percentage

Terms
BTC $7,147.65 Coinbase $ 7,145.00 -0.04 %
ETH $127.89 Coinbase $ 127.86 -0.02 %
BCH $202.03 Binance $ 202.19 0.08 %
XRP $0.19 Coinbase $ 0.19 0.03 %
LTC $41.01 Coinbase $ 41.01 0.01 %
XMR $44.40 Binance $ 44.42 0.06 %
EOS $2.56 Coinbase $ 2.56 -0.02 %
XLM $0.04 Coinbase $ 0.04 -0.06 %
ADA $0.03 Binance $ 0.03 -0.03 %
XTZ $1.37 Binance $ 1.37 -0.08 %

While management has applied accounting standards it believes are appropriate to the circumstances, and despite these findings that the previous results
are immaterially different, the Sponsor intends to change its valuation
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policy going forward based on the foregoing discussion and interpretation of ASC 820. The Sponsor intends to change its valuation policy for the
purposes of calculating its ongoing net asset value, and processing ongoing subscription into the Trust and will similarly disclose this change in
valuation policy, as well as the difference between the two policies. Beginning with the financial statements ended September 30, 2021, the Sponsor and
the Trust will utilize only the Principal Market Bitwise Crypto Asset Price. As described in the Explanatory Note the Trust determined that the previous
valuation policy, which utilized a blended average approach for calculating the price of a digital asset instead of identifying a principal market for such
digital asset, was not in keeping with the proper application of U.S. GAAP, specifically ASC 820, and, therefore, resulted in an immaterial error. In
accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification 250 (�ASC 250�), the Trust corrected this immaterial
error by making changes to the valuation policy and the financial statements in subsequent periods.

Valuation during the periods presented

During the periods presented, the trust carried its investments at fair value in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement. Fair
value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., the �exit price�) in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. Fair value investments are not adjusted for transaction costs. The Trust utilized this method for purposes of
calculating the Trust�s NAV.

In determining fair value, the Trust use various valuation approaches. A fair value hierarchy for inputs is used in measuring fair value that maximizes
the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs are to be used when available.
The fair value hierarchy is categorized into three levels based on the inputs as follows:

Level 1 � Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Trust has the ability to access.

Level 2 � Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly.
These inputs may include (a) quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, (b) quoted prices for identical or similar assets in markets that are not
active, (c) inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset, or (d) inputs derived principally from or corroborated by observable market
data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 � Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement.

The availability of valuation techniques and observable inputs can vary from investment to investment and are affected by a wide variety of factors,
including the type of investment, whether the investment is new and not yet established in the marketplace, the liquidity of markets, and other
characteristics particular to the transaction.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, the level in the fair value
hierarchy which the fair value measurement falls in its entirety is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

The following summarizes the Trust�s assets accounted for at fair value at March 31, 2021.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets

Investments in digital assets, at fair value $ � $1,004,485,006 $ � $1,004,485,006

The following summarizes the Trust�s assets accounted for at fair value at December 31, 2020.
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets
Investments in digital assets, at fair value $ � $374,017,545 $ � $374,017,545

During the period, all of the Trust�s assets were considered �Level 2� valuations, because the valuations were based on quoted prices in markets that are
not active or for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly. These inputs may include (a) quoted prices for similar assets in
active markets, (b) quoted prices for identical or similar assets in markets that are not active, (c) inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for
the asset, or (d) inputs derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

The Trust generally records receipt of a new digital asset created due to a hard fork at the time the hard fork is effective. The Trust�s methodology for
determining effectiveness of the fork is when two or more recognized exchanges quote prices for the forked coin. Some exchanges and custodians do
not honor hard forks or may honor hard forks in the future. In such cases, the Trust will record receipt of the new digital asset at the time two or more
recognized exchanges begin quoting prices for the asset. Although the Trust records the asset into its books and records at the time the fork is effective,
as described above, the Trust�s custodian may take an extended period of time to make the forked asset available for transfer, and it may never make the
forked asset available for transfer, which could lead to either the Trust holding the asset longer than it would otherwise hold the asset (if it was freely
transferrable), or a complete write-down in the value of the forked asset. The Trust does not allocate any of the original digital asset�s cost to the new
digital asset and recognizes unrealized gains equal to the fair value of the new digital asset received.

There were not hard forks during the period that were not initially recognized but were subsequently recognized.

In November 2018, the Trust received 2,072.49 units of Bitcoin SV (BSV), a forked asset. The Trust carried these units at fair value as an Asset,
Investment in digital assets, in its December 31, 2018 financial statements. In January, 2019, the Trust disposed of its units of BSV for $191,519.05, and
the proceeds were distributed across other Portfolio Crypto Assets.

Digital asset transactions are recorded on the trade date. Realized gains and losses from digital asset transactions are determined using the identified cost
method. Any change in net unrealized gain or loss is reported in the statement of operations. Commissions and other trading fees are reflected as an
adjustment to cost or proceeds at the time of the transaction.

The Trust generally records receipt of a new digital asset created due to a hard fork at the time the hard fork is effective. The Trust�s methodology for
determining effectiveness of the fork is when two or more recognized exchanges quote prices for the forked coin. Some exchanges and custodians do
not honor hard forks or may honor hard forks in the future. In such cases, the Trust will record receipt of the new digital asset at the time two or more
recognized exchanges begin quoting prices for the asset.

Although the Trust records the asset into its books and records at the time the fork is effective, as described above, the Trust�s Custodian (defined
below) may take an extended period of time to make the forked asset available for transfer, and it may never make the forked asset available for transfer,
which could lead to either the Trust holding the asset longer than it would otherwise hold the asset (if it was freely transferrable), or a complete write-
down in the value of the forked asset. The Trust does not allocate any of the original digital asset�s cost to the new digital asset and recognizes
unrealized gains equal to the fair value of the new digital asset received.

The Trust intermittently receives �airdrops� of new digital assets. The use of airdrops is generally to promote the launch and use of new digital assets by
providing a small amount of such new digital assets to the private wallets

108

Copyright © 2022 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Table of Contents
or exchange accounts that support the new digital asset and that hold existing related digital assets. Unlike hard forks, airdropped digital assets can have
substantially different blockchain technology that has no relation to any existing digital asset, and many airdrops may be without value. The Trust
records receipt of airdropped digital assets when received if there is value to the Trust in doing so. Digital assets received from airdrops have no cost
basis and the Trust recognizes unrealized gains equal to the fair value of the new digital asset received. There were no �airdrops� recognized or not
recognized during the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2021 or the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

Income Taxes

The Trust is classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Trust does not record a provision for U.S. federal, U.S. state or local
income taxes because the Shareholders report their share of the Trust�s income or loss on their income tax returns. The Trust files an income tax return
in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and may file income tax returns in various U.S. states and foreign jurisdictions.

The Trust is required to determine whether its tax positions are more likely than not to be sustained on examination by the applicable taxing authority,
based on the technical merits of the position. Tax positions not deemed to meet a more likely than not threshold would be recorded as a tax expense in
the current year. As of March 31, 2021 and 2020, the Trust has determined that no provision for income taxes is required and no liability for
unrecognized tax benefits has been recorded. The Trust does not expect that its assessment related to unrecognized tax benefits will materially change
over the next 12 months. However, the Trust�s conclusions may be subject to review and adjustment at a later date based on factors including, but not
limited to, the nexus of income among various tax jurisdictions; compliance with U.S. federal, U.S. state, and tax laws of jurisdictions in which the Trust
operates in; and changes in the administrative practices and precedents of the relevant authorities.

Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk

Digital Assets

Digital assets are loosely regulated and there is no central marketplace for currency exchange. Supply is determined by a computer code, not by a central
bank, and prices have been extremely volatile. Digital asset exchanges have been closed due to fraud, failure or security breaches. Any of the Trust�s
assets that reside on an exchange that shuts down may be lost. At March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, no digital assets and $759,000 reside on
exchanges, respectively.

Several factors may affect the price of digital assets, including, but not limited to: supply and demand, investors� expectations with respect to the rate of
inflation, interest rates, currency exchange rates or future regulatory measures (if any) that restrict the trading of digital assets or the use of digital assets
as a form of payment. There is no assurance that digital assets will maintain their long-term value in terms of purchasing power in the future, or that
acceptance of digital asset payments by mainstream retail merchants and commercial businesses will continue to grow.

Digital Asset Regulation

As digital assets have grown in popularity and market size, various countries and jurisdictions have begun to develop regulations governing the digital
assets industry. To the extent that future regulatory actions or policies limit the ability to exchange digital assets or utilize them for payments, the
demand for digital assets will be reduced. Furthermore, regulatory actions may limit the ability of end-users to convert digital assets into fiat currency
(e.g., U.S. dollars) or use digital assets to pay for goods and services. Such regulatory actions or policies would result in a reduction of demand, and in
turn, a decline in the underlying digital asset unit prices.

The effect of any future regulatory change on the Trust or digital assets in general is impossible to predict, but such change could be substantial and
adverse to the Trust and the value of the Trust�s investments in digital assets.
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Custody of Digital Assets

Coinbase Custody Trust Company, LLC (the �Custodian�) serves as the Trust�s Custodian for digital assets for which qualified custody is available.
The Custodian is subject to change in the sole discretion of the Sponsor. At March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, digital assets of approximately
$1,004,485,000 and $373,259,000 are held by the Custodian, respectively.

Digital Asset Trading is Volatile and Speculative

Digital assets represent a speculative investment and involve a high degree of risk. Prices of digital assets have fluctuated widely for a variety of reasons
including uncertainties in government regulation and may continue to experience significant price fluctuations. If digital asset markets continue to be
subject to sharp fluctuations, Shareholders may experience losses as the value of the Trust�s investments decline. Even if Shareholders are able to hold
their Shares in the Trust for the long-term, their Shares may never generate a profit, since digital asset markets have historically experienced extended
periods of flat or declining prices, in addition to sharp fluctuations.

Over-the-Counter Transactions

Some of the markets in which the Trust may execute its transactions are �over-the-counter� or �interdealer� markets. The participants in such markets
are typically not subject to credit evaluation and regulatory oversight as are members of �exchange-based� markets. This exposes the Trust to the risk
that a counterparty will not settle a transaction in accordance with its terms and conditions because of a dispute over the terms of the contract (whether
or not bona fide) or because of a credit or liquidity problem, thus causing the Trust to suffer a loss. Such �counterparty risk� is accentuated for digital
assets where the Trust has concentrated its transactions with a single or small group of counterparties. The Trust is not restricted from dealing with any
particular counterparty or from concentrating any or all of its transactions with one counterparty. Moreover, the Trust has no internal credit function that
evaluates the creditworthiness of its counterparties. The ability of the Trust to transact business with any one or number of counterparties, the lack of
any meaningful and independent evaluation of such counterparty�s financial capabilities and the absence of a regulated market to facilitate settlement
may increase the potential for losses by the Trust.

No FDIC or SIPC Protection

The Trust is not a banking institution or otherwise a member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (�FDIC�) or the Securities Investor
Protection Corporation (�SIPC�). Accordingly, deposits or assets held by the Trust are not subject to the protections enjoyed by depositors with FDIC or
SIPC member institutions. The Trust�s cryptocurrency Custodian does however carry bespoke insurance policies related to the cryptocurrencies over
which it provides custody.

The Trust must adapt to technological change in order to secure and safeguard client accounts. While management believes they have developed an
appropriate proprietary security system reasonably designed to safeguard the Trust�s digital assets from theft, loss, destruction or other issues relating to
hackers and technological attack, such assessment is based upon known technology and threats. To the extent that the Trust is unable to identify and
mitigate or stop new security threats, the Trust�s digital assets may be subject to theft, loss, destruction or other attack, which could have a negative
impact on the performance of the Trust or result in loss of the Trust�s digital assets.

Risks Associated with a Cryptocurrency Majority Control

Since cryptocurrencies are virtual and transactions in such currencies reside on distributed networks, governance of the underlying distributed network
could be adversely altered should any individual or group obtain 51% control of the distributed network. Such control could have a significant adverse
effect on either the ownership or value of the cryptocurrency.
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Transaction Authentication

As of the date of these financial statements, the transfer of digital currency assets from one party to another typically relies on an authentication process
by an outside party known as a miner. In exchange for compensation, the miner will authenticate the transfer of the currency through the solving of a
complex algorithm known as a proof of work, or will vouch for the transfer through other means, such as a proof of stake. Effective transfers of and
therefore realization of cryptocurrency, digital assets and tokens are dependent on interactions from these miners or forgers. In the event that there were
a shortage of miners to perform this function, that shortage could have an adverse effect on either the fair value or realization of the cryptocurrency
assets.

COVID-19

The future impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the financial performance and operations of the Trust will depend on future developments, including
the duration and spread of the virus and related advisories and restrictions. These developments and the impact of COVID-19 on blockchain markets and
the overall economy, as well as on the financial performance and operations of the Trust, are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted.

ITEM 3. PROPERTIES.

Principal Offices

The Trust is a passive entity with no operations, and the Sponsor administers and manages the Trust as described under �Description of the Trust.� The
principal office of the Sponsor is located at 300 Brannan Street, Suite 201 San Francisco, CA 94107. The lease expires on August 31, 2021.
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ITEM 4. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT.

The following is a list of the name, address and shareholdings of all persons beneficially owning more than five percent (5%) of the Trust�s Shares and
officers and directors of the Sponsor owning the Trust�s Shares as of March 31, 2021. Due to the terms of the Trust Agreement, such Shareholders do
not have any control or additional rights with respect to the operation of the Trust vis a vis the Trust�s other Shareholders. In addition, such beneficial
Shareholders owning more than five percent (5%) of the Trust�s Shares are not affiliated with the Trust, the Sponsor or Bitwise Asset Management in
any capacity other than as a Shareholder in the Trust.

Shareholder Name Address
Number of

Shares
Percentage
Ownership Entity Control Persons

Persons beneficially owning more than 5%

Alameda Research LTD Tortola Pier Park, Building 1. 2nd Floor
Wickhams Cay I, Tortola
Road Town VG1110
British Virgin Islands

1,729,422 8.74% Sam Bankman-Fried

Hunting Hill Global Capital, LLC 122 East 42nd Street
Suite 5005
New York, NY 10168

1,548,039 7.83% Adam Guren
Curt Brockelman
Douglas P. Dozier, Jr.

Electric Capital Venture Fund I, LP 855 El Camino Real, #13A-152
Palo Alto, CA 94301

1,168,777 5.91% Avichal Garg
Curtis Spencer

Cumberland DRW LLC 540 W Madison St
Suite 2500
Chicago, IL 60661

1,248,359 6.31% Christopher Zuehlke

Officers and Directors

Hunter Horsley 300 Brannan Street,
Suite 201
San Francisco, CA 94107

3,681 * Hunter Horsley

Matthew Hougan 300 Brannan Street,
Suite 201
San Francisco, CA 94107

5,087 * Matthew Hougan

Michael McLaughlin 300 Brannan Street,
Suite 201
San Francisco, CA 94107

1,020 * Michael McLaughlin

Corey Mulloy 300 Brannan Street,
Suite 201
San Francisco, CA 94107

69, 726 * Corey Mulloy

* represents less than 1% ownership

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers.

The following individuals included in the chart above are affiliated with the Trust:

� Hunter Horsley is a Director and Chief Executive Officer of Bitwise Asset Management, and President of the Sponsor

� Matthew Hougan is the Chief Investment Officer of Bitwise Asset Management
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� Michael McLaughlin is the Head of Business Development of Bitwise Asset Management

� Corey Mulloy is a Director of Bitwise Asset Management, the parent company of the Trust�s Sponsor

ITEM 5. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS.

The Sponsor

Bitwise Investment Advisers, LLC is the Sponsor of the Trust, and has the sole responsibility for the implementation of the Trust�s investment strategy,
in accordance with the Trust�s investment objectives, policies, and restrictions, pursuant to an investment advisory agreement between the Trust and the
Sponsor. As described under �Description of the Trust�Bitwise Crypto Index Committee,� a committee selected by the Sponsor oversees Index
Methodology.

The Sponsor is neither an investment adviser registered with the SEC nor a commodity pool operator registered with the CFTC, and will not be acting in
either such capacity with respect to the Trust, and the Sponsor�s provision of services to the Trust will not be governed by the Investment Advisers Act
or the CEA.

Bitwise Investment Advisers, LLC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bitwise Asset Management, Inc. The Sponsor had 13 employees as of December 31,
2020.

The Sponsor��s Role

The Sponsor is generally responsible for the day-to-day administration of the Trust under the provisions of the Trust Agreement. This includes
(i) preparing and providing periodic reports and financial statements on behalf of the Trust for Shareholders, (ii) processing orders for subscriptions and
coordinating the processing of such orders, with the assistance of the Administrator (as defined below), (iii) calculating and publishing the Index,
(iv) selecting and monitoring the Trust�s service providers and from time to time engaging additional, successor or replacement service providers,
(v) instructing the Custodian to withdraw the Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets as needed to pay Trust Expenses or Organizational Expenses, and
(vi) upon any dissolution of the Trust, distributing the Trust�s remaining Portfolio Crypto Assets or the cash proceeds of the sale thereof to the owners
of record of the Shares.

The Sponsor does not store, hold, or maintain control of the Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets, and does not maintain any form of insurance on the
Portfolio Crypto Assets. The Trust has entered into the Custodian Agreement with the Custodian (the �Custodian Agreement�) to facilitate the security
of the Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets. See � �The Custodian� for additional information. See �The Sponsor may experience loss or theft of its Portfolio
Crypto Assets during the transfer of Portfolio Crypto Assets from the Custodian to the Sponsor or to Crypto Asset trading venues.�

The Sponsor�s Management Fee is paid by the Trust as compensation for services performed under the Trust Agreement. See � �Compensation, Fees,
and Expenses.�

Under certain circumstances, the Sponsor may gain control of the Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets. These circumstances may include withdrawals of its
Portfolio Crypto Assets by the Sponsor in order venues in order to make certain types of trades. The ability to gain temporary control of even a portion
of the Portfolio Crypto Assets is restricted to limited number of authorized personnel of the Sponsor. Once the Custodian processes the transaction, the
Sponsor has the ability to send the withdrawn Portfolio Crypto Assets to the delivery address of trading counterparties or trading venues. During any
such transfer, the Portfolio Crypto Assets may be vulnerable to security breaches, including hacking and other efforts to obtain the Portfolio Crypto
Assets, as well as the risk that while Portfolio Crypto Assets are under the Sponsor�s control, an employee of the Sponsor could access and obtain the
Portfolio Crypto Assets. Some of these attempts to obtain the Portfolio Crypto Assets may be successful, and the Sponsor may lose some or all of the
transferred Portfolio Crypto Assets. In addition, Portfolio
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Crypto Assets transferred to exchanges or other trading venues or protocols are subject to increased risk of loss or theft due to reliance on the security
procedures of the trading venue (when the Portfolio Crypto Assets are no longer in the custody of the Custodian) and because the same withdrawal
procedures required by the Custodian, which are designed to reduce the risk of error or theft, may not be required by trading venues. Portfolio Crypto
Assets transferred for the purposes of lending, staking, or participating in other network activities are subject to similar risk of loss, theft, or
technological complication that could result in the loss of Portfolio Crypto Assets in their entirety.

Management of the Sponsor

The Trust does not have any directors, officers or employees. Under the Trust Agreement, all management functions of the Trust have been delegated to
and are conducted by the Sponsor, its agents and its affiliates, including without limitation, the Custodian and its agents. As a result, the officers of the
Sponsor may take certain actions and execute certain agreements and certifications for the Trust, in their capacity as the principal officers of the
Sponsor. The following individuals are the officers of the Sponsor responsible for overseeing the business and operations of the Trust:

Hunter Horsley, 30, is the President and Treasurer of the Sponsor. Prior to joining Bitwise Asset Management, Inc., Mr. Horsley was a product
manager at Facebook and Instagram leading efforts in monetization from 2015 to 2016. He graduated from the Wharton School at the University
of Pennsylvania with a Bachelor of Science in Economics in 2015. Mr. Horsley took two years off of school from 2011-2013 to be on the
founding team of a technology Trust called Lore (formerly known as CourseKit) to assist in the development of an online learning tool
incorporating social networking features. Lore raised over $6 million in equity, grew to 20 employees, and was sold to Noodle Education, Inc. in
2013. Horsley was named a member of Forbes� 2019 �30 Under 30� list.

Paul ��Teddy�� Fusaro, 35, is the Chief Operating Officer and Corporate Secretary of the Sponsor. Prior to Bitwise, Mr. Fusaro was Senior Vice
President and Head of Portfolio Management and Capital Markets at IndexIQ, the ETF issuer unit of New York Life Investment Management, a
firm with over $550 billion in AUM, from 2013 to 2018. In this capacity he oversaw portfolio management, trading, and operations for a suite of
alternative strategy Exchange Traded Funds, Mutual Funds, and Separately Managed Accounts. Prior to that, Mr. Fusaro was Vice President of
Portfolio Management and co-head of Trading and Operations at Direxion Investments, a $13 billion AUM alternative ETF Sponsor, from 2009 to
2013. Earlier in his career, Mr. Fusaro spent time in both equity derivatives and credit derivatives at Goldman Sachs & Co.

Hong Kim, 30, is the Chief Technology Officer of the Sponsor. Prior to Bitwise, Mr. Kim was a student at the University of Pennsylvania where
he graduated with Bachelor of Science in Computer Science in 2016. While at school, he also worked on Google�s backend infrastructure for
Drive. From 2011-2013, Mr. Kim took time off from university to work in software security for the South Korean Military.

The following individuals are executive officers of Bitwise Asset Management, Inc., the parent of the Sponsor:

� Hunter Horsley is also the Chief Executive Officer of Bitwise and has served in such role since Bitwise�s inception in October 2016.

� Paul ��Teddy�� Fusaro is also the President of Bitwise and has served in such capacity since April 2018.

� Hong Kim is also the Chief Technology Officer of Bitwise and has served in such capacity since Bitwise�s inception.

� Matt Hougan is the Chief Investment Officer for Bitwise, and has served at the firm since February 2018. Prior to Bitwise, Mr. Hougan
was the Chief Executive Officer of Inside ETFs and Managing Director of Global Finance at Informa PLC, a FTSE 100 company. Before
that, he was Chief Executive
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Officer of ETF.com, where he helped build the world�s first ETF data and analytics system, before the firm was sold in three separate
transactions to FactSet, Informa, and BATS Global Markets. Mr. Hougan is a three-time member of the Barron�s ETF Roundtable and
co-author of the CFA (Chartered Financial Analyst) Institute�s monograph on ETFs (Exchange Traded Funds) and research brief on
cryptocurrencies. Hougan�s thoughts on investing have been widely profiled in the media, including in Barron�s, Bloomberg, The Wall
Street Journal, The New York Times, Institutional Investor, CNBC, and the Financial Times. He has been featured on Bloomberg�s
�Masters of Business,� and is a regular guest on PBS�s Wealthtrack.

The Trustee and the Trust Agreement

The Trustee

Delaware Trust Company serves as Delaware trustee of the Trust under the Trust Agreement (the �Trustee�). The Trustee has its principal office at 251
Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, Delaware 19808. The Trustee is unaffiliated with the Sponsor.

The Trustee��s Role

The Trustee is appointed to serve as the trustee of the Trust in the State of Delaware for the purpose of satisfying the requirement of Section 3807(a) of
the DSTA that the Trust have at least one trustee with a principal place of business in the State of Delaware. The duties of the Trustee will be limited to
(i) accepting legal process served on the Trust in the State of Delaware, (ii) the execution of any certificates required to be filed with the Delaware
Secretary of State which the Delaware Trustee is required to execute under the DSTA, (iii) maintaining all records necessary to form and maintain the
existence of the Trust under the DSTA, and (iv) any other duties specifically allocated to the Trustee in the Trust Agreement. To the extent that, at law or
in equity, the Trustee has duties (including fiduciary duties) and liabilities relating thereto to the Trust or the Shareholders, such duties and liabilities will
be replaced by the duties and liabilities of the Trustee expressly set forth in the Trust Agreement. The Trustee will have no obligation to supervise, nor
will it be liable for, the acts or omissions of the Sponsor, the Custodian or any other person.

Neither the Trustee, either in its capacity as trustee on in its individual capacity, nor any director, officer or controlling person of the Trustee is, or has
any liability as, the issuer, director, officer or controlling person of the issuer of Shares. The Trustee�s liability in connection with the issuance and sale
of Shares is limited solely to the express obligations of the Trustee as set forth in the Trust Agreement.

The Trustee has not prepared or verified, and will not be responsible or liable for, any information, disclosure or other statement in this Form 10 or in
any other document issued or delivered to you. The Trust Agreement provides that the Trustee will not be responsible or liable for the form, character,
genuineness, enforceability, collectability, value, validity, sufficiency, location or existence of any of the Portfolio Crypto Assets or other assets of the
Trust.

The Trustee is permitted to resign upon at least sixty (60) days� notice to the Sponsor. The Trustee will be compensated by the Sponsor and shall be
entitled to be reimbursed by the Sponsor or an Affiliate of the Sponsor (including the Trust) against any expenses it incurs relating to or arising out of
the formation, operation or termination of the Trust, or the performance of its duties pursuant to the Trust Agreement except to the extent that such
expenses result from gross negligence, willful misconduct or bad faith of the Trustee. The Sponsor has the discretion to replace the Trustee. Fees paid to
the Trustee are a Sponsor-paid expense.

Description of the Trust Agreement

The Voting Rights of Shareholders

The shareholders of the Trust have no voting rights.
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Derivative Actions, Suits or Other Proceedings

Subject to any other requirements of applicable law including Section 3816 of the Trust Act, no shareholder shall have the right, power or authority to
bring or maintain a derivative action, suit or other proceeding on behalf of the Trust, other than claims under the federal securities laws and the rules and
regulations thereunder, unless two or more shareholders who (i) are not affiliates of one another and (ii) collectively hold at least 10% of the outstanding
shares join in the bringing or maintaining of such action, suit or other proceeding.

In addition to the requirements set forth in Section 3816 of the Trust Act, a shareholder may bring a derivative action on behalf of the Trust only if the
following conditions are met: (i) the shareholder or shareholders must make a pre-suit demand upon the Sponsor to bring the subject action unless an
effort to cause the Sponsor to bring such an action is not likely to succeed; and a demand on the Sponsor shall only be deemed not likely to succeed and
therefore excused if the Sponsor has a personal financial interest in the transaction at issue, and the Sponsor shall not be deemed interested in a
transaction or otherwise disqualified from ruling on the merits of a shareholder demand by virtue of the fact that the Sponsor receives remuneration for
its service as the Sponsor or as a sponsor of one or more companies that are under common management with or otherwise affiliated with the Trust; and
(ii) unless a demand is not required under (i), discussed above, the Sponsor must be afforded a reasonable amount of time to consider such shareholder
request and to investigate the basis of such claim; and the Sponsor shall be entitled to retain counsel or other advisors in considering the merits of the
request and may require an undertaking by the shareholders making such request to reimburse the Trust for the expense of any such advisors in the event
that the Sponsor determines not to bring such action.

This provision in the Trust Agreement regarding the right to bring a derivative action, suit or other proceeding on behalf of the Trust does not apply to
claims under the federal securities laws.

The Removal of the Sponsor

The shareholders shall not have any right to remove the Sponsor for any reason. The Sponsor may at any time determine to liquidate and dissolve the
Trust without any action by the Shareholders.

Amendments to the Trust Agreement

The Trust Agreement may be amended at any time solely upon the written consent of the Sponsor for the purpose of (i) reflecting new shareholders;
(ii) changing the name of the Trust or the location of its office; (iii) correcting ambiguities, inconsistencies or any incompleteness in the Trust
Agreement; (iv) conforming the Trust Agreement and Trust operations to federal or state tax, legal, securities or other requirements or regulations,
including amendments necessary to preserve the Trust�s qualification to be taxed as a partnership, and to prevent the Trust from in any manner being
deemed an �investment company� subject to the provisions of the Investment Company Act; (v) reflecting the contributions and Shares of the
Shareholders; (vi) making a change in any provision of the Trust Agreement that requires any action to be taken by or on behalf of the Sponsor or the
Trust pursuant to applicable Delaware law if the provisions of applicable Delaware law are amended, modified or revoked so that the taking of such
action is no longer required; or (vii) effecting such other amendments as may be deemed by the Sponsor to be necessary and/or desirable to conduct the
Trust�s business, and not adverse in any material respects to the Shares of existing Shareholders.

Except as specifically permitted in the Trust Agreement, without the specific consent of each Shareholder adversely affected thereby, no amendment
may (i) reduce the Per Share Capital Account of any Share, (ii) change the respective liabilities of the Sponsor and the Shareholders, (iii) have the effect
of allocating Net Profits and Net Losses other than in accordance with Article 6 (as in effect prior to such amendment), or (iv) change the provisions of
the Trust Agreement regarding such amendments. Notwithstanding any other provision in the Trust Agreement to the contrary, amendments to the Trust
Agreement that do not adversely affect the rights of any Shareholder or the Trust in any material respect may be made by the Sponsor without the
consent of any
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Shareholder. Any amendment to the Trust Agreement not otherwise provided for in the Trust Agreement may be made at any time by written consent of
the Sponsor and of Shareholders holding a majority of the outstanding Shares. The Trust shall provide to the Shareholders written notice of any
amendments to this Agreement. No amendment shall be made to the Trust Agreement without the consent of the Trustee if it reasonably believes that
such amendment adversely affects any of the rights, duties or liabilities of the Trustee. At the expense of the Sponsor, the Trustee shall execute and file
any amendment to the Certificate of Trust if so directed by the Sponsor or if such amendment is required in the opinion of the Trustee.

Term and Dissolution

As specified in the Trust Agreement, the Trust will operate indefinitely and dissolve only at the election of the Sponsor or upon the occurrence of the
following events:

(a) the final distribution of all moneys or other property or proceeds of the Trust Estate;

(b) the election by the Sponsor to dissolve the Trust;

(c) dissolution of the Trust in accordance with applicable law;

(d) 180 days have elapsed since the Trustee notified the Sponsor of the Trustee�s election to resign or since the Sponsor removed the Trustee, and
a successor has not been appointed and accepted its appointment;

(e) the Trust is determined to be a �money service business� under the regulations promulgated by FinCEN under the authority of the Bank
Secrecy Act and is required to comply with certain FinCEN regulation thereunder or is determined to be a �money transmitter� (or equivalent
designation) under the laws of any state in which the Trust operates and is required to seek licensing or otherwise comply with state licensing
requirements, and the Sponsor has made the determination that termination of the Trust is advisable;

(f) a United States regulator requires the Trust to shut down or forces the Trust to liquidate all of its Portfolio Crypto Assets;

(g) any ongoing event exists that either prevents the Trust from making or makes impractical the Trust�s reasonable efforts to make a fair
determination of the price of Portfolio Crypto Asset for purposes of determining the net asset value of the Trust;

(h) the Sponsor determines that the aggregate net assets of the Trust in relation to the operating expenses of the Trust make it unreasonable or
imprudent to continue the business of the Trust;

(i) the Trustee elects to terminate the Trust after the Sponsor is conclusively deemed to have resigned effective immediately as a result of the
Sponsor being adjudged bankrupt or insolvent, or a receiver of the Sponsor or of its property being appointed, or a trustee or liquidator or any
public officer taking charge or control of the Sponsor or of its property or affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, conservation or liquidation and
a successor sponsor has not been appointed; or

(j) the Sponsor elects to terminate the Trustee after the Trustee, Administrator, or Custodian (or any successor trustee, administrator, or custodian)
resigns or otherwise ceases to be the trustee, administrator or custodian of the Trust, as applicable, and no replacement trustee, administrator and/
or custodian acceptable to the Sponsor is engaged.

The Custodian and the Custodial Services Agreement

The Custodian

Coinbase Custody Trust Company, LLC is the Trust�s custodian (the �Custodian�) and keeps custody of all of the Trust�s crypto assets. The Custodian
is a fiduciary under § 100 of the New York Banking Law and a qualified custodian for purposes of Rule 206(4)-2(d)(6) under the Investment Advisers
Act of 1940, as amended. The Custodian is authorized to serve as the Trust�s custodian under the Trust Agreement and pursuant to the terms
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and provisions of the Custodian Agreement. The Custodian has its principal office at 200 Park Avenue South, Suite 1208, New York, NY 10003. A copy
of the Custodian Agreement is available for inspection at the Sponsor�s principal office identified herein.

The Custodian��s Role

Under the Custodian Agreement, the Custodian controls and secures the Trust�s �Custodial Account,� a segregated custody account to store private
keys, which allow for the transfer of ownership or control of the Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets, on the Trust�s behalf. The Custodian�s services
(i) allow Portfolio Crypto Assets to be deposited from a public blockchain address to the Trust�s Custodial Account and (ii) allow the Trust or Sponsor
to withdraw Portfolio Crypto Assets from the Trust�s Custodial Account to a public blockchain address the Trust or Sponsor controls (the �Custodial
Services�). The Custodial Account uses offline storage, or �cold� storage, mechanisms to secure the Trust�s private keys. The term cold storage refers
to a safeguarding method by which the private keys corresponding to digital assets are disconnected and/or deleted entirely from the internet. Fees paid
to the Custodian are a Sponsor-paid expense, and effectively included in the Management Fee.

Under the Custodian Agreement, the Trust has agreed to indemnify and hold harmless the Custodian from any claim or demand (including attorneys�
fees and any fines, fees or penalties imposed by any regulatory authority) arising out of or related to the Trust�s breach of the Custodian Agreement,
inaccuracy in any of the Trust�s representations or warranties in the Custodian Agreement, or Trust�s violation of any law, rule or regulation, or the
rights of any third party, except where such claim directly results from the gross negligence, fraud or willful misconduct of Custodian.

The Custodian and its affiliates may from time to time purchase or sell digital assets for their own accounts and as agent for their customers or Shares
for their own accounts. The foregoing notwithstanding, Portfolio Crypto Assets in the Custodial Account are not treated as general assets of the
Custodian and cannot be commingled with any other digital assets held by the Custodian. The Custodian serves as a fiduciary and custodian on the
Trust�s behalf, and the Portfolio Crypto Assets in the Custodial Account are considered fiduciary assets that remain the Trust�s property at all times.

If the Custodian resigns in its capacity as custodian, the Sponsor may appoint an additional or replacement custodian and enter into a custodian
agreement on behalf of the Trust with such custodian.

The Custodian or the Sponsor may terminate the Custodian Agreement subject to certain notice requirements described in the Custodian Agreement, and
the Sponsor may withdraw all balances at any time. The Sponsor periodically evaluates the market for custodial services.

Description of the Trust Company Custodial Services Agreement

The Trust Company Custodial Services Agreement (�Custodian Agreement�) establishes the rights and responsibilities of the Custodian, and the Trust
with respect to the Trust�s digital assets in the Custodial Account, which is maintained and operated by the Custodian on behalf of the Trust. For a
general description of the Custodian�s obligations, see �The Custodian�The Custodian�s Role.�

Location of Digital Assets; Account

The Trust�s digital assets exist and are stored on the applicable digital asset blockchain. Private keys associated with the Trust�s digital assets are
secured by the Custodian and stored in a segregated custody account. The Custodial Account uses offline storage, or �cold storage,� mechanisms to
secure the Trust�s private keys.

The Trust�s Custodial Account is a segregated on-blockchain custody account controlled and secured by the Custodian to store digital assets. Portfolio
Crypto Assets in the Trust�s Custodial Account are not treated as
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general assets of the Custodian and cannot be commingled with any other digital assets held by the Custodian. Rather, the Custodian serves as a
fiduciary and custodian on the Trust�s behalf, and the Portfolio Crypto Assets in the Custodial Account are considered fiduciary assets that remain the
Trust�s property at all times.

Insurance

Coinbase Global, Inc., the parent company of the Custodian, maintains a commercial crimes insurance program that covers the loss of clients� digital
assets held by Custodian and its affiliates in both cold and hot storage, and may cover a small portion of the loss of Portfolio Crypto Assets. Coverage
by this commercial crimes insurance program is designed to be comprehensive, and includes losses from employee collusion or fraud, physical loss
(including theft), or damage of key material, security breach or hack, and fraudulent transfer. This insurance program is assessed and renewed every year
and the coverage limit may be adjusted based on a number of factors, including aggregate client assets on the Coinbase platform.

The Custodial Services Agreement (�CSA�) includes various terms that provide for the protection of client assets, including in the event of Custodian�s
insolvency. For one, the CSA explicitly states that the Custodian will not create a security interest or a lien on client assets, and will always hold client
assets in segregated wallets, separate and apart from Custodian�s other client assets or its own proprietary assets. Further, the CSA also provides for the
election of a regulatory framework to ensure that client assets do not become part of the Custodian�s insolvency estate, and therefore, are not subject to
the claims of the Custodian�s creditors. For example, under the CSA, the parties agree that the Custodian will hold the client�s digital assets subject to
Article 8 of the Uniform Commercial Code (the �UCC�). Article 8 of the UCC provides additional protection for the client�s digital assets by creating a
security entitlement in favor of the client while imposing various duties on the Custodian. Such duties include a duty to maintain a given client asset in
sufficient quantity to satisfy all security entitlements with respect to such client assets. Further, to the extent necessary to satisfy such security
entitlements, Article 8 of the UCC provides that all interests in such client assets held by the Custodian would not constitute a property of the Custodian,
and therefore, would not be subject to the claims of the Custodian�s creditor.

Clients will receive End-of-Month Statements by the 3rd calendar day of the following month and are delivered via email and are available for
download within the client�s user dashboard. Activity and history reports can also be generated within the user dashboard application on an ad-hoc basis
via a self-serve tool. Although the CSA does not provide for any on-site audit or inspection rights to clients, the Custodian will work with the client to
provide any necessary documents to ensure compliance with the client�s regulatory audit requirements.

Digital assets are generally controllable only by the possessor of the unique private key relating to the digital wallet in which the crypto assets are held.
While blockchain protocols typically require public addresses to be published when used in a transaction, private keys must be safeguarded and kept
private in order to prevent a third party from accessing the digital assets held in such a wallet. To the extent that any of the private keys relating to the
Custodian�s cold wallets containing client digital assets is lost, destroyed, or otherwise compromised or unavailable, and no backup of the private key is
accessible, the Custodian will be unable to access the digital assets held in the related wallet. Further, the Custodian cannot provide assurance that its
wallets will not be hacked or compromised. Digital assets and blockchain technologies have been, and may in the future be, subject to security breaches,
hacking, or other malicious activities. Any loss of private keys relating to, or hack or other compromise of, digital wallets used to store clients� digital
assets could adversely affect the clients� ability to access or withdraw their digital assets from their custodial accounts.

Deposits, Withdrawals and Storage; Access to the Digital Asset Accounts

The Custodial Services (i) allow Portfolio Crypto Assets to be deposited from a public blockchain address to the Trust�s Custodial Account and
(ii) allow the Trust or Sponsor to withdraw Portfolio Crypto Assets from the Custodial Account to a public blockchain address the Trust or the Sponsor
controls (each such transaction is a �Custody Transaction�).
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The Custodian reserves the right to refuse to process or to cancel any pending Custody Transaction as required by law or in response to a subpoena,
court order, or other binding government order or to enforce transaction, threshold, and condition limits or if the Custodian reasonably believes that the
Custody Transaction may violate or facilitate the violation of an applicable law, regulation or applicable rule of a governmental authority or self-
regulatory organization. The Custodian may suspend or restrict the Trust�s and Sponsor�s access to the Custodial Services, and/or deactivate, terminate
or cancel the Custodial Account if the Trust or Sponsor taken certain actions, including any Prohibited Use or Prohibited Business as set forth in the
Custodian Agreement.

The Custodian requires the following amounts of time between any request to withdraw digital assets from the Digital Asset Accounts and submission
of the withdrawal to the applicable digital asset network: up to two (2) hours during business hours, as defined in the Custodian Agreement and up to
twenty-four (24) hours if the withdrawal occurs outside of business hours. The Custodian will ensure that initiated deposits are processed in a timely
manner, but the Custodian makes no representations or warranties regarding the amount of time needed to complete processing which is dependent upon
many factors outside of the Custodian�s control. The Custodian makes no other representations or warranties with respect to the availability and/or
accessibility of digital assets or the availability and/or accessibility of the Digital Asset Accounts or Custodial Services.

Security of the Account

The Custodian will safekeep the Portfolio Crypto Assets and segregate all Portfolio Crypto Assets from both the property of the Custodian and the assets
of other customers of the Custodian. The Custodian securely stores all digital assets private keys held by the Custodian in offline storage. The Custodian
has implemented and will maintain a reasonable information security program that includes policies and procedures that are reasonably designed to
safeguard the Custodian�s electronic systems and the Trust�s and the Sponsor�s confidential information from, among other things, unauthorized access
or misuse. In the event of a Data Security Event (as defined below), the Custodian will promptly (subject to any legal or regulatory requirements) notify
the Trust and the Sponsor. �Data Security Event� is defined as any event whereby (a) an unauthorized person (whether within the Custodian or a third
party) acquired or accessed the Trust�s or Sponsor�s information, (b) the Trust�s or Sponsor�s information is otherwise lost, stolen or compromised.

Record Keeping; Inspection and Auditing

The Custodian will keep timely and accurate records as to the deposit, disbursement, investment and reinvestment of the digital assets. The Custodian
will maintain accurate records and bookkeeping of the Custodian Services, as defined in the Custodian Agreement, as required by applicable law and in
accordance with the Custodian�s internal document retention policies.

Standard of Care; Limitations of Liability

The Custodian will safekeep, on behalf of the Trust, all digital assets received by the Custodian. The Custodian is liable to the Sponsor and the Trust for
the loss of any digital assets resulting from its errors in executing a transaction (e.g., if the Trust or Sponsor provides the correct destination address for
executing a withdrawal transaction, but the Custodian erroneously sends the Trust�s Portfolio Crypto Assets to another destination address). The
Custodian assumes no responsibility for any loss that the Trust may sustain due to inaccurate instructions or due to compromise of Custodial Account
login credentials due to no fault of the Custodian and/or failure to follow or act on any notices or alerts that the Custodian may send to the Trust or
Sponsor.

The Custodian�s total liability under the Custodian Agreement will never exceed the greater of the value of the digital assets on deposit in the Custodial
Account at the time of, and directly relating to, the events giving rise to the liability occurred, the value of which will be determined in accordance with
the Custodian Agreement. The Custodian is not liable to the Trust for any lost profits or any special, incidental, indirect, intangible, or consequential
damages, whether based in contract, tort, negligence, strict liability or otherwise, and whether or
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not the Custodian has been advised of such losses or the Custodian knew or should have known of the possibility of such damages.

Furthermore, the Custodian is not liable for delays, suspension of operations, whether temporary or permanent, failure in performance, or interruption of
service which result directly or indirectly from any cause or condition beyond the reasonable control of the Custodian, including but not limited to, any
delay or failure due to any act of God, natural disasters, act of civil or military authorities, act of terrorists, including but not limited to cyber related
terrorist acts, hacking, government restrictions, exchange or market rulings, civil disturbance, war, strike or other labor dispute, fire, interruption in
telecommunications or Internet services or network provider services, failure of equipment and/or software, other catastrophe or any other occurrence
which is beyond the reasonable control of the Custodian and will not affect the validity and enforceability of any remaining provisions. The Custodian
does not bear any liability, whatsoever, for any damage or interruptions caused by any computer viruses, spyware, scareware, Trojan horses, worms or
other malware that may affect the Sponsor�s or the Trust�s computer or other equipment, or any phishing, spoofing or other attack, unless such damage
or interruption originated from the Custodian due to its gross negligence, fraud or willful misconduct.

Indemnity

The Trust has agreed to indemnify and hold harmless the Custodian, its affiliates and service providers, and each of its or their respective officers,
directors, agents, joint ventures, employees and representatives, harmless from any claim or demand (including attorneys� fees and any fines, fees or
penalties imposed by any regulatory authority) arising out of or related to the Trust�s breach of the Custodian Agreement, inaccuracy in any of the
Trust�s representations or warranties in the Custodian Agreement, or the Trust�s violation of any law, rule or regulation, or the rights of any third party,
except where such claim directly results from the gross negligence, fraud or willful misconduct of the Custodian.

Fees and Expenses

The Custodian fee is an annualized fee charged monthly that is a percentage of the Trust�s monthly assets under custody. The Custodian reserves the
right to adjust its fee at any time, provided that the Custodian will provide the Trust with at least thirty (30) days� advance notice of any changes thereto.
Any changes to the fee schedule shall be agreed to by the Trust and Custodian in writing. To the extent the parties cannot reach an agreement regarding
any modifications in pricing, either party may elect to terminate the Custodian Agreement. It is the Trust�s and the Sponsor�s sole responsibility to
determine whether, and to what extent, any taxes apply to any deposits or withdrawals conducted through the Custodial Services, and to withhold,
collect, report and remit the correct amounts of taxes to the appropriate tax authorities.

Term

The Custodian Agreement does not provide for a specific term length.

Termination

Either party may terminate the Custodian Agreement upon thirty (30) days� prior written notice to the other party.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Sponsor and the Trust may cancel the Custodial Account at any time by withdrawing all balances and contacting the
Custodian. Upon termination of the Custodian Agreement, the Custodian will promptly upon the Sponsor�s or the Trust�s order deliver or cause to be
delivered all digital assets held or controlled by the Custodian as of the effective date of termination, together with such copies of the records maintained
pursuant to the Custodian Agreement and as the Sponsor and the Trust requests in writing.
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Governing Law

The Custodian Agreement is governed by New York law.

Legal Counsel

Wilson Sonsini is legal counsel to the Sponsor and the Trust. Wilson Sonsini does not represent any current or prospective Investors with respect to an
investment in the Trust. No separate counsel has been engaged by the Sponsor, or any of their respective affiliates, to represent any current or
prospective Investors with respect to an investment in the Trust.

Administrator

The Trust entered into an agreement (the �Administration Agreement�) with Theorem Trust Services LLC (the �Administrator�) for the provision of
administrative services. The services, provided by the Administrator and certain of its affiliates and subject to change at any time by the Sponsor in its
sole discretion without advance notice to Shareholders, include, among others: (i) acceptance and processing of Subscriptions, with the assistance of the
Sponsor; (ii) receipt of requests for redemptions and authorization of payments of redemption proceeds; (iii) maintenance of the books and records of
the Trust; (iv) coordination of the Trust�s annual audit; (v) calculation of net asset value of the Trust and Share prices; and (vi) other services as agreed
on by the parties. The Administrator receives standard fees for its services, and generally will be indemnified by the Trust from and against any third-
party claims, liabilities, costs and expenses arising from or relating to the Administrator�s provision of services under the Administration Agreement.
The Administrator is subject to change in the sole discretion of the Sponsor.

Auditor

The auditor for the Trust is WithumSmith+Brown, PC (the �Auditor�). The Auditor is subject to change in the sole discretion of the Sponsor.

Legal/Disciplinary History

During the past 10 years, none of our current directors, nominees for directors or current executive officers has been involved in any legal proceeding
identified in Item 401(f) of Regulation S-K.

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships between or among the directors, executive officers or persons nominated or chosen by us to become directors or
executive officers.

ITEM 6. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

Compensation, Fees, and Expenses

Executive and Director Compensation

The Trust has no employees or directors and is managed by the Sponsor. None of the officers or members of the Sponsor receive compensation from the
Trust.

Management Fee

The Sponsor charges a Management Fee payable monthly, in arrears, in an amount equal to 2.5% per annum (1/12th of 2.5% per month) of the net asset
value of the Trust�s estate at the end of each month.
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Sponsor Expenses

The Sponsor is responsible for all ordinary administrative and overhead expenses of managing the Trust, including compensation of its employees and
payment of rent, custody charges or flat rate fees for holding the Trust�s assets charged by the Custodian and customary fees and expenses of the
Trustee, Administrator and Auditor, including costs incurred for appraisal or valuation expenses associated with the preparation of the Trust�s financial
statements, tax returns and other similar reports and excluding indemnification and extraordinary costs. The Sponsor also pays for all fees associated
with the quotation of the Shares on the OTCQX, all fees associated with SEC registration and ongoing reporting obligations, and fees associated with
retaining and maintaining the Transfer Agent. There is no ceiling to the Trust�s expenses that the Sponsor will pay.

ITEM 7. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The Trust does not have its own officers, directors and employees. The Trust depends on the Sponsor for certain operations of the Trust, and the Sponsor
believes that it will continue to have sufficient staff personnel and resources to perform all of its duties with respect to managing the Trust. The Sponsor
and its officers, directors and employees will devote as much of its time to the activities of the Trust as the Sponsor deems necessary and appropriate. As
a result there are no relationships or related party transactions between officers, directors and employees of the Trust. Nonetheless, there are certain
actual and potential conflicts of interest that should be considered by investors before subscribing for Shares. See �Risk Factors�Risks Associated with
Potential Conflicts of Interest.�

Outside investment-related activities.

The Sponsor and its officers, directors, managers, employees and affiliates, and the members of the Committee, may engage in activities outside of their
roles with respect to the Trust and the Index, including providing management and investment advisory services to other unaffiliated funds or companies
(such as in their capacities as a board member), and shall not be required to refrain from any activity, to disgorge profits from any such activity or to
devote all or any particular amount of time or effort of any of their officers, directors or employees to the Trust, the Index and their affairs.

These activities may create conflicts between the best interest of the Trust, on the one hand, and the best interests of the other unaffiliated funds or
companies, on the other. For example, an officer of the Sponsor may serve on the board of directors of an unaffiliated company and may provide counsel
related to cryptocurrencies that may be purchased, sold or held by the Trust, and such unaffiliated funds or companies may relate to cryptocurrencies
that the Trust may purchase, sell or hold. At times, these activities may cause the provision of advice to unaffiliated funds or companies that may cause
these unaffiliated funds or companies to take actions adverse to the interest of the Trust.

In addition, the Sponsor�s involvement in the other investment-related activities could be viewed as creating a conflict of interest in that the time and
effort of the personnel of the Sponsor may not be devoted exclusively to the business of the Trust, but may instead be allocated among the Trust and the
other investment-related activities. The Sponsor and its affiliates are required to devote to the Trust only so much of their time as is necessary or
appropriate in connection with the activities of the Trust in a manner consistent with the objectives of the Trust.

Further, the Sponsor and its officers, directors, managers, employees and affiliates may act in a proprietary capacity with long or short positions, in
instruments of all types, including the cryptocurrencies that may be purchased, sold or held by the Trust and may generally trade in cryptocurrencies for
their own accounts, subject to restrictions and reporting requirements as may be required by law.
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As a result of differing trading and investment strategies or constraints, positions may be taken by officers, directors, employees, and affiliates of the
Sponsor that are the same as, different from, or made at a different time than positions taken for the Trust.

The aforementioned activities could affect the prices and availability of the cryptocurrencies, if any, that the Sponsor seek to buy or sell for the Trust�s
account, which could adversely impact the financial returns of the Trust.

Additional funds and the use of master-feeder structure.

The Sponsor may, in the future, form additional investment vehicles that invest in the Trust alongside the Trust, such as an investment vehicle for
non-U.S. investors and/or U.S. tax-exempt investors (an �Additional Trust�). If an Additional Trust is formed, the use of a master-feeder structure may
also create a conflict of interest in that different tax considerations for the Trust and any Additional Trust may cause the Trust to structure or dispose of
an investment in a manner that is more advantageous to the Additional Trust.

Future funds.

In addition to forming Additional Trusts, the Sponsor or its affiliates may in the future form or advise one or more additional investment funds or
separate accounts that may have similar investment policies as the Trust (�Future Trusts�) that do not invest in the Trust. In the event such a Future
Trust is formed, if an investment opportunity would be appropriate for both the Trust and any Future Trust, the Sponsor will generally seek to allocate
such opportunity on a pro rata basis.

In addition, the Sponsor may have a conflict of interest in advising the Trust and any Future Trust because the financial benefit from managing some
Future Trusts may be greater (e.g., such Future Trust generates higher fees or allocations tied to either higher percentages earned or larger amounts of
capital investment by the Sponsor or its affiliates), which may provide an incentive to favor the Future Trust when allocating investment opportunities.

Allocation of investment opportunities among the Trust and any Future Trusts will be made in the Sponsor�s judgment based upon the investment
objectives and investment portfolio of the Trust and such other Future Trusts; provided, that all allocations will be made in compliance with the
Sponsor�s fiduciary duties. When the purchase and sale of cryptocurrencies is considered to be in the best interest of both the Trust and a Future Trust,
cryptocurrencies to be purchased or sold may be aggregated in order to obtain superior execution and/or lower transactions expenses. Execution prices
for identical cryptocurrencies purchased or sold on behalf of multiple accounts in any one business day may be averaged. In such events, allocation of
prices, as well as expenses incurred in the transaction, shall be made in a manner the Sponsor considers to be equally as favorable to the Trust as to any
other party.

Conflicts related to the Index.

The Sponsor or one of its affiliates may determine to use the Index with respect to a Future Trust that it may form or advise. Further, the Sponsor may
decide to license any intellectual property related to the Index to any number of unaffiliated investment funds or investment firms for various types of
uses.

The Trust may lose its Licenses to use the Index and Bitwise Name.

While an affiliate of the Sponsor owns the intellectual property related to the Index and Bitwise name, the Trust does not itself own this intellectual
property. The Trust and the Sponsor have entered into a limited, non-exclusive, revocable license agreement with Bitwise Index Services, LLC (the
�Index Provider�), an affiliate of the Trust that is controlled by the same parent entity as the Sponsor, at no cost to the Trust or the Sponsor allowing
the Trust to use the Index for the purpose of using as the benchmark index for the Trust (the
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�License Agreement�). If such licenses were to become unavailable, revoked or canceled, then the Trust would no longer be able to use such
intellectual property which would result in a material adverse effect on the Trust�s operations and success.

Affiliate transactions.

The Sponsor may cause the Trust to invest in cryptocurrencies in which some or all of its affiliates have a financial interest, or to engage in transactions
with persons with whom some or all of its affiliates have financial or other relationships. Subject to the Sponsor�s approval, which may be withheld for
any reason, affiliates may own Shares in the Trust.

Related-party transactions.

The Trust may transact with parties who are affiliated with the Sponsor or its affiliates. The parties may include other subsidiaries/related entities of the
Sponsor or its affiliates, or Additional Trusts or Future Trusts. In any such transaction the price used will be based upon the Sponsor�s best judgment
utilizing the criteria it believes will best represent the fair value of a transaction.

Investments by affiliates.

One or more affiliates of the Sponsor, and members of the Committee, may have, or may make in the future, investments in the Trust. Such investments
may represent a significant portion of the net asset value of the Trust. Affiliates of the Sponsor may make similar investments in any future feeder funds
formed to invest in the Trust. It is anticipated that these persons will generally invest on the same terms as Shareholders.

Director Independence

Under Item 407(a) of Regulation S-K, the Trust is required to disclose its independent directors or, under the instructions to Item 407(a), if the Trust�s
securities are listed on an inter-dealer quotation system which has independence requirements and exemptions to those requirements, the Trust must
disclose the exemptions to the inter-dealer quotation system�s independence requirements that it is relying upon. The Trust is a Delaware statutory trust
managed by the Sponsor and does not have any directors or officers of its own. The Shares of the Trust are quoted on the OTCQX and the OTCQX
Rules for U.S. Companies (�OTCQX Rules�) set out certain corporate governance criteria which include requirements regarding director independence.
Under Section 2.5 of the OTCQX Rules, trusts, funds and other similar companies may apply in writing to OTC Markets Group for an exemption from
the corporate governance requirements, including the requirements regarding director independence. As part of the OTCQX quotation process, the Trust
applied for, and was granted, a waiver of the following OTCQX U.S. Company Corporate Governance Standards Requirements:

� Maintain a board of directors that includes at least two independent directors;

� Maintain an Audit Committee, a majority of the members of which are independent directors; and

� Conduct annual shareholders� meetings and make annual financial reports available to its shareholders at least 15 calendar days prior to
such meetings.

As a result of receiving this exemption, the Trust does not intend to conduct annual shareholders� meetings and, as a result, will not send out proxy
statements to shareholders.

The Trust believes that the above disclosure satisfies the Form 10 disclosure requirement regarding director independence.

Section 16 Filings

The Trust is a Delaware statutory trust managed by the Sponsor and does not have any directors or officers of its own. As a result, the Trust and the
Sponsor do not believe that there is any person (other than a stockholder who
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holds beneficial ownership of more than 10% of the Trust) who is subject to Section 16 filing obligations, including the filing of Forms 3, 4 and 5, as
these forms are filed by officers and directors and not by the Trust, or who is subject to the Section 16 short-swing profits rule.

ITEM 8. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

There are no current, past, pending or, to the Sponsor�s knowledge, threatened legal proceedings or administrative actions either by or against the Trust
or the Sponsor that could have a material effect on the Trust�s or the Sponsor�s business, financial condition, or operations and any current, past or
pending trading suspensions by a securities regulator.

ITEM 9. MARKET PRICE OF AND DIVIDENDS ON THE REGISTRANT��S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS.

Market Information

The Shares in the Trust were approved to be quoted on the OTCQX Best Market (the �OTCQX�) under the ticker symbol �BITW� on December 9,
2020. As a result, Trust investors are able to buy and sell shares of the Trust on the OTCQX, once those shares become freely tradeable under the federal
securities laws (generally, a year and a day after the shares have been purchased from the Trust). The Trust will continue to privately sell shares directly
to accredited investors.

The high and low sale prices for the three-month period ended March 31, 2021 and the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 is set forth below. This
information was obtained from Thompson Reuters and reflects inter-dealer prices without retail mark-up, markdown or commission and may not
necessarily represent actual transactions.

Fiscal Period High Low
Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2021 (starting 12/9/20) $199.99 $20.80
Quarter Ended March 31, 2021 $144.25 $40.10

Shareholder Information

As of March 31, 2021, the Trust had unlimited Shares authorized. The following table shows the number of Shares outstanding as of the specified dates:

March 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
(i) Number of Shares authorized Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited
(ii) Number of Shares outstanding* 19,779,750 15,132,240 3,416,265.31
(iii) Number of Shares freely tradable (public float)1 3,649,967 3,373,319 None
(iv) Number of beneficial owners owning at least 100

Shares 908 646 594
(v) Number of holders of record 1,042 786 594

* The number of Shares outstanding have been adjusted to reflect an approximately 10:1 stock split that occurred on May 1, 2020 in connection
with the conversion of the Trust from a Delaware limited liability company to a Delaware statutory trust.

1 Public float means the total number of unrestricted shares not held directly or indirectly by an officer, director, any person who is the beneficial
owner of more than 10 percent of the total shares outstanding, or anyone who controls, is controlled by or is under common control with such
person, or any immediate family members of officers, directors and control persons.
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Transfer Agent

The Trust�s Transfer Agent is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC (the �Transfer Agent� or �AST�). The Transfer Agent�s address is
6201 15th Street, Brooklyn, NY 11219, and its telephone number is (877) 814-9687. AST is registered as a transfer agent with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and with the New York Department of Financial Services.

Equity Compensation Plan

The Trust has no equity compensation plans.

ITEM 10. RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES.

The Trust offers the Shares pursuant to Rule 506 of Regulation D under the Securities Act. The Shares offered by the Trust have not been registered
under the Securities Act, or any state or other securities laws, and were offered and sold only to �accredited investors� within the meaning of Rule
501(a) of Regulation D under the Securities Act, and in compliance with any applicable state or other securities laws.

The table below describes the Shares offered, the Shares sold and the average and range of prices at which the Shares were offered and sold by the Trust.
All Shares initially offered and sold by the Trust are restricted securities pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Until the Shares sold by the
Trust become unrestricted in accordance with Rule 144, the certificates or other documents evidencing the Shares will contain legends stating that the
Shares have not been registered under the Securities Act and referring to the restrictions on transferability and sale of the Shares under the Securities
Act. Such legends are removed upon Shares becoming unrestricted in accordance with Rule 144.

To date, no Shares, other securities of the Trust, or options to acquire such other securities were issued in exchange for services provided by any person
or entity.

Period
Shares
Offered Shares Sold1

No. of
Purchasers

Avg.
Price
Per

Share1

High
Price
Per

Share1 Date

Low
Price
Per

Share1 Date
January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019 Unlimited 746,509.27 95 7.52 13.49 6/26/19 3.89 1/30/19
January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020 Unlimited 11,985,739.55 520 17.28 $24.67 3/18/20 $4.85 12/31/20
January 1, 2021 to March 31, 2021 Unlimited 4,647,510 272 50.68 $50.98 3/30/21 $27.42 1/4/21

1 The Shares Sold and Price Per Share numbers presented have been adjusted to reflect an approximately 10:1 stock split that occurred on May 1,
2020 in connection with the conversion of the Trust from a Delaware limited liability company to a Delaware statutory trust.

ITEM 11. DESCRIPTION OF REGISTRANT��S SECURITIES TO BE REGISTERED.

The Shares

The only class of securities outstanding are Shares representing units of fractional undivided beneficial interest in and ownership of the Trust with such
relative rights and terms as set out in the Trust Agreement.

The Shares represent units of equal, fractional, undivided interests in the profits, losses, distributions, capital and assets of, and ownership of, the Trust,
and have no par value.
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General

The Shares represent units of fractional undivided beneficial interest in and ownership of the Trust with such relative rights and terms as set out in the
Trust Agreement. The Shares do not represent a traditional investment and should not be viewed as similar to �shares� of a corporation operating a
business enterprise with management and a board of directors. A Shareholder does not have the rights normally associated with the ownership of shares
of a corporation. Shareholders are not entitled to vote on any matters, and do not have the right to elect the Sponsor. The Shares do not entitle their
holders to any conversion or pre-emptive rights. Each Share is fully paid and non-assessable.

Redemptions

At this time, the Sponsor is not operating a redemption program for the Shares. Therefore, unless the Trust is permitted to, and does, establish a Share
redemption program, shareholders will be unable to (or could be significantly impeded in attempting to) sell or otherwise liquidate investments in the
Shares, which could have a material adverse impact on demand for the Shares and their value. If any redemption program is approved, then any
redemption authorized by the Sponsor must be conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Agreement.

Due to the lack of an ongoing redemption program as well as price volatility, trading volume and closings of crypto asset exchanges due to fraud,
failure, security breaches or otherwise, there can be no assurance that the value of the Shares, if traded on any secondary market, will reflect the value of
the Trust�s net assets, and the Shares may trade at a substantial premium over, or a substantial discount to, the value of the Trust�s net assets. For a
discussion of risks relating to the unavailability of a redemption program, see �Risk Factors�Because of the holding period under Rule 144 and the lack
of an ongoing redemption program, there is no arbitrage mechanism to keep the price of the Shares closely linked to the value of the underlying
Portfolio Crypto Assets and the Shares may trade at a substantial premium over, or substantial discount to, NAV per Share� and �Risk Factors�The
Shares may trade on the OTCQX at a price that is at, above or below NAV per Share as a result of the non-current trading hours between OTCQX and
markets for the Portfolio Crypto Assets.�

Additional Subscriptions

The Trust is authorized under the Trust Agreement to create and issue an unlimited number of Shares, and the Shares may be purchased from the Trust
on an ongoing basis.

The minimum initial subscription amount is $25,000 and an existing Shareholder in the Trust may make additional subscriptions in a minimum amount
of $10,000, subject in all cases to increase, decrease and waiver of such requirements by the Sponsor in its sole discretion.

All subscriptions are made directly to the Trust with processing assistance from the Trust Administrator. Subscriptions may be funded through payment
in U.S. dollars or through in-kind contributions of Portfolio Crypto Assets, (In-Kind Investments), or both at the sole discretion of the Sponsor. The
Sponsor may accept stablecoins on a case-by-case basis as determined in the discretion of the Sponsor. In-Kind Investments are valued using the same
digital asset prices as per the Trust�s valuation policy at any given valuation date as of 4:00 pm EST on the date of the subscription. Once an In-Kind
Investment has been delivered to the Trust in connection with a subscription funding requirement, an investor cannot cancel its subscription regardless
of the valuation established for the in-kind contribution.

The Trust values in-kind contributions to the Trust using the same valuation methodology that it uses to calculate the Trust�s NAV on the day of the
subscription. A contribution in-kind will be valued, in dollar terms, using the same prices for each digital asset that are used to value the assets in the
Trust on that day, and that value is divided by the Trust�s per-share NAV as calculated on that day in order to calculate the number of Shares
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purchased by the Subscriber in the transaction. The Trust has not made any in-kind distributions or liquidated a Shareholder�s pro-rata distribution in
order to reduce additional regulatory costs of the Shareholders for any period presented.

The Trust generally accepts initial and additional subscriptions weekly on such dates as the Sponsor may determine in its sole discretion.

Each investor who seeks to subscribe for Shares is required to execute a subscription agreement pursuant to which the investor will agree to be bound by
the Trust Agreement and other Trust documentation. The Trust currently accepts cash and in-kind subscriptions on Tuesdays and Thursdays, but that
may change, and it retains the right to offer them more frequently or not at all. The Trust may halt the acceptance of additional Subscriptions for
extended periods of time in its sole discretion. If the Trust chose to halt the acceptance of subscriptions for an extended period, it would make that
decision based on business considerations, and such decision would be disclosed to Shareholders.

No fractional Shares will be issued, and any fractional Share that a Shareholder would otherwise be entitled to receive that is less than 0.5 Share shall be
rounded down to the nearest whole Share and any such fractional Share equal to or greater than 0.5 Share shall be rounded up to the nearest whole
Share; provided, however, that any such rounding up or down will not change the price per Share or contribution payable with respect to such Shares as
determined in accordance with the Trust Agreement.

Shares in the Trust are sold only to investors who, under U.S. securities laws, are �accredited investors� All primary offerings of Shares through
Subscriptions are private offerings made in reliance on Rule 506 under Regulation D of the Securities Act (as defined below). Investors are required to
provide relevant information verifying their eligibility to invest in the Trust. Shares are not registered under the Securities Act or the securities laws of
any state or any other jurisdiction, nor are any such registration contemplated.

Transfer Restrictions

In general, the Shares are non-transferrable without the prior written consent of the Sponsor. However, this restriction does not apply to Shares held of
record by the Depository Trust and Clearing Corporation or its nominee (�DTCC�). Only those Shares that are not �restricted securities� as that term is
defined in Rule 144 of the Securities Act 1933, as amended (the �Securities Act�), will be eligible to be held of record by DTCC.

The transfer of the Shares may also be restricted under federal and state securities laws. The offer and sale of the Shares by the Trust, as well as future
offerings of Shares by the Trust, have not been and will not be, registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Act, the
securities laws of any state or the securities laws of any other jurisdiction, nor is such registration contemplated. The Shares will be offered and sold
under the exemption provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder and other exemptions in
the laws of the states and jurisdictions where the offering will be made. As a result, (i) any Shares issued to Shareholders in such offerings will be
�restricted securities� under Rule 144, and (ii) the Shares issued to such a Shareholder will be �unrestricted� under Rule 144 one year and a day
subsequent to the date that the Shareholder acquired the Shares. Shares held by affiliates and insiders will be subject to additional restrictions on resales,
including restrictions on the number of Shares that may be resold within any three-month period.

A minimum six month holding period will apply to all Shares purchased from the Trust once the Trust has been subject to Exchange Act reporting for at
least ninety days. Because of the six month holding period and the lack of an ongoing redemption program, Shares should not be purchased by any
Shareholder who is not willing and able to bear the risk of investment and lack of liquidity for at least six months. No assurances are given that after the
six month holding period, there will be any market for the resale of Shares, or, if there is such a market, as to the price at which such Shares may be sold
into such a market.
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At the completion of the holding period, a Shareholder may request that the Trust remove the Rule 144 transfer restriction legends (�Legends�) on the
Shareholder�s Share that are eligible for such removal.

Shareholders are not, however, required to make such a request to have the Legends removed. As a courtesy to Shareholders, on a monthly basis, the
Trust reviews its list of Shareholders and their Shares, and aggregates the Shares that have been held for the requisite holding period by non-affiliates of
the Trust. The Trust then makes a determination as to whether the Trust believes the Legends may be removed from such Shares. The Trust sends the list
of Shares that it believes qualifies for the removal of the Legends to outside counsel, along with certain representations, as set out below. Upon receipt
of the Trust�s list of Shares and accompanying representations, outside counsel makes a determination as to whether outside counsel can instruct the
Transfer Agent to remove the Legends from the Shares. If outside counsel determines that the required representations are sufficient and the Trust�s
determination is correct, it will provide the Transfer Agent with an opinion instructing the Transfer Agent to remove the Legends. Such Shares are then
allowed to then be resold without restrictions, including on the OTCQX U.S. marketplace.

The following representations are made by the Trust to outside counsel as part of the process to remove the Legends from the Shares.

With respect to non-affiliates of the Trust, required representations will include that:

1. the Shareholder is not an affiliate of the Trust;

2. the Shares subject to each sale have been held for more than a year by the Shareholder;

3. the Shareholder is the sole beneficial owner of the Shares and has provided such information as necessary to comply with applicable anti-
money laundering laws and regulations;

4. the Sponsor is aware of no circumstances in which the Shareholder would be considered an underwriter or engaged in the distribution of
securities for the Trust;

5. none of the Shares are subject to any agreement granting any pledge, lien, mortgage, hypothecation, security interest, charge, option or
encumbrance;

6. the Sponsor consents to the Shares being transferred; and

7. outside counsel and the Transfer Agent (defined below) can rely on the representations.

Affiliates of the Trust selling Shares in a �brokers� transaction,� with a �market maker,� or in a �riskless principal transaction� in accordance with Rule
144(f) may directly request the removal of restrictive legends. Any such Shares that qualify for the removal of the Rule 144 transfer restriction legends
are presented to outside counsel, who may instruct the Transfer Agent to remove the transfer restriction legends from the Shares.

In addition to the representations set out in items 2 to 7 above, outside counsel will require that affiliates of the Trust provide the following
representations, as applicable:

� a notice on Form 144 covering the sale of the Shares was transmitted to the Commission prior to or concurrently with the placing of the
order of sale or the execution of the trade directly with a market maker, if required by Rule 144(h); and

� the manner of sale of the Shares and the amount of other securities of the same class sold within the preceding three months are to be made
in accordance with Rules 144(e)-(g).

In addition, because the Trust�s Trust Agreement prohibits the transfer or sale of Shares without the prior written consent of the Sponsor, the Sponsor
must provide a written consent that explicitly states that it irrevocably consents to the transfer and resale of the Shares. Once the transfer restriction
legends have been removed from a Share and the Sponsor has provided its written consent to the transfer of that Share, no consent of the Sponsor is
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required for future transfers of that particular Share. In determining whether to grant approval for a transfer of the Shares, the Sponsor will specifically
look at whether the conditions of Rule 144 under the Securities Act and any other applicable laws have been met. Any attempt to sell Shares without the
approval of the Sponsor in its sole discretion will be void ab initio.

The Sponsor has retained the services of a transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC (the �Transfer Agent�). Shareholders will
be able to transfer Shares through and with the services offered by the Transfer Agent, and may need to establish website accounts with the Transfer
Agent in order to take certain actions with respect to the Shares, including transferring them. In order to trade Shares through OTCQX, it will be
necessary for a Shareholder to work with a broker to deposit Shares with DTCC.

Book-Entry Form

Shares of the Trust are held in book-entry form by the Transfer Agent. Transfers will be made in accordance with standard securities industry practice.
The Sponsor may cause the Trust to issue Shares in certificated form in limited circumstances at its discretion.

Share Splits

In its discretion, the Sponsor may direct the Transfer Agent to declare a split or reverse split in the number of Shares outstanding. For example, if the
Sponsor believes that the per Share price in the secondary market for Shares has risen or fallen outside a desirable trading price range, it may declare
such a split or reverse split.

ITEM 12. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS.

Indemnification

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Sponsor, its affiliates, the Administrator and any of their respective officers, directors, principals,
partners, investors, managers, affiliates or employees, and each of their respective successors and assigns, and each Person who previously served in
such capacity (each, an �Indemnified Party� and, collectively, the �Indemnified Parties�) shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Trust from and
against any loss, liability, damage, cost, or expense suffered or sustained by an Indemnified Party by reason of the fact that she, he or it is or was an
Indemnified Party, including, without limitation, any judgment, settlement, reasonable attorney�s fees and other costs or expenses incurred in
connection with the defense of any actual or threatened action or proceeding (collectively, �Liabilities�), provided that such Liabilities did not result
from such Indemnified Party�s own willful misconduct or gross negligence. In the discretion of the Sponsor, the Trust will advance to an Indemnified
Party funds to pay such expenses. The Indemnified Parties are not, however, exculpated or indemnified for any liability (including liability under U.S.
federal securities laws), to the extent that such liability may not be waived, modified or limited under applicable law.

The financial results of these entities are not included in the Trust�s financial statements.

Indemnification of the Trustee

The Trustee and any of the officers, directors, employees and agents of the Trustee will be indemnified by the Sponsor or the Trust, to the fullest extent
permitted by law, from and against any loss, damage, liability, claim, action, suit, cost, reasonable expense, disbursement (including the reasonable fees
and expenses of counsel), tax or penalty of any kind and nature whatsoever, arising out of, imposed upon or asserted at any time against such
indemnified person in connection with the performance of its obligations under the Trust Agreement, the creation, operation or termination of the Trust
or the transactions contemplated therein; provided, however, that the Sponsor and the Trust will not be required to indemnify any such indemnified
person for any such expenses
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which are a result of the willful misconduct, bad faith or gross negligence of such indemnified person. Any amount payable to such an indemnified
person under the Trust Agreement may be payable in advance under certain circumstances. The obligations of the Sponsor and the Trust to indemnify
such indemnified persons under the Trust Agreement will survive the termination of the Trust Agreement.

ITEM 13. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

The information regarding the Trust�s Financial Statements and Supplementary Data that is contained in Item 15. �Financial Statements and Exhibits�
of this Registration Statement is incorporated herein by reference. The financial statements as of and for each of the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019 included in this Information Statement have been audited by WithumSmith+Brown, PC, an independent registered public accounting firm, as
stated in their report. Such financial statements are included in reliance upon the report of such firm given upon their authority as experts in accounting
and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

The Sponsor has filed on behalf of the Trust a registration statement on Form 10 with the SEC under the Securities Act. For further information
about the Trust or the Shares, please refer to the registration statement, which you may inspect, without charge, at the public reference facilities of the
SEC at the below address or online at www.sec.gov, or obtain at prescribed rates from the public reference facilities of the SEC at the below address.
Information about the Trust and the Shares can also be obtained from the Trust�s website. The internet address of the Trust�s website will be
www.bitwiseinvstments.com. This internet address is only provided here as a convenience to you to allow you to access the Trust�s website, and the
information contained on or connected to the Trust�s website is not part of this Registration Statement.

The Trust is subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act and the Sponsor, on behalf of the Trust, will file quarterly and annual
reports and other information with the SEC. The reports and other information can be inspected online at www.sec.gov. Our reports are also available,
free of charge, on our website at https://bitwiseinvestments.com. Information contained on our website does not constitute a part of this registration
statement.

ITEM 14. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.
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ITEM 15. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND EXHIBITS.

(a) The following financial statements are filed as part of this Registration Statement on Form 10:

� Unaudited Financial Statements for the quarter period ended March 31, 2021

� Audited Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019
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Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund

Statements of Assets, Liabilities and Shareholders�� Equity

March 31, 2021 (Unaudited) and December 31, 2020 (Audited)

March 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Assets

Investments in digital assets, at fair value (cost $387,667,541 and $230,356,359)� $1,004,485,006 $ 374,017,545
Cash 285,045 743,486
Other assets 2,197 1,760

Total Assets $1,004,772,248 $ 374,762,791
Liabilities and Shareholders�� Equity
Liabilities

Management fees payable� $2,092,682 $ 779,208
Subscriptions received in advance 185,300 638,300
Capital withdrawals payable 99,417 104,845

Total Liabilities 2,377,399 1,522,353
Shareholders�� Equity (Net Assets)�� 1,002,394,849 373,240,438
Total Liabilities and Shareholders�� Equity (Net Assets) $1,004,772,248 $ 374,762,791

See accompanying notes to comparative financial statements.

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.
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Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund

Condensed Schedules of Investments

March 31, 2021 (Unaudited) and December 31, 2020 (Audited)

March 31, 2021

Units Fair Value
Percentage of

Net Assets
Investments in digital assets, at fair value
United States
Bitcoin� 13,621.7976 $798,052,252 79.61 %
Ethereum� 83,899.5595 159,374,713 15.90
Other� 47,058,041 4.69
Total investments in digital assets, at fair value

(cost $387,667,541) $1,004,485,006 100.20 %

December 31, 2020

Units Fair Value
Percentage of

Net Assets
Investments in digital assets, at fair value
United States
Bitcoin� 10,784.1481 $314,622,646 84.29 %
Ethereum� 60,056.7369 44,737,961 11.99
Other� 14,656,938 3.93
Total investments in digital assets, at fair value

(cost $230,356,359) $374,017,545 100.21 %

See accompanying notes to comparative financial statements.

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.
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Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund

Statements of Operations

For the periods January 1, 2021 to March 31, 2021 (Unaudited) and January 1, 2020 to March 31, 2020 (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2021 2020

Expenses
Management fees $4,909,445 $159,277
Transaction and other fees 816 2,102

Total Expenses 4,910,261 161,379
Net investment loss (4,910,261 ) (161,379 )
Net realized and change in unrealized gain (loss) on investments

Net realized loss from digital assets (128,174 ) (766,264 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation or (depreciation) from digital assets 473,156,278 (1,306,427 )

Net realized and change in unrealized gain on investments 473,028,104 (2,072,691 )
Net income�� $468,117,843 $(2,234,070 )

See accompanying notes to comparative financial statements.

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.
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Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

For the periods January 1, 2021 to March 31, 2021 (Unaudited) and January 1, 2020 to March 31, 2020 (Unaudited)

Investor Class Institutional Class Total Fund
Shares Net Assets Shares Net Assets Shares Net Assets

Net Assets, December 31, 2019�� 274,134.01 $17,379,774 66,652.64 $4,271,813 340,786.65 $21,651,587
Transfers (10,857.34 ) (877,069 ) 10,735.03 877,069 (122.31 ) �
Subscriptions* 33,044.77 2,495,500 1,223.97 100,000 34,268.74 2,595,500
Net loss�� � (1,611,872 ) � (622,198 ) � (2,234,070 )
Withdrawals* (6,186.06 ) (515,907 ) � � (6,186.06 ) (515,907 )
Net Assets, March 31, 2020�� 290,135.38 $16,870,426 78,611.64 $4,626,684 368,747.02 $21,497,110
Net Asset Value per Share, March 31, 2020� $58.15 $58.85

Investor Class Institutional Class Total Fund
Shares Net Assets Shares Net Assets Shares Net Assets

Net Assets, December 31, 2020�� 15,132,240.00 $373,240,438 � $ � 15,132,240.00 $373,240,438
Subscriptions 4,647,510.00 161,036,568 � � 4,647,510.00 161,036,568
Net income�� � 468,117,843 � � � 468,117,843
Net Assets, March 31, 2021�� 19,779,750.00 $1,002,394,849 � $ � 19,779,750.00 $1,002,394,849
Net Asset Value per Share, March 31, 2021� $50.68 $ �

* The Statement of Changes in Net Assets includes shares issued prior to the Fund�s conversion on May 1, 2020 (when all Institutional Class members
were issued new shares in the Fund at a conversion rate of 10.126022288931 for each share, all Investor Class members were issued new shares in
the Fund at a conversion rate of 10 for each share) at the when-issued (and unconverted) quantities, while shares issued subsequent to the May 1,
2020 conversion each represent a significantly lower Net Asset Value per share.

On an adjusted basis (i.e., adjusting the shares issued prior to May 1, 2020 by their future conversion rates), the Investor Class issued 330,447.70 shares
and redeemed 61,860.60 shares for the period ended March 31, 2020, and the Institutional Class issued 12,393.91 shares for the period ended March 31,
2020.

See accompanying notes to comparative financial statements.

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.
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Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund

Notes to Comparative Financial Statements

1. Organization

Nature of Operations

Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund (the �Trust�) is a Delaware Statutory Trust that commenced operations on November 22, 2017. The Trust�s name was
changed from �Bitwise Hold 10 Private Index Fund, LLC� on September 24, 2018, and changed again from �Bitwise 10 Private Index Fund, LLC� on
May 1, 2020 when it was also simultaneously converted from a Delaware Limited Liability Company to a Delaware Statutory Trust. Bitwise Investment
Advisers, LLC, is the sponsor (�Sponsor�) and investment adviser of the Trust. Bitwise Asset Management, Inc, an affiliate of the Sponsor, served as
the Manager before the Trust�s conversion to a Delaware Statutory Trust. Delaware Trust Company is the Trustee of the Trust, and American Stock
Transfer & Trust Company is the Transfer Agent of the Trust.

On December 9, 2020, the Trust received notice that its Shares were qualified for public trading on the OTCQX U.S. Marketplace of the OTC Markets
Group, Inc. (�OTCQX�). The Trust�s trading symbol on OTCQX is �BITW� and the CUSIP number for its Shares is 091749101.

The Trust�s principal investment objective is to invest in a portfolio (�Portfolio�) of cryptocurrencies (each, a �Portfolio Crypto Asset� and
collectively, �Portfolio Crypto Assets�) that tracks the Bitwise 10 Large Cap Crypto Index (the �Index�) as closely as possible with certain exceptions
determined by the Sponsor in its sole discretion, as described more fully below in the section entitled �Business of the Trust�. In addition, in the event
the Portfolio Crypto Assets being held by the Trust present opportunities to generate returns in excess of the Index (for example, airdrops, staking,
emissions, forks, or similar network events) the Sponsor may also pursue these incidental opportunities on behalf of the Trust as part of the investment
objective if in its sole discretion the Sponsor deems such activities to be possible and prudent.

Shareholders subject to a 2.5% per annum Management Fee are referred to as the Investor Class and Shareholders subject to a 2.0% per annum
Management Fee are referred to as the Institutional Class. Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Conversion executed as of May 1, 2020, the Trust
converted from a Delaware Limited Liability Company to a Delaware Statutory Trust. In connection with the conversion, limited liability company units
were converted to shares. All members holding Investor Class units received 10 shares for each unit held, and all members holding Institutional
Class units received 10.126022288931 shares for each unit held. Additionally, effective May 1, 2020 all shareholders are charged a Management Fee of
2.5% per annum, and the dual class structure was eliminated.

Any references to Shares or Shareholders refer to units and members, respectively, and references to the Sponsor refer to the Manager, with respect to
the period prior to the conversion to a Delaware Statutory Trust on May 1, 2020.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The financial statements are expressed in U.S. dollars and have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (�U.S. GAAP�). The Trust is an investment company and follows the specialized accounting and reporting guidance in the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) Accounting Standards Codification (�ASC� or �Codification�) Topic 946, Financial Services�Investment
Companies.

Pursuant to the Statement of Cash Flows Topic of the Codification, the Trust qualifies for an exemption from the requirement to provide a statement of
cash flows and has elected not to provide a statement of cash flows.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
income and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash

Cash represents cash deposits held at financial institutions. Cash in a bank deposit account, at times, may exceed U.S. federally insured limits. The Trust
has not experienced any losses in such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to any significant credit risk on such bank deposits.

Investments and Valuation

The Trust�s investments in digital assets are stated at fair value. For additional discussion of the calculation of valuation, see �Fair Value
Measurements�Calculation of Valuation,� Digital assets are generally valued using prices as reported on reputable and liquid exchanges and may
involve utilizing an average of bid and ask quotes using closing prices provided by such exchanges as of the date and time of determination (described
below). Factors such as the recent stability of the exchange, current liquidity of the exchange, and recent price activity of an exchange will be
considered as to the determination of which exchanges to utilize. The time used is 16:00 ET which corresponds to 20:00 UTC during Daylight Savings
Time and 21:00 UTC during non-Daylight Savings Time. The Sponsor�s Valuation Policy provides a listing of preferred exchanges. While some digital
assets are valued based on prices reported in the public markets, other digital assets may be more thinly-traded or subject to irregular trading activity.
Determinations on the value of certain digital assets, and how to value such assets as to which limited prices or quotations are available, are based on
the Sponsor�s recommendations or instructions.

Digital asset transactions are recorded on the trade date. Realized gains and losses from digital asset transactions are determined using the identified cost
method. Any change in net unrealized gain or loss is reported in the statement of operations. Commissions and other trading fees are reflected as an
adjustment to cost or proceeds at the time of the transaction.

The Trust generally records receipt of a new digital asset created due to a hard fork at the time the hard fork is effective. The Trust�s methodology for
determining effectiveness of the fork is when two or more recognized exchanges quote prices for the forked coin. Some exchanges and custodians do
not honor hard forks or may honor hard forks in the future. In such cases, the Trust will record receipt of the new digital asset at the time two or more
recognized exchanges begin quoting prices for the asset.

Although the Trust records the asset into its books and records at the time the fork is effective, as described above, the Trust�s Custodian (defined
below) may take an extended period of time to make the forked asset available for transfer, and it may never make the forked asset available for transfer,
which could lead to either the Trust holding the asset longer than it would otherwise hold the asset (if it was freely transferrable), or a complete write-
down in the value of the forked asset. The Trust does not allocate any of the original digital asset�s cost to the new digital asset and recognizes
unrealized gains equal to the fair value of the new digital asset received.

The Trust occasionally receives �airdrops� of new digital assets. The use of airdrops is generally to promote the launch and use of new digital assets by
providing a small amount of such new digital assets to the private wallets or exchange accounts that support the new digital asset and that hold existing
related digital assets. Unlike hard forks, airdropped digital assets can have substantially different blockchain technology that has no relation to any
existing digital asset, and many airdrops may be without value. The Trust records receipt of airdropped digital assets when received if there is value to
the Trust in doing so. Digital assets received from airdrops have no cost basis and the Trust recognizes unrealized gains equal to the fair value of the new
digital asset received.
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Income Taxes

The Trust is classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Trust does not record a provision for U.S. federal, U.S. state or local
income taxes because the Shareholders report their share of the Trust�s income or loss on their income tax returns. The Trust files an income tax return
in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and may file income tax returns in various U.S. states and foreign jurisdictions.

The Trust is required to determine whether its tax positions are more likely than not to be sustained on examination by the applicable taxing authority,
based on the technical merits of the position. Tax positions not deemed to meet a more likely than not threshold would be recorded as a tax expense in
the current year. As of March 31, 2021 and 2020, the Trust has determined that no provision for income taxes is required and no liability for
unrecognized tax benefits has been recorded. The Trust does not expect that its assessment related to unrecognized tax benefits will materially change
over the next 12 months. However, the Trust�s conclusions may be subject to review and adjustment at a later date based on factors including, but not
limited to, the nexus of income among various tax jurisdictions; compliance with U.S. federal, U.S. state, and tax laws of jurisdictions in which the Trust
operates in; and changes in the administrative practices and precedents of the relevant authorities.

3. Fair Value Measurements

Calculation of Valuation

For all periods through the quarterly period ended March 31, 2021, the NAV per Share, the NAV of the Trust, and the fair valuations for each Portfolio
Crypto Asset were calculated by the Fund�s Administrator in reliance on the fair value of each portfolio crypto asset based on the Blended Bitwise
Crypto Asset Price, which the Sponsor is and has been responsible for calculating. The Sponsor has provided this price to the Administrator, and the
Administrator uses this price (multiplied by the Trust�s holdings) for each asset to determine the fair value of the Trust�s assets. The Administrator then
subtracts the Trust�s liabilities to determine the Trust�s NAV. The administrator then divides this value by the Trust�s shares outstanding in order to
determine the NAV per share. As a result of the Sponsor�s responsibility in this regard, any errors, discontinuance or changes in such valuation
calculations may have had or may have an adverse effect on the value of the Shares. The Sponsor instituted this valuation policy in order to generate fair
value estimates because it determined that such policy was in the best interest of shareholders, as it would avoid misstatements in valuation of the assets
potentially arising from deviations in pricing across the digital asset market, and because of the fragmented nature of the digital asset trading ecosystem.
As a result, management applied this valuation technique which it determined to be appropriate given the circumstances.

Following the filing of its Form 10, the Sponsor conducted a complete review of its process for determining fair valuation in the presentation of its
financial statements and calculation of NAV. In this process, the Sponsor evaluated whether or not the identification of a principal market for each of the
Trust�s assets for valuation purposes, during each period for which the Trust created and had audited its financial statements, would have created a
material difference in the Trust�s estimated fair value or assets. In conjunction, the Sponsor began to consider a change in valuation policy for the fair
valuation of cryptocurrencies held in the Trust. As a result, the Sponsor has developed a process for the determination of a principal market for each
asset based on this consideration and intends to disclose this change in valuation policy and accounting policy when implemented, which is expected to
be prior to the creation of financial statements for the period ending September 30, 2021.

The process that the Sponsor has developed for identifying a principal market, as described in Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�)
Accounting Standards Codification (�ASC�) 820-10, which outlines the application of fair value accounting, was to begin by identifying publicly
available, well-established and reputable cryptocurrency exchanges selected by the Sponsor and its affiliates in their sole discretion, currently including
BitFlyer, Binance, Bitstamp, Bittrex, Coinbase, itBit, Kraken, Gemini and Poloniex, and then calculating, on each valuation period, the highest volume
exchange during the 60 minutes prior to 16:00 ET for
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each asset. In evaluating the markets that could be considered principal markets, the Trust considered whether or not the specific markets were
accessible to the Trust, either directly or through an intermediary, at the end of each period.

In the process of this review, the Sponsor also retroactively applied this process for identifying a principal market to the prior periods of reported
financial results, including the fiscal years 2018, 2019 and 2020, to determine whether or not any material or significant differences would have resulted
from the application of a different valuation policy in the creation of each financial statement (e.g., comparing the fair value prices determined using the
existing and previous valuation methodology to the hypothetical fair value prices using an identified principal market for each asset) and to consider
whether management�s use of the existing valuation policy would have created any material departures from a valuation policy of identifying a
principal market.

The results of this review are presented in the tables below for each period end for which the Trust prepared financial statements. The Sponsor�s results
conclude that there are no material or significant differences in valuation or the financial statements as presented when using the policy of identifying a
principal market described above as compared to the existing valuation methodology for any period since the Trust commenced operations, as the
average difference in valuation prices was in all cases less than 0.05% or five one hundredths of one percent for each asset for each period measured,
and that such differences are immaterial in all cases.

For the Period Ended March 31, 2021:

Investments in digital
assets, at fair value

Existing Fair
Value Price

Investment at
Fair Value;

Existing Fair
Value Price

Potential
Principal
Market

Potential
Principal
Market

Price

Investment at
Fair Value;

Hypothetical
Principal

Market Price

Difference in
Valuation

in% Terms
of Net Assets

Difference
in

Valuation
in Dollar

Terms
Bitcoin $58,586.413 $798,052,252 Coinbase $58,601.270 $798,254,639 0.02 % $202,387
Ethereum 1,899.589 159,374,713 Coinbase 1,899.980 159,407,485 0.00 % 32,772
Litecoin 193.147 9,393,381 Coinbase 193.220 9,396,952 0.00 % 3,572
Chainlink 27.960 8,346,984 Coinbase 27.964 8,348,126 0.00 % 1,142
Bitcoin Cash 525.730 7,170,357 Coinbase 526.010 7,174,173 0.00 % 3,817
Stellar Lumens 0.393 6,465,236 Coinbase 0.393 6,468,747 0.00 % 3,511
Uniswap 27.638 6,091,858 Coinbase 27.624 6,088,826 (0.00 %) (3,032 )
AAVE 381.295 3,458,421 Coinbase 381.254 3,458,054 (0.00 %) (367 )
EOS 4.619 3,209,255 Coinbase 4.622 3,211,490 0.00 % 2,235
Cosmos 18.964 2,922,550 Coinbase 18.957 2,921,452 (0.00 %) (1,098 )
Total $1,004,485,006 $1,004,729,944
Total Impact to Investments in digital assets, at fair value 0.02 % $244,938

While the Sponsor has applied accounting standards it believes are appropriate to the circumstances, and despite these findings that the previous results
are immaterially different, the Sponsor intends to change its valuation policy going forward based on the foregoing discussion and interpretation of ASC
820. The Sponsor intends to change its valuation policy for the purposes of calculating its ongoing net asset value, and processing ongoing subscription
into the Trust and will similarly disclose this change in valuation policy, as well as the difference between the two policies.

Valuation during the periods presented

During the periods presented, the trust carried its investments at fair value in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement. Fair
value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., the �exit price�) in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. Fair value investments are not adjusted for transaction costs. The Trust utilized this method for purposes of
calculating the Trust�s NAV.
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In determining fair value, the Trust uses various valuation approaches. A fair value hierarchy for inputs is used in measuring fair value that maximizes
the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs are to be used when available.
The fair value hierarchy is categorized into three levels based on the inputs as follows:

Level 1 � Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Trust has the ability to access.

Level 2 � Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or
indirectly. These inputs may include (a) quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, (b) quoted prices for identical or similar assets in
markets that are not active, (c) inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset, or (d) inputs derived principally from or
corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 � Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement.

The availability of valuation techniques and observable inputs can vary from investment to investment and are affected by a wide variety of factors,
including the type of investment, whether the investment is new and not yet established in the marketplace, the liquidity of markets, and other
characteristics particular to the transaction.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, the level in the fair value
hierarchy which the fair value measurement falls in its entirety is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

The following summarizes the Trust�s assets accounted for at fair value at March 31, 2021.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets

Investments in digital assets, at fair value $ � $1,004,485,006 $ � $1,004,485,006

The following summarizes the Trust�s assets accounted for at fair value at December 31, 2020.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets

Investments in digital assets, at fair value $ � $374,017,545 $ � $374,017,545

4. Risks and Uncertainties

Digital Assets

Digital assets are loosely regulated and there is no central marketplace for currency exchange. Supply is determined by a computer code, not by a central
bank, and prices have been extremely volatile. Digital asset exchanges have been closed due to fraud, failure or security breaches. Any of the Trust�s
assets that reside on an exchange that shuts down may be lost. At March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, no digital assets and $759,000 reside on
exchanges, respectively.

Several factors may affect the price of digital assets, including, but not limited to: supply and demand, investors� expectations with respect to the rate of
inflation, interest rates, currency exchange rates or future regulatory measures (if any) that restrict the trading of digital assets or the use of digital assets
as a form of payment. There is no assurance that digital assets will maintain their long-term value in terms of purchasing power in the future, or that
acceptance of digital asset payments by mainstream retail merchants and commercial businesses will continue to grow.
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Digital Asset Regulation

As digital assets have grown in popularity and market size, various countries and jurisdictions have begun to develop regulations governing the digital
assets industry. To the extent that future regulatory actions or policies limit the ability to exchange digital assets or utilize them for payments, the
demand for digital assets will be reduced. Furthermore, regulatory actions may limit the ability of end-users to convert digital assets into fiat currency
(e.g., U.S. dollars) or use digital assets to pay for goods and services. Such regulatory actions or policies would result in a reduction of demand, and in
turn, a decline in the underlying digital asset unit prices.

The effect of any future regulatory change on the Trust or digital assets in general is impossible to predict, but such change could be substantial and
adverse to the Trust and the value of the Trust�s investments in digital assets.

Custody of Digital Assets

Coinbase Custody Trust Company, LLC (the �Custodian�) serves as the Trust�s Custodian for digital assets for which qualified custody is available.
The Custodian is subject to change in the sole discretion of the Sponsor. At March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, digital assets of approximately
$1,004,485,000 and $373,259,000 are held by the Custodian, respectively.

Digital Asset Trading is Volatile and Speculative

Digital assets represent a speculative investment and involve a high degree of risk. Prices of digital assets have fluctuated widely for a variety of reasons
including uncertainties in government regulation and may continue to experience significant price fluctuations. If digital asset markets continue to be
subject to sharp fluctuations, Shareholders may experience losses as the value of the Trust�s investments decline. Even if Shareholders are able to hold
their Shares in the Trust for the long-term, their Shares may never generate a profit, since digital asset markets have historically experienced extended
periods of flat or declining prices, in addition to sharp fluctuations.

Over-the-Counter Transactions

Some of the markets in which the Trust may execute its transactions are �over-the-counter� or �interdealer� markets. The participants in such markets
are typically not subject to credit evaluation and regulatory oversight as are members of �exchange-based� markets. This exposes the Trust to the risk
that a counterparty will not settle a transaction in accordance with its terms and conditions because of a dispute over the terms of the contract (whether
or not bona fide) or because of a credit or liquidity problem, thus causing the Trust to suffer a loss. Such �counterparty risk� is accentuated for digital
assets where the Trust has concentrated its transactions with a single or small group of counterparties. The Trust is not restricted from dealing with any
particular counterparty or from concentrating any or all of its transactions with one counterparty. Moreover, the Trust has no internal credit function that
evaluates the creditworthiness of its counterparties. The ability of the Trust to transact business with any one or number of counterparties, the lack of
any meaningful and independent evaluation of such counterparty�s financial capabilities and the absence of a regulated market to facilitate settlement
may increase the potential for losses by the Trust.

No FDIC or SIPC Protection

The Trust is not a banking institution or otherwise a member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (�FDIC�) or the Securities Investor
Protection Corporation (�SIPC�). Accordingly, deposits or assets held by the Trust are not subject to the protections enjoyed by depositors with FDIC or
SIPC member institutions. The Trust�s cryptocurrency custodians do however carry bespoke insurance policies related to the cryptocurrencies over
which they provide custody.
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The Trust must adapt to technological change in order to secure and safeguard client accounts. While management believes they have developed an
appropriate proprietary security system reasonably designed to safeguard the Trust�s digital assets from theft, loss, destruction or other issues relating to
hackers and technological attack, such assessment is based upon known technology and threats. To the extent that the Trust is unable to identify and
mitigate or stop new security threats, the Trust�s digital assets may be subject to theft, loss, destruction or other attack, which could have a negative
impact on the performance of the Trust or result in loss of the Trust�s digital assets.

Risks Associated With a Cryptocurrency Majority Control

Since cryptocurrencies are virtual and transactions in such currencies reside on distributed networks, governance of the underlying distributed network
could be adversely altered should any individual or group obtain 51% control of the distributed network. Such control could have a significant adverse
effect on either the ownership or value of the cryptocurrency.

Transaction Authentication

As of the date of these financial statements, the transfer of digital currency assets from one party to another typically relies on an authentication process
by an outside party known as a miner. In exchange for compensation, the miner will authenticate the transfer of the currency through the solving of a
complex algorithm known as a proof of work, or will vouch for the transfer through other means, such as a proof of stake. Effective transfers of and
therefore realization of cryptocurrency, digital assets and tokens are dependent on interactions from these miners or forgers. In the event that there is a
shortage of miners to perform this function, that shortage could have an adverse effect on either the fair value or realization of the cryptocurrency assets.

COVID-19

The future impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the financial performance and operations of the Trust will depend on future developments, including
the duration and spread of the virus and related advisories and restrictions. These developments and the impact of COVID-19 on blockchain markets and
the overall economy, as well as on the financial performance and operations of the Trust, are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted.

5. Administrator

Theorem Fund Services, LLC (the �Administrator�) serves as the Trust�s administrator and performs certain administrative and accounting services on
behalf of the Trust.

6. Shareholders�� Equity

Subscriptions

The minimum initial subscription amount is $25,000, and an existing Shareholder may make additional subscriptions in a minimum amount of $10,000.
Minimum subscription amounts may be increased, decreased and/or waived by the Sponsor in its sole discretion.

The Trust generally accepts initial and additional subscriptions weekly on such dates as the Sponsor may determine in its sole discretion.

Subscriptions received in advance at March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 represent amounts received in 2021 and 2020 with effective dates after
March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.
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In-Kind Subscriptions

The Sponsor may, at its sole discretion, accept digital assets (�In-Kind Investments�) in lieu of, or in addition to, cash as payment for investment in the
Trust. Such In-Kind Investments are valued using the same digital asset prices as per the Trust�s valuation policy at any given valuation date as of 4:00
pm EST on the date of the subscription. For the periods January 1, 2021 to March 31, 2021 and January 1, 2020 to March 31, 2020, the Trust accepted
In-Kind Investments from the Shareholders of $94,649,139 and $0 respectively.

Withdrawals

In connection with the Trust seeking approval for the quotation of its Shares on OTCQX, the Trust halted the withdrawal program on October 7, 2020.
Upon receipt of regulatory approval and approval by the Sponsor, the Trust may offer a withdrawal program in the future.

Prior to October 7, 2020, each Shareholder could have requested a withdrawal of any Shares attributable to any subscription as of the first weekly
withdrawal time, which was Wednesday at 5 p.m. PT that banking institutions were open for business in the State of California. Withdrawals were
permitted on the 12-month anniversary of the date on which the attributable subscription was made; provided that, a Shareholder could have, in its
discretion, resigned all or a portion of Shares prior to the 12-month anniversary on a withdrawal date after the payment of a 3% early withdrawal fee to
the Trust and subject to all other resignation restrictions. Withdrawal requests once made were irrevocable and must have been communicated in writing
to the Administrator by 2 p.m. PT on the Monday prior to the desired weekly withdrawal.

Prior to October 7, 2020 and subject to the Trust-level suspensions and Shareholder-level suspensions and any other restrictions provided in the Offering
Memorandum and in the Trust Agreement, the Sponsor would, within 30 business days following the applicable withdrawal, distribute not less than
90% of the redemption and distribute the balance of the proceeds, if any, upon the completion of the Trust�s annual audit for the fiscal year in which the
withdrawal was effected. A Shareholder could not make a partial withdrawal that would reduce the aggregate value of his or her Shares below $10,000,
subject to the discretion of the Sponsor to waive such limitation.

However, the Trust could have taken longer than 30 business days to settle withdrawal requests if the Trust was unable to liquidate its investments, if the
value of the assets and liabilities of the Trust could not be determined with reasonable accuracy, or for any other reason. Transaction costs involved in
funding a withdrawal were charged to the withdrawing Shareholder.

Allocation of Profits and Losses

Prior to May 1, 2020, when the dual class structure was eliminated, income or loss (prior to the calculation of the Management Fee) attributable to the
Trust was allocated to each Class in proportion to each Class� capital account balance.

7. Related Party Transactions

In consideration for the management services to be provided to the Trust, the Sponsor will receive from the Trust a management fee (the �Management
Fee�) payable monthly, in advance prior to May 31, 2020, and in arrears effective June 1, 2020.

Prior to May 1, 2020, the monthly Management Fee was equal to (a) 1/12th of 2.0% (2.0% per annum) of the net asset value of each Member�s capital
account balance, for subscriptions greater than or equal to $1 million, and (b) 1/12th of 2.5% (2.5% per annum) of the net asset value of each Member�s
capital account balance, for subscriptions less than $1 million. Effective May 1, 2020, all Shareholders in the Trust are charged a Management Fee of
2.5% per annum.
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For the periods January 1, 2021 to March 31, 2021 and January 1, 2020 to March 31, 2020, the Investor Class was charged Management Fees of
$4,909,445, and $129,855, respectively, and the Institutional Class was charged Management Fees of $0 and $29,422, respectively, of which $2,092,682
and $42,264 remains payable as of March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The Sponsor paid all expenses related to the initial offering, organization and start-up of the Trust and will not seek reimbursement for such amounts.
The Sponsor is responsible for all ordinary operating expenses of the Trust, including administrative, custody, legal, audit, insurance, and other
operating expenses.

8. Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, the Trust enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations and warranties and which
provide general indemnifications. The Trust�s maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future claims that may
be made against the Trust that have not yet occurred. The Trust expects the risk of any future obligation under these indemnifications to be remote.

9. Financial Highlights

The following presents the financial highlights for the period January 1, 2021 to March 31, 2021.

Per Share Performance��
Investor

Class
(for a share outstanding throughout the period)
Net asset value per share at beginning of period $24.67
Net income:

Net realized and change in unrealized gain on investments (1) 26.27
Net investment loss (1) (0.26 )

Net income 26.01
Net asset value per share at end of period $50.68
Total return 105.43%
Supplemental Data��
Ratios to average net asset value
Expenses 2.76 %
Net investment loss (2.76 )%

Total returns are calculated based on the change in value of a share during the period. The total return and the ratios to average net asset value are
calculated for each class as a whole. An individual Shareholder�s return and ratios may vary based on the timing of capital transactions. Ratios have
been annualized for the period January 1, 2021 to March 31, 2021; total returns have not been annualized.

(1) Net investment loss per share is calculated by dividing the net investment loss by the average number of shares outstanding during the period. Net
realized and change in unrealized gain on investments is a balancing amount necessary to reconcile the change in net asset value per share with
the other per share information.

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.
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The following presents the financial highlights for the period January 1, 2020 to March 31, 2020.

Per Share Performance��
Investor

Class
Institutional

Class
(for a share outstanding throughout the period)
Net asset value per share at beginning of period (3) $6.34 $ 64.09
Net income: (3)

Net realized and change in unrealized gain on investments (1) (0.48 ) (4.85 )
Net investment loss (1) (0.05 ) (0.38 )

Net income (0.53 ) (5.24 )
Net asset value per share at end of period $5.81 $ 58.85 (2)

Total return (8.28 )% (8.17 )%
Supplemental Data��
Ratios to average net asset value
Expenses 2.49 % 2.00 %
Net investment loss (2.49 )% (2.00 )%

Total returns are calculated based on the change in value of a share during the period. The total return and the ratios to average net asset value are
calculated for each class as a whole. An individual Shareholder�s return and ratios may vary based on the timing of capital transactions.

(1) Net investment loss per share is calculated by dividing the net investment loss by the average number of shares outstanding during the period. Net
realized and change in unrealized gain on investments is a balancing amount necessary to reconcile the change in net asset value per share with
the other per share information.

(2) Represents the net asset value per share at March 31, 2020, prior to conversion.
(3) With respect to the per share performance of the Investor Class, the net asset value per share at the beginning of the period, as well as net income

per share for the period ended March 31, 2020, were calculated based on a conversion rate of 10 per share (as disclosed in the statement of
changes in net assets).

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.

10. Subsequent Events

During the period April 1, 2021 to May 17, 2021, subscriptions of $11,467,045 were made to the Trust.

The Sponsor has evaluated subsequent events through May 17, 2021, the date the financial statements were available to be issued, and has determined
that there are no other subsequent events that require disclosure.

Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund

(formerly known as Bitwise 10 Private Index Fund, LLC)

ANNUAL REPORT

DECEMBER 31, 2020
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Sponsor of Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying statements of assets, liabilities and shareholders� equity of Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund (the �Trust�), including
the condensed schedule of investments, as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related statements of operations and changes in net assets for the
years then ended, including the related notes (collectively, the �financial statements�). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Trust as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and changes in net assets for the
years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Trust�s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (�PCAOB�) and
are required to be independent with respect to the Trust in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Trust is not required to
have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust�s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. Our procedures included confirmation of investments owned as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, by correspondence with the
custodian, counterparties, exchanges or by other audit procedures, where replies were not received. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter �� Uncertainties Related to Cryptocurrency Assets (also referred to as ��Digital Assets��)

As disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements, the Trust held digital assets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, with a fair value of approximately
$374,018,000 and $21,691,000, respectively, in digital currencies, representing approximately 100% and 100% of the total assets at December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively. Significant information and risks related to such currencies includes, but is not necessarily limited to the following:

Risks Associated With Digital Assets and Risks of Ownership

As of the date of these financial statements, digital assets are loosely regulated and there is no central marketplace or currency exchange. Supply is
not determined by a central bank, and prices have been extremely volatile during the periods presented in the financial statements. Transferability
and ownership of
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digital assets is verified by a thirty-two-character cryptographic key. Digital asset exchanges in the marketplace have been closed due to fraud,
failure or security breaches. Any of the Trust�s digital assets that reside on an exchange that shuts down may be lost. The Trust held digital assets
as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, with a fair value of approximately $374,018,000 and $21,691,000, respectively. Of this, digital assets of
approximately $373,259,000 and $21,487,000 are held by the Custodian; digital assets of approximately $0 and $100,000 are held in private
wallets; and digital assets of approximately $759,000 and $105,000 reside on exchanges, respectively. Several factors may affect the price of
digital assets, including, but not limited to: supply and demand, investors� expectations with respect to the rate of inflation, interest rates, currency
exchange rates or future regulatory measures (if any) that restrict the trading of digital assets or the use of digital assets as a form of payment.
There is no assurance that digital assets will maintain their long-term value in terms of purchasing power in the future, or that acceptance of digital
asset payments by mainstream retail merchants and commercial businesses will continue to grow.

Risks Associated With Digital Asset Regulation

As digital assets have grown in popularity and market size, various countries and jurisdictions have begun to develop regulations governing the
digital assets industry. To the extent that future regulatory actions or policies limit the ability to exchange digital assets or utilize them for
payments, the demand for digital assets will be reduced. Furthermore, regulatory actions may limit the ability of end-users to convert digital assets
into fiat currency (e.g., U.S. dollars) or use digital assets to pay for goods and services. Such regulatory actions or policies would result in a
reduction of demand, and in turn, a decline in the underlying digital asset unit prices.

The effect of any future regulatory change on the Trust or digital assets in general is impossible to predict, but such change could be substantial
and adverse to the Trust and the value of the Trust�s investments in digital assets.

Risks Associated Over-the-Counter Transactions

Some of the markets in which the Trust may execute its transactions are �over-the-counter� or �interdealer� markets. The participants in such
markets are typically not subject to credit evaluation and regulatory oversight as are members of �exchange-based� markets. This exposes the
Trust to the risk that a counterparty will not settle a transaction in accordance with its terms and conditions because of a dispute over the terms of
the contract (whether or not bona fide) or because of a credit or liquidity problem, thus causing the Trust to suffer a loss. Such �counterparty risk�
is accentuated for digital assets where the Trust has concentrated its transactions with a single or small group of counterparties. The Trust is not
restricted from dealing with any particular counterparty or from concentrating any or all of its transactions with one counterparty. Moreover, the
Trust has no internal credit function that evaluates the creditworthiness of its counterparties. The ability of the Trust to transact business with any
one or number of counterparties, the lack of any meaningful and independent evaluation of such counterparty�s financial capabilities and the
absence of a regulated market to facilitate settlement may increase the potential for losses by the Trust.

Risks Associated No FDIC or SIPC Protection

The Trust is not a banking institution or otherwise a member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (�FDIC�) or the Securities Investor
Protection Corporation (�SIPC�). Accordingly, deposits or assets held by the Trust are not subject to the protections enjoyed by depositors with
FDIC or SIPC member institutions. The Trust�s cryptocurrency custodians do however carry bespoke insurance policies related to the
cryptocurrencies over which they provide custody.

The Trust must adapt to technological change in order to secure and safeguard client accounts. While management believes they have developed
an appropriate proprietary security system reasonably designed to safeguard the Trust�s digital assets from theft, loss, destruction or other issues
relating to hackers and
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technological attack, such assessment is based upon known technology and threats. To the extent that the Trust is unable to identify and mitigate
or stop new security threats, the Trust�s digital assets may be subject to theft, loss, destruction or other attack, which could have a negative impact
on the performance of the Trust or result in loss of the Trust�s digital assets.

Risks Associated With a Cryptocurrency Majority Control

Since cryptocurrencies are virtual and transactions in such currencies reside on distributed networks, governance of the underlying distributed
network could be adversely altered should any individual or group obtain 51% control of the distributed network. Such control could have a
significant adverse effect on either the ownership or value of the cryptocurrency.

Risks Related to Transaction Authentication

As of the date of these financial statements, the transfer of digital currency assets from one party to another currently typically relies on an
authentication process by an outside party known as a miner. In exchange for compensation, the miner will authenticate the transfer of the
currency through the solving of a complex algorithm known as a proof of work, or will vouch for the transfer through other means, such as a proof
of stake. Effective transfers of and therefore realization of cryptocurrency is dependent on interactions from these miners or forgers. In the event
that there were a shortage of miners to perform this function, that shortage could have an adverse effect on either the fair value or realization of
the cryptocurrency assets.

As discussed herein, holdings in digital currency assets are subject to current, emerging and potentially significant risks, including, but not necessarily
limited to legal, regulatory, market valuation and proof of ownership risks. These risks are described in greater detail in Note 4 to the financial
statements. Users of financial statements for entities that hold cryptocurrency assets should carefully understand, consider and evaluate these and other
risks related to cryptocurrency assets, when making investing decisions in such entities. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

We have served as the auditor as of 2021.

/s/ WithumSmith+Brown, PC

New York, New York

April 22, 2021, except for Notes 2, 3 and 4 as to which the date is February 17, 2022
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Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund

Statements of Assets, Liabilities and Shareholders�� Equity

December 31, 2020 and 2019

2020 2019
Assets

Investments in digital assets, at fair value�
(cost $230,356,359 and $38,793,090) $374,017,545 $21,691,233

Cash 743,486 150,460
Other assets 1,760 1,429

Total Assets $374,762,791 $21,843,122
Liabilities and Shareholders�� Equity
Liabilities

Management fees payable� $779,208 $43,296
Subscriptions received in advance 638,300 120,000
Capital withdrawals payable 104,845 28,239

Total Liabilities 1,522,353 191,535
Shareholders�� Equity (Net Assets)�� 373,240,438 21,651,587
Total Liabilities and Shareholders�� Equity (Net Assets) $374,762,791 $21,843,122

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.
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Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund

Condensed Schedules of Investments

December 31, 2020 and 2019

2020

Units Fair Value
Percentage of

Net Assets
Investments in digital assets, at fair value
United States
Bitcoin� 10,784.1481 $314,622,646 84.29 %
Ethereum� 60,056.7369 44,737,961 11.99
Other� 14,656,938 3.93
Total investments in digital assets, at fair value

(cost $230,356,359) $374,017,545 100.21 %

2019

Units Fair Value
Percentage of

Members�� Equity
Investments in digital assets, at fair value
United States
Bitcoin� 2,411.0565 $17,233,399 79.59 %
Ethereum� 13,283.4476 1,698,840 7.85
Ripple� 5,863,859.8123 1,113,258 5.14
Other� 1,645,736 7.60
Total investments in digital assets, at fair value

(cost $38,793,090) $21,691,233 100.18 %

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.
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Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund

Statements of Operations

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

2020 2019
Income

Redemption fee income $� $3,635
Other income � 753

Total Income � 4,388
Expenses

Management fees 1,875,116 555,041
Transaction and other fees 2,669 32

Total Expenses 1,877,785 555,073
Net investment loss (1,877,785 ) (550,685 )
Net realized and change in unrealized gain (loss) on investments

Net realized loss from digital assets (4,492,966 ) (3,276,792 )
Net change in unrealized appreciation or (depreciation) from digital assets 160,763,043 9,323,791

Net realized and change in unrealized gain on investments 156,270,077 6,046,999
Net income�� $154,392,292 $5,496,314

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.
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Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

For the year ended December 31, 2020

Investor Class Institutional Class Total Fund
Shares Net Assets Shares Net Assets Shares Net Assets

Net Assets, December 31, 2019�� 274,134.01 $17,379,774 66,652.64 $4,271,813 340,786.65 $21,651,587
Transfers (23,454.60 ) (1,880,156 ) 23,180.81 1,880,156 (273.79 ) �
Conversion 3,440,958.19 7,692,382 (95,346.28 ) (7,692,391 ) 3,345,611.91 (9 )
Subscriptions* 11,540,051.06 199,074,452 5,994.85 400,000 11,546,045.91 199,474,452
Net income�� � 153,213,020 � 1,179,272 � 154,392,292
Withdrawals* (99,448.66 ) (2,239,034 ) (482.02 ) (38,850 ) (99,930.68 ) (2,277,884 )
Net Assets, December 31, 2020�� 15,132,240.00 $373,240,438 � $� 15,132,240.00 $373,240,438
Net Asset Value per Share,

December 31, 2020� $24.67 $�

* The Statement of Changes in Net Assets includes shares issued prior to the Fund�s conversion on May 1, 2020 (when all Institutional Class members
were issued new shares in the Fund at a conversion rate of 10.126022288931 for each share, all Investor Class members were issued new shares in
the Fund at a conversion rate of 10 for each share) at the when-issued (and unconverted) quantities, while shares issued subsequent to the May 1,
2020 conversion each represent a significantly lower Net Asset Value per share.

On an adjusted basis (i.e., adjusting the shares issued prior to May 1, 2020 by their future conversion rates), the Investor Class issued 11,925,035.60
shares and redeemed 265,072.14 shares for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the Institutional Class issued 60,703.95 shares and redeemed
4,840.31 shares for the year ended December 31, 2020.

See financial statement note 6 for disclosures on subscriptions in-kind.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.
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Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

For the year ended December 31, 2019

Investor Class Institutional Class Total Fund
Shares Net Assets Shares Net Assets Shares Net Assets

Net Assets, December 31, 2018�� 224,656.26 $9,642,628 65,443.23 $2,824,269 290,099.49 $12,466,897
Subscriptions 69,244.34 5,222,177 5,339.39 300,000 74,583.73 5,522,177
Net income�� � 3,981,354 � 1,514,960 � 5,496,314
Withdrawals (19,766.59 ) (1,466,385 ) (4,129.98 ) (367,416 ) (23,896.57 ) (1,833,801 )
Net Assets, December 31, 2019�� 274,134.01 $17,379,774 66,652.64 $4,271,813 340,786.65 $21,651,587
Net Asset Value per Share, December 31, 2019� $63.40 $64.09

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.
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Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Organization

Nature of Operations

Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund (the �Trust�) is a Delaware Statutory Trust that commenced operations on November 22, 2017. The Trust�s name was
changed from �Bitwise Hold 10 Private Index Fund, LLC� on
September 24, 2018, and changed again from �Bitwise 10 Private Index Fund, LLC� on May 1, 2020 when it was also simultaneously converted from a
Delaware Limited Liability Company to a Delaware Statutory Trust. Bitwise Investment Advisers, LLC, is the sponsor (�Sponsor�) and investment
adviser of the Trust. Bitwise Asset Management, Inc, an affiliate of the Sponsor, served as the Manager before the Trust�s conversion to a Delaware
Statutory Trust. Delaware Trust Company is the Trustee of the Trust, and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company is the Transfer Agent of the Trust.

On December 9, 2020, the Trust received notice that its Shares were qualified for public trading on the OTCQX U.S. Marketplace of the OTC Markets
Group, Inc. (�OTCQX�). The Trust�s trading symbol on OTCQX is �BITW� and the CUSIP number for its Shares is 091749101.

The Trust�s principal investment objective is to invest in a portfolio (�Portfolio�) of cryptocurrencies (each, a �Portfolio Crypto Asset� and
collectively, �Portfolio Crypto Assets�) that tracks the Bitwise 10 Large Cap Crypto Index (the �Index�) as closely as possible with certain exceptions
determined by the Sponsor in its sole discretion, as described more fully below in the section entitled �Business of the Trust�. In addition, in the event
the Portfolio Crypto Assets being held by the Trust present opportunities to generate returns in excess of the Index (for example, airdrops, staking,
emissions, forks, or similar network events) the Sponsor may also pursue these incidental opportunities on behalf of the Trust as part of the investment
objective if in its sole discretion the Sponsor deems such activities to be possible and prudent.

Shareholders subject to a 2.5% per annum Management Fee are referred to as the Investor Class and Shareholders subject to a 2.0% per annum
Management Fee are referred to as the Institutional Class. Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Conversion executed as of May 1, 2020, the Trust
converted from a Delaware Limited Liability Company to a Delaware Statutory Trust. In connection with the conversion, limited liability company units
were converted to shares. All members holding Investor Class units received 10 shares for each unit held, and all members holding Institutional
Class units received 10.126022288931 shares for each unit held. Additionally, effective May 1, 2020 all shareholders are charged a Management Fee of
2.5% per annum, and the dual class structure was eliminated.

Any references to Shares or Shareholders refer to units and members, respectively, and references to the Sponsor refer to the Manager, with respect to
the period prior to the conversion to a Delaware Statutory Trust on May 1, 2020.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The financial statements are expressed in U.S. dollars and have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (�U.S. GAAP�). The Trust is an investment company and follows the specialized accounting and reporting guidance in the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) Accounting Standards Codification (�ASC� or �Codification�) Topic 946, Financial Services�Investment
Companies.

Pursuant to the Statement of Cash Flows Topic of the Codification, the Trust qualifies for an exemption from the requirement to provide a statement of
cash flows and has elected not to provide a statement of cash flows.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
income and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash

Cash represents cash deposits held at financial institutions. Cash in a bank deposit account, at times, may exceed U.S. federally insured limits. The Trust
has not experienced any losses in such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to any significant credit risk on such bank deposits.

Investments and Valuation

The Trust�s investments in digital assets are stated at fair value. For additional discussion of the calculation of valuation, see �Fair Value
Measurements�Calculation of Valuation,� Digital assets are generally valued using prices as reported on reputable and liquid exchanges and may
involve utilizing an average of bid and ask quotes using closing prices provided by such exchanges as of the date and time of determination (described
below). Factors such as the recent stability of the exchange, current liquidity of the exchange, and recent price activity of an exchange will be considered
as to the determination of which exchanges to utilize. The time used is 16:00 ET which corresponds to 20:00 UTC during Daylight Savings Time and
21:00 UTC during non-Daylight Savings Time. The Sponsor�s Valuation Policy provides a listing of preferred exchanges. While some digital assets are
valued based on prices reported in the public markets, other digital assets may be more thinly-traded or subject to irregular trading activity.
Determinations on the value of certain digital assets, and how to value such assets as to which limited prices or quotations are available, are based on the
Sponsor�s recommendations or instructions.

Digital asset transactions are recorded on the trade date. Realized gains and losses from digital asset transactions are determined using the identified cost
method. Any change in net unrealized gain or loss is reported in the statement of operations. Commissions and other trading fees are reflected as an
adjustment to cost or proceeds at the time of the transaction.

The Trust generally records receipt of a new digital asset created due to a hard fork at the time the hard fork is effective. The Trust�s methodology for
determining effectiveness of the fork is when two or more recognized exchanges quote prices for the forked coin. Some exchanges and custodians do
not honor hard forks or may honor hard forks in the future. In such cases, the Trust will record receipt of the new digital asset at the time two or more
recognized exchanges begin quoting prices for the asset.

Although the Trust records the asset into its books and records at the time the fork is effective, as described above, the Trust�s Custodian (defined
below) may take an extended period of time to make the forked asset available for transfer, and it may never make the forked asset available for transfer,
which could lead to either the Trust holding the asset longer than it would otherwise hold the asset (if it was freely transferrable), or a complete write-
down in the value of the forked asset. The Trust does not allocate any of the original digital asset�s cost to the new digital asset and recognizes
unrealized gains equal to the fair value of the new digital asset received.

The Trust occasionally receives �airdrops� of new digital assets. The use of airdrops is generally to promote the launch and use of new digital assets by
providing a small amount of such new digital assets to the private wallets or exchange accounts that support the new digital asset and that hold existing
related digital assets. Unlike hard forks, airdropped digital assets can have substantially different blockchain technology that has no relation to any
existing digital asset, and many airdrops may be without value. The Trust records receipt of airdropped digital assets when received if there is value to
the Trust in doing so. Digital assets received from airdrops have no cost basis and the Trust recognizes unrealized gains equal to the fair value of the new
digital asset received.
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Income Taxes

The Trust is classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Trust does not record a provision for U.S. federal, U.S. state or local
income taxes because the Shareholders report their share of the Trust�s income or loss on their income tax returns. The Trust files an income tax return
in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and may file income tax returns in various U.S. states and foreign jurisdictions.

The Trust is required to determine whether its tax positions are more likely than not to be sustained on examination by the applicable taxing authority,
based on the technical merits of the position. Tax positions not deemed to meet a more likely than not threshold would be recorded as a tax expense in
the current year. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Trust has determined that no provision for income taxes is required and no liability for
unrecognized tax benefits has been recorded. The Trust does not expect that its assessment related to unrecognized tax benefits will materially change
over the next 12 months. However, the Trust�s conclusions may be subject to review and adjustment at a later date based on factors including, but not
limited to, the nexus of income among various tax jurisdictions; compliance with U.S. federal, U.S. state, and tax laws of jurisdictions in which the Trust
operates in; and changes in the administrative practices and precedents of the relevant authorities.

3. Fair Value Measurements

Calculation of Valuation

For all periods through the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, the NAV per Share, the NAV of the Trust, and the fair valuations for each Portfolio
Crypto Asset were calculated by the Fund�s Administrator in reliance on the fair value of each portfolio crypto asset based on the Blended Bitwise
Crypto Asset Price, which the Sponsor is and has been responsible for calculating. The Sponsor has provided this price to the Administrator, and the
Administrator uses this price (multiplied by the Trust�s holdings) for each asset to determine the fair value of the Trust�s assets. The Administrator then
subtracts the Trust�s liabilities to determine the Trust�s NAV. The administrator then divides this value by the Trust�s shares outstanding in order to
determine the NAV per share. As a result of the Sponsor�s responsibility in this regard, any errors, discontinuance or changes in such valuation
calculations may have had or may have an adverse effect on the value of the Shares. The Sponsor instituted this valuation policy in order to generate fair
value estimates because it determined that such policy was in the best interest of shareholders, as it would avoid misstatements in valuation of the assets
potentially arising from deviations in pricing across the digital asset market, and because of the fragmented nature of the digital asset trading ecosystem.
As a result, management applied this valuation technique which it determined to be appropriate given the circumstances.

Following the filing of its Form 10, the Sponsor conducted a complete review of its process for determining fair valuation in the presentation of its
financial statements and calculation of NAV. In this process, the Sponsor evaluated whether or not the identification of a principal market for each of the
Trust�s assets for valuation purposes, during each period for which the Trust created and had audited its financial statements, would have created a
material difference in the Trust�s estimated fair value or assets. In conjunction, the Sponsor began to consider a change in valuation policy for the fair
valuation of cryptocurrencies held in the Trust. As a result, the Sponsor has developed a process for the determination of a principal market for each
asset based on this consideration and intends to disclose this change in valuation policy and accounting policy when implemented, which is expected to
be prior to the creation of financial statements for the period ending September 30, 2021.

The process that the Sponsor has developed for identifying a principal market, as described in Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�)
Accounting Standards Codification (�ASC�) 820-10, which outlines the application of fair value accounting, was to begin by identifying publicly
available, well-established and reputable cryptocurrency exchanges selected by the Sponsor and its affiliates in their sole discretion, currently including
BitFlyer, Binance, Bitstamp, Bittrex, Coinbase, itBit, Kraken, Gemini and Poloniex, and then calculating, on each valuation period, the highest volume
exchange during the 60 minutes prior to 16:00 ET for
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each asset. In evaluating the markets that could be considered principal markets, the Trust considered whether or not the specific markets were
accessible to the Trust, either directly or through an intermediary, at the end of each period.

In the process of this review, the Sponsor also retroactively applied this process for identifying a principal market to the prior periods of reported
financial results, including the fiscal years 2018, 2019 and 2020, to determine whether or not any material or significant differences would have resulted
from the application of a different valuation policy in the creation of each financial statement (e.g., comparing the fair value prices determined using the
existing and previous valuation methodology to the hypothetical fair value prices using an identified principal market for each asset) and to consider
whether management�s use of the existing valuation policy would have created any material departures from a valuation policy of identifying a
principal market.

The results of this review are presented in the tables below for each period end for which the Trust prepared, and had audited, financial statements. The
Sponsor�s results conclude that there are no material or significant differences in valuation or the financial statements as presented when using the
policy of identifying a principal market described above as compared to the existing valuation methodology for any period since the Trust commenced
operations, as the average difference in valuation prices was in all cases less than 0.05% or five one hundredths of one percent for each asset for each
period measured, and that such differences are immaterial in all cases.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020:

Investments in digital
assets, at fair value

Existing Fair
Value Price

Investment
at Fair Value;
Existing Fair
Value Price

Potential
Principal
Market

Potential
Principal
Market

Price

Investment at
Fair Value;

Hypothetical
Principal

Market Price

Difference in
Valuation in
% Terms of
Net Assets

Difference
in

Valuation
in Dollar

Terms
Bitcoin $29,174.548 $314,622,646 Coinbase $29,185.050 $314,735,901 0.03 % $ 113,255
Ethereum 744.928 44,737,961 Coinbase 744.990 44,741,668 0.00 % 3,707
Litecoin 124.428 5,121,885 Coinbase 124.490 5,124,431 0.00 % 2,546
Bitcoin Cash 341.917 3,580,942 Binance 342.101 3,582,866 0.00 % 1,924
Chainlink 11.207 2,221,196 Coinbase 11.207 2,221,118 (0.00 %) (78 )
Stellar Lumens 0.126 1,454,725 Coinbase 0.126 1,453,744 (0.00 %) (981 )
EOS 2.592 1,394,797 Coinbase 2.589 1,393,314 (0.00 %) (1,483 )
Tezos 2.012 883,393 Coinbase 2.011 882,854 (0.00 %) (539 )

Total $374,017,545 $374,135,896
Total Impact to Investments in digital assets, at fair value 0.03 % $ 118,351

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019:

Investments in digital
assets, at fair value

Existing Fair
Value Price

Investment
at Fair Value;
Existing Fair
Value Price

Potential
Principal
Market

Potential
Principal

Market Price

Investment at
Fair Value;

Hypothetical
Principal

Market Price

Difference in
Valuation in
% Terms of
Net Assets

Difference
in

Valuation
in Dollar

Terms
Bitcoin $7,147.655 $17,233,399 Coinbase $7,145.000 $17,226,999 (0.03 %) ($6,400 )
Ethereum 127.891 1,698,840 Coinbase 127.860 1,698,422 (0.00 %) (418 )
Ripple 0.190 1,113,258 Coinbase 0.190 1,113,547 0.00 % 289
Bitcoin Cash 202.028 488,285 Binance 202.193 488,682 0.00 % 397
Litecoin 41.008 385,716 Coinbase 41.010 385,736 0.00 % 20
EOS 2.563 326,721 Coinbase 2.562 326,642 (0.00 %) (79 )
Tezos 1.368 123,619 Binance 1.367 123,523 (0.00 %) (96 )
Stellar Lumens 0.045 115,650 Coinbase 0.045 115,580 (0.00 %) (70 )
Monero 44.396 104,594 Binance 44.423 104,655 0.00 % 61
Cardano 0.033 101,151 Binance 0.033 101,116 (0.00 %) (35 )
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2020:

Investments in digital assets, at fair value

Existing
Fair

Value
Price

Investment
at Fair Value;
Existing Fair
Value Price

Potential
Principal
Market

Potential
Principal
Market

Price

Investment at
Fair Value;

Hypothetical
Principal

Market Price

Difference in
Valuation in
% Terms of
Net Assets

Difference
in

Valuation
in Dollar

Terms

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019:

Investments in digital
assets, at fair value

Existing
Fair

Value
Price

Investment
at Fair Value;
Existing Fair
Value Price

Potential
Principal
Market

Potential
Principal
Market

Price

Investment at
Fair Value;

Hypothetical
Principal

Market Price

Difference in
Valuation in
% Terms of
Net Assets

Difference
in

Valuation
in Dollar

Terms
Total $21,691,233 $21,684,902

Total Impact to Investments in digital assets, at fair value (0.03 %) ($6,331 )

While the Sponsor has applied accounting standards it believes are appropriate to the circumstances, and despite these findings that the previous results
are immaterially different, the Sponsor intends to change its valuation policy going forward based on the foregoing discussion and interpretation of ASC
820. The Sponsor intends to change its valuation policy for the purposes of calculating its ongoing net asset value, and processing ongoing subscription
into the Trust and will similarly disclose this change in valuation policy, as well as the difference between the two policies.

Valuation during the periods presented

During the periods presented, the trust carried its investments at fair value in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement. Fair
value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., the �exit price�) in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. Fair value investments are not adjusted for transaction costs. The Trust utilized this method for purposes of
calculating the Trust�s NAV.

The Trust carries its investments at fair value in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) ASC Topic 820, Fair Value
Measurement. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., the �exit price�) in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value investments are not adjusted for transaction costs.

In determining fair value, the Trust use various valuation approaches. A fair value hierarchy for inputs is used in measuring fair value that maximizes
the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs are to be used when available.
The fair value hierarchy is categorized into three levels based on the inputs as follows:

Level 1 � Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Trust has the ability to access.

Level 2 � Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or
indirectly. These inputs may include (a) quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, (b) quoted prices for identical or similar assets in
markets that are not active, (c) inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset, or (d) inputs derived principally from or
corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 � Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement.

The availability of valuation techniques and observable inputs can vary from investment to investment and are affected by a wide variety of factors,
including the type of investment, whether the investment is new and not yet established in the marketplace, the liquidity of markets, and other
characteristics particular to the transaction.
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In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, the level in the fair value
hierarchy which the fair value measurement falls in its entirety is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement. The following summarizes the Trust�s assets accounted for at fair value at December 31, 2020.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Investments in digital assets, at fair value $ � $374,017,545 $ � $374,017,545

The following summarizes the Trust�s assets accounted for at fair value at December 31, 2019.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Investments in digital assets, at fair value $ � $21,691,233 $ � $21,691,233

During the period, all of the Trust�s assets were considered �Level 2� valuations, because the valuations were based on quoted prices in markets that are
not active or for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly. These inputs may include (a) quoted prices for similar assets in
active markets, (b) quoted prices for identical or similar assets in markets that are not active, (c) inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for
the asset, or (d) inputs derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

The Trust generally records receipt of a new digital asset created due to a hard fork at the time the hard fork is effective. The Trust�s methodology for
determining effectiveness of the fork is when two or more recognized exchanges quote prices for the forked coin. Some exchanges and custodians do
not honor hard forks or may honor hard forks in the future. In such cases, the Trust will record receipt of the new digital asset at the time two or more
recognized exchanges begin quoting prices for the asset. Although the Trust records the asset into its books and records at the time the fork is effective,
as described above, the Trust�s custodian may take an extended period of time to make the forked asset available for transfer, and it may never make the
forked asset available for transfer, which could lead to either the Trust holding the asset longer than it would otherwise hold the asset (if it was freely
transferrable), or a complete write-down in the value of the forked asset. The Trust does not allocate any of the original digital asset�s cost to the new
digital asset and recognizes unrealized gains equal to the fair value of the new digital asset received.

The hard fork that occurred during the periods presented that was recognized was a fork of the asset BCH into BCH and BCHSV. There were not hard
forks during the period that were not initially recognized but were subsequently recognized.

In November 2018, the Trust received the forked asset BCHSV, in a unit quantity of 2072.49. The Trust carried the investment as an Asset, Investment
in digital asset, carried at fair value in its December 31, 2018 financial statements. In January, 2019, the Trust disposed of its BCHSV for $191,519.05,
and the proceeds were distributed across other portfolio crypto assets.

4. Risks and Uncertainties

Digital Assets

Digital assets are loosely regulated and there is no central marketplace for currency exchange. Supply is determined by a computer code, not by a central
bank, and prices have been extremely volatile. Digital asset exchanges have been closed due to fraud, failure or security breaches. Any of the Trust�s
assets that reside on an exchange that shuts down may be lost. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, digital assets of approximately $759,000 and $105,000
reside on exchanges, respectively.

F-31

Copyright © 2022 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Table of Contents
Several factors may affect the price of digital assets, including, but not limited to: supply and demand, investors� expectations with respect to the rate of
inflation, interest rates, currency exchange rates or future regulatory measures (if any) that restrict the trading of digital assets or the use of digital assets
as a form of payment. There is no assurance that digital assets will maintain their long-term value in terms of purchasing power in the future, or that
acceptance of digital asset payments by mainstream retail merchants and commercial businesses will continue to grow.

Digital Asset Regulation

As digital assets have grown in popularity and market size, various countries and jurisdictions have begun to develop regulations governing the digital
assets industry. To the extent that future regulatory actions or policies limit the ability to exchange digital assets or utilize them for payments, the
demand for digital assets will be reduced. Furthermore, regulatory actions may limit the ability of end-users to convert digital assets into fiat currency
(e.g., U.S. dollars) or use digital assets to pay for goods and services. Such regulatory actions or policies would result in a reduction of demand, and in
turn, a decline in the underlying digital asset unit prices.

The effect of any future regulatory change on the Trust or digital assets in general is impossible to predict, but such change could be substantial and
adverse to the Trust and the value of the Trust�s investments in digital assets.

Custody of Digital Assets

Coinbase Custody Trust Company, LLC (the �Custodian�) serves as the Trust�s Custodian for digital assets for which qualified custody is available.
The Custodian is subject to change in the sole discretion of the Sponsor. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, digital assets of approximately $373,259,000
and $21,487,000 are held by the Custodian, respectively.

Digital Asset Trading is Volatile and Speculative

Digital assets represent a speculative investment and involve a high degree of risk. Prices of digital assets have fluctuated widely for a variety of reasons
including uncertainties in government regulation and may continue to experience significant price fluctuations. If digital asset markets continue to be
subject to sharp fluctuations, Shareholders may experience losses as the value of the Trust�s investments decline. Even if Shareholders are able to hold
their Shares in the Trust for the long-term, their Shares may never generate a profit, since digital asset markets have historically experienced extended
periods of flat or declining prices, in addition to sharp fluctuations.
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Over-the-Counter Transactions

Some of the markets in which the Trust may execute its transactions are �over-the-counter� or �interdealer� markets. The participants in such markets
are typically not subject to credit evaluation and regulatory oversight as are members of �exchange-based� markets. This exposes the Trust to the risk
that a counterparty will not settle a transaction in accordance with its terms and conditions because of a dispute over the terms of the contract (whether
or not bona fide) or because of a credit or liquidity problem, thus causing the Trust to suffer a loss. Such �counterparty risk� is accentuated for digital
assets where the Trust has concentrated its transactions with a single or small group of counterparties. The Trust is not restricted from dealing with any
particular counterparty or from concentrating any or all of its transactions with one counterparty. Moreover, the Trust has no internal credit function that
evaluates the creditworthiness of its counterparties. The ability of the Trust to transact business with any one or number of counterparties, the lack of
any meaningful and independent evaluation of such counterparty�s financial capabilities and the absence of a regulated market to facilitate settlement
may increase the potential for losses by the Trust.

No FDIC or SIPC Protection

The Trust is not a banking institution or otherwise a member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (�FDIC�) or the Securities Investor
Protection Corporation (�SIPC�). Accordingly, deposits or assets held by the Trust are not subject to the protections enjoyed by depositors with FDIC or
SIPC member institutions. The Trust�s cryptocurrency custodians do however carry bespoke insurance policies related to the cryptocurrencies over
which they provide custody.

The Trust must adapt to technological change in order to secure and safeguard client accounts. While management believes they have developed an
appropriate proprietary security system reasonably designed to safeguard the Trust�s digital assets from theft, loss, destruction or other issues relating to
hackers and technological attack, such assessment is based upon known technology and threats. To the extent that the Trust is unable to identify and
mitigate or stop new security threats, the Trust�s digital assets may be subject to theft, loss, destruction or other attack, which could have a negative
impact on the performance of the Trust or result in loss of the Trust�s digital assets.

Risks Associated With a Cryptocurrency Majority Control

Since cryptocurrencies are virtual and transactions in such currencies reside on distributed networks, governance of the underlying distributed network
could be adversely altered should any individual or group obtain 51% control of the distributed network. Such control could have a significant adverse
effect on either the ownership or value of the cryptocurrency.

Transaction Authentication

As of the date of these financial statements, the transfer of digital currency assets from one party to another typically relies on an authentication process
by an outside party known as a miner. In exchange for compensation, the miner will authenticate the transfer of the currency through the solving of a
complex algorithm known as a proof of work, or will vouch for the transfer through other means, such as a proof of stake. Effective transfers of and
therefore realization of cryptocurrency, digital assets and tokens are dependent on interactions from these miners or forgers. In the event that there were
a shortage of miners to perform this function, that shortage could have an adverse effect on either the fair value or realization of the cryptocurrency
assets.

COVID-19

The future impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the financial performance and operations of the Trust will depend on future developments, including
the duration and spread of the virus and related advisories and
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restrictions. These developments and the impact of COVID-19 on blockchain markets and the overall economy, as well as on the financial performance
and operations of the Trust, are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted.

5. Administrator

Theorem Fund Services, LLC (the �Administrator�) serves as the Trust�s administrator and performs certain administrative and accounting services on
behalf of the Trust.

6. Shareholders�� Equity

Subscriptions

The minimum initial subscription amount is $25,000, and an existing Shareholder may make additional subscriptions in a minimum amount of $10,000.
Minimum subscription amounts may be increased, decreased and/or waived by the Sponsor in its sole discretion.

The Trust generally accepts initial and additional subscriptions weekly on such dates as the Sponsor may determine in its sole discretion.

Subscriptions received in advance at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 represent amounts received in 2020 and 2019 with effective dates after
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.

In-Kind Subscriptions

The Sponsor may, at its sole discretion, accept digital assets in lieu of, or in addition to, cash as payment for investment in the Trust. Such In-Kind
Investments are valued using the same digital asset prices as per the Trust�s valuation policy at any given valuation date as of 4:00 pm EST on the date
of the subscription. For the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Trust accepted In-Kind Investments from the Shareholders of $99,779,732 and
$0 respectively.

Withdrawals

In connection with the Trust seeking approval for the quotation of its Shares on OTCQX, the Trust halted the withdrawal program on October 7, 2020.
Upon receipt of regulatory approval and approval by the Sponsor, the Trust may offer a withdrawal program in the future.

Prior to October 7, 2020, each Shareholder could have requested a withdrawal of any Shares attributable to any subscription as of the first weekly
withdrawal time, which was Wednesday at 5 p.m. PT that banking institutions were open for business in the State of California. Withdrawals were
permitted on the 12 month anniversary of the date on which the attributable subscription was made; provided that, a Shareholder could have, in its
discretion, resigned all or a portion of Shares prior to the 12 month anniversary on a withdrawal date after the payment of a 3% early withdrawal fee to
the Trust and subject to all other resignation restrictions. Withdrawal requests once made were irrevocable and must have been communicated in writing
to the Administrator by 2 p.m. PT on the Monday prior to the desired weekly withdrawal.

Prior to October 7, 2020 and subject to the Trust-level suspensions and Shareholder-level suspensions and any other restrictions provided in the Offering
Memorandum and in the Trust Agreement, the Sponsor would, within 30 business days following the applicable withdrawal, distribute not less than
90% of the redemption and distribute the balance of the proceeds, if any, upon the completion of the Trust�s annual audit for the fiscal year in which the
withdrawal was effected. A Shareholder could not make a partial withdrawal that would reduce the aggregate value of his or her Shares below $10,000,
subject to the discretion of the Sponsor to waive such limitation.
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However, the Trust could have taken longer than 30 business days to settle withdrawal requests if the Trust was unable to liquidate its investments, if the
value of the assets and liabilities of the Trust could not be determined with reasonable accuracy, or for any other reason. Transaction costs involved in
funding a withdrawal were charged to the withdrawing Shareholder.

Allocation of Profits and Losses

Prior to May 1, 2020, when the dual class structure was eliminated, income or loss (prior to the calculation of the Management Fee) attributable to the
Trust was allocated to each Class in proportion to each Class� capital account balance.

7. Related Party Transactions

In consideration for the management services to be provided to the Trust, the Sponsor will receive from the Trust a management fee (the �Management
Fee�) payable monthly, in advance prior to May 31, 2020, and in arrears effective June 1, 2020.

Prior to May 1, 2020, the monthly Management Fee was equal to (a) 1/12th of 2.0% (2.0% per annum) of the net asset value of each Member�s capital
account balance, for subscriptions greater than or equal to $1 million, and (b) 1/12th of 2.5% (2.5% per annum) of the net asset value of each Member�s
capital account balance, for subscriptions less than $1 million. Effective May 1, 2020, all Shareholders in the Trust are charged a Management Fee of
2.5% per annum.

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Investor Class was charged Management Fees of $1,836,389 and $457,187, respectively, and the
Institutional Class was charged Management Fees of $38,727 and $97,854, respectively, of which $779,208 and $43,296 remains payable as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The Sponsor paid all expenses related to the initial offering, organization and start-up of the Trust and will not seek reimbursement for such amounts.
The Sponsor is responsible for all ordinary operating expenses of the Trust, including administrative, custody, legal, audit, insurance, and other
operating expenses.

8. Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, the Trust enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations and warranties and which
provide general indemnifications. The Trust�s maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future claims that may
be made against the Trust that have not yet occurred. The Trust expects the risk of any future obligation under these indemnifications to be remote.
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9. Financial Highlights

The following presents the financial highlights for the year ended December 31, 2020. Investor Class shares were outstanding during the year ended
December 31, 2020, and Institutional Class shares were outstanding during the period January 1, 2020 to April 30, 2020.

Per Share Performance��
Investor

Class
Institutional

Class
(for a share outstanding throughout the period)
Net asset value per share at beginning of period (3) $6.34 $ 64.09
Net income: (3)

Net realized and change in unrealized gain on investments (1) 18.67 17.10
Net investment loss (1) (0.34 ) (0.52 )

Net income 18.33 16.58
Net asset value per share at end of period $24.67 $ 80.67 (2)

Total return 289.05% 25.88 %
Supplemental Data��
Ratios to average net asset value
Expenses 2.38 % 2.07 %
Net investment loss (2.38 )% (2.07 )%

Total returns are calculated based on the change in value of a share during the period. The total return and the ratios to average net asset value are
calculated for each class as a whole. An individual Shareholder�s return and ratios may vary based on the timing of capital transactions. Ratios have
been annualized for the Institutional Class for the period January 1, 2020 to April 30, 2020, the date of conversion; total returns have not been
annualized.

(1) Net investment loss per share is calculated by dividing the net investment loss by the average number of shares outstanding during the period. Net
realized and change in unrealized gain on investments is a balancing amount necessary to reconcile the change in net asset value per share with
the other per share information.

(2) Represents the net asset value per share at April 30, 2020, prior to conversion.
(3) With respect to the per share performance of the Investor Class, the net asset value per share at the beginning of the period, as well as net income

per share for the year ended December 31, 2020, were calculated based on a conversion rate of 10 per share (as disclosed in the statement of
changes in net assets).

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.
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Financial highlights for the year ended December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Per Share Performance��
Investor

Class
Institutional

Class
(for a share outstanding throughout the year)
Net asset value per share at beginning of year $42.92 $ 43.16
Net income:

Net realized and unrealized gains from investments (1) 22.28 22.38
Net investment loss (1) (1.80 ) (1.45 )

Net income 20.48 20.93
Net asset value per share at end of year $63.40 $ 64.09
Total return 47.71% 48.49 %
Supplemental Data��
Ratios to average net asset value
Expenses 2.48 % 1.98 %
Net investment loss (2.48 )% (1.98 )%

Total returns are calculated based on the change in value of a share during the period. The total return and the ratios to average net asset value are
calculated for each class as a whole. An individual Shareholder�s return and ratios may vary based on the timing of capital transactions.

(1) Net investment loss per share is calculated by dividing the net investment loss by the average number of shares outstanding during the year. Net
realized and change in unrealized gain on investments is a balancing amount necessary to reconcile the change in net asset value per share with
the other per share information.

� Please see Explanatory Note and refer to the Calculation of Valuation for more details.

10. Subsequent Events

During the period January 1, 2021 to April 22, 2021, subscriptions of $169,007,246 were made to the Trust.

The Sponsor has evaluated subsequent events through April 22, 2021, the date the financial statements were available to be issued, and has determined
that there are no other subsequent events that require disclosure.
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(b) Exhibits

The following documents are filed as exhibits hereto:

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

4.1* Trust Agreement

4.2* Certificate of Trust

4.3* Form of Subscription Agreement

10.1�* Custodial Services Agreement by and between Bitwise 10 Private Index Fund, LLC, Bitwise 10 Index Offshore Fund, Ltd., Digital Asset
Index Fund, LLC, Bitwise Ethereum Fund, LLC, and Coinbase Custody Trust Company, LLC, dated March 6, 2019

10.2* Amendment No. 1 to the Custodial Services Agreement, dated May 22, 2020

10.3* License Agreement by and between Bitwise Index Services, LLC and Bitwise Investment Advisers, LLC, dated May 28, 2020

10.4�* Transfer Agency and Registrar Services Agreement, by and between Bitwise Investment Advisers, LLC and American Stock Transfer &
Trust Company, LLC, dated May 12, 2020

� Certain identified information has been excluded from this exhibit because it is both not material and is the type of information that the Registrant
treats as private or confidential.

* Previously filed.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Bitwise Investment Advisers, LLC

as Sponsor of Bitwise 10 Crypto Index Fund (BITW)

By: /s/ Hunter Horsley

Name: Hunter Horsley
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Date: April 21, 2022
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